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Dear Fellow Stockholders,

The heart of our ICE strategy, for more than 20 years, has always been 

about connecting people to opportunity. We connect people to our 

liquid energy markets to help them manage risk. We connect people to 

our fixed income data to give them pre-trade and post-trade transparency. 

We connect entrepreneurs to capital at the NYSE. We connect participants 

in the mortgage space to create a more efficient workflow.

Across asset classes and around the globe, we design, build, and operate 

digital networks that bring transparency and efficiencies to markets. 

Leveraging our data, technology, and expertise, we have strategically 

positioned ICE at the center of some of the world’s largest markets 

undergoing an analog-to-digital evolution. Our successful execution of 

this strategy in 2021 once again drove record revenues and record adjusted 

earnings per share1, marking our sixteenth consecutive year of growth.

Consolidated financial results

Strong growth across all three of our business segments contributed to 

record net revenues2 of $7.1 billion in 2021, up 18% year-over-year.

 ■ In our Exchanges segment, which includes our futures network 

as well as the New York Stock Exchange, net revenues2 increased 

6% year-over-year to a record $3.9 billion. These results were 

highlighted by a 10% increase in energy futures revenues and 

a 7% increase in our listings business.

 ■ In our Fixed Income & Data Services segment, we generated total 

revenues of $1.9 billion. These results were due, in part, to our fixed 

income data & analytics business, which grew 6% year-over-year 

including double-digit revenue growth in our index business. 

 ■ In our Mortgage Technology segment, revenues totaled $1.4 billion, 

a 17% increase year-over-year, on a pro-forma basis3, outperforming 

broader industry origination volumes. Importantly, these results 

were underpinned by strong recurring revenue growth of 31%. 

On a consolidated basis, ICE’s adjusted operating income1 increased 

18% to $4.2 billion, yielding an adjusted operating margin1 of 58%. In 

addition, free cash flow1 totaled $2.8 billion, from which we deployed 

$250 million to share repurchases and nearly $750 million to shareholders 

in the form of dividends. In April 2021, we took the opportunity to harvest 

a $1.2 billion gain on our stake in Coinbase, which contributed to the 

$2.6 billion of debt that we paid down last year.  After our $11 billion 

acquisition of Ellie Mae in September 2020, timely moves like selling our 

Coinbase investment helped us reach our target leverage nearly a year 

ahead of schedule.

The growth across all three of our business segments delivered another 

year of record adjusted earnings per share1, or EPS, which increased 

17% year-over-year to $5.15. These strong results, even in a year in which 

Covid continued to upend traditional operating rhythms, reflect the 

tremendous efforts of my colleagues, the trust and expanding relationship 

we have with our customers, and the ability of our business model to 

drive growth across a variety of macroeconomic environments.

Connecting to a more efficient mortgage workflow

From our first forays into mortgage technology with the acquisitions of 

MERS and Simplifile, we have consistently viewed the U.S. mortgage 

industry as one ripe for automation. Consistent with our strategy to bring 

efficiencies to workflows, we are uniquely positioned to drive greater 

automation across this space.

With loan origination costs continuing to rise, customers are looking to 

streamline the extremely manual loan origination process. Our end-to-end 

digital solutions offer a unique value proposition by helping customers 

reduce the time and costs associated with originating a loan and enhance 

the quality of loans moving into the secondary market. Additionally, with 

the network we’ve built to serve nearly every market participant in one 

form or another, we have connectivity to a captive customer base seeking 

the efficiencies our digital solutions provide.

One of the key areas that underpinned our conviction to expand our 

presence in the mortgage market was the opportunity to drive greater 

efficiency within the closing process. ICE’s eRecording network now 

covers nearly 90% of the U.S. population. The unique data that flows 

through that network, and the critical infrastructure provided by MERS, 

give us unique assets critical to digitizing the closing and post-closing 

process. When we connected these assets to our leading loan origination 

system, we quickly brought our eClose offering to market, a leading-edge 

solution that provides a true end-to-end electronic closing for U.S. mortgages.

Fitting squarely with our history of innovations across our company, 

eClose benefits all stakeholders in the mortgage workflow by decreasing 

operational costs for lenders, creating additional efficiencies for settlement 

agents, streamlining the sale of loans to investors, and most importantly, 

greatly improving the overall user experience.

Another area where we continue to see untapped opportunity and early 

success is in our data and analytics businesses. Our solutions apply 

machine learning to the entire loan origination process, offering customers 

greater efficiencies by streamlining data collection and validation 

through automated document recognition and data extraction capabilities.

These efficiency gains could save lenders thousands of dollars per loan 

by reducing manufacturing time and complexity. When combined with 

ICE’s core competency of harnessing raw, unstructured data to develop 

actionable insights, we are on course to continue executing against what 

we see as a $4 billion addressable market.

Like our strategy in other asset classes, we are leveraging our data, 

technology, and collective expertise to bring efficiencies to the entire 

mortgage workflow. Our leading solutions and broad customer connectivity 

give us confidence we can grow a business that, at $1.4 billion today, is 

only a fraction of the $10 billion addressable market that is in the early 

days of an analog-to-digital conversion.

Automating fixed income markets: a data-driven trend

The playbook we’re employing in the mortgage space is similar to our 

fixed income and data business. Increased automation, workflow 

flexibility, and passive investing continue to drive demand for our proprietary 

data and rapidly growing Index business. We believe the automation of 

fixed income markets is a data-driven trend and, as a leading data provider 

to the market, we are uniquely positioned to accelerate this automation.

ICE’s evaluated prices provide price transparency for nearly 3 million fixed 

income securities daily, supporting mission-critical processes across 

the front, middle and back offices. By combining our proprietary pricing 

data with our comprehensive reference data, we have built innovative 

tools and analytics that will facilitate the continued electronification and 

automation of the fixed income markets. Unique ICE solutions such as 

our Continuous Evaluated Pricing, Best Execution and Liquidity Indicators 

provide additional pre-trade transparency and enhance fair value. This 

powerful suite of front office tools grew double digits in 2021 and serve a 

growing demand for transparency and efficiency across one of the world’s 

largest asset classes.

The growth in passive investing is also proving to be a powerful tailwind 

for our business. ICE’s quality pricing and reference data, combined with 

forty years of price history, serves as the foundation of our growing Index 

business. Whether it’s benchmark indices, analytics or unique solutions 

like our custom indices, ICE serves the entire Exchange Traded Fund, or 

ETF, ecosystem. The advantages of our offering were never more evident 

than in 2021, when five asset managers transitioned over $66 billion of 

assets under management, or AUM, to ICE indices. Our leading technology 

and tools, the quality of our pricing data, and the flexibility of our offering 

has driven double digit revenue growth in this business for the past four 

years and positions us well to continue such growth into the future.

Finally, flexibility of information delivery, and the trend toward defederation 

of terminals, are driving growth across our network services, including 

the ICE Global Network and our Consolidated Feed offering.

During the height of the COVID-19 pandemic, we saw customers demand 

more flexible data delivery solutions to accommodate the work-from-

home reality. This demand has not slowed, even as some have returned 

to office. Coupled with the surge in retail trading and increased volatility 

across markets, demand for capacity on our network continues to increase, 

growing 18% year-over-year in 2021. The same is true in our Consolidated 



Feed business, also benefitting from a shift toward more flexible data 

delivery. With content from over 750 sources and connectivity to over 

150 market centers, ICE’s offering gives customers access to a broad 

universe of low-latency financial information with full depth-of-market 

data. As firms seek more high-quality data from a range of different sources 

in a cost-efficient manner, our competitive and comprehensive offering 

stands to benefit. 

Price transparency across the energy spectrum

Over the past two decades, ICE has strategically positioned our energy 

business for the energy transition. Our long-term strategic direction, and 

the value of the diverse, deep and liquid markets we operate, contributed 

to the record volumes we saw across our energy markets in 2021, including 

in Brent, TTF natural gas and our global environmental complex. As we 

look to 2022 and beyond, the breadth of our global energy platform will 

enable us to continue to benefit from the secular tailwinds emerging 

across the energy complex, including the globalization of natural gas 

and the inevitable transition to clean energy.

These are trends that ICE began investing in over a decade ago with our 

acquisition of the Climate Exchange in 2010. Today, cleaner energy 

sources, including our global natural gas and environmentals businesses, 

make up 40% of our energy revenues and have grown 15% on average 

over the past five years.

The global energy crisis in 2021, rooted in soaring demand and disrupted 

supply, was a peek into the future of what the energy transition could 

look like in the decades ahead. Energy consumption is expected to more 

than double over the next thirty years, yet carbon emissions are expected 

to be reduced by half. This imbalance in supply and demand will introduce 

additional complexity and volatility to energy markets and drive greater 

demand for risk management across the energy spectrum, an area 

where ICE excels.

In 2021, we achieved record volumes in our European gas contract, 

known as TTF, which increased 45% year-over-year, and drove revenue 

growth of 39% versus the prior year. Volatile gas and power markets 

drove customers to our markets to help manage their risk but, more 

importantly, the globalization of gas has driven TTF to emerge as a global 

benchmark for gas. This secular trend has contributed to strong growth 

across our European & Asian gas complexes including 43% average 

revenue growth over the past five years. As the number of participants 

in these markets continues to grow, we see these trends continuing to 

favor our growing global gas complex well into the future.

Trading alongside our global oil, gas, and power markets, our environmental 

markets provide customers price transparency across the energy spectrum 

that is critical in navigating the clean energy transition. Increased risk 

management in carbon pricing drove record volumes across our 

environmental complex in 2021, including in our EU, U.K. and California 

carbon allowances, as well as our Renewable Greenhouse Gas Initiative 

allowances. While these markets are still maturing relative to our 

benchmark oil and gas markets, we believe our leading position, and 

the breadth and depth of our broader energy platform, sets us up to 

continue to benefit from the trend of sustainability and net-zero 

carbon commitments.

Financial metrics

Recurring 
revenues49% Adjusted operating 

margins158% 16 Consecutive years of 
adjusted EPS growth1

1  Adjusted figures represent non-GAAP measures. Please refer to ICE’s 2021 Form 10-K filed on February 3, 2022, and earnings supplement, for reconciliations to the equivalent GAAP measures.
2   Net of transaction-based expenses.
3   Represents revenue on a pro-forma basis as if we had owned Ellie Mae since January 1, 2020.

Net revenue2
Adjusted 

diluted EPS1

Operating 

cash flow

Dividend

per share

20212016

$4.5B

$7.1B

10%

CAGR

20212016

$2.76

$5.15

13%

CAGR

20212016

$2.1B

$3.1B

8%

CAGR

20212016

$0.68

$1.32

14%

CAGR



$7.1B
Net revenues2

+18% y/y

$5.15
Adjusted diluted EPS1

+17% y/y

$3.1B
Operating cash flow +8% y/y

Corporate responsibility

Our approach to sustainability recognizes both the risks and the 

opportunities across our businesses. From price discovery in carbon 

and renewable energy markets, to climate risk data, to helping NYSE 

issuers determine the right environmental, social and governance (ESG) 

disclosures for their company, we are contributing to more sustainable 

investment choices across our networks. 

ICE also recognizes the importance of embracing sustainability in our 

own offices. Listed below are updates on steps we are taking to mitigate 

our carbon footprint and increase diversity across the company. While

this only lists a few of our initiatives, I encourage you to read our sixth 

annual corporate responsibility report, which can be found in the 

Corporate Citizenship section of our website for a more comprehensive 

overview of our ESG efforts.  

 ■ Environmental: Reporting standards are a critical tool to help make 

consistent comparisons year-to-year and company-to-company. 

This year, we added three additional reporting standards to enhance 

our disclosures. ICE has also published, for the first time, its 

greenhouse gas emissions, including full Scope 1 and 2 emissions 

and Scope 3 emissions for items where we can identify or 

approximate reliable data. Having established this baseline, ICE 

is now actively working to set reduction targets. In the meantime, 

we are addressing all of our Scope 1 and 2 emissions, as well as 

those Scope 3 emissions that we have calculated, through the 

purchase of verified carbon offsets and renewable energy certificates.

 ■ Diversity: Our approach to diversity is focused on three pillars: 

our employees, our Board of Directors, and our network. Throughout 

our ranks, we are working to increase diversity with an objective 

that our employee population reflects the broader communities 

where our offices are based. At the Board level, we continue to 

focus on refreshment, which has contributed to a slate of 2022 

Board nominees made up of 60% female nominees and 30% 

who self-identify as people of color. Two other ways that we are 

working to increase diversity across our broader network is 

through the NYSE Board Advisory Council and our Entrepreneur 

Bootcamps. The NYSE Board Advisory Council develops and 

provides access to a diverse pool of CEO-vetted, board-ready 

candidates. We also launched our Entrepreneur Bootcamps in 

2021 to support underserved communities, including Black-owned 

businesses, with educational opportunities and resources for 

growing their companies. Our ability to help increase diversity 

through our broader network is another example of how ICE uses 

data, technology, and expertise to connect people to opportunity.

Looking forward

Over the past twenty years, ICE has grown from a small Atlanta-based 

power exchange into a global data and technology company. We’re 

proud of that, but we’re equally proud that our focus on our customers, 

our innovative culture, and our purpose of bringing efficiency and 

transparency to markets have remained constant, even as we’ve grown 

from a handful of entrepreneurs to a global organization of nearly 10,000 

people. Our strategic diversification has created an “all-weather” business 

model that is well-positioned to continue driving growth. 

As we begin 2022, we are better positioned than ever to capitalize on the 

secular and cyclical trends occurring across the most dynamic asset 

classes. This year, as always, we remain focused on investing in, and 

executing on, these many exciting opportunities.

I’d like to thank my colleagues at ICE for their outstanding efforts that 

contributed to another record year, and I’d like to thank our customers 

for their continued business and trust. I’d also like to thank you for your 

investment in ICE, and I look forward to reporting on our progress in the 

coming year.

My best,

2021 financial metrics

Jeffrey C. Sprecher

Founder, Chair & CEO
Intercontinental Exchange 
March 25, 2022

“As we begin 2022, we are better 

positioned than ever to capitalize on 

the secular and cyclical trends occurring 

across the most dynamic asset classes. 

This year, as always, we remain focused 

on investing in, and executing on, these 

many exciting opportunities.”
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PART I
In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, or Annual Report, and unless otherwise indicated, the terms “Intercontinental
Exchange,” “ICE,” “we,” “us,” “our,” “our company,” and “our business” refer to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc., together
with its consolidated subsidiaries. References to “ICE products” mean products listed on one or more of our markets. All
references to “options” or “options contracts” in the context of our futures products refer to options on futures contracts.
Solely for convenience, references in this Annual Report to any trademarks, service marks and trade names owned by
ICE are listed without the ®, ™ and © symbols, but we will assert, to the fullest extent under applicable law, our rights to
these trademarks, service marks and trade names.

We also include references to third-party trademarks, trade names and service marks in this Annual Report. Except as
otherwise expressly noted, our use or display of any such trademarks, trade names or service marks is not an
endorsement or sponsorship and does not indicate any relationship between us and the parties that own such marks and
names.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes
included elsewhere in this Annual Report. Due to rounding, figures in tables may not sum exactly.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report, including the sections entitled “Business,” “Legal Proceedings,” “Risk Factors” and “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” contains “forward-looking statements” as
defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reformff Act of 1995. Any statements contained herein that are not statements of
historical fact may be forward-looking statements.

These forward-looking statements relate to future events or our future financial performance and are based on our present
beliefsff and assumptions, as well as the information currently available to us. They involve known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors that may cause our results, levels of activity, performance,ff cash flows, financial position or
achievements to differff materially from those expressed or implied by these statements.

Forward-looking statements may be introduced by or contain terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “would,”
“targets,” “goal,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” “continue,” or the
antonyms of these terms or other comparable terminology. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the
forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance, cash
flows, financial position or achievements. Accordingly, we caution you not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking
statements we may make.

Factors that may affectff our performanceff and the accuracy of any forward-looking statements include, but are not limited
to, those listed below:

• conditions in global financial markets and domestic and international economic and social conditions, political
uncertainty and discord;

• the impact of the introduction of or any changes in laws, regulations, rules or government policies with respect to
financial markets, climate change, increased regulatory scrutiny or enforcementff actions and our ability to comply
with these requirements;

• volatility in commodity prices, equity prices and price volatility of financial benchmarks and instruments such as
interest rates, credit spreads, equity indices, foreign exchange rates, and mortgage origination trends;

• the impact of climate change and the transition to renewable energy and a net zero economy;
• the business environment in which we operate and trends in our industry, including trading volumes, prevalence of

clearing, demand for data services, mortgage lending activity, fees, changing regulations, competition and
consolidation;

• our ability to minimize the risks associated with operating clearing houses in multiple jurisdictions;
• our exchanges’ and clearing houses' compliance with their respective regulatory and oversight responsibilities;
• the resilience of our electronic platforms and soundness of our business continuity and disaster recovery plans;
• our ability to execute our growth strategy, identify and effectiff vely pursue, implement and integrate acquisitions and

strategic alliances and realize the synergies and benefits of such transactions within the expected time frame;
• the performanceff and reliability of our trading, clearing and mortgage technologies and those of third-party service

providers;
• our ability to keep pace with technological developments and client preferences;
• our ability to ensure that the technology we utilize is not vulnerable to cyberattacks, hacking and other

cybersecurity risks or other disruptive events or to minimize the impact of any such events;
• our ability to keep informatff ion and data relating to the customers of the users of the software and services

provided by our ICE Mortgage Technology business confidential;
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• the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business, results of operations and financial condition as well as
the broader business environment;

• our ability to identify trends and adjust our business to benefit from such trends, including trends in the United
States, or U.S., mortgage industry such as interest rates, new home purchases, refinancing activity, and home
builder and buyer sentiment, among others;

• our ability to evolve our benchmarks and indices in a manner that maintains or enhances their reliability and
relevance;

• the accuracy of our cost and other financial estimates and our belief that cash flows from operations will be
sufficiff ent to service our debt and to fund our operational and capital expenditure needs;

• our ability to incur additional debt and pay offff our existing debt in a timely manner;
• our ability to maintain existing market participants and data and mortgage technology customers, and to attract

new ones;
• our ability to offerff additional products and services, leverage our risk management capabilities and enhance our

technology in a timely and cost-effective fashion;
• our ability to attract, develop and retain key talent;
• our ability to protect our intellectual property rights and to operate our business without violating the intellectual

property rights of others;
• potential adverse results of threatened or pending litigation and regulatory actions and proceedings; and
• our ability to realize the expected benefits of our acquisitions and our investments.

These risks and other factors include, among others, those set forth in Item 1(A) under the caption “Risk Factors” and
elsewhere in this Annual Report, as well as in other filings we make with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or
SEC. Due to the uncertain nature of these factors, management cannot assess the impact of each factor on the business
or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differff materially from those
contained in any forward-looking statements.

Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which such statement is made, and we undertake no
obligation to update any of these statements to reflect events or circumstances occurring after the date of this Annual
Report. New factors may emerge and it is not possible to predict all factors that may affectff our business and prospects.
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Introduction

We are a provider of market infrastructure, data services and technology solutions to a broad range of customers
including financial institutions, corporations and government entities. These products, which span major asset classes
including futures, equities, fixed income and U.S. residential mortgages, provide our customers with access to mission
critical tools that are designed to increase asset class transparency and workflow efficiencyff . While we report our results in
three reportable business segments, we operate as one business, leveraging the collective expertise, particularly in data
services and technology, that exists across our platforms to informf and enhance our operations.

• In our Exchanges segment, we operate regulated marketplaces for the listing, trading and clearing of a broad
array of derivatives contracts and financial securities.

• In our Fixed Income and Data Services segment, we provide fixed income pricing, reference data, indices,
analytics and execution services as well as global credit default swaps, or CDS, clearing and multi-asset class
data delivery solutions.

• In our Mortgage Technology segment, we provide an end-to-end technology platform that offersff customers
comprehensive, digital workflow tools that aim to address the inefficienciesff that exist in the U.S. residential
mortgage market.

Our History

In 2000, ICE was founded with the idea of transforming energy markets by creating a network that removed barriers and
provided greater transparency, efficiencyff and access. By staying close to our customers, we have expanded into new
asset classes and services, while retaining a core mission of reducing friction in markets, bringing efficiencyff to our
customers’ workflows and, ultimately, connecting our customers to opportunity.

Today, we are a Fortune 500 company, providing our customers with an array of market infrastructure, data services and
technology solutions that span a diverse set of asset classes.
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Our Business Segments
Our business is conducted through three reportable business segments:
• Exchanges;
• Fixed Income and Data Services; and
• Mortgage Technology.

The majority of our identifiable assets are located in the U.S. and the United Kingdom, or U.K. For a summary of our
revenues, net assets and net property and equipment by geographic region, see Note 18 to our consolidated financial
statements included in this Annual Report.

Exchanges Segment

We operate regulated marketplaces for the listing, trading and clearing of a broad array of derivatives contracts and
financial securities, such as commodities, interest rates, foreign exchange and equities as well as corporate and
exchange-traded funds, or ETFs. We operate multiple trading venues, including 13 regulated exchanges and 6 clearing
houses, which are strategically positioned in major market centers around the world, including the U.S., U.K., European
Union, or EU, Canada, Asia Pacific and the Middle East.

Our Exchanges segment includes trading and listings revenue from our global futures network and the New York Stock
Exchange and other registered securities exchanges, or collectively, the NYSE, and various data and connectivity
services that are directly related to those exchange platforms. Revenues reflect a mix of both diversified transaction
revenues and recurring data and listings revenues. Our Exchanges segment generated revenues, less transaction-based
expenses of $3.9 billion and accounted for 54% of our consolidated revenues, less transaction-based expenses in 2021.
Our Exchanges business can experience moderate seasonal fluctuations, although such seasonal impacts have been
somewhat muted in periods of high volume trading. Key asset classes include:

• Energy Futures and Options: We offerff a range of futures and options products that are designed to enable our
customers to manage their risk across global energy markets. Our flagship Brent crude oil contract serves as the
cornerstone of a global oil network that today includes nearly 700 related crude and refined oil products including
locational and refined spreads. In addition, as natural gas and Liquefied Natural Gas, or LNG, continue to globalize,
we offerff the broadest footprint of regional and global natural gas benchmarks, which span North America, Europe and
Asia. Our leading environmental and power markets round out our diverse global energy network. For nearly two
decades, our environmental markets have provided customers risk management tools to meet carbon cap and trade
program requirements and renewable fuel standards. Increasingly, market participants are turning to our global
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environmental markets to help navigate and manage risk related to climate change, the energy transition and the
move to net zero emissions.

• Agricultural & Metals Futures and Options: We offerff futures and options on the leading global soft commodity
markets including coffeeff , cocoa, cotton and sugar. Our benchmark contracts offerff the most globally relevant price
markers for these agricultural markets and provide our customers with the tools to manage price and counterparty risk
and facilitate price discovery.

• Financial Futures and Options: We offerff a diverse suite of equity futures and options contracts based on our own
indices as well as those created by MSCI® and FTSE®. These contracts range from established global benchmarks,
such as the MSCI® Emerging Market Index, to newer products, such as MSCI®’s suite of Environmental, Social and
Governance, or ESG, indices and the NYSE FAANGAA + Index. Our global interest rate complex spans geographies,
currencies and tenors, providing participants around the world with tools to manage risk in a capital efficientff manner.
Key products during 2021 included: Short Sterling, Euribor, Gilts, Sterling Overnight Index Average, or SONIA, and
Secured Overnight Financing Rates, or SOFR, among others.

• Cash Equities and Equity Options: We offerff securities trading services through our five registered securities
exchanges, including the NYSE. Our securities exchanges are leading providers of transparent, efficientff , and high
quality markets for the securities issued by large and small companies, ETFs and equity options. These markets serve
issuers, investors and other market participants across five cash equity and two options markets.

• Listings: The NYSE has been the venue of choice for innovators, visionaries and leaders for over 225 years. The
NYSE offersff a unique hybrid market model that combines leading technology with an accountable market maker to
provide human judgment, a community of the world’s greatest companies and premium brand visibility. With over 70%
of S&P 500 companies listed on the NYSE as of December 31, 2021, we are the leading listing venue across a range
of sectors from technology and healthcare, to financials and energy. In addition to corporate listings, the NYSE is the
global leader in ETF listings with 75%, or roughly $5.45 trillion, of ETF assets under management, or AUM, as of
December 31, 2021. Revenues from listing fees are largely recurring in nature.

• Data and Connectivity Services: Our exchange data services include, among other offerings,ff proprietary real-time
and historical pricing data, as well as order book and transaction informatff ion related to our global futures markets and
the NYSE exchanges. In addition, we receive a share of revenue from the sale of consolidated U.S. equity and
options market data by the National Market System Plans, or NMS Plans.

Separately, we also provide connectivity services directly related to our futures, cash equity and options exchanges
and clearing houses. Revenues from data and connectivity services fees are largely recurring in nature.

• OTC and Other: Our over-the-counter, or OTC, markets include bilateral energy markets that offerff electronic trading
of contracts based on physically-settled natural gas, power and refined oil contracts. Our other revenues primarily
include interest income on certain clearing margin deposits related to our futures business, as well as revenue related
to our digital asset initiative, Bakkt, until it merged with VPC Impact Acquisition Holdings, or VIH, in October 2021.

We operate six clearing houses, each of which acts as a central counterparty, or CCP,P that, for its clearing members,
becomes the buyer to every seller and the seller to every buyer. Through this CCP function, our clearing houses provide
financial security for each transaction, for the duration of the position, by limiting counterparty credit risk. Our clearing
houses are responsible for providing clearing services to each of our futures exchanges and certain of our clearing
houses clear contracts traded outside of our execution venues.

Mechanisms have been created, called guaranty funds, to provide partial protection in the event of a clearing member
default. With the exception of ICE NGX Canada Inc., or ICE NGX, each of the ICE Clearing Houses (as defined below)
requires that each clearing member make deposits into a guaranty fund maintained by the relevant ICE Clearing House.
In addition, we have contributed $398 million of our own cash to the guaranty funds which is one component of the table
below, and such amounts are at risk and could be used in the event of a clearing member default. We also maintain
default insurance as an additional layer of clearing member default protection, which is also reflected in the table below.
The default insurance was added in September 2019 and has a three-year term that commenced on September 17, 2019
for the following clearing houses in the following amounts: ICE Clear Europe - $75 million; ICE Clear US - $25 million; and
ICE Clear Credit - $50 million. In addition, the table below includes a guaranty fund of $115 million maintained by ICE
NGX funded by the following: (1) a $100 million letter of credit issued by a major Canadian chartered bank, and backed by
default insurance underwritten by Export Development Canada, a Crown corporation operated at arm’s length from the
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Canadian government, and (2) $15 million, which is included in our total cash contribution of $398 million, held as
restricted cash to fund the first loss amount ICE NGX is responsible forff under the default insurance policy.

Our contributions to each clearing house as of December 31, 2021 are listed below and our clearing houses are referred
to herein collectively as “the ICE Clearing Houses”:

Clearing
House Products Cleared Location

Exchange where
Executed

Reporting
Segment

ICE's
Contribution

ICE Clear
Europe

Energy, agricultural, interest
rates and equity index futures
and options contracts and OTC
European CDS instruments

U.K.

ICE Futures
Europe, ICE

Futures U.S., ICE
Endex, ICE

Futures Abu Dhabi
and third-party

venues

Exchanges $322 million

ICE Clear U.S.

Agricultural, metals and foreign
exchange, or FX, index futures
and options contracts, equity
futures contracts and digital
assets futures contracts

U.S. ICE Futures U.S. Exchanges $108 million1

ICE Clear
Credit2

OTC North American, European,
Asian-Pacific and Emerging
Market CDS instruments

U.S. Creditex and third-
party venues

Fixed Income
and Data
Services

$100 million

ICE Clear
Netherlands

Derivatives on equities and
equity indices traded on
regulated markets

The
Netherlands ICE Endex Exchanges $2 million

ICE Clear
Singapore

Energy, metals and financial
futures products and digital
assets futures contracts

Singapore ICE Futures
Singapore Exchanges $1 million

ICE NGX Physical North American natural
gas, electricity and oil futures Canada ICE NGX Exchanges $115 million

1Of our total contribution to ICE Clear U.S. above, $15 million is solely applicable to any losses associated with a default in digital asset contracts.

2 Although ICE Clear Credit is included in the Fixed Income and Data Services reporting segment, it is included in the table as a part of our suite of global
clearing houses.

Fixed Income and Data Services Segment

Our Fixed Income and Data Services segment includes our fixed income data and analytics offerings,ff fixed income
execution, or ICE Bonds, CDS clearing and other multi-asset class data and network services. Our leading fixed income
pricing and reference data offerings serve as the foundation for a broader fixed income network that provides our
customers solutions that span the full workflow including pre- and post-trade analytics, a range of execution protocols and
indices. In addition, our multi-asset class connectivity, feeds and desktop solutions, which comprise our Other Data and
Network Services business leverage a common sales force, which can enhance cross-selling opportunities across the
Fixed Income and Data Services segment. The Fixed Income and Data Services segment generated revenues of $1.9
billion in 2021 and accounted for 26% of our consolidated revenues, less transaction-based expenses.

• Fixed Income Data and Analytics: We are a leading provider of evaluated end-of-dayff and real-time pricing services
on approximately three million fixed income securities spanning approximately 150 countries and 80 currencies
including sovereign, corporate and municipal bonds, mortgage and asset-backed securities as well as leveraged
loans. Our reference data offering complements our evaluated pricing by providing our clients a broad range of
descriptive informatff ion, covering millions of financial instruments that, when coupled with our pricing services, act as
the foundation for our leading fixed income index complex, ICE Data Indices, LLC, or ICE Data Indices. We also offerff
a range of fixed income analytics and other workflow solutions including: best execution services, liquidity indicators,
fixed income portfolio analytics and our ETF Hub. Our fixed income customers rely on our data, indices and analytics
to informff pre-trade decision making, support post-trade regulatory and compliance needs and improve operational
efficiencyff . In addition, our newer offeringsff in this area include a variety of ESG data and analytics offerings.ff Fixed
Income Data and Analytics revenues are largely recurring in nature.

• Fixed Income Execution: Alongside our leading Fixed Income Data and Analytics offerings,ff ICE Bonds is focused on
providing tools to improve efficiencyff in customers' workflows across fixed income markets. ICE Bonds provides

7



customers with electronic markets that support multiple fixed income trading protocols including: click-to-trade,
request for quotation, or RFQ, and auctions, including portfolio auctions/trading.

• CDS Clearing: As of December 31, 2021, we provide clearing services to over 90% of the global CDS market, as
measured by CDS gross notional cleared. ICE Clear Credit currently supports Single Names CDS on over 550
reference entities and 175 Index CDS instruments. Revenues also include interest income on certain clearing margin
deposits related to our CDS clearing business.

• Other Data and Network Services: We offerff a multi-asset class connectivity solution called the ICE Global Network.
The ICE Global Network offersff highly secure, low latency connectivity solutions to reach over 150 trading venues and
over 750 data sources. In addition, our consolidated feeds business provides data from a broad array of trading
venues and news feeds through a common application programming interface,f or API. Finally, our desktop solutions
support commodity and energy traders, risk managers, financial advisors, wealth managers and retail traders, and
include a robust instant messaging, or IM, system that protects the privacy of nearly 110,000 users, while also
enabling greater collaboration. Other Data and Network Service revenues are largely recurring in nature.

Mortgage Technology Segment

Over the last five years, ICE has constructed an end-to-end network aimed at identifyingff and solving the ineffiff ciencies that
exist in the U.S. residential mortgage market. From application through closing and the secondary market, our network is
intended to connect the key stakeholders across the mortgage origination workflow and provide our customers with data
services and technology that deliver greater transparency and enable significant customer efficiencyff gains. Our Mortgage
Technology segment generated revenues of $1.4 billion in 2021 and accounted for 20% of our consolidated revenues,
less transaction-based expenses.

• Origination Technology: Our proprietary and comprehensive mortgage origination platform, Encompass, acts as a
ysystem fof record ffor the gmortg gage gorigination, automati gng the ggath gering, greviewing, and fverify gyingff fof g gmortgage-related
finformatff ion and enablingg automated fenforcementff fof rules and business practices gdesigned to help ensure that each

completed loan transaction is fof ghigh qualityy and adheres to ysecondary market standards. These revenues are based
on grecurring SSofftware as a SService, or SSa SaS, subscription ffees, with an additive SSuccess-Based gPricing ffee as lenders
exceed the number fof loans closed that is included with their mont yhly base subscription.

In addition, the CICE gMortg gage Te gychnology Partner Network provides goriginators connectivityy to the mortg ggage ysupply
chain and ffacilitates the secure gexchange fof finformation between our customers and a broad yecosystem fof yproprietary
foffferifff gngs, third-partyy service providers and lenders and investors that are critical to consummat ging the millions fof loan
transactions that occur on our gorigination network each yyear. Revenue ffrom the CICE Mortg ggage Te gychnology Partner
Network is g ylargely transaction-based.

• Closing Solutions: Our closing solutions uniquely connect key participants, such as lenders, title and settlement
agents and individual county recorders, to digitize the traditionally manual and paper-based closing and recording
process. Our closing solutions also include revenues from the Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc., or
MERS, database, which provides a leading system for recording and tracking changes in mortgage servicing rights
and beneficial ownership interests in loans secured by U.S. residential real estate as well as Simplifile LC, a leading
provider of electronic signing and recording technology and services. Revenues from closing solutions are largely
transaction-based.

• Data and Analytics: ICE Mortgage Technology’s Automation, Intelligence, Quality, or AIQ, offeringff applies machine
learning and artificial intelligence, or AI, to the entire loan origination process, offeringff customers greater efficiencyff by
streamlining data collection and validation through our automated document recognition and data extraction
capabilities. AIQ also enables a series of AI-driven origination tasks and real-time risk analysis using tools called
analyzers that are intended to further improve customer workflow efficiff ency. AIQ aims to help investors make loan
purchases faster, by reducing operational costs and lowering buy-back risk through the application of AI to the
purchase review process. AIQ revenues can be both recurring and transaction-based in nature. In addition, our
Mortgage Technology’s data offeriff ngs include real-time industry and peer benchmarking tools, which provide
originators a granular view into the real-time trends of nearly half the U.S. residential mortgage market. We also
provide a Data as a Service, or DaaS, offeriff ng through private data clouds for lenders to access their own data and
origination informatff ion. Revenues related to our data products are largely subscription based and recurring in nature.

• Other: Other revenues include professional services fees and ancillary products. These revenues can be both
recurring and transaction-based in nature.
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Product and Services Development
We leverage our customer relationships, global distribution, technology infrastructure and software development
capabilities to diversifyff our products and services. We are continually developing, evaluating and testing new products to
better serve our client base. The majority of our product development relates to evaluating new contracts, new data sets,
new analytic offeriff ngs or new mortgage technologies. New contracts often must be reviewed and approved by relevant
regulators. We expect to continue to invest in improving our data distribution and software services to meet the needs of
our customers and improve their trading and connectivity experience by reducing latency, improving security and providing
the most relevant information and data.

While we primarily develop our products and services internally, we also periodically evaluate and enter into strategic
partnerships and licensing arrangements to develop new products and services. We intend to continue to invest to expand
our exchanges, fixed income and data services, and mortgage technology offeringsff to serve the evolving needs of our
global customer base.

Technology
Technology is a key component of our business strategy and competitive position and we regard effectff ive execution of our
technology initiatives as crucial to our sustainable business operations, market competitiveness, compliance and risk
management and overall success. Our technology solutions support our customers' workflows: trading and clearing
technology, multi-asset class analytics, risk assessment tools, robust data offerings,ff mortgage technology, instant
messaging capabilities and flexible connectivity and delivery solutions. Where feasible, we design and build our own
systems and write our own software programs since we believe that having control over our technology allows us to be
more responsive to our customers’ needs, better support the dynamic nature of our business, provide the highest quality
technology and deliver relevant, timely and actionable data to the markets and customers we serve.

• Trading Platforms and Technology: The ICE trading platform supports trading in our cleared futures and options
markets as well as our bilateral OTC markets. We also offerff voice brokers a facility for submitting block trades for
products that are eligible for clearing. Speed, reliability, resilience, capacity and security are critical performanceff
criteria for electronic trading platforms. Connectivity to our trading platform for our markets is available through our
web-based front-end applications, as well as independent softwaff re vendors, or ISVs, and APIs.

The NYSE electronic trading platformff features an open system architecture that allows users to access our system via
front-end trading applications developed by ISVs. We developed core technology and architecture known as NYSE
Pillar and have migrated all our Cash Equity Securities markets, Security Informatff ion Processor, or SIP,P and Options
Price Reporting Authority, or OPRA, platforms to this architecture. For equity options, we offerff a hybrid model of
electronic and open outcry trading through NYSE American Options and NYSE Arca Options. We also expect to
migrate our equity options markets to NYSE Pillar, which have historically operated on distinct platforms. This
integrated platform is expected to improve performanceff and reduce the complexity of operating multiple trading
systems.

• Clearing Technology: A broad range of clearing and risk management services are offereff d through the integrated
technology infrastructure that serves our clearing houses. ICE clearing technology is an integrated service-oriented
platform that enables post-trade management, position management, management of the clearing house risk
waterfall, contract settlement and treasury management functions. The primary focus of our derivatives clearing
houses is the risk management of clearing members throughout all facets of the position management and settlement
lifecycles. Our extensive technology and rules-based risk systems provide analytical tools that allow us to determine
margin, evaluate credit risk and monitor the trading activities and overall risk of clearing members.

• Data Services Technology: ICE Data Services technology uses integrated platforms to capture, store and process
informatff ion, perforf m analytics and maintain connectivity solutions using a single configurable data capture mechanism
and flexible delivery capability. Together, the platforms are intended to enable real-time processing and delivery of
informatff ion, accelerate new product development and improve production reliability. Our data and analytics are
delivered via real-time messaging, files, web services and other on-demand facilities and state-of-the-artff front-ends. In
addition, the technology underpinning our ICE Global Network supports scalable bandwidth and a wide variety of
connectivity options including fiber, wireless, colocation and hosting.

• Mortgage Technology: The ICE Mortgage Technology platform enables lenders to originate, process, fund and
deliver residential mortgages using various applications, APIs, data products and other services offered.ff The platform
is developed using industry-leading software technologies and third-party services, including hosting with a
combination of public cloud and private data centers. The platform is integrated with multiple services necessary for
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loan origination, such as credit reporting and other services that lenders leverage through our network, which is
offereff d through the platform. The platform includes industry leading information security infrastructure to protect the
confidentiality and integrity of our customers' data.

Operations
We operate regionally diverse primary and backup data centers and maintain comprehensive business continuity and
disaster recovery plans and facilities. These are designed to enable nearly continuous availability of our markets and other
services in the event of a business disruption or disaster. We maintain incident and crisis management plans that address
responses to disruptive events at any of our locations worldwide.

Cybersecurity
Our business activities rely extensively on technology and software, including the systems used by our business partners,
regulators and customers. In addition, our activities involve the use and retention of confidential data and informatff ion.
These activities make us susceptible to cyberattacks. We employ the following activities, processes and strategies to
evaluate, manage and address these risks.

• Strategy: We maintain a Cybersecurity Strategy, or CSS, which emphasizes consideration of the nature of our
business, ongoing intelligence collection regarding cybersecurity threats, and initiatives to specifically address
prominent areas of cybersecurity risk. The CSS outlines the key priorities for our cybersecurity program and the
methods by which our Information Security department seeks to accomplish those goals. The CSS is ratified by the
Risk Committee of our Board of Directors and when applicable, also by the corporate governance committees of our
regulated subsidiaries.

• Risk Management: Thematic threats such as sabotage, fraud, and theftff of assets or customer data are used to frame
our risk management activities. Asset theftff often involves organized crime or financially motivated nations staging
sophisticated, well-planned campaigns to steal significant cash, cryptocurrency, or equivalent assets. Our thematic
threats, along with others, are evaluated by our Board of Directors as well as our Risk Committee, Chief Risk Officerff
and Chief Information Security Officerff , or CISO. The CSS provides the framework we use for assessing risk,
prioritizing testing, identifying remedial actions and validating improvements. The CSS also provides for the
deployment of external and internal teams of ethical hackers that operate alongside our traditional vulnerability
detection processes.

• Information Sharing: We recognize the importance of collaboration and informatff ion sharing among private sector
firms in the financial services sector, across sectors, and with global public-sector agencies, when appropriate. Our
cybersecurity leaders hold positions within the Financial Services Information Sharing and Analysis Center, or FS-
ISAC, and the cross-sector Analysis and Resiliency Center, or ARC, in the U.S., the Financial Sector Cyber
Collaboration Centre, or FSCCC, in the U.K., and similar organizations across the Europe, Middle East and Africa, or
EMEA, and Asia Pacific, or APAC,PP regions.

• Governance and Leadership: Our Information Security department is led by our CISO, who provides comprehensive
reports to a dedicated internal governance committee at least quarterly outlining threat assessment, control
performance,ff and ongoing enhancements. Additionally, cybersecurity matters are reported to and discussed with a
cross-subsidiary leadership committee, the Risk Committee of our Board of Directors, and when applicable, subsidiary
boards. Our CISO and other senior security leaders conduct periodic cybersecurity education sessions with our
employees and directors. These sessions cover general cybersecurity topics as well as specific details regarding our
cybersecurity program.

• Third-Party Review: Our Information Security department utilizes extensive penetration testing, vulnerability
scanning, ethical hacking and maturity assessment services from global leaders in these practices. The results of
these reviews alongside frequent regulatory and customer examinations are assessed, with any resulting mitigation
activity assigned and tracked to remediation.

• Controls: Our identification of risks and selection of cyber-related controls is performedff in the context of the critical
financial infrastructure we maintain and operate. Our ongoing threat assessments are intended to identify changes in
external events and in our activities, infrastructure and processes that could necessitate reprioritization of risks and
controls. The nature of our business activities mandates an emphasis on sabotage and asset theftff as primary threats
in addition to contemporary themes of data theft.ff Our focus on these threats leads to an emphasis on network
security, social engineering controls, behavioral detection of insider threat, and deliberate and rehearsed recovery
strategies.
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Intellectual Property
We rely on a wide range of intellectual property, both owned and licensed, in connection with the operation of our various
businesses. We own the rights to a large number of trademarks, service marks, domain names and trade names in the
U.S., Europe and in other parts of the world. We have registered many of our trademarks in the U.S. and in certain other
countries. We hold the rights to a number of patents and have made a number of patent applications in the U.S. and other
countries. We also own the copyright to a variety of material. Those copyrights, some of which are registered, include
software code, printed and online publications, websites, advertisements, educational material, graphic presentations and
other literature, both textual and electronic. We attempt to protect our intellectual property rights by relying on trademarks,
patents, copyrights, database rights, trade secrets, restrictions on disclosure and other methods.

FTSE® and the FTSE indexes are trademarks and service marks of the London Stock Exchange plc and Financial Times
Limited and are used under license. MSCI® and the MSCI indexes are trademarks and service marks of MSCI Inc. or its
affilff iates and are used under license.

Human Capital Resources
As of December 31, 2021, we had a total of 8,858 employees with 1,618 in New York, 1,092 in Georgia, 989 in California,ff
337 in Massachusetts and 276 in Illinois, as well as 1,986 in India, 799 in the U.K., 416 in continental Europe and a total of
1,345 employees across our other officesff around the world. Of our total employee base, less than 1% is subject to
collective bargaining agreements, and such relations are considered to be good.

Our culture is driven by a common set of values that provide the foundation for everything we do and we use employee
surveys to ensure that we are holding true to these values.

We strive to provide comprehensive packages of competitive compensation and benefits in each market in which we
operate, which we believe is important to ensure our employees’ health, well-being and financial security. We review the
competitiveness of our compensation and benefits frequently. As an equal opportunity employer, all qualified applicants
receive consideration without regard to race, color, religion, gender, sexual orientation, gender identity, national origin or
ancestry, age, disability or veteran status, or other protected status.

We are committed to diversity on our Board of Directors and in our employee population. We believe that our employee
population should reflect the broader communities within which we operate. We hold ourselves accountable via quarterly
and annual data reporting to senior management, data reporting to our Board of Directors, and transparency in reporting
data to our stakeholders via our annual Sustainability Report.

Employee development is an important element of our human capital management program. Career development and
training opportunities are available throughout our ranks, including both structured course work across a variety of topics
and situations, and self-directff ed learning from a wide array of available resources. Through employee assistance plans, in
most of our locations we provide free and discounted counseling services for dealing with traumatic life events, mental
health issues and stress, as well as general wellness programs.

We monitor voluntary attrition rates carefully, and over the past three years, our attrition rates have remained lower than
the benchmarks in the finance and technology sectors. We review this data frequently and transparently report this
informatff ion to our stakeholders via our Sustainability Report.

Financial education is the cornerstone of our corporate giving efforts,ff which include support for several organizations. We
also underwrite a digital financial education and data sciences curriculum that is delivered at no cost to grade school and
high school students in the U.S. We make additional charitable contributions throughout the communities where we have
officesff and our employees are encouraged to do the same, including through an annual match to employees for charities
of their choice. We offerff an annual match of $3,500 per employee to encourage and reward our employees' charitable
contributions.

Corporate Citizenship
We strive to create long-term value for our stockholders and meet sustainability goals for all of our stakeholders. That
includes maintaining high ethical and business standards, giving back in the communities where we live and work and
using our unique resources to bring together a network of the world's leading companies to learn from each other and
exchange ideas on a broad range of issues, including those related to environmental, social and governance matters.

For additional informatff ion, please refer to the ESG section of our website at www.ice.com/esg.
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Our Competitive Strengths
We believe we compete on the basis of a number of factors, including:

• depth and liquidity of markets;

• price transparency;

• reliability and speed of trade execution and processing;

• technological capabilities and innovation;

• breadth of products and services;

• proprietary nature of many of our data services offeriff ngs;

• broad distribution and end-to-end design of our mortgage technology offeriff ng;

• rate and quality of new product development;

• quality and stability of services;

• distribution and ease of connectivity;

• mid- and back-officeff service offeff rings, including differeff ntiated and value-added services;

• transaction costs; and

• reputation.

We believe that we compete favorably with respect to these factors, and that our deep, liquid markets, technology
offerings,ff breadth of product offerings,ff new product development, customer relationships and efficientff , secure settlement,
clearing and other support services distinguish us from our competitors. We believe that to maintain our competitive
position, we must continue to develop new and innovative products and services, enhance our technology infrastructure,
maintain liquidity and offerff competitive pricing.

We believe our key strengths include our:

• Data Services: Across all three of our segments and our various networks, our data services aim to address the
rising demand for independent, real-time informatff ion, which is being driven by regulation, market fragmentation and
competition, increasing technology and data demands, increasing automation, as well as passive investing and
indexation. We also believe our data services are uniquely relevant to our clients’ business operations and provide
tools and services that enable greater workflow efficiencyff and, regardless of market conditions, are relied upon to
serve the need for continuous informatff ion and analysis.

– In our Exchanges segment, we offerff proprietary real-time and historical pricing data, as well as order book
and transaction informatff ion related to our global futures markets and the NYSE. We also provide connectivity
services directly related to those exchange platforms and clearing houses.

– In our Fixed Income and Data Services segment, we are a leading provider of evaluated end-of-dayff and real-
time pricing services on roughly three million fixed income securities spanning approximately 150 countries
and 80 currencies including sovereign, corporate and municipal bonds, mortgage and asset-backed
securities, as well as leveraged loans. Our reference data offeringff complements our evaluated pricing by
providing our clients with a broad range of descriptive informatff ion, covering millions of financial instruments
that, when coupled with our pricing services, act as the foundation for our leading fixed income index
complex.

– In our Mortgage Technology segment, our AIQ offeringff applies machine learning and artificial intelligence to
the entire loan origination process, offeringff customers greater efficiencyff by streamlining data collection and
validation through our automated document recognition and data extraction capabilities. AIQ also enables a
series of artificial intelligence-driven origination tasks and real-time risk analysis using tools called analyzers
that are intended to further improve customer workflow efficiencyff . In addition, our Mortgage Technology’s data
offeringsff include real-time industry and peer benchmarking tools, which provide originators a granular view
into the real-time trends of nearly half the U.S. residential mortgage market.

• World Class Technology: Our proprietary systems are built using state-of-the-art technology and are designed to
support our customers' workflows across the networks we operate. We employ a significant number of employees in
technology-related activities, including product management, system architecture, software development, network
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engineering, server maintenance and continuity, cybersecurity, system and data performance,ff systems analysis,
quality assurance, database administration and customer technical support. Speed, reliability, resilience, capacity and
security are critical performanceff criteria for our electronic networks.

• Risk Management Expertise: We offerff a range of central clearing and related risk management services to promote
the liquidity and security of our markets in jurisdictions around the world and to meet local regulatory and operational
needs in key financial market centers. The credit and performanceff assurance provided by our clearing houses to
clearing members is designed to substantially reduce counterparty risk and is a critical component of our exchanges’
identities as reliable and secure marketplaces for global transactions. Our clearing houses are designed to protect the
financial integrity of our markets by maintaining strong governance and rules, managing collateral, facilitating
payments and collections, enhancing capital efficiencyff and limiting counterparty credit risk. In our Fixed Income and
Data Services segment, we provide mission critical price transparency for nearly three million fixed income securities
globally. Our fixed income customers rely on our data, indices and analytics to informff pre-trade decision making,
support post-trade regulatory and compliance needs and improve operational efficiencyff . In our Mortgage Technology
segment, our origination technology network acts as a system of record for mortgage transactions, automating the
gathering, reviewing, and verifyingff of mortgage-related informatff ion, that in addition to other benefits, is intended to
enable automated enforcementff of rules and business practices that are designed to adhere to secondary market
standards.

• Broad Distribution: We operate multiple trading venues, including 13 regulated exchanges, as well as 6 clearing
houses, which are strategically positioned in major market centers around the world, including the U.S., U.K., EU,
Canada, Asia Pacific and the Middle East. Our ICE Global Network provides connectivity to over 150 trading venues
and data from over 750 data sources, including ICE-operated markets and data services. Through our fixed income
execution, data and analytics offerings,ff we serve thousands of customers across global fixed income markets. In our
Mortgage Technology segment, we have at least one product relationship with nearly every key industry participant
from loan originators to settlement agents and local jurisdictions within the U.S., that represent over 85% of the U.S.
population.

• Diverse Product Offerings: In our Exchanges segment, many of our futures contracts serve as global benchmarks
for managing risk relating to exposure to price movements in the underlying products, including financial, energy and
agricultural commodities. For example, we are a leading provider of global energy risk management products, ranging
from global crude and refined oil products, to an array of global natural gas benchmarks and environmental markets.
In our Fixed Income and Data Services segment, we offerff customer solutions that span their workflows including pre-
trade analytics, an array of execution protocols, and post-trade services all designed to improve asset class
transparency and bring efficiencyff to customers' workflows. In our Mortgage Technology segment, we provide
customers with a comprehensive loan origination platform and network of third-party service providers, which we
believe are critical to the underwriting, processing and closing of U.S. residential mortgage loans.
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Competitors
The markets in which we operate are highly competitive. We face competition in all aspects of our business from a
number of differeff nt enterprises, both domestic and international, including traditional exchanges, electronic trading
platforms, investment banks, data vendors, voice brokers, and mortgage and other technology providers.

Exchanges Segment

• We face competition from other exchanges, electronic trading systems, third-party clearing houses, technology
firms, market data vendors and trading facilities in the U.S. and globally. Some of the exchanges are consortiums
formed by banks and exchanges.

• We face significant competition with respect to equities trading, and this competition is expected to remain
intense. Our current and prospective competitors include regulated markets, dark pools and other alternative
trading systems, or ATSs, market makers and other execution venues. We also face competition from large
investment banks, brokers and customers that may assume the role of principal and act as counterparty to orders
originating from retail customers, or match their respective order flows through bilateral trading arrangements,
including through internalization of order flow. NYSE Arca Options and NYSE American Options face considerable
competition in the equity options markets; their principal U.S. competitors are Nasdaq, Inc., or Nasdaq, and Cboe
Global Markets, Inc., or Cboe.

• Our principal competitor forff corporate listings in the U.S. is Nasdaq. For ETF listings, we compete with Nasdaq
and Cboe. We also face competition for foreign issuer listings from a number of stock exchanges outside the U.S.
As other liquidity venues and new entrants seek exchange status, we may face more competition for listings.

Fixed Income and Data Services Segment

• Our fixed income trading venues, or ICE Bonds, compete with other electronic trading venues. Our platforms also
compete forff volume traded bilaterally or trading activity that is not done through an electronic venue.

• Our data services offeriff ngs face intense competition in all aspects of the business. We broadly compete with
purchased third-party informatff ion and services from large global suppliers of financial market data. Our Fixed
Income Data and Analytics services compete with informatff ion obtained from informalff industry relationships and
sources, such as broker quotes, as well as other index and portfolio analytics providers. Our ICE Global Network
business competes with other extranet providers.
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Mortgage Technology Segment

• In our ICE Mortgage Technology business, we compete with other digital mortgage solution providers and
proprietary systems that lenders have put in place. We also compete for mortgage activity that does not utilize
digital solutions.

Our Growth Strategy
We seek to advance our leadership position by focusing our effortff s on the following key strategies for growth:

• innovate and expand the networks we serve to address the rising demand for transparency and efficiency;ff

• further develop our technology and risk management infrastructure while also increasing our distribution; and

• strengthen our competitive position through select acquisitions and strategic relationships.

The record consolidated revenues, less transaction-based expenses, we achieved in 2021 reflect our focus on the
implementation and execution of our long-term growth strategy.

Innovate and Expand the Networks We Serve to Address the Rising Demand for Transparency and Efficiency

Our growth strategy has been to expand the networks we serve by, in part, adding new data, technology, connectivity and
other workflow tools. By bringing together leading technology with a wide range of data and analytics, as well as an array
of delivery mechanisms, we offerff customers a comprehensive and flexible solution to address the need for more
transparency, efficiencyff and informatff ion across their respective workflows. Our growth has been driven by many factors,
such as increased automation, regulation and demand for independent, secure, real-time informatff ion.

We will continue to look for strategic opportunities to grow our networks and expect to also continue to pursue
opportunities in asset classes we do not currently serve.

Further Develop Our Technology and Risk Management Infrastructure While Also Increasing Our Distribution

We develop and maintain our own infrastructure, electronic trading platforms, clearing systems, mortgage platforms and
data and analytics platforms, which are designed to ensure scalability and the delivery of technology that meets our
expanding customer base’s demands for price transparency, reliability, risk management and transaction efficiencyff . The
systems that we operate support trading, clearing, mortgage originations, data and analytics across many data centers.

We expect to continue to develop our exchange technologies, including rolling out NYSE Pillar, our new integrated
equities trading platform and matching engine, to our equity options markets to improve performanceff and reduce the
complexity of operating multiple trading systems. We also expect to continue to invest in mortgage technology to
streamline and automate more workflows and build new capabilities, such as eClose and AIQ analyzers. Finally, we
expect to add content and build new analytics to enable further electronification in fixed income markets.

Our customer base has grown and diversified as a result of several drivers, including the addition of new asset classes
and products, the move toward increased risk management and increased automation, regulation and demand for
independent, secure, real-time informatff ion. We continue to add new participants to our platforms, which bring additional
demand for new products and services. We develop new products, but have also increased our capabilities through
licenses and acquisitions of companies and intellectual property. We intend to continue to increase the ease of access
and connectivity with our existing and prospective customers and expand our customer base by leveraging our existing
relationships and our global sales and marketing team to promote participation on our platform, and by expanding our
range of products and services.

Strengthen Our Competitive Position Through Select Acquisitions and Strategic Relationships

We were an early consolidator in global markets and we intend to continue to explore and pursue acquisitions and other
strategic opportunities to strengthen our competitive position globally, broaden our product offeringsff and services and
support the growth of our company while enhancing stockholder value as measured by return on invested capital,
earnings accretion and cash flow growth. We may enter into business combinations, make acquisitions or enter into
strategic partnerships, joint ventures or other alliances, any of which may be material. In addition to growing our business,
we may enter into these transactions for a variety of additional reasons, including leveraging our existing strengths to
enter new markets or related asset classes, expanding our products and services, diversifyingff our business, addressing
underserved markets, advancing our technology and anticipating or responding to regulatory or other potential changes in
our industry or other industries. For example, in September 2020, we acquired Ellie Mae, Inc., or Ellie Mae, to expand our
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mortgage technology portfolio. Through its digital lending platform, Ellie Mae (now known as ICE Mortgage Technology),
provides technology services to participants in the mortgage supply chain, including its over 3,000 customers and
thousands of partners and investors who provide market liquidity on its open network.

Information About Our Executive Officers
Informatff ion relating to our executive officersff is included under “Executive Officers”ff in Part III, Item 10, “Directors,
Executive Offiff cers and Corporate Governance” of this Annual Report.

Regulation
Our activities and the markets in which we operate are subject to regulations that impact us as well as our customers,
and, in turn, meaningfully influence our activities, the manner in which we operate and our strategy. We are primarily
subject to the jurisdiction of regulatory agencies in the U.S., U.K., EU, Canada, Singapore and Abu Dhabi. Failure to
satisfy regulatory requirements can or may give rise to sanctions by the applicable regulator. See the discussion below
and Item 1(A) "-Risk Factors" in this Annual Report for additional descriptions of regulatory and legislative risks and
uncertainties.

Regulation of our Derivatives Business

Our regulated derivatives markets and clearing houses are based primarily in the U.S., U.K., EU, Canada, Singapore and
Abu Dhabi.

• Our U.S. futures exchange, ICE Futures U.S., is subject to extensive regulation by the Commodity Futures
Trading Commission, or CFTC, under the Commodity Exchange Act, or CEA. The CEA generally requires that
futures trading in the U.S. be conducted on a commodity exchange registered as a Designated Contract Market,
or DCM. As a registered DCM, ICE Futures U.S. is a self-regulatff ory organization, or SRO, that has implemented
rules and procedures to comply with the core principles applicable to it under the CEA.

• In the U.K., ICE Futures Europe is a Recognized Investment Exchange, or RIE, in accordance with the Financial
Servicesrr and Markets Act 2000. Like U.S. regulated derivatives markets, RIEs are SROs with surveillance and
compliance responsibilities.

• In the EU, ICE Endex is a regulated market in the Netherlands and its derivative markets are licensed under the
Dutch Financial Services Act and supervised by the Dutch National Bank, or DNB, and the Netherlands Authority
for the Financial Markets, or AFM.

• In Singapore, ICE Futures Singapore is an approved exchange supervised by the Monetary Authority of
Singapore, or MAS.

• In Abu Dhabi, ICE Futures Abu Dhabi is an RIE and regulated by the Financial Services Regulatory Authority, or
FSRA.

• In Canada, ICE NGX is recognized as an exchange and clearing house by the Alberta Securities Commission and
is also registered by the CFTC as a Foreign Board of Trade and as a Derivatives Clearing Organization, or DCO.

• ICE Clear Credit and ICE Clear U.S. are regulated by the CFTC as DCOs. DCOs are subject to extensive
regulation by the CFTC under the CEA. The Financial Stability Oversight Council, or FSOC, has designated ICE
Clear Credit as a systemically-important financial market utility under Title VIII of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street
Reformff and Consumer Protection Act, or Dodd-Frank Act. As such, ICE Clear Credit has access to the Federal
Reserve System and holds deposits of $37.3 billion of its U.S. dollar cash in its cash accounts at the Federal
Reserve as of December 31, 2021.

• ICE Clear Europe, which is primarily regulated in the U.K. by the Bank of England, or BOE, as a Recognized
Clearing House, is also subject to regulation by the CFTC as a DCO and by the European Securities and Markets
Authority, or ESMA. Both ICE Clear Credit and ICE Clear Europe are also regulated by the SEC as clearing
agencies because they clear security-based swaps.

• In the EU, ICE Clear Netherlands is an authorized CCP and is regulated by the DNB and AFM.

• In Singapore, ICE Clear Singapore is an approved clearing house supervised by the MAS.
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Regulation of our Securities Business

• In our cash equities and options markets, NYSE, NYSE Arca, NYSE American, NYSE National and NYSE
Chicago are national securities exchanges and, as such, are SROs and subject to oversight by the SEC.
Accordingly, our U.S. securities exchanges are regulated by the SEC and, in turn, are the regulators of their
members. As national securities exchanges, NYSE, NYSE Arca, NYSE American, NYSE National and NYSE
Chicago must comply with, and enforceff compliance by their members with, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
or the Exchange Act.

• Our U.S.-based execution-oriented fixed income markets are operated by our SEC-registered broker-dealers, ICE
Bonds Securities Corporation, or ICE Bonds, which operates three SEC registered ATSs, ICE BondPoint, ICE
Credit Trade, and ICE TMC. ICE Bonds is subject to oversight by the SEC and is a member of the Financial
Industry Regulatory Authority, or FINRA, and the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, or MSRB. FINRA and
MSRB are SROs that regulate broker-dealers in the U.S. ICE Securities Execution & Clearing, LLC, a full clearing
member of the National Securities Clearing Corporation, the Fixed Income Clearing Corporation and The
Depository Trust Corporation, provides correspondent clearing for ICE Bonds and is subject to oversight by the
SEC, FINRA and the MSRB.

• Our U.K.-based execution-oriented fixed income market is operated by Creditex Brokerage, L.L.P., which is an
operator of a multilateral trading facility, or MTF, and ICE Markets Limited, which acts as the matched principal
counterparty to bond transactions arranged on the MTF operated by Creditex Brokerage. Both Creditex
Brokerage and ICE Markets Limited are regulated and authorized by the U.K.’s Financial Conduct Authority, or
FCA. Creditex Brokerage is authorized to provide automated trading services in Hong Kong, Singapore and
Switzerland and is subject to regulatory oversight by national competent authorities in each jurisdiction.

Regulation of our Data Business

We have a U.S. subsidiary that is registered with the SEC under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, or the Investment
Advisers Act, for its evaluated pricing and other advisory services. The Investment Advisers Act imposes numerous
regulatory obligations on registered investment advisers, including those relating to the management and distribution of
products and services, record-keeping, compliance oversight, operational and marketing requirements, disclosure
obligations and prohibitions on fraudulent activities. Investment advisers also are subject to certain state securities laws
and regulations. ICE Data Services (Australia) Pty. Ltd. provides financial services in Australia and is licensed by the
Australian Securities and Investment Commission, or ASIC. ICE Data Desktop Solutions (Europe) Limited provides certain
financial services throughout Europe and is regulated by the FCA. ICE Data Indices applies the International Organization
of Securities Commissions, or IOSCO, Principles for Financial Benchmarks to its indices. ICE Data Indices is recognized
as a third-country benchmark administrator by the FCA under the U.K. Benchmarks Regulation, or U.K. BMR. ICE
Benchmark Administration Limited, or IBA, is authorized and regulated by the FCA for the regulated activity of
administering a benchmark, and is authorized as a benchmark administrator under the U.K. BMR. See “Regulatory
Changes” below for more informatff ion.

Regulation of our Mortgage Business

We have a mortgage technology business, ICE Mortgage Technology (formerly known as Ellie Mae), that is subject to
examination by the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council, or the FFIEC, and its member agencies because it
is a third-party service provider to financial institutions directly regulated by the FFIEC and its member agencies, including,
among others, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or CFPB. In addition, our mortgage technology business
processes a significant amount of consumer financial informatff ion on behalf of mortgage lenders and as a result is subject
to a variety of U.S. state and federal regulations governing the protection of consumer financial informatff ion.

Regulatoryrr Changes

Domestic and foreign policy makers continue to review their legal frameworks governing financial markets, and
periodically change the laws and regulations that apply to our business and to our customers’ businesses. Our key areas
of focus on these evolving effortff s are:

• Continued access by EU market participants to U.K. CCPs and exchanges. The European Commission adopted
an 18-month temporary equivalence decision for U.K. CCPs, which began to apply as of January 1, 2021. Based on
this temporary equivalence, ICE Clear Europe has been recognized by ESMA as a third-country CCP in accordance
with the European Markets Infrastructure Regulation, or EMIR. In November 2021, the European Commission
announced that it will propose an extension of the equivalence decision applying to U.K. CCPs in early 2022. In
December 2021, ESMA published its comprehensive review of the systemic importance of ICE Clear Europe,
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currently designated as a Tier 2 CCP,P and determined not to issue a recommendation for derecognition. ESMA instead
proposed that measures be considered by relevant EU institutions and authorities to mitigate risks related to Tier 2
CCP clearing services identified as being of substantial systemic importance to the EU (including services provided by
ICE Clear Europe). ESMA also proposed regulatory and supervisory measures that incentivize EU clearing
participants and clients to reduce their exposures towards Tier 2 CCPs and enhancements to ESMA’sAA supervisory
powers.

Separately, ICE Futures Europe will continue to be able to permit access to its platform from relevant EU jurisdictions
and ICE Endex will continue to be able to permit access to its platform from the U.K. The absence of an equivalence
decision by the EU for U.K. trading venues, however, may result in increased costs for certain EU market participants,
which could impact trading on ICE Futures Europe. Additional impacts to our business and the potential for regulatory
changes remain uncertain at this time.

• Regulatoryrr structure applicable to non-EU clearing houses. On January 1, 2020, EMIR 2.2 became effectff ive,
which revises the EU's current regulatory and supervisory structure for EU and non-EU clearing houses. ESMA has
recognized ICE Clear Europe as a third-country CCP under EMIR and determined that it is a Tier 2 CCP on the basis
that it is systemically important to the financial stability of the EU or one or more of its Member States. ESMA has
recognized all other ICE clearing houses as third-country CCPs and determined that they are Tier 1 CCPs on the
basis that they are not systemically-important to the financial stability of the EU or one or more of its Member States.
ESMA's continuing implementation of these delegated regulations could still impact one or more of our other non-EU
clearing houses.

• Requirement that European and U.K. exchanges and CCPs offeff r non-discriminatory access. The non-
discriminatory access provisions of the U.K.'s Markets in Financial Instruments Directive II, or U.K. MiFID II, and the
EU Markets in Financial Instruments Directive II, or EU MiFID II, required both our U.K. and EU exchanges and CCPs
to offerff access to third parties on commercially reasonable terms. In May 2021, the U.K. Treasury concluded that the
non-discriminatory access requirements for exchange-traded derivatives were not suitable in a U.K.-only context and
the requirements were removed. With regard to EU MiFID II, in November 2021, the European Commission proposed
that non-discriminatory access for exchange traded derivatives be removed from Markets in Financial Instruments, or
MiFIR, regulation.

• Brexit implications. As of January 1, 2021, EU law no longer applies in and to the U.K. In connection with the
completion of the U.K.'s withdrawal from the EU, the U.K. and EU finalized a trade and cooperation agreement, which
is now in force. The trade and cooperation agreement does not cover financial services. The EU and U.K. declared an
intention to continue discussions to agree on a memorandum of understanding, or MoU, on financial services
cooperation. This MoU, once signed and ratified by both parties, will establish a Joint U.K.-EU Financial Regulatory
forum, which will serve as a platform to facilitate dialogue on financial services issues. There continues to be
uncertainty surrounding specific terms that may impact the financial services industry and our business operations.

• Capital requirements for investment firms acting as market makers. EU and U.K. policy makers are developing a
framework for prudential requirements for EU and U.K. investment firms. The proposed rules introduce new prudential
requirements tailored to the activities and risks faced by investment firms. We are monitoring the potential impact of
these new rules on investment firms acting as market makers on certain markets operated by ICE Futures Europe
and ICE Endex.

• Financial transaction and similar taxes. A number of EU Member States have considered a financial transaction
tax, but many details remain to be discussed and agreed, including how to assess the tax at a Member State level.
Implementation of a financial transaction tax could result in a reduction in volumes and liquidity, which would have a
negative impact on our EU operations.

In the U.S., financial transaction taxes and other similar changes to tax laws are being considered in several states,
and a federal financial transaction tax on stocks, bonds and derivatives has been introduced in the U.S. House of
Representatives. As in the EU, these types of taxes in the U.S. could result in reduced volumes and liquidity on our
exchanges that trade instruments to which the tax applies.

• Benchmarks Regulation. The FCA is using its legal powers under the U.K. BMR to require the London Interbank
Offereff d Rate, or LIBOR's, administrator, IBA, to publish certain Sterling and Japanese Yen LIBOR settings under a
changed "synthetic" methodology until the end of 2022. Any settings published under a “synthetic” methodology may
no longer be representative of the underlying market or economic reality the setting is intended to measure as those
terms are used in the U.K. BMR. The FCA confirmed that it expects that certain U.S. Dollar LIBOR settings will
continue to be published on a representative basis until the end of June 2023. The FCA will continue to consider
requiring IBA to publish certain U.S. Dollar LIBOR settings beyond June 30, 2023 under a changed “synthetic”
methodology. Usage of the synthetic LIBOR and U.S. Dollar LIBOR settings may be restricted or prohibited in certain
circumstances under applicable law.
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The European Commission is using its powers under the EU Benchmarks Regulation, or EU BMR, to designate
replacement benchmarks for certain Swiss franc LIBOR settings and the Euro Overnight Index Average, or EONIA,
which cover all references to the relevant benchmark. The European Commission has also announced that it plans to
designate replacement benchmarks for certain Sterling and Japanese Yen LIBOR settings. The transition period for
the use of benchmarks provided by third-country administrators has been extended until at least December 31, 2023.

In April 2021, New York State enacted a law designed to reduce uncertainty and economic impacts of the permanent
cessation of LIBOR for specified contracts, securities and other agreements that are economically linked to LIBOR
that are governed by New York state law. The New York law generally tracks the legislation proposed by the
Alternative Reference Rates Committee and received broad industry support.

• U.S. Listing and Trading Prohibitions on Certain Foreign Companies. On December 18, 2020, the Holding
Foreign Companies Accountable Act became U.S. law. For each company required to file periodic reports with the
SEC, this Act requires the SEC to identify any company that retains a registered public accounting firm that is located
in a foreign jurisdiction and that the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, or PCAOB, is unable to inspect or
investigate because of a position taken in such foreign jurisdiction. On December 16, 2021, the PCAOB designated
China and Hong Kong as the jurisdictions where the PCAOB is not allowed to conduct full and complete audit
inspections. Pursuant to the PCAOB's determinations, the SEC will identify issuers that have used non-inspected
audit firms. If the SEC determines that an identified company has used a non-inspected audit firm for three
consecutive years, it is required to prohibit such company's securities from trading on a U.S. securities exchange or in
any “over-the-counter” market in the U.S. As a consequence, the NYSE is likely to be required to suspend trading in
certain of its listed companies.

On June 3, 2021, President Biden signed an Executive Order, or the June Order, that prohibits U.S. persons from
purchasing or selling the publicly traded securities of companies determined to be Chinese Military Industrial Complex
Companies, or CMICs, because they (i) operate in defense and related material sector, or the surveillance technology
sector, of China, or (ii) own or control, or are owned or controlled by, an individual or entity that operates in such
sectors. Although there are no companies currently listed on the NYSE securities exchanges determined to be
CMICs, in the future, there may be listed companies covered by the prohibitions.

See the discussion below and Item 1(A) “- Risk Factors” in this Annual Report for additional description of regulatory and
legislative risks and uncertainties.

Available Information
Our principal executive officesff are located at 5660 New Northside Drive, 3rd Floor, Atlanta, Georgia 30328. Our main
telephone number is 1-770-857-4700, and our website is www.ice.com.

We are required to file reports and other informatff ion with the SEC. A copy of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as well as
any future Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to such reports are
available free of charge, on our website as soon as reasonably practicable after we file such reports with, or furnish such
reports to, the SEC. A copy of these filings is also available at the SEC’s website (www.sec.gov). The reference to our
website address and to the SEC’s website address do not constitute incorporation by reference of the informatff ion
contained on the website and should not be considered part of this report. From time to time, we may use our website
and/or social media, including Twitter, as distribution channels of material informatff ion. The website to access our Twitter
account is https://t// witter.com/ICE_Markets.

In addition, we have posted on our website the charters for our (i) Audit Committee, (ii) Compensation Committee,
(iii) Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and (iv) Risk Committee, as well as our Global Code of Business
Conduct, which includes informatff ion regarding our whistleblower hotline informatff ion, Board of Directors Governance
Guidelines and Board Communication Policy. We will provide a copy of these documents without charge to stockholders
upon request.

ITEM 1(A). RISK FACTORS

The risks and uncertainties described below are those that we currently believe could materially adversely affectff us. Other
risks and uncertainties that we do not presently consider to be material or of which we are not presently aware may
become important factors that affectff us in the future. If any of the risks discussed below actually occur, our business,
financial condition, operating results or cash flows could be materially adversely affecteff d. Accordingly, you should carefully
consider the following risk factors, as well as other informatff ion contained in or incorporated by reference in this Annual
Report.
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SUMMAMM RY

The following summarizes some of the key risks and uncertainties that could materially adversely affectff us. You should
read this summary together with the more detailed description of each risk factor contained below.

Business and Industry
• Global economic, political and financial market events or conditions may negatively impact our business.

• Owning clearing houses exposes us to risks, including risks related to defaults by clearing members, risks related to
investing margin and guaranty funds and the cost of operating the clearing houses.

• A decline in the value of securities held as margin or guaranty fund contributions by our clearing houses or default by
a sovereign government issuer could pose additional risks of defaultff by clearing members.

• Owning and operating cash equity and options exchanges exposes us to additional risks, including the regulatory
responsibilities to which these businesses are subject.

• Our business is subject to the impact of interest rate levels, inflation and financial markets volatility, which may be
caused by conditions that are beyond our control.

• Systems failures in the derivatives and securities trading industry and mortgage technology industry could negatively
impact us.

• We may be at greater risk from terrorism, including cyberterrorism, than other companies.

• Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates could adversely affectff our financial results.

• We may have difficultff y executing our growth strategy and maintaining our growth effectiff vely.

• We may not be successful in offeringff new products or technologies or in identifying opportunities.

• Climate change and the transition to renewable energy and a net zero economy pose operational, commercial and
regulatory risks.

• The COVID-19 pandemic could adversely affectff our business, results of operations and financial condition.

• We may be required to recognize impairments of our goodwill, other intangible assets or investments.

• We may not realize the expected benefits of our majority investment in Bakkt and the investment may introduce
additional risks to our business due to its evolving business model.

Legal and Regulatory
• Our businesses and those of many of our clients have been and continue to be subject to extensive legislation and

regulatory scrutiny, and we face the risk of changes to our regulatory environment and business in the future.

• Our compliance and risk management methods, as well as our fulfillment of our regulatory obligations, might not be
effectff ive, which could lead to enforcementff actions by our regulators.

• Regulatory changes or court rulings may have an adverse impact on our ability to derive revenue from market data
and connectivity fees.

• The uncertainty surrounding the terms of the U.K.'s exit from the EU, commonly referred to as Brexit, could adversely
impact our business, results of operations and financial condition.

• Risks relating to the administration of benchmarks and indices, including LIBOR, and the potential for changes to,
cessations of, and the replacement of, or transition from, benchmarks and indices, including LIBOR, may result in
legal risks and could adversely affectff our business.

• We may face liability for content contained in our data products and services.

• We are subject to significant litigation and liability risks.

Operational and Liquidity
• Our systems and those of our third-party service providers may be vulnerable to cyberattacks, hacking and other

cybersecurity risks, which could result in wrongful manipulation, disclosure, destruction, or use of our informatff ion or
that of a third party, or which could make our participants unable or reluctant to use our electronic platforms.

• Our business may be harmed by computer and communication systems failures and delays.

• An interruption or cessation of an important service, data or content supplied by any third party, or the loss of an
exclusive license, could have a material adverse effectff on our business.
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• Our success largely depends on key personnel, including our senior management, and having adequate succession
plans in place. We may not be able to attract, retain and develop the highly skilled employees we need to support our
business, which could harm our business.

• We currently have a substantial amount of outstanding indebtedness which could adversely affectff our financial
condition and operations and restrict our activities or satisfy our debt service obligations.

Competition
• We face intense competition; failure to keep up with rapid changes in technology and client preferences could

negatively impact our competitive position.

• Damage to our reputation could damage our business.

Intellectual Property
• Our use of "open source" software could negatively impact our ability to sell our products and services and subject

us to litigation.

• A failure to protect our intellectual property rights, or allegations that we have infringed the intellectual property rights
of others, could adversely affectff our business.

Common Stock
• We are a holding company and depend on our subsidiaries for dividends, distributions and other payments.

• We may fail to complete or realize the anticipated cost savings, growth opportunities and synergies and other
benefits anticipated from our acquisitions or anticipated growth opportunities or expected benefits of our strategic
investments, which could adversely affectff the value of our common stock.

• Provisions of our organizational documents and Delaware law may delay or deter a change of control of ICE.

BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY

Global economic, political and financial market events or conditidd ons may negativelyl impact our business.

Adverse macroeconomic conditions, including recessions, inflation, supply chain issues, labor shortages, government
shutdowns, currency fluctuations, interest rate changes, increased mortgage foreclosure volume, geopolitical events or
conflicts, international trade disputes, including the imposition of tariffsff or other protectionist measures, actual or
anticipated large-scale defaults or failures or slowdown of global trade have in the past negatively impacted consumer and
corporate confidence and resulted in reductions in consumer, government and corporate spending, and could have such
effectsff in the future, and in turn impact our business. If our customers reduce spending, workforce,ff mortgage origination
activity, trading activity or demand for financial data as a result of challenges in the prevailing economic markets, our
revenues could decline.

A substantial portion of our revenues are derived from data services fees and fees for transactions executed and cleared
in our markets. Our market data-based revenues are largely subscription-based, or recurring, and are generated from a
range of global financial and commodity markets, including pricing and reference data, exchange data, analytics, feeds,
index services, desktops and connectivity solutions. For our transaction-based revenues, we derive a significant
percentage from trading in global energy and agricultural-related futures and options contracts, as well as equity
transactions and global interest rate contracts. The market data subscriptions and trading volumes in our markets could
decline substantially if our market participants reduce their level of spending or trading activity for any reason, including:

• adverse market conditions that curtail the addition of new customers or cause a decrease in purchases by our
existing customers for our subscription-based products and services;

• weakness in the macroeconomic environment that causes our customers to delay or cancel existing orders or
subscriptions;

• cost-cutting pressures across the industry or decrease in demand for our subscription-based products and services
that lead to a reduction in price;

• consolidation in our markets or the markets of our customers that results in a reduction in the number of market
participants;

• a reduction in trading demand by customers or a decision to curtail or cease hedging or speculative trading;
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• regulatory or legislative changes impacting our business, our customers and financial markets;

• political uncertainty and discord could negatively impact us if we are viewed as taking a political stance that is
contrary to our customers' beliefsff or principles;

• the impact of climate change and the transition to renewable energy and away from crude oil;

• a prolonged decrease in volatility in the financial markets;

• heightened capital and margin requirements or mandated reductions in leverage resulting from new regulations;

• defaults by clearing or exchange members or the inability of participants to pay out contractual obligations;

• changes to our contract specifications that are not viewed favorably by our market participants; or

• reduced access to, or availability of, capital required to fund trading activities.

A reduction in our overall trading volume could render our markets less attractive to market participants as a source of
liquidity, which could result in further loss of trading volume and associated transaction-based revenues. A reduction in
trading volumes could also result in a corresponding decrease in the demand for our market data, which would further
reduce our overall revenue.

Further, NYSE’s revenue increases when more companies are seeking access to public markets, and on the NYSE
specifically. A stagnation or a decline in the initial public offering,ff or IPO, market, or issuers choosing to list on venues
other than the NYSE, could have an adverse effectff on our revenues.

U.S. trade and diplomatic tensions, U.S. government policies toward China, including sanctions laws, executive orders
and other regulations, and Chinese government policies toward U.S. companies and Chinese companies listed on U.S.
exchanges are likely to impact our existing business and future opportunities. For example, in response to a 2020
executive order by President Trump and the June Order by President Biden in 2021, the NYSE delisted four Chinese
telecommunications companies identified in those executive orders. In addition, the Holding Foreign Companies
Accountable Act, enacted in December 2020, requires the SEC to suspend trading in the U.S. of any company whose
accounting firm the PCAOB is unable to inspect or investigate for three consecutive years. The NYSE anticipates that the
SEC could suspend trading in a number of NYSE-listed companies under this Act. In the future, there may be other listed
companies that the NYSE will be required to take similar action against to comply with U.S. government policies, which
could impact our business.

In addition, adverse conditions in the residential mortgage lending industry, including a substantial or prolonged decline in
mortgage lending volume or an increase in mortgage foreclosure volume, may increase our costs or have an adverse
effectff on our revenues. Mortgage lending volume has decreased substantially in certain years in the past, and could again
decrease in the future. Factors that could adversely impact mortgage lending volumes include increased mortgage
interest rates, reduced consumer and investor demand for mortgages, more stringent underwriting guidelines, decreased
liquidity in the secondary mortgage market, high levels of unemployment, high levels of consumer debt, lower consumer
confidence, changes in tax and other regulatory policies, the number of existing mortgages eligible for refinancing, the
available inventory of housing, affordff ability of housing and other macroeconomic factors.

Owniww ngii clearing houses exposes us to risks, includingdd riskii skk related to defaults by clearingii members, riskii skk
related to invesvv tingii marginii and guaranty fundsdd and the cost of operatingrr the clearingrr houses.

There are risks inherent in operating clearing houses, including exposure to the market and counterparty risk of clearing
members, market liquidity risks, defaults by clearing members and risks associated with custody and investing margin or
guaranty fund assets provided by clearing members to our clearing houses, which could subject our business to
substantial losses. For example, clearing members in ICE Clear Europe have provided margin and guaranty funds with an
aggregate cash balance of $98.2 billion as of December 31, 2021 and a total of $150.4 billion for all of our clearing houses
as of December 31, 2021. In addition to the use of Sovereign Central Bank access when applicable, the ICE Clearing
Houses may use third-party investment advisors for investment of cash assets, subject to the guidelines provided by each
clearing house, and may add or change the investment managers from time to time. To the extent available, ICE Clear
Credit holds the U.S. dollar cash and U.S. Treasuries that clearing members transfer to satisfyff their original margin and
guaranty fund requirements at its account at the Federal Reserve. With respect to other clearing member cash posted,
ICE Clear Credit currently self-managesff and uses external investment managers to invest such cash margin and guaranty
fund deposits.

We have an obligation to return margin payments and guaranty fund contributions to clearing members to the extent that
the relevant member’s risk based on its open contracts to the clearing house is reduced. If a number of clearing members
substantially reduce their open interest or default, the concentration of risks within our clearing houses will be spread
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among a smaller pool of clearing members, which would make it more diffiff cult to absorb and manage risk in the event of a
further clearing member’s default.

Although our clearing houses have policies and procedures to help ensure that clearing members can satisfy their
obligations, such policies and procedures may not succeed in preventing losses after a member's or counterparty’s
default. In addition, although we believe that we have carefully analyzed the process for setting margins and our financial
safeguards, it is a complex process and there is no guarantee that our procedures will adequately protect us from the risks
related to clearing these products. We cannot assure you these measures and safeguards will be sufficientff to protect us
from a default or that we will not be materially and adversely affectff ed in the event of a significant default. We have
contributed our own capital to the front of the guaranty fund of the clearing houses that could be used in the event of a
default. We also have default insurance that resides after and in addition to the ICE Clear Credit, ICE Clear Europe, and
ICE Clear U.S. ‘Skin In The Game’ contributions and beforeff the guaranty fund contributions of the non-defaultff ing clearing
members. Notwithstanding these actions, the default of any one of the clearing members could subject our business to
substantial losses and cause our customers to lose confidence in the guaranty of our clearing houses.

A declineii in thett value of securirr ties held as margin or guaranty fund contribrr utions by our clearingrr houses or
default by a sovereivv gni government issuer could pose additional risks of default by clearingii members.

Our clearing houses hold a substantial amount of assets as margin or guaranty fund contributions, which comprise U.S.
and other sovereign treasury securities. As of December 31, 2021, our clearing houses held $85.0 billion of non-cash
margin or guaranty fund contributions in U.S. and other sovereign treasury securities: $64.5 billion of this amount was
comprised of U.S. Treasury securities, $1.5 billion of French Treasury securities, $1.4 billion of German Treasury
securities, $2.2 billion of U.K. Treasury securities and $15.4 billion of other European, Japanese, Canadian and Tri-Party
Treasury securities. Sovereign treasury securities have historically been viewed as one of the safest and most liquid
securities for clearing houses to hold due to the perceived credit worthiness of major governments. If there is a collapse in
a specific currency relied upon by our clearing houses, our clearing houses will face significant expenses in changing their
systems and such an event could cause a credit contraction and major swings in asset prices and exchange rates. To
mitigate this risk, our clearing houses currently apply a discount or “haircut” to the market values for all sovereign
securities held as margin or guaranty fund contributions; however, market conditions could change more quickly than we
adjust the amount of the haircuts and the haircuts could be insufficientff in the event of a sudden market event.

If the value of these securities declines significantly, our clearing houses will need to collect additional margin or guaranty
fund contributions from their clearing members, which may be difficultff for the members to supply in a time of financial
stress affectff ed by an actual or threatened default by a sovereign government. If a clearing member cannot supply the
additional margin or guaranty fund contributions, which may include cash in a currency acceptable to the clearing house,
the clearing house would deem the clearing member in default. If any clearing members default as a result of the
reduction in the value of margin or guaranty fund contributions, our clearing houses and trading business could sufferff
substantial losses as a result of the loss of any capital that has been contributed to the clearing house’s guaranty funds
and a loss of confidence by clearing members in the clearing house, resulting in a reduction in volumes of future cleared
transactions.

Further, our clearing houses invest large sums through reverse repo transactions in connection with their clearing
operations and hold sovereign securities as security in connection with such investment transactions. In the event that a
reverse repo counterparty defaults, the value of the sovereign securities we hold as collateral might not be sufficientff to
cover our losses. Our clearing houses may also make demand deposits with banks that are secured only to the value of
FDIC insurance or other national deposit guarantee schemes, which is small, and therefore,ff the deposits may in
significant part be lost in the event one of these banks becomes insolvent.

Owniww ngii and operatinrr g cash equityt and optionstt exchanges exposes us to additdd ionaltt risks, including the
regulatory responsibilitiestt to which these businesses arerr subjectb .tt

Owning and operating cash equity and options exchanges for which the revenues are primarily derived from trading
activity, market data and listing fees, exposes us to additional risks. Adverse economic conditions and legal and regulatory
changes similar to those discussed elsewhere in this section could result in decreased trading volume on our exchanges,
discourage or prohibit market participants from listing on our exchanges or cause them to forgo new offerings.ff Any of
these could reduce our revenues, including market data and listing fee revenue.

Our cash equity and options exchanges also have certain regulatory responsibilities that must be fulfilled. For example,
these exchanges are responsible for enforcing listed company compliance with applicable listing standards, enforcing our
members' compliance with exchange rules and federal securities laws, complying with terms of NMS Plans, filing of all
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material changes to exchanges' rules with the SEC, and operating our exchanges consistent with exchange rules, federal
securities laws, and other applicable laws. Any failure by one of our exchanges to comply with, and enforceff compliance by
their members with, exchange rules and securities laws could significantly harm our reputation, prompt regulatory scrutiny,
result in the payment of fines or penalties and adversely affectff our business, financial condition and operating results. Our
ability to do this could be impaired by, for example, SEC amendments to NMS Plans for the consolidation of market data
that impede the ability of the exchanges and FINRA to discharge their legal obligations by restricting the flow of
informatff ion and constraining the decision-making authority of the exchanges and FINRA.

We must allocate significant resources to fulfill our regulatory and self-regulatff ory responsibilities. The for-profit exchanges’
goal of maximizing stockholder value might contradict the exchanges’ regulatory and self-regulatff ory responsibilities. In
addition, the listing of our common stock on the NYSE could potentially create a conflict between the exchange’s
regulatory responsibilities to vigorously oversee the listing and trading of securities, on the one hand, and our commercial
and economic interest, on the other hand. While we have structural protections to minimize these potential conflicts, we
cannot be sure that such measures will be successful.

Further, changes in the rules of our securities markets must be reviewed and approved by the SEC. Approval of such
changes by the SEC cannot be guaranteed, and the SEC could delay either the approval process or the initiation of the
public comment process. Any denial or delay in approving changes could have an adverse effectff on our business,
financial condition and operating results.

See Item 1 “- Business - Regulation” above for additional informatff ion regarding regulatory changes impacting our cash
equities and options exchanges, including risks to our business associated with possible regulation of services offeredff by
non-exchange affiliatff es and U.S. listing and trading prohibitions on certain foreign companies.

Our business is subject to the impact of interest rate levelsvv , inflation and financialii markets volatility,ll which may
be caused by conditidd ons that are beyond our control.ll

Trading volume in our markets and products is largely driven by the degree of volatility - the magnitude and frequency of
fluctuations - in prices and levels of the underlying commodities, securities, indices, financial benchmarks or other
instruments. Volatility increases the need to hedge price risk and creates opportunities for investment and speculative or
arbitrage trading. Were there to be a sustained period of stability in the prices or levels of the underlying commodities,
securities, indices, benchmarks or other instruments of our products, we could experience lower trading volumes, slower
growth or declines in revenues.

In addition, interest rates are a significant factor influencing mortgage loan production volumes. Rising interest rates are
likely to reduce mortgage loan production volumes, which could potentially impact our transaction-based revenues.

In the event that inflation increases significantly and persistently, this would likely increase the cost of capital, resulting in a
slowdown of the growth of early stage companies, causing companies to stay private longer. Credit health of market
participants may also be impacted, increasing the risk of default or companies inability to comply with listing standards.
An inflationary environment may also reduce consumer optimism resulting in lower demand for mortgage loans.

Factors that are particularly likely to affectff price and interest rate levels and volatility, and thus trading and mortgage loan
production volumes, include:

• global economic, political and market conditions; and

• concerns over inflation, deflation, legislative and regulatory changes, government fiscal and monetary policy -
including actions by the Federal Reserve and other foreign monetary units' governing bodies, and investor and
consumer confidence levels.

Factors that are particularly likely to affeff ct trading volumes include:

• weather conditions including hurricanes and other significant events, natural and unnatural disasters like large oil
spills that impact the production of commodities and, in the case of energy commodities, production, refining and
distribution facilities for oil and natural gas;

• war, acts of terrorism and any unforeseenff market closures or disruptions in trading;

• political developments impacting international trade, including trade disputes and increased tariffs,ff particularly
between the U.S. and China, and imposition of protectionist measures;
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• real and perceived changes in the supply and demand of commodities underlying our products, particularly energy
and agricultural products, including changes as a result of technological improvements or the development of
alternative energy sources; and

• credit quality of market participants, the availability of capital and the levels of assets under management.

Any one or more of these factors, which are beyond our control, may reduce volumes and trading activity. Further, lower
market volatility could also result in more exchanges competing for trading volumes to maintain their growth. If any of
these unfavorable conditions were to persist over a lengthy period of time and trading volumes were to decline
substantially and for a long enough period, the critical mass of transaction volume necessary to support viable markets
could be jeopardized. Because our cost structure is largely fixed, if demand for our current products and services declines
for any reason, we may not be able to adjust our cost structure to counteract the associated decline in revenues, which
would cause our net income to decline.

Systems failures in the derivarr tives and securities tradindd g industry and mortgage technology industrytt could
negativett ly impact us.

High-profile system failures in the derivatives and securities trading industry and mortgage technology industry have in the
past, and could in the future, negatively impact our business and result in a loss of confidence in our technology and our
markets, regulatory investigations, fines and penalties and business activity slowdown or interruptions. Further, regulators
have imposed requirements for trading platforms that have been costly for us to implement and could result in a decrease
in demand for some of our services. In particular, the SEC’s Regulation Systems Compliance and Integrity, or Regulation
SCI, and the CFTC’s system safeguards regulations subject portions of our securities and derivatives trading platforms
and other technological systems related to our clearing houses, trade repositories and the U.S. Swap Execution Facility,
or SEF, to extensive regulation and oversight. Ensuring our compliance with the requirements of Regulation SCI and the
CFTC’s system safeguards regulations requires significant ongoing administrative and compliance expenses and
burdens. In addition, the SEC’s expansion of the ICE systems that are determined to be in scope for Regulation SCI could
result in significant additional expenditures.

We may be at greaterrr risk from terrorism, includingii cyberterroyy rism, than othertt companies.

Given our prominence in the global securities industry and the location of many of our properties and personnel in U.S.
and European financial centers, including lower Manhattan, and our presence in India, Abu Dhabi and Israel, we may be
more likely than other companies to be a direct target of, or an indirect casualty of, attacks by terrorists or terrorist
organizations, or other extremist organizations that employ threatening or harassing means to achieve their social or
political objectives.

It is impossible to predict the likelihood or impact of any terrorist attack on the securities industry generally, or on our
business. In the event of an attack or a threat of an attack, our security measures and contingency plans may be
inadequate to prevent significant disruptions in our business, technology or access to the infrastructure necessary to
maintain our business. Damage to our facilities due to terrorist attacks may be significantly in excess of insurance
coverage, and we may not be able to insure against some damage at a reasonable price or at all. The threat of terrorist
attacks may also negatively affectff our ability to attract and retain employees. In addition, terrorist attacks may cause
instability or decreased trading in the securities markets, including trading on exchanges. Any of these events could
adversely affectff our business, financial condition and operating results.

Fluctuatiott ns in foreigni currency exchange rates could adversrr ely affecff t our financialii results.

Since we conduct operations in a number of countries and regions, including the U.S., U.K., EU, Canada, Asia Pacific and
the Middle East, substantial portions of our revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are denominated in currencies other
than the U.S. dollar. Because our consolidated financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars, we must translate non-
U.S. dollar denominated revenues, income and expenses, as well as assets and liabilities, into U.S. dollars at exchange
rates in effectff during or at the end of each reporting period. Therefore,ff increases or decreases in the value of the U.S.
dollar against the other currencies could affectff our net operating revenues, operating income and the value of balance
sheet items denominated in foreign currencies.

External events such as Brexit have caused, and may in the future cause, significant volatility in currency exchange rates,
especially among the U.S. dollar, the British pound sterling and the euro. If global economic and market conditions, or
economic conditions in the U.K., EU, the U.S. or other key markets deteriorate, the value of the pound sterling, euro or
U.S. dollar may weaken. Further, financial instability in a particular country could have a contagion effectff on the region in
which it is located and contribute to general instability and uncertainty in that region. Events that adversely affectff our
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clients and suppliers in a region could in turn have a materially adverse effectff on our international business results and
our operating results.

For additional informatff ion on our foreign currency exchange rate risk, refer to “- Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk” in
Item 7A “- Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk", which is included in this Annual Report.

We may have difficulty executing our growrr th strategygg and maintaii iniii ngii our grorr wth effectively.l

We have achieved significant growth since becoming a public company in 2005. Our growth is highly dependent on
customer demand for our core products and services, favorable economic conditions and our ability to invest in our
personnel, facilities, infrastructure and financial and management systems and controls. Adverse economic conditions
could reduce customer demand for our products and services, which may place a significant strain on our management
and resources and could force us to defer existing or future planned opportunities. We regularly evaluate our existing
operations, service capacity and business efficienciesff and, as a result of such evaluations, we may undertake strategic
initiatives outside of and within our businesses. We may not be successful in executing on our strategies to support our
growth organically or through acquisitions, other investments or strategic alliances.

We may not be successful in offeriff ngii new products or technologies or in identifydd inyy g oppopp rtunities.

We from time to time launch, and intend in the future to launch, new products, services and business ventures and
continue to explore and pursue other opportunities to strengthen our business and grow our company. We have spent and
may continue to spend substantial time and money developing new product or service offeringsff or improving current
product or service offeriff ngs. If these offeff rings are not successful, we may miss a potential market opportunity and not be
able to recover the costs of such initiatives. Obtaining any required regulatory approval associated with these offeringsff
may also result in delays or restrictions on our ability to benefit fully from these offerings.ff Further, we have entered into
and may seek in the future to enter into or increase our presence in markets that already possess established competitors
who may enjoy the protection of high barriers to entry, among other advantages.

In addition, in light of consolidation in the exchange, data services, clearing and mortgage technology sectors and
competition for opportunities, we may be unable to identify strategic opportunities or we may be unable to negotiate or
finance any future acquisition successfully. Our competitors could merge, making it more difficultff for us to find appropriate
entities to acquire or merge with and making it more difficultff to compete in our industry due to the increased resources of
our merged competitors. Also, offeringff new products and services and pursuing acquisitions requires substantial time and
attention of our management team, which could prevent them from successfully overseeing other initiatives that are
necessary for our success.

Climate change and the transition to renewable energygg and a net zero economy pose operational, commercialii
and regulatoryll risks.

Climate change may increase the frequency or severity of extreme weather events, and if we are not adequately resilient
to deal with acute climate events, our operations, either in a particular location or globally, may be impacted. Extreme
weather events could also impact the activities of our customers or third-party vendors or suppliers. The physical
commodities and assets underlying certain of our markets may also be impacted by climate change.

In addition, the transition to renewable energy and a net zero economy involves changes to consumer and institutional
preferences around energy consumption, and the possible failure of our products or services to facilitate the needs of
customers during the transition to renewable energy could adversely impact our business and revenues. Changing
preferences could also have an adverse impact on the operations or financial condition of our customers, which could
result in reduced revenues from those customers. We are also subject to risks relating to new or heightened climate
change-related regulations or legislation, which could impact us and our customers and result in increased regulatory,
compliance or operational costs. We are also subject to reputational risks relating to the perception of whether or not we
are facilitating a migration away from fossil fuels. For example, our reputation could be damaged as a result of our offerff ing
certain products or services associated with causing or exacerbating climate change, or by any decision by us to continue
to conduct or change our activities in response to considerations relating to climate change.

The risks associated with climate change and the transition to renewable energy and a net zero economy are continuing
to evolve rapidly, and we expect that climate change-related risks may increase over time.
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The COVID-19 pandemic could advervv serr ly affectff our businii ess, results of operationrr s and finii ancialii condition.tt

The coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has created economic and financial disruptions globally and has led governmental
authorities to take unprecedented measures to mitigate the spread of the disease, including travel bans, border closings,
business closures, quarantines and shelter-in-place orders, and to take actions designed to stabilize markets and promote
economic growth.

From an operational perspective, the spread of COVID-19 has resulted in, and could again result in, temporary closures of
our officeff facilities and the officeff facilities of our customers and our third-party vendors. We have taken preventive
measures and implemented contingency plans, and currently many of our employees are working remotely. However, we
cannot assure you that such measures will adequately protect our business, and an extended period of remote work
arrangements could heighten existing and introduce new operational risks, including, but not limited to, cybersecurity risk,
and could strain our technological resources and business continuity plans. If one or more of the third-party vendors to
whom we outsource certain material activities claim that they cannot perform due to a force majeure or experience
operational failures as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, it could have a material adverse effectff on our business, results
of operations and financial condition. Further, although we maintain contingency plans for events such as pandemic
outbreaks, the further spread of COVID-19 could impact the availability of our executive officersff and other key employees
who are necessary to conduct our business. The emergence of new COVID-19 variant strains that are resistant to
vaccines or a decrease in the effectiff veness of vaccines over the long term could impact, among other things, the
availability of our staffff and primary facilities, and the viability of our customers.

While governmental organizations continue to engage in effortsff to combat the spread and severity of COVID-19, these
measures may not be effectff ive. Moreover, actions taken by U.S. or other governmental authorities that were intended to
ameliorate the macroeconomic or other effectff s of COVID-19, or delays in the announcement or implementation of
regulatory measures that had been pending prior to the COVID-19 pandemic resulted in and may in the future result in
regulatory uncertainty and could in turn impact our business.

In addition, the spread of COVID-19 variants, along with other factors, such as restrictions and limitations on business
activities, labor shortages at ports and for long-haul transportation, rising fuel costs and raw material shortages, have
resulted in disruptions to global supply chains, which has impacted the availability of critical hardware and extended lead
times for certain components and systems we require for our operations. The COVID-19 pandemic could continue to
negatively affectff the flow or availability of certain hardware and related products for technology that we need to operate
our business effectiff vely and efficientff ly. Our inability to acquire suitable hardware and related products on acceptable terms
or the loss of key suppliers could negatively affectff our business. Pandemic-related restrictions could also impact third-
party providers' abilities to meet their contractual obligations to us, potentially impacting our operations.

The extent of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business, financial condition and results of operations will
depend on future developments, including, among other things, the effectiff veness of vaccines over the long term and
against emerging variant strains. A prolonged economic downturn could have an adverse effectff on our revenues related to
certain activities such as a decline in demand for certain data products and a decline in IPOs. The COVID-19 pandemic
could also have an adverse impact on our customers’ businesses, risk management needs and ability to trade. In
addition, to the extent that COVID-19 may adversely affectff our business, financial condition or results of operations, it may
also heighten other risks described in this section.

We may be requiredii to recognize impairmenii ts of our goodwillii ,ll other intangiblii e assets or investments.

The determination of the value of goodwill and other intangible assets requires the use of estimates and assumptions that
affectff our consolidated financial statements. As of December 31, 2021, we had goodwill of $21.1 billion and net other
intangible assets of $13.7 billion relating to our acquisitions and our purchase of trademarks and Internet domain names
from various third parties.

During 2021, we did not record any impairments of our goodwill, intangible assets or investments. We cannot assure you
that we will not experience future events that may result in these types of impairments. An impairment of the value of our
existing goodwill, other intangible assets and other investments and assets could have a significant negative impact on
our future operating results.

For additional informatff ion on our goodwill, other intangible assets and investments, refer to Notes 3, 4 and 8 to our
consolidated financial statements and “- Critical Accounting Policies - Goodwill and Other Identifiable Intangible Assets” in
Item 7 “- Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” which are included in
this Annual Report.
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We may not realizell the expected benefits of our majority investmett nt in Bakkt and the invesvv tment may introduce
additional risks to our business due to its evolvvv invv g business model.

We have a majority ownership interest in Bakkt, which operates as a separate publicly-traded company listed on the
NYSE. Due to our majority ownership interest in Bakkt, we have increased financial and reputational risks if there is a
security or system failure, a failure to launch one or more products, or if Bakkt's business is unsuccessful. It may take
longer than expected for us to realize the expected returns from this investment or such returns may ultimately be less
than anticipated. Furthermore, our investment in Bakkt entails numerous risks, including risks relating to Bakkt’s ability to:

• manage the complexity of its business model to stay current with the industry;

• successfully enter categories and markets in which it may have limited or no prior experience;

• apply distributed ledger technology to a global ecosystem for digital assets;

• successfully develop and integrate products, systems or personnel into its business operations;

• obtain and maintain required licenses and regulatory approvals for its business;

• maintain a risk management and compliance framework designed to detect illegal activity such as fraud, money
laundering, tax evasion and ransomware scams and comply with anti-money laundering, counter-terrorist financing
laws and regulations and anti-corruption laws globally;

• comply with existing or new laws, regulations or orders of any governmental authority related to the use of digital
assets; and

• maintain technology systems and processes that prevent cyberattacks and security vulnerabilities.

As digital assets and blockchain technologies evolve, Bakkt may add, modifyff or discontinue certain aspects of its business
model relating to the product mix and service offerings.ff Future additions and modifications to Bakkt’s business will
increase the complexity of its business and place significant strain on Bakkt’s management, personnel, operations,
systems, technical performance,ff financial resources and internal financial control and reporting functions. We cannot offerff
any assurance that these or any other additions or modifications will be successful or will not result in harm to Bakkt’s
business.

LEGAL AND REGULATORYTT

Our businesses and those of many of our clients have been and continii ue to be subjecb t to extensive legislatiii on
and regulatory scrutiny, and we face the risk of changes to our regulatory environment and businii ess in thett
futurff e.rr

We are and will continue to be subject to extensive regulation in many jurisdictions around the world, and in particular in
the U.S. and the U.K. We face the risk of significant actions by regulatory and taxing authorities in all jurisdictions in which
we conduct our businesses and hold investments, which may affectff our business, the activity of our market participants,
and our results. Among other things, as a result of regulators and tax authorities enforcingff existing laws and regulations,
we could be censured, fined, prohibited from pursuing certain acquisitions or engaging in some of our business activities,
subjected to limitations or conditions on our business activities, including fair, reasonable and nondiscriminatory pricing
restrictions, also known as FRAND, or subjected to new or substantially higher taxes or other governmental charges in
connection with the conduct of our business or with respect to our employees, including settlement payments, interest
payments and penalty payments. In many cases, our activities may be subject to overlapping and divergent regulation in
differeff nt jurisdictions.

The adoption of new laws or regulations or changes in enforcementff practices applicable to our businesses or those of our
clients could adversely affectff our ability to compete effectiff vely with other institutions that are not affectedff in the same way
or impact our clients’ overall trading volume through our exchanges and demand for our market data and connectivity
offeriff ngs, mortgage technology and other services.

We are also subject to regulatory risks relating to the mortgage industry, which is heavily regulated in the U.S. Changes to
existing laws or regulations or adoption of new laws or regulations that affectff the residential mortgage industry could
reduce residential mortgage volume or otherwise limit the ability of users and participants of our mortgage technology
services to operate their businesses, resulting in decreased usage of our solutions. Alternatively, reduced regulatory
requirements could also reduce the demand for certain of our products and services, which are intended to enable our
customers to satisfy existing regulatory requirements. Potential structural changes in the U.S. residential mortgage
industry, in particular, those involving the roles of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, could disrupt the residential mortgage
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market and have a material adverse effectff on our business. Further, as a critical third-party service provider in the
mortgage industry, we are subject to supervision and examination by certain regulators, which has resulted in, and will
continue to result in, additional operating costs.

There is ongoing public concern regarding data privacy and data protection in many jurisdictions in which ICE operates.
Many of those jurisdictions have passed data privacy legislation, with many more contemplating new laws. The laws and
regulations related to privacy and data protection are increasing in complexity and number, change frequently and
increasingly conflict among the various countries in which we operate, which has resulted in greater compliance risk and
cost for us. Regulation of privacy and data protection often times require monitoring of, and changes to, our data practices
in regard to the collection, use, disclosure, storage, transfer and/or security of personal and sensitive informatff ion,
including the personal informatff ion of the customers of the users of the software and services provided by our ICE
Mortgage Technology business.

These developments could impact our profitability in the affecteff d jurisdictions, or even make it uneconomical for us to
continue to conduct all or certain of our businesses in such jurisdictions, or could cause us to incur significant costs
associated with changing our business practices, restructuring our businesses or moving all or certain of our businesses
and our employees to other jurisdictions, including liquidating assets or raising capital in a manner that adversely
increases our funding costs or otherwise adversely affectff s our stockholders and creditors.

U.S., U.K. and EU legal and regulatory developments, in particular EMIR, EMIR 2.2, U.K. MiFID II and EU MiFID II, the
U.K BMR and the EU BMR, including each such regulation as incorporated into U.K. law, and the Dodd-Frank Act, have
significantly altered and propose to further alter the regulatory framework within which we operate and may adversely
affectff our competitive position and profitability. These regulatory developments could also cause us to change our
business practices, restructure our businesses or move certain of our businesses and employees. The enacted and
proposed legal and regulatory changes most likely to affectff our businesses are: non-discriminatory access provisions of
U.K. MiFID II and EU MiFID II, interoperability and margin rules in EMIR, enhanced regulatory capital liquidity and
leverage rules in Basel III and Capital Requirements Directive IV,V access rules under the U.K. BMR and EU BMR, the
non-harmonization of margin requirements, implementation of a financial transaction tax, access to our benchmarks and
maintaining our exchanges’ abilities to operate as SROs with related immunity for the discharge of their regulatory
functions. As the operator of global businesses, the lack of harmonization in international financial reform effortsff could
impact our business as our clearing houses and exchanges are subject to regulation in multiple jurisdictions.

The Dodd-Frank Act established enhanced regulatory requirements for non-bank financial institutions designated as
“systemically important” by the FSOC. ICE Clear Credit has been designated as a systemically important financial market
utility by the FSOC and, as a result, is subject to additional oversight by the CFTC. Compliance with these requirements
has resulted in, and will continue to result in, additional operating costs.

In 2016, the SEC approved a plan to establish a market-wide consolidated audit trail, or CAT,AA to improve regulators’ ability
to monitor trading activity. In 2018, the first phase of implementation went live and required SRO participants to begin
reporting to the CAT.AA In addition to increased risk in connection with our regulatory obligations, implementation of the CATAA
could result in significant additional expenditures, which may not be reimbursed. Funding of the implementation and
operation of the CATAA is ultimately expected to be provided by both the SROs and broker-dealers. To date, however,
funding has been provided solely by the SROs, partly in exchange for promissory notes, which increases the risk that
SROs, including us, will not be reimbursed for costs expended to date. Due to the replacement of the original plan
processor, we recorded promissory note impairment charges of $2 million and $16 million in 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Because the SEC has not approved a funding model that shares the cost of the CATAA between SROs and broker-dealers,
we believe there is a risk that SROs are not reimbursed, resulting in this impairment. Until the SEC approves a funding
model, the SROs will continue to incur additional costs, which may become significant and may not be reimbursed. As of
December 31, 2021, we have accrued approximately $51 million as a receivable in connection with our portion of
expenses related to the CATAA implementation.

There is an increased focus on, and scrutiny of, ESG data and ratings providers by regulators and policymakers.
Regulators and policymakers have indicated that extension of their regulatory oversight to ESG data service providers is
possible. This could result in new or additional regulations applicable to our ESG data products and services which could
result in additional operating costs.

We are subject to tax laws, regulations, rulings and audits in multiple U.S. and non-U.S. jurisdictions that could have a
significant impact on our business and lead to additional expenditures for us or our customers. For example, there have
been discussions in various jurisdictions around financial transaction or digital service tax frameworks. Changes to tax
frameworks in jurisdictions where we operate significant business, for example in New Jersey, New York, the EU or
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federally in the U.S., have the potential to increase costs to us or to our market participants and discourage participation in
the markets we operate. Furthermore, implementation of any new or amended tax laws or regulations could impact our
global operations, trading volumes or financial results.

Other enacted and proposed legal and regulatory changes not discussed above may also adversely affectff our competitive
position and profitability. See Item 1 “- Business - Regulation” above for additional informatff ion regarding the current and
proposed laws and regulations that impact our business, including risks to our business associated with these laws and
regulations.

Our complianll ce and riskii management methods,dd as wellll as our fulfillmenll t of our regulatoryll obligatioi ns, might not
be effective, which could lead to enforcement actions by our regulators.ll

Our ability to comply with existing and future rules, regulations and laws largely depends on our establishment and
maintenance of compliance, audit and reporting systems that can quickly adapt and respond, as well as our ability to
attract and retain qualified compliance and other risk management personnel. Regulators periodically review our ability to
self-regulatff e and our compliance with a variety of laws and regulations including self-regulatff ory standards. Certain of our
businesses associated with the NYSE are subject to public notice procedures prior to making changes in operations,
policies and procedures. If we fail to comply with any of these obligations, regulators could take a variety of actions that
could impair our ability to conduct our business.

Our acquisitions expose us to new regulatory requirements. For example, as a result of our acquisition of Interactive Data
in 2015, we operate an investment adviser registered with the SEC under the Investment Advisers Act. In addition, our
acquisition of the BondPoint ATS in January 2018 and our acquisition of TMC Bonds in July 2018 exposes us to increased
exposure to regulatory scrutiny from the SEC, FINRA and MSRB. Our acquisition of Ellie Mae in 2020 exposes us to
increased exposure to regulatory scrutiny from U.S. regulatory bodies which regulate the U.S. residential mortgage
industry, including the FFIEC and its member agencies, including, among others, the CFPB. Compliance with any such
regulatory requirements gives rise to costs and expenses that may be material.

Our regulators have broad enforcementff powers to censure, fine, issue cease-and-desist orders, embargo future business
activity or prohibit us from engaging in some of our businesses. We continue to face the risk of significant intervention by
regulatory authorities, including extensive examination and surveillance activity of our business. Any such matters may
result in material adverse consequences to our financial condition, operating results or ability to conduct our business,
including adverse judgments, settlements, fines, penalties, injunctions, restrictions on our business activities or other
relief. Our involvement in any such matters, even if the matters are ultimately determined to be in our favor, could also
cause significant harm to our reputation and divert management attention from the operation of our business. Further, any
settlement, consent order or adverse judgment in connection with any formal or informalff proceeding or investigation by
government or regulatory agencies may result in additional litigation, investigations or proceedings as other litigants and
government or regulatory agencies begin independent reviews of the same businesses or activities. Finally, the
implementation of new legislation or regulations, or changes in or unfavorable interpretations of existing regulations by
courts or regulatory bodies, could require us to incur significant compliance costs and impede our ability to remain
competitive and grow our business.

Regulatorll yrr changes or court rulinll gs may havevv an adversevv impact on our abilityt to derivrr evv rerr venuvv e from market
data and connectivity fees.

Regulatory developments or court rulings could reduce the amount of revenue that we obtain from exchange market data
and connectivity fees related to our U.S. equity and options exchanges. With respect to our U.S. equities and equity
options exchanges, our ability to assess fees for market data products and certain connectivity fees are subject to review
by the SEC. There continue to be opposing industry viewpoints and litigation as to the extent that our U.S. equities and
equity options exchanges should be able to charge for market data and market access, and the manner in which we set
such exchange fees could be reassessed.

If new constraints are placed on our ability to charge for market data or market access in the U.S., it could have a negative
impact on our revenues. We cannot predict whether, or in what form, any regulatory or other changes will take effectff or
their impact on our business. A determination by the SEC or a court, for example, that the SEC must link market data fees
to marginal costs, take a more active role in the market data rate-setting process, or reduce the current levels of market
data fees, could have an adverse effectff on our market data revenues.
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Separately, our European exchanges are currently authorized to sell trade informatff ion on a non-discriminatory basis at a
reasonable cost. This regulatory position could be modified or interpreted by the European Commission, or EC, or future
European court decisions in a manner that could have an adverse effectff on our European market data revenues.

In addition, the FCA and IOSCO have both issued consultations to explore access to market data in financial markets. The
results of these consultations may lead to a regulatory response that could affectff our business. Similar to the U.S., if new
constraints are placed on our ability to charge for market data or market access in the U.K. or other jurisdictions, it could
have a negative impact on our revenues.

The uncertaintyii surrourr ndindd g the terms of the U.K.'KK s' exit from the EU, commonly referred to as Brexit, could
adverselvv yl impact our business, results of operatiorr ns and finanii cial conditidd on.

In 2016, voters in the U.K. approved an exit from the EU, commonly referred to as Brexit. Brexit has created political and
economic uncertainty and instability in the global markets (including currency and credit markets), particularly in the U.K.
and EU. In addition, political and economic uncertainty surrounding the future relationship of the U.K. and EU could lead
to certain macroeconomic conditions that adversely affectff our business. The long-term effectff s of Brexit will depend, in
part, on the agreement the U.K. made to retain access to EU markets.

In December 2019, the U.K. withdrew from the EU on January 31, 2020 and completed its withdrawal on January 1, 2021.
Prior to completing its withdrawal, in December 2020, the U.K. and EU agreed to a trade and cooperation agreement
which was provisionally applied as of January 1, 2021. This agreement governs the EU-U.K. relationship after the
completion of the U.K.’s exit from the EU. The U.K.-EU Brexit deal does not provide a transition period for financial
services, or any new arrangements to replace the existing “passport.” This leaves both the U.K. and EU to address
matters of access in financial services through declarations of equivalence under existing equivalence regimes contained
in U.K. and EU law and through domestic laws. The EC has, however, adopted an 18-month temporary equivalence
decision for U.K. CCPs, which began to apply as of January 1, 2021. ICE Clear Europe has been recognized by ESMA as
a third-country CCP in accordance with EMIR. In November 2021, the EC announced that it will propose an extension of
the equivalence decision applying to U.K. CCPs in early 2022.

As a result of the U.K. and EU trade and cooperation agreement not providing free trade arrangements for financial
services, any equivalence determinations or any further transition period for financial services, could include restrictions
on access to our services by persons located in the EU or make access more expensive, which could adversely affectff our
operations and profitability or even make it uneconomical for us to continue to conduct all or certain of our businesses in
such jurisdictions. The consequences of Brexit and the terms of the trade and cooperation agreement could also cause us
to incur significant costs associated with changing our business practices, restructuring our businesses or moving certain
of our businesses and our employees to other jurisdictions. See Item 1 “- Business - Regulation” above for additional
informatff ion regarding Brexit, including risks to our business associated with Brexit.

Risks relatinll g to the administii rationtt of benchmarks and indicdd es, including LIBOR, and the potentialii for changes
to, cessationstt of,ff and the replacemenll t of, or transition from, benchmarks and indices, including LIBOR, may
result in legal risks and could adverselvv yl affeff ct our businesii s.

Certain of our subsidiaries produce and license multiple benchmarks and indices across asset classes, which are used
globally and are referenced in certain of our trading and clearing products. To ensure continued trading and clearing in
these benchmark-related products, and the continued licensing and use of these benchmarks and indices, our
subsidiaries must be able to demonstrate that these benchmarks and indices are determined with integrity and are not
readily subject to manipulation, and must also continue to evolve these benchmarks and indices as necessary to maintain
their reliability and relevance and continue to administer these benchmarks and indices in compliance with applicable laws
and regulations. As an example, our subsidiary, IBA, is the administrator of various global benchmarks, including LIBOR.
Any failures, negative publicity or lawsuits related to our subsidiaries' administration of benchmarks and indices, including
LIBOR, could result in a loss of confidence in the administration of these benchmarks and indices and could harm our
business and our reputation.

Changes to, cessations of, and the replacement of or transition from, our subsidiaries' benchmarks and indices, including
LIBOR, or any other changes or reforms to the determination or administration of such benchmarks and indices, could
result in legal risks, risks to our reputation, and have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition and operating
results. In July 2017, the FCA stated its intention that it would no longer be necessary to sustain LIBOR through its
influence or legal powers beyond 2021. As a result, regulators in multiple jurisdictions have encouraged market
participants to transition from using LIBOR to alternative reference rates. The publication of most LIBOR settings ceased
after December 31, 2021 and certain others are scheduled to cease after June 30, 2023.
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The FCA is requiring IBA to publish certain LIBOR settings under a changed "synthetic" methodology during 2022. Any
settings published under a “synthetic” methodology will no longer be representative of the underlying market or economic
reality the setting is intended to measure as those terms are used in the U.K. BMR. Any failures, negative publicity or
lawsuits related to our subsidiaries' administration of "synthetic" LIBOR, could result in a loss of confidence in the
administration of these benchmarks and indices and could harm our business and our reputation.

Under the U.K. BMR, the use of continuing LIBOR settings by U.K.-supervised entities in certain regulated contracts and
instruments may be restricted or prohibited. The use of continuing LIBOR settings in jurisdictions outside the U.K. and by
entities subject to the oversight of other regulatory authorities may also be restricted or prohibited by law in those
jurisdictions and by the requirements of such regulatory authorities. We continue to monitor industry and regulatory
developments in relation to the LIBOR transition and cessation and the resulting impacts on our business and on the
markets that use the benchmark today.

We may face liabilii ityll for content contained in our data products and services.

We have been, and may in the future be, subject to claims for breach of contract, defamation, libel, copyright or trademark
infringement, fraud or negligence or based on other theories of liability, in each case relating to the data, articles,
commentary, ratings, information or other content we distribute in our financial data services. If such data or other content
or informatff ion that we distribute has errors, is delayed or has design defects, we could be subject to liability or our
reputation could sufferff . We could also be subject to claims based upon the content that is accessible from our corporate
website or those websites that we own and operate through links to other websites. Use of our products and services as
part of the investment process creates the risk that clients, or the parties whose assets are managed by our clients, may
pursue claims against us for significant amounts. Any such claim, even if the outcome were ultimately favorable to us,
could involve a significant commitment of our management, personnel, financial and other resources. Such claims and
lawsuits could have a material adverse effectff on our business, financial condition and operating results and a negative
impact on our reputation.

In addition, we license and redistribute data and content from various third-party sources and the terms of these licenses
change frequently. Our third-party data and content suppliers may audit our use of and our clients’ use of and payment for
data and content from time to time in the ordinary course of business, including audits currently underway. Such third-
party data and content suppliers have asserted and may in the future assert that we or our clients owe additional amounts
under the terms of the applicable license agreements, that we inappropriately distributed the third-party data or that we or
our clients used the data or content in a manner that exceeded the scope of the applicable license agreement or without a
license agreement. In some instances, where we have certain commercial relationships with third-parties, we have
assumed the responsibility for this third-party source liability. We have and expect to continue to spend and allocate
resources to develop and acquire the use of technology and other intellectual property rights to manage these risks and
track third-party data usage, but we cannot be assured that we will not incur liability. The costs and resources required to
investigate any allegations could be material, and we may still be required to pay damages to or make unexpected large
settlement payments to these data and content suppliers, which could also give rise to reputational harm.

We arerr subject to signi ificant litigatioi n and liabii ilityll risks.

Many aspects of our business, and the businesses of our participants, involve substantial risks of liability. These risks
include, among others, potential liability from disputes over terms of a trade and the claim that a system failure or delay
caused monetary loss to a participant or that an unauthorized trade occurred. For example, dissatisfied market
participants that have traded on our electronic platforms or those on whose behalf such participants have traded may
make claims regarding the quality of trade execution, or allege improperly confirmed or settled trades, abusive trading
practices, security and confidentiality breaches, mismanagement or even fraud against us or our participants. In addition,
because of the ease and speed with which sizable trades can be executed on our electronic platform, participants can
lose substantial amounts by inadvertently entering trade orders or by entering them inaccurately. A large number of
significant error trades could result in participant dissatisfaction and a decline in participant willingness to trade in our
electronic markets.

In addition, we are subject to ongoing legal disputes that could result in the payment of fines, penalties or damages and
could expose us to additional liability in the future. See Item 3 "Legal Proceedings" in this Annual Report for a general
description of our legal proceedings and claims and Note 15 to our consolidated financial statements and related notes,
which are included elsewhere in this Annual Report, for a summary of specific legal proceedings. The outcome of any of
these legal proceedings that remain unresolved cannot be determined and adverse rulings in these matters could impact
our financial condition and continued operations.
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Further, we could incur significant expenses defending the claims mentioned above and any future claims, even those
without merit, which could adversely affectff our business, financial condition and operating results. An adverse resolution
of any lawsuit or claim against us, including those we are involved with due to acquisition activity, may require us to pay
substantial damages or impose restrictions on how we conduct business, either of which could adversely affectff our
business, financial condition and operating results. In addition, we may have to establish accruals for those matters in
circumstances when a loss contingency is considered probable and the related amount is reasonably estimable. Any such
accruals may be adjusted as circumstances change.

OPERATIOTT NAL AND LIQUIDITY

Our systems and those of our third-part- yt servicevv providers may be vulnerll ablerr to cybeyy rattacks, hackingii and othertt
cybersecurity risks, which could result in wrongfulff manipulation, disclosure,rr destructrr ion,tt or use of our
informatirr on or that of a thirdii party,rr or which could make our participrr antstt unable or reluctant to use our electronic
platfoll rms.

The secure transmission of confidential informatff ion and the ability to reliably transact on our electronic platforms and
provide financial data services are critical elements of our operations. Some of our products and services involve the
storage and transmission of proprietary informatff ion and sensitive or confidential client and other data, including client
portfolio informatff ion or personally identifiable informatff ion. If anyone gains improper access to our electronic platforms,
networks or databases, they may be able to steal, publish, delete or modifyff our confidential informatff ion or that of a third
party. Breaches of our cybersecurity measures or the accidental loss, inadvertent disclosure or unapproved dissemination
of proprietary informatff ion or sensitive or confidential data about us, our clients or our customers, including the potential
loss or disclosure of such informatff ion or data could expose us, our customers or the individuals affecteff d to a risk of loss or
misuse of this informatff ion, result in litigation, regulatory action and potential liability for us, damage our brand and
reputation or otherwise harm our business. Our networks and those of our participants, third-party service providers and
external market infrastructures may be vulnerable to compromise, unauthorized access, security technology failure,
computer viruses, social engineering, denial of service attacks, terrorism, ransomware attacks, firewall or encryption
failures or other security problems resulting in loss of data integrity, information disclosure, unavailability or fraud. The
financial services industry has been targeted for purposes of political protest, activism and financial gain and our role in
the global marketplace places us at greater risk than other public companies for cyberattack and other informatff ion security
threats. Further, former employees of companies in the financial sector have misappropriated trade secrets or stolen
source code in the past and we could be a target for such illegal acts in the future. There also may be system or network
disruptions if new or upgraded systems are defective or not tested and installed properly.

Although we have not been subject to cyberattacks or other cyber incidents that have had a material impact on our
operations or financial condition, we have from time to time experienced cybersecurity events including distributed denial
of service, or DDoS, attacks, malware infections, phishing, web attacks and other informatff ion technology incidents that
are typical for a financial services company of our size. For example, we experienced DDoS attempts, brand misuse, and
phishing attempts directed toward employee systems and personal email accounts during 2021. While we operate an
Information Security program that is designed to prevent, detect, track and mitigate cyber incidents and that has detected
and mitigated such incidents in the past, we cannot assure you that these measures will be sufficientff to protect our
business against future attacks. Any such attacks could result in reputational damage, cause system failures or delays
that could cause us to lose customers, cause us to experience lower current and future trading volumes or incur
significant liabilities or have a negative impact on our competitive position. In addition, given the increasing complexity and
sophistication of the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or disable or degrade systems, a cyberattack could
occur and persist for an extended period of time beforeff being detected, and we may not anticipate these acts or respond
adequately or timely. The extent of a particular cyber incident and the steps that we may need to take to investigate the
incident may not be immediately clear, and it may take a significant amount of time before such investigation can be
completed and full and reliable information about the incident is known. While such an investigation is ongoing, we may
not necessarily know the extent of the harm or how best to remediate it, which may compound damages beforeff the
incident is discovered or remediated. Additionally, as threats continue to evolve and increase, and as the regulatory
environment related to informatff ion security, data collection and use, and privacy becomes increasingly rigorous, we may
be required to devote significant additional resources to modifyff and enhance our security controls and to identify and
remediate any security vulnerabilities, which could adversely impact our net income.

Further, cybersecurity threats to, and incidents involving, vendors and other third parties who support our activities -
particularly those with less-sophisticated defenses - could impact us. For example, although we did not experience any
material impacts from the Log4j security vulnerability that was widely publicized in December 2021, we cannot assure you
that we will not experience future events that may be material.
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Our business may be harmedrr by computer and communication systems failures and deladd ys.

Our business depends on the integrity, reliability and security of our infrastructure which is highly dependent on our
computer and communication systems. Our customers rely on us for the delivery of time-sensitive, up-to-date and high-
quality financial market data, analytics and related solutions. Our timely, reliable delivery of high-quality products and
services is dependent upon an array of technical production processes that enable our content delivery platforms. Our
redundant systems or disaster recovery plans, including our ability to recover from the loss of one of our primary data
centers, may prove to be inadequate in the event of a systems failure or cybersecurity breach. Our systems, or those of
our third-party providers, may fail or be shut down or, due to capacity constraints, may operate slowly, causing one or
more of the following:

• unanticipated disruption in service to our participants;

• slower response time and delays in our participants’ trade execution and processing;

• failed settlement by participants to whom we provide trade confirmation or clearing services;

• incomplete or inaccurate accounting, recording or processing of trades;

• failure to complete the clearing house margin settlement process resulting in significant financial risk;

• distribution of inaccurate or untimely market data to participants who rely on this data in their trading activity;

• disruption to ICE Mortgage Technology and loan origination systems; and

• financial loss to us or those who depend on our systems and data.

We have experienced system failures in the past due to telecommunication failures and hardware and software
malfunctions and defects, and could experience future system failures due to power or telecommunications failures,
human error on our part or on the part of our vendors or participants, natural disasters, fire, sabotage, hardware or
software malfunctions or defects, computer viruses, cyberattacks, intentional acts of vandalism or terrorism and similar
events. These situations could result in damage to our business reputation and participant dissatisfaction with our
electronic platform, which could prompt participants to trade elsewhere or expose us to litigation or regulatory sanctions.
As a consequence, our business, financial condition and operating results could sufferff materially.

Our regulated business operations generally require that our trade execution and communications systems be able to
handle anticipated present and future peak trading volume. Heavy use of computer systems during peak trading times or
at times of unusual market volatility could cause those systems to operate slowly or even to fail for periods of time.
However, we cannot assure you that our estimates of future trading volume will be accurate or that our systems will
always be able to accommodate actual trading volume without failure or degradation of performance.ff If we cannot
increase the capacity and capabilities of our systems to accommodate an increasing volume of transactions and to
execute our business strategy, our ability to maintain or expand our businesses could be adversely affecteff d.

An interruptrr iontt or cessationtt of an importanttt service, data or content supplpp iell d by any thirdrr partyrr ,yy or the loss of an
exclusivevv license, could have a material adverse effeff ct on our business.

We depend on a number of suppliers, such as online service providers, hosting service and software providers, data
processors, data centers, software and hardware vendors, banks, local and regional utility providers, and
telecommunications companies for elements of our trading, clearing, data services, mortgage technology applications and
other systems. We rely on access to certain data used in our business through licenses with third parties, and we rely on a
large international telecommunications company for the provision of hosting services. We also depend on third-party
suppliers for data and content, including data received from certain competitors, clients, various government and public
record services and financial institutions, used in our products and services. Some of this data is exclusive to particular
suppliers and may not be obtained from other suppliers. In addition, our data suppliers could enter into exclusive contracts
with our competitors without our knowledge. The general trend toward industry consolidation may increase the risk that
these services may not be available to us in the future. If these companies were to experience difficultff ies, discontinue
providing services to us for any reason or be unable to or fail to provide the type of service agreed to for any reason, we
would likely experience significant disruption to our business and may be subject to litigation by our clients, increased
regulatory scrutiny or regulatory fines or damage to our reputation. It could require a significant amount of time and
additional resources to transition to new third-party service providers or to enter into new commercial arrangements in
order to offsetff loss of services to our clients. Our third-party data suppliers performff audits on us from time to time in the
ordinary course of business to determine if data we license for redistribution has been properly accounted for in
accordance with the terms of the applicable license agreement. As a result of these audits, we may incur additional
expenses.
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Many of our clients also rely on third parties to provide them with systems necessary to access our trading platform. If
these companies were to discontinue providing services to our clients for any reason, we may experience a loss of
revenue associated with our clients’ inability to transact with our businesses. We hold exclusive licenses to list various
index futures and contracts. In the future, litigation or regulatory action may limit the right of owners to grant exclusive
licenses for index futures and contracts trading to a single exchange, and our competitors may succeed in providing
economically similar products in a manner or jurisdiction not otherwise covered by our exclusive license. MiFID II
introduced a harmonized approach to the licensing of services relating to commodity derivatives across Europe and the
legislation requires open access to any benchmarks used in Europe. If unlicensed trading of any index product where we
hold an exclusive license were permitted, we could lose trading volume for these products which would adversely affectff
our revenues associated with the license and the related index products.

Our success largely dependsdd on key personnel, includindd g our senior management, and havingii adequatdd e
succession plans in place. We may not be able to attracrr t, retainii and develop the highly skilled employees we
need to suppopp rt our business, which could harm our business.

Our future performanceff depends, in large part, on the continued services of our senior management and other key
personnel, including our ability to attract, retain and motivate key personnel. Competition for key personnel in the various
localities and business segments in which we operate is intense. Our ability to attract and retain key personnel, in
particular senior management, will be dependent on a number of factors, including prevailing market conditions and
compensation packages offeredff by companies competing for the same talent. Current economic, market, social, and
political conditions and the recent re-opening of the global economy have increased talent risk, which has led to higher
employee attrition and made recruitment for certain positions more difficultff , and could lead to a loss of top performersff and
make it more diffiff cult to fill key positions. For example, our in-offiff ce requirements, as well as the location of our offices,ff
and our remote working arrangements may not meet the needs or expectations of our employees, including senior
management or other key employees, or may not be viewed as competitive, which could negatively impact our ability to
attract and retain highly skilled employees. In addition, we operate globally and geopolitical events or conflicts in the
countries or regions in which we operate could lead to physical risks to our personnel and disruption to business continuity
that could negatively impact our ability to execute our business strategy. There is no guarantee that we will have the
continued service of key employees who we rely upon to execute our business strategy and identify and pursue strategic
opportunities and initiatives. The loss of the services of any of our senior management or other key personnel, or our
inability to attract highly qualified senior management and other key personnel, could harm our business. In particular, we
have to incur costs to replace senior officersff or other key employees who leave, and our ability to execute our business
strategy could be impaired if we are unable to replace such persons in a timely manner or at all.

Effeff ctive succession planning is also important to our long-term success. Failure to ensure effectiff ve transfer of knowledge
and smooth transitions involving key employees could hinder our strategic planning and execution. Further, changes in
our management team may be disruptive to our business, and any failure to successfully integrate key new hires or
promoted employees could adversely affectff our business and results of operations.

We currenrr tlyl havevv a substanttt ialtt amount of outstandingii indebdd tedness which could advervv serr ly affeff ct our finanii cial
conditiontt and operations and restrict our activitiestt or satisfii yff our debtdd servicevv obligations.

As of December 31, 2021, we had $13.9 billion of outstanding debt. This level of indebtedness could have important
consequences to our business, including making it more difficultff to satisfyff our debt service obligations, increasing our
vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions, limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to,
changes in our business and the industry in which we operate, placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our
peers and restricting us from pursuing certain business opportunities. As we use our available resources to reduce and
refinance our consolidated debt, our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in
which we operate and our ability to pursue future business opportunities may be further restrained. In addition, the terms
of our debt facilities contain affirmatff ive and negative covenants, including a leverage ratio test and certain limitations on
the incurrence of additional debt or the creation of liens and other matters. Further, a portion of our outstanding debt has
historically been and continues to be in commercial paper, which is subject to interest rate changes. Rising interest rates
will result in an increase in our interest expense. We may incur additional indebtedness in the future, which could
materially affectff our financial condition.

Our long-term and short-term debt is currently rated by Moody’s Investor Services and Standard & Poor’s. These ratings
agencies regularly evaluate us and our credit ratings based on a number of quantitative and qualitative factors, including
our financial strength and conditions affectiff ng the financial services industry, generally. Our credit ratings remain subject to
change at any time, and it is possible that a ratings agency may take action to downgrade our credit ratings in the future.
In particular, our inability to sustain reduced debt on a consolidated basis may result in a downgrade of our credit ratings.
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A significant downgrade of our credit ratings in the future could impact customers’ willingness to use our clearing houses,
make parties less willing to do business with us, and could negatively impact our ability to access the capital markets and
increase the cost of our commercial paper and any future debt funding we may obtain.

COMPEMM TITION

We face intense competition; failure to keep up withtt rapid changes in technology and client prerr ferences could
negativelyvv impact our competitive position.

We face intense competition in all aspects of our business and our competitors, both domestic and international, are
numerous. We currently compete with:

• regulated, diversified futures exchanges that offerff trading in a variety of asset classes similar to those offeredff by us,
such as energy, agriculture, equity and equity index, credit, and interest rate derivatives markets and foreign
exchange;

• exchanges offeriff ng listing and trading of cash equities, ETFs, closed-end funds and other structured products similar
to those offeff red by us;

• market data and informatff ion vendors;

• providers of digital solutions, including providers of mortgage origination, compliance, pricing and documentation
services;

• interdealer brokers active in the global credit derivatives markets;

• existing and newly formed electronic trading platforms, service providers and exchanges, some of which do not
receive the same regulatory scrutiny as established market places;

• other clearing houses; and

• consortiums of our customers, members or market participants that may work together to achieve more favorable
terms or pool their trading activity to establish new exchanges, trading platforms or clearing facilities.

Trends towards the globalization of capital markets have resulted in greater mobility of capital, greater international
participation in markets and increased competition among markets in differeff nt geographical areas. Competition in the
market for derivatives trading and clearing and in the market for cash equity listings, trading and execution have
intensified as a result of consolidation, as the markets become more global in connection with the increase in electronic
trading platforms and the desire by existing exchanges to diversifyff their product offerings.ff Finally, many of our competitors
are our largest customers or are owned by our customers and may prioritize their internalization and ATS businesses
ahead of their exchange-based market making business. Some of our competitors may have greater capital and
resources, offerff a wide range of products and services or operate under less stringent regulatory regimes than we do.

In the mortgage technology sector, we compete against other software providers as well as companies that offerff “point of
sale” or web-based online loan applications services. We also compete with traditional methods of exchanging data and
documents among mortgage industry participants, such as email, facsimile, phone, courier, and mail. Mortgage originators
may also manually upload loan data or enter informatff ion into each investor’s, lender’s, or service provider’s website in lieu
of using our solutions. There is vigorous competition among providers of mortgage technology services, and we may be
unsuccessful in differeff ntiating our services to the extent necessary to effectff ively compete and may not succeed in
convincing potential customers using other services or methods to switch to ours.

We also face pricing competition in many areas of our business. A decline in our fees due to competitive pressure or
regulatory changes, the inability to successfully launch new products or the loss of customers due to competition could
lower our revenues, which would adversely affectff our profitability. For example, our data service offeringsff have benefited
from a high renewal rate in its subscription-based services, but we cannot assure you that this will continue. We also
cannot assure you that we will be able to continue to expand our product offerings,ff modifyff the pricing for our products or
retain our current customers or attract new customers. If we are not able to compete successfully, our business could be
materially impacted, including our ability to remain as an operating entity.

Our success depends on our ability to maintain and expand our product offerings,ff our customer base and our technology.
To remain competitive, we must continue to enhance and improve the responsiveness, functionality, accessibility and
reliability of our electronic platforms and our proprietary and acquired technology. The financial services industry is
characterized by rapid technological change, change in use patterns, change in client preferences, frequent product and
service introductions, the emergence of new industry standards and practices and increased consolidation through
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mergers and acquisitions activity that results in new competitors or expanded product offeringsff by current competitors.
These changes could render our existing proprietary technology uncompetitive or obsolete.

We cannot assure you that we will successfully implement new technologies or adapt our proprietary technology to our
clients’ requirements or emerging industry standards in a timely and cost-effective manner. Any failure to remain abreast
of industry standards in technology and to be responsive to client preferences could cause our market share to decline
and negatively impact our results.

Damage to our reputation could damage our business.

Our business is highly competitive and our customers typically have options on where to conduct their business. Our
management team and business operations benefit from being highly regarded in our industry. Maintaining our reputation
is critical to attracting and retaining customers and investors and for maintaining our relationships with our regulators.
Negative publicity regarding our company or actual, alleged or perceived issues regarding our products or services,
operations, risk management, compliance with regulations, political affilff iations or management team could give rise to
reputational risk which could significantly harm our existing business and business prospects.

INTELTT LECTUALUU PROPERTY

Our use of "open source" softwarerr could negatively impact our abiliii ty to sellll our products and services and
subjecb t us to litigatii on.

We use some open-source software in our technology, most often as small components within a larger product or service,
to augment algorithms, functionalities or libraries we create, and we may use more open-source software in the future.
Open-source code is also contained in some third-party software we rely on. We could be subject to suits by parties
claiming breach of the terms of the license for such open-source software. The terms of many open-source licenses are
ambiguous and have not been interpreted by U.S. or other courts, and these licenses could be construed in a manner that
imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to commercialize our products and services. Further, open-
source licensors generally do not provide technology support, maintenance, warranties or assurance of title or controls on
the origin of the softwaff re, which can also lead to greater risks than use of third-party commercial software.

A failure to protectrr our intellectual propertyt rights,tt or allegll ations that we havevv infringed the intellectual propertyrr
rightstt of otherstt , could adverserr ly affectff our business.

Our business is dependent on proprietary technology and other intellectual property that we own or license from third
parties, including trademarks, service marks, trade names, trade secrets, copyrights and patents. We cannot assure you
that the steps that we have taken or will take in the future will prevent misappropriation of our proprietary technology or
intellectual property. Additionally, we may be unable to detect the misappropriation or unauthorized use of our proprietary
technology and intellectual property. Our failure to adequately protect our proprietary technology and intellectual property
could harm our reputation and affectff our ability to compete effectff ively. Further, we have resorted to litigation to enforceff our
intellectual property rights in the past, and may need to in the future, which requires significant financial and managerial
resources. As a result, we have chosen not to enforceff our infringed intellectual property rights in the past, and may
choose not to in the future, depending on our strategic evaluation and judgment regarding the best use of our resources,
the relative strength of our intellectual property portfolio and the recourse available to us.

In addition, our competitors, as well as other companies and individuals, have obtained, and may obtain in the future,
patent and intellectual property rights related to the types of products and services we offerff or plan to offerff . We cannot
assure you that we are or will be aware of all patents and intellectual property rights that may pose a risk of infringement
by our products and services. As a result, we have in the past faced and may in the future face allegations that we have
infringed the intellectual property rights of third parties which may be costly for us to defend against. If one or more of our
products or services is found to infringe patents and intellectual property rights held by others, we may be subject to
lawsuits or required to stop developing or marketing the products or services, obtain licenses to develop and market the
products or services from the owners of the intellectual property or redesign the products or services in such a way as to
avoid infringing the third-party intellectual property. We also have in the past, and could in the future, be required to pay
damages if we are found to infringe intellectual property rights held by others, which could materially adversely affectff our
business, financial condition and operating results. We cannot assess the extent to which we may be required in the future
to obtain licenses with respect to intellectual property rights held by others, whether such licenses would be available or, if
available, whether we would be able to obtain such licenses on commercially reasonable terms. If we were unable to
obtain such licenses, we may not be able to redesign our products or services at a reasonable cost to avoid infringement,
which could materially adversely affectff our business, financial condition and operating results.

37



COMMON STOCTT K

We arerr a holding company and depend on our subsidiaries for dividends,dd distriii buii tions and othertt payments.

We are a legal entity separate and distinct from our operating subsidiaries. Our principal source of cash flow, including
cash flow to pay dividends to our stockholders, principal and interest on our outstanding debt or repurchase shares of our
common stock, is dividends from our subsidiaries. There are statutory and regulatory limitations on the payment of
dividends by certain of our subsidiaries to us. If our subsidiaries are unable to make dividend payments to us and
suffiff cient cash or liquidity is not otherwise available, we may not be able to make dividend payments to our stockholders,
principal and interest payments on our outstanding debt or repurchase shares of our common stock, which could have a
material adverse effectff on our business, financial condition and operating results.

We may fail to complete or realizll e the anticipaii ted cost savingii s, growth opppp ortunities and syneryy gierr s and othertt
benefits anticipated fromrr our acquisitioii ns or anticipated growth opppp ortunities or expexx cted benefits of our
strategic investments, which could adverselyl affeff ct the value of our common stock.

We have completed many acquisitions and plan to continue to pursue acquisitions and joint ventures. The success of our
acquisitions will depend, in part, on our ability to integrate these businesses and realize anticipated cost savings, revenue
synergies and growth opportunities. We generally set aggressive timelines for realizing savings, which assumes we
successfully undertake a variety of actions (including, but not limited to, integrating technology, eliminating redundancies
and effectff ing organizational restructurings) that are themselves subject to a variety of risks and may be subject to
regulatory approvals that we do not control. The process of integrating acquired companies is time consuming and could
disrupt each company’s ongoing businesses, produce unforeseenff regulatory and operating difficultff ies (including
inconsistencies in standards, controls, procedures and policies that adversely affectff relationships with market participants,
regulators and others), require substantial resources and expenditures and divert the attention of management from the
ongoing operation of the business.

There is also a risk that we may not integrate these acquired companies in a manner that permits our expected cost
savings and revenue synergies to be fully realized in the time periods expected, or at all. In addition, a variety of factors,
including but not limited to regulatory conditions, governmental competition approvals, cultural differeff nces and difficultff y
integrating technology platforms, may adversely affectff our ability to complete our acquisitions or realize our anticipated
cost savings and synergies.

We may also not realize anticipated growth opportunities and other benefits from strategic investments or strategic joint
ventures or alliances that we have entered into or may enter into for a number of reasons, including decline in value of the
other company, regulatory or government approvals or changes, global market changes, contractual obligations,
competing products and, in some instances, our lack of or limited control over the management of the business. For
example, we have a majority ownership interest in Bakkt but do not control the management of the business. A substantial
decline in Bakkt's financial performanceff or stock price, significant failure to or any major technology failures or cyber
attacks could lead to litigation against us and reputational harm that could negatively impact our business and the value of
our stock. Further, strategic initiatives that have historically been successful may not continue to be successful due to
competitive threats, changing market conditions or the inability for the parties to extend the relationship into the future.

As a result of any future acquisition, we may issue additional shares of our common stock that dilute our stockholders’
ownership interest, expend cash, incur debt, assume actual and contingent liabilities, inherit existing or pending litigation
or create additional expenses related to amortizing intangible assets. Further, we cannot assure you that any such
financing or equity investments will be available with terms that will be favorable to us, or available at all.

Provirr sioii ns of our organirr zatioii nal documents and Delawareww law may delay or deter a change of controlrr of ICE.EE

Our organizational documents contain provisions that may have the effectff of discouraging, delaying or preventing a
change of control of, or unsolicited acquisition proposals for, ICE. These provisions make a change of control less likely,
which may be contrary to the desires of certain of our stockholders. Many of these provisions are required by relevant
regulators in connection with our ownership and operation of U.S. and European equity exchanges. For example, our
organizational documents include provisions that generally restrict any person (either alone or together with its related
persons) from (i) voting or causing the voting of shares of stock representing more than 10% of our outstanding voting
capital stock (including as a result of any agreement by any other persons not to vote shares of stock) or (ii) beneficially
owning shares of stock representing more than 20% of the outstanding shares of any class or series of our capital stock.
Further, our organizational documents generally limit the ability of stockholders to call special stockholders’ meetings or
act by written consent, and generally authorize our Board of Directors, without stockholder approval, to issue and fix the
rights and preferences of one or more series of preferred stock. In addition, provisions of Delaware law may have a similar
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effectff , such as provisions limiting the ability of certain interested stockholders, as defined under Delaware law, from
causing the merger or acquisition of a corporation against the wishes of the Board of Directors.

ITEM 1 (B). UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
The net book value of our property was $1.7 billion as of December 31, 2021. Our intellectual property is described under
the heading in Item 1 “- Business -TechnologTT y” and "-Business-Intellectual Property." In addition to our intellectual
property, our other primary assets include buildings, computer equipment, corporate aircraft,ff software, and internally
developed software. We own an array of computers and related equipment.

Our headquarters and principal executive officesff are located in Atlanta, Georgia and New York, New York. We currently
occupy 370,000 square feet of office space in Atlanta in two buildings that we own that serve as our Atlanta headquarters.
Our New York headquarters are located at 11 Wall Street, where we occupy 370,000 square feet of officff e space in a
building we own. In total, we maintain approximately 3.3 million square feet in officesff primarily throughout the U.S., U.K.,
and India, with smaller officesff located throughout the world. Generally, our properties are not earmarked for use by a
particular business segment. Our principal officesff consist of the properties described below.

Location Owned/Leased Lease Expiration Approximate Size

5660 New Northside Drive
Atlanta, Georgia Owned N/A 273,000 sq. ft.
5680 New Northside Drive
Atlanta, Georgia Owned N/A 97,000 sq. ft.
11 Wall Street
New York,YY New York Owned N/A 370,000 sq. ft.

Basildon, U.K. Owned N/A 539,000 sq. ft.
Mahwah, New Jersey Leased 2029 396,000 sq. ft.
Skyview Tower
Hyderabad, India Leased 2024 - 2025 175,000 sq. ft.
4420 Rosewood Drive
Pleasanton, Californiaff Leased 2025 137,000 sq. ft.
55 East 52nd Street
New York, New York Leased 2028 94,000 sq. ft.
32 Crosby Drive
Bedford, Massachusetts Leased 2026 82,000 sq. ft.
Milton Gate
London, U.K. Leased 2024 72,000 sq. ft.

Tower VI, Cybercity
Pune, India Leased 2026-2029 71,000 sq. ft.
Fitzroy House
London, U.K. Leased 2025 68,000 sq. ft.
100 Church Street
New York, New York Leased 2024 65,000 sq. ft.
353 North Clark Street
Chicago, Illinois Leased 2027 57,000 sq. ft.
350 E Cermak Rd
Chicago, Illinois Leased 2022-2027 51,000 sq. ft.

In addition to the above, we currently lease an aggregate of nearly 713,000 square feet of administrative, sales and
disaster preparedness facilities in various cities around the word. We believe that our facilities are adequate forff our
current operations and that we will be able to obtain additional space as and when it is needed.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
We are subject to legal proceedings, claims and investigations that arise in the ordinary course of our business. We
establish accruals for those matters in circumstances when a loss contingency is considered probable and the related
amount is reasonably estimable. Any such accruals may be adjusted as circumstances change. Assessments of losses
are inherently subjective and involve unpredictable factors. We do not believe that the resolution of these legal matters,
including the matters described in this Annual Report, will have a material adverse effectff on our consolidated financial
condition, results of operations, or liquidity. It is possible, however, that future results of operations for any particular
quarterly or annual period could be materially and adversely affectff ed by any developments relating to the legal
proceedings, claims and investigations. See Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of this
Annual Report for a summary of our legal proceedings and claims.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.

PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Number of Holders of Common Stock

As of February 1, 2022, there were approximately 492 holders of record of our common stock. Our common stock trades
on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “ICE.”

Dividends

Our Board of Directors has adopted a quarterly dividend declaration policy providing that the declaration of any dividends
will be determined quarterly by the Board or Audit Committee of the Board of Directors taking into account such factors as
our evolving business model, prevailing business conditions and our financial results and capital requirements, without a
predetermined annual net income payout ratio. The declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion of our Board of
Directors, and may be affectff ed by various factors, including our future earnings, financial condition, capital requirements,
share repurchase activity, current and future planned strategic growth initiatives, levels of indebtedness, credit ratings and
other considerations our Board of Directors deems relevant.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following provides informatff ion about our common stock that has been or may be issued under our equity
compensation plans as of December 31, 2021:

• Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. 2018 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
• Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. 2017 Omnibus Employee Incentive Plan
• Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. 2013 Omnibus Employee Incentive Plan
• Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. 2013 Omnibus Non-Employee Director Incentive Plan
• Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. 2009 Omnibus Incentive Plan
• Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. 2003 Restricted Stock Deferral Plan for Outside Directors

The 2009 Omnibus Incentive Plan was retired in May 2013 upon adoption of the 2013 Omnibus Employee Incentive Plan.
The 2013 Omnibus Employee Incentive Plan was retired in May 2017 upon adoption of the 2017 Omnibus Employee
Incentive Plan. No future grants will be made from the retired plans. All future grants to employees will be made under the
Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. 2017 Omnibus Employee Incentive Plan and to directors under the Intercontinental
Exchange, Inc. 2013 Omnibus Non-Employee Director Incentive Plan. All purchases made pursuant to the Employee
Stock Purchase Plan are made from the 2018 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
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Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders(1) ..................................... 6,476 (1) $ 68.77 (1) 31,555

Equity compensation plans not approved
by security holders(2)

pp
................................ 50 (2) — (2) —

TOTAL ................................................. 6,526 $ 68.77 31,555

Plan Categoryg y

Number of securities to be
issued upon exercise of
outstanding options and
rights (in thousands)

(a)

Weighted average
exercise price of
outstanding
options
(b)

Number of securities
available for future

issuance under equity
compensation plans
(excluding securities

reflected in column (a)) (in
thousands)

(c)

(1) The 2009 Omnibus Incentive Plan was approved by our stockholders in May 2009. The 2013 Omnibus Employee
Incentive Plan and the 2013 Omnibus Non-Employee Director Incentive Plan were approved by our stockholders in
May 2013. The 2017 Omnibus Employee Incentive Plan was approved by our stockholders in May 2017. Of the 6.5
million securities to be issued upon exercise, 3.0 million are options with a weighted average exercise price of $68.77
and the remaining 3.5 million securities are restricted stock shares that do not have an exercise price. The 2018
Employee Stock Purchase Plan was approved by stockholders in May 2018.

(2) This category includes the 2003 Restricted Stock Deferral Plan for Outside Directors. All of the 50,000 securities to be
issued are restricted stock shares that do not have an exercise price. For more informatff ion concerning these plans,
see Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements, which are included in this Annual Report.
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Performance Graph
The following graph compares the total return of our common stock to the S&P 500 Index and a peer group selected by
us, shown below, for the past five years:

1) $100 invested on 12/31/2016 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends. Fiscal year ending December 31, 2021.
2) Copyright © 2022 Standard & Poor's, a division of S&P Global. All rights reserved.
3) The peer group includes CME Group Inc., Deutsche Boerse AG, IHS Markit LTD, London Stock Exchange Group PLC, MSCI Inc., Nasdaq Inc. and
S&P Global Inc.

Stock Repurchases
With respect to purchases made by or on behalf of ICE or any "affiliated purchaser" (as defined in Rule 10b-18(a)(3)
under the Exchange Act), prior to early August 2020, we had a Rule 10b5-1 trading plan that governed some of the
repurchases of shares of our common stock. In connection with our September 2020 acquisition of Ellie Mae, we
discontinued stock repurchases and terminated our Rule 10b5-1 trading plan. In November 2021, we resumed stock
repurchases. In December 2021, our Board approved an aggregate of $3.15 billion for future repurchases of our common
stock with no fixed expiration date that became effectff ive January 1, 2022. The $3.15 billion replaces the previous amount
approved by the Board. In December 2021 we entered into a new Rule 10b5-1 trading plan that will become effectiff ve in
February 2022.

Refer to Note 12 to our consolidated financial statements, included in this Annual Report, for additional details on our
stock repurchase plans and our repurchase activity during 2021.
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ITEM 6. [RESERVED]

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion containst forward-lookinww g statementstt that involve risks and uncertainttt ies.tt Our actual resultstt could
differff materially from those anticipattt ed in these forward-lookinww g statementstt for many reasons. See the factors set forthtt
under the heading “Forwardww Looking Statett ments”tt at the beginning of Part 1 of thisii Annual Report and in Item 1(A)A under
the heading “Risk Factors.” For discussion related to the resultstt of operationstt and changes in financial conditiontt for 2020
compared to 2019 refer to Part II,I Item 7. Management's' Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiontt and Resultstt of
Operations in our 2020 Annual Report on Form 10-K,KK which was filed withtt the U.S. Securitierr s and Exchange Commission
on February 4, 2021.

Overview

We are a provider of market infrastructure, data services and technology solutions to a broad range of customers
including financial institutions, corporations and government entities. These products, which span major asset classes
including futures, equities, fixed income and U.S. residential mortgages, provide our customers with access to mission
critical tools that are designed to increase asset class transparency and workflow efficiff ency. We report our results in three
segments: Exchanges, Fixed Income and Data Services, and Mortgage Technology. The majority of our identifiable assets
are located in the U.S. and U.K.

• In our Exchanges segment, we operate regulated marketplaces for the listing, trading and clearing of a broad
array of derivatives contracts and financial securities.

• In our Fixed Income and Data Services segment, we provide fixed income pricing, reference data, indices,
analytics and execution services as well as global CDS clearing and multi-asset class data delivery solutions.

• In our Mortgage Technology segment, we provide an end-to-end technology platform that offersff customers
comprehensive, digital workflow tools that aim to address the inefficiff encies that exist in the U.S. residential
mortgage market.

Recent Developments

Bakkt Transaction

On October 15, 2021, Bakkt Holdings, LLC, or Bakkt, completed its merger with VPC Impact Acquisition Holdings, or VIH,
a special purpose acquisition company sponsored by Victory Park Capital, or VPC. Bakkt is an integrated platform that
enables customers and consumers to transact in digital assets.

The business combination between Bakkt and VIH resulted in enterprise value of approximately $2.1 billion, including
approximately $479 million of cash on the combined company’s balance sheet, reflecting a contribution of up to
$123 million of cash held in VIH’s trust account, and a $325 million concurrent private investment in public equity, or PIPE,
of Class A common stock of the combined company and $31 million of cash held in Bakkt accounts. The PIPE was priced
at $10.00 per share and included a $47 million commitment from us. The newly combined company has been renamed
Bakkt Holdings, Inc. and is listed on the New York Stock Exchange, or NYSE.

As part of the transaction, Bakkt’s existing equity holders and management rolled 100% of their equity into the combined
company, and are subject to a six-month lockup period. Certain shareholders of VIH exercised their redemption rights,
and at closing, Bakkt equity holders, including ICE, owned approximately 81% of the combined company, VIH’s public
shareholders owned approximately 5%, VPC owned 2%, and PIPE investors (a group that also includes us) owned
approximately 12% of the issued and outstanding common stock of the combined company.

Following completion of the business combination, we initially held a 68% economic interest and a minority voting interest
in the combined company. Prior to the closing, Bakkt revenues and operating expenses were reported within our
consolidated revenues and operating expenses. Following the closing, as a consequence of holding a minority voting
interest in the combined company, during the fourth quarter of 2021 we deconsolidated Bakkt and treat it as an equity
method investment within our financial statements. We recorded a gain on the transaction of $1.4 billion during the fourth
quarter of 2021, which is included in other non-operating income within our consolidated income statement. For the three
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months ended December 31, 2021, we recorded estimated equity losses of ($92 million) related to our investment in
Bakkt.

COVID-19

Since March 2020, the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has created economic and financial disruptions globally and
has led governmental authorities to take unprecedented measures to mitigate the spread of the disease, including travel
bans, border closings, business closures, quarantines and shelter-in-place orders, and to take actions designed to
stabilize markets and promote economic growth.

From an operational perspective, our businesses, including our exchanges, clearing houses, listing venues, data services
businesses, and mortgage platforms, have remained open and we do not have any plans to close any of our business
operations as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. However, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, we have taken preventative
measures and implemented contingency plans, and many of our employees are continuing to work remotely. We believe
that our global officeff closures and phased re-opening measures were and continue to be in compliance, as necessary,
with local government directives and social distancing directives. We continue to monitor local government mandates in
determining our officeff re-openings, re-closures and work-related travel.

Global health concerns relating to COVID-19 and preventive measures taken to reduce its spread have created significant
volatility in financial markets, which has resulted in higher trading volumes for some of our products and increased
demand for our services.

The extent of the impact of the pandemic on our business will depend on future developments, including the duration,
spread and severity of the outbreak, the effectff iveness of vaccines against COVID-19 over the long term and against new
and emerging variants thereof, and the actions taken to contain the spread of the disease or mitigate its impact. We
continue to monitor this dynamic situation, including guidance and regulations issued by U.S. and other governmental
authorities. In light of the continually evolving nature of the COVID-19 outbreak, we are not able at this time to estimate
the ultimate effectff of the pandemic on our business, results of operations or financial condition in the future.

Consolidated Financial Highlights
The following summarizes our results and significant changes in our consolidated financial performance for the periods
presented (dollars in millions, except per share amounts):

44



LESS
TRANSACTION- BASED

EXPENSES

$5,202
$6,036

$7,146

$3,307 $3,631 $3,856

$1,756 $1,810 $1,883$139$139$139
$595$595

$1,407

Exchanges Segment
Fixed Income and Data Services
Segment
Mortgage Technology Segment

2019 2020 2021

INCOME

$2,673
$3,033

$3,449

$2,167 $2,389 $2,523

$439
$492 $529$67$67$67
$152$152

$397

Exchanges Segment
Fixed Income and Data Services
Segment
Mortgage Technology Segment

2019 2020 2021

OPERATING
INCOME (1)

$3,013
$3,541

$4,169

$2,266 $2,486 $2,655

$664 $691 $709$83$83$83
$364$364

$805

Exchanges Segment
Fixed Income and Data Services
Segment
Mortgage Technology Segment

2019 2020 2021

CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATIONS

$2,659 $2,881 $3,123

2019 2020 2021

NET INCOME
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ICE

$1,933 $2,089

$4,058

2019 2020 2021

ADJUSTED NET INCOME
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ICE (1)

$2,142 $2,449 $2,910

2019 2020 2021

Revenues, less transaction-based expenses ................................ $7,146 $6,036 18 $% 6,036 $5,202 16 %
Operating expenses .......................................................................... $3,697 $3,003 23 $% 3,003 $2,529 19 %
Adjusted operating expenses(1) ...................................................... $2,977 $2,495 19 $% 2,495 $2,189 14 %

Operating income ............................................................................. $3,449 $3,033 14 $% 3,033 $2,673 13 %
Adjusted operating income(1) .......................................................... $4,169 $3,541 18 $% 3,541 $3,013 18 %

Operating margin .............................................................................. 48 5% 0 % (2 pts) 50 5% 1 % (1 pt)
Adjusted operating margin(1) ........................................................... 58 5% 9 % (1 pt) 59 5% 8 % 1 pt

Other income (expense), net .......................................................... $2,249 $ (267) n/ $a (267) $ (192) 39 %
Income tax expense ............................................................................ $1,629 $ 658 148 % $ 658 $ 521 26 %
Effectiveff tax rate ............................................................................... 29 % 24 % 5 pts 24 2% 1 % 3 pts
Net income attributable to ICE........................................................... $4,058 $2,089 94 % $2,089 $1,933 8 %
Adjusted net income attributable to ICE(1) ................................... $2,910 $2,449 19 % $2,449 $2,142 14 %

Diluted earnings per share attributable to ICE common
stockholders .......................................................................................... $ 7.18 $ 3.77 90 % $ 3.77 $ 3.42 10 %
Adjusted diluted earnings per share attributable to ICE
common stockholders(1)

gg
.................................................................. $ 5.15 $ 4.41 17 % $ 4.41 $ 3.79 16 %

Cash flows from operating activities ................................................. $3,123 $2,881 8 % $2,881 $2,659 8 %

Year Ended
December 31,

Year Ended
December 31,

2021 2020 Change 2020 2019 Change

*Percentage changes in the table above deemed "n/a" are not meaningful.
(1) The adjusted figures exclude items that are not reflective of our ongoing core operations and business perforr rmance. Adjusted net income attributable
to ICE and adjusted diluted earnings per share attributable to ICE common stockholders are presented net of taxes. These adjusted numbers are not
calculated in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, or GAAP. See “- Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below.
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• Revenues, less transaction-based expenses, increased $1.1 billion in 2021 from 2020. The increase in revenues
includes $44 million in favorable foreign exchange effectff s arising from the weaker U.S. dollar in 2021 from 2020.

• Revenues, less transaction-based expenses, increased $834 million in 2020 from 2019. The increase in revenues
includes $7 million in favorable foreign exchange effectff s arising from the weaker U.S. dollar in 2020 from 2019.

• Operating expenses increased $694 million in 2021 from 2020. The increase in operating expenses includes $22
million in unfavorable foreign exchange effectff s arising from the weaker U.S. dollar in 2021 from 2020.

• Operating expenses increased $474 million in 2020 from 2019. The increase in operating expenses includes $2
million in unfavorable foreign exchange effectsff arising from the weaker U.S. dollar in 2020 from 2019.

• Other income (expense), net, in 2021 primarily includes our gain on the Bakkt transaction of $1.4 billion, our gain
on the sale of our Coinbase Global, Inc., or Coinbase, investment of $1.2 billion, equity earnings in OCC of $51
million, estimated equity losses in our investment in Bakkt during the post-merger period of $92 million, dividend
income from Euroclear plc, or Euroclear, of $60 million, a fair value adjustment gain on our Euroclear investment of
$34 million and interest expense of $423 million.

• Other income (expense), net, in 2020 primarily includes interest expense of $357 million, equity earnings in OCC of
$71 million, an accrual for potential legal settlements of $30 million, a fair value adjustment gain on our Euroclear
investment of $35 million, and gain on the sale of our BIDS Trading, LP,PP or BIDS, investment of $20 million.

• The effectff ive tax rate in 2021 is higher than the effectiveff tax rate in 2020 primarily due to the deferred income tax
impacts resulting from the U.K. tax law changes as well as the Bakkt transaction. In June 2021, the U.K. enacted a
corporate income tax rate increase from 19% to 25% effectff ive April 1, 2023.

• The effectff ive tax rate in 2020 was higher than the effectiff ve tax rate in 2019 primarily due to U.K. tax law changes
enacted in July 2020, partially offsetff by favorable state apportionment changes as a result of our acquisition of Ellie
Mae, as well as favorable changes in certain international tax provisions as part of the U.S. Federal Tax Cuts and
Jobs Act, or TCJA, in 2019.

Business Environment and Market Trends
Our business environment has been characterized by:

• globalization of marketplaces, customers and competitors;
• growing customer demand for workflow efficiencyff and automation;
• commodity, interest rate and financial markets uncertainty;
• growing demand for data to inform customers' risk management and investment decisions;
• evolving, increasing and disparate regulation across multiple jurisdictions;
• price volatility increasing customers' demand for risk management services;
• increasing focus on capital and cost effiff ciencies;
• customers' preference to manage risk in markets demonstrating the greatest depth of liquidity and product
diversity;

• the evolution of existing products and new product innovation to serve emerging customer needs and changing
industry agreements;

• rising demand for speed, data, data capacity and connectivity by market participants, necessitating increased
investment in technology; and

• consolidation and increasing competition among global markets for trading, clearing and listings.

Recent changes with regard to global financial reform have emphasized the importance of transparent markets,
centralized clearing and access to data, all of which are important aspects of our product offering.ff However, some of the
proposed rules have yet to be implemented and some rules that have already been partially implemented are being
reconsidered. In addition, some of the global regulations have not been fully harmonized and several non-U.S. regulations
are inconsistent with U.S. rules. As the evolution continues, legislative and regulatory actions may change the way we
conduct our business and may create uncertainty for market participants, which could affectff trading volumes or demand
for market data. As a result, it is difficuff lt to predict all of the effectsff that the legislation and its implementing regulations will
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have on us. As discussed more fully in Item 1 “- Business - Regulation” included in this Annual Report, Brexit, the
implementation of MiFID II and other regulations may result in operational, regulatory and/or business risk.

We have diversified our business so that we are not dependent on volatility or transaction activity in any one asset class.
In addition, we have increased our portion of recurring revenues from 34% in 2014 to 49% in 2021. These recurring
revenues include data services, listings and various mortgage technology solutions.

Many of the data products we sell and services we provide are required for our clients’ business operations regardless of
market volatility or shiftsff in business profitability levels. We anticipate that there will continue to be growth in the financial
informatff ion services sector driven by a number of global trends, including the following:

• increasing global regulatory demands;
• greater use of fair value accounting standards and reliance on independent valuations;
• greater emphasis on risk management;
• market fragmentation driven by regulatory changes;
• the move to passive investing and indexation;
• ongoing growth in the size and diversity of financial markets;
• increased automation of fixed income, mortgage and other less automated markets;
• the development of new data products;
• the demand for greater data capacity and connectivity;
• new entrants; and
• increasing demand for outsourced services by financial institutions.

We continue to focus on our strategy to grow each of our revenue streams, and prudently manage expenses, in order to
mitigate these uncertainties and to build on our growth opportunities by leveraging our proprietary data, clearing, markets
and technology solutions.

Segment Results
Our business is conducted through three reportable business segments, comprised of the following:

• Our Exchanges segment includes our trade execution and clearing within our global futures network and NYSE
businesses, various data and connectivity services that are directly related to those exchange platforms,
administration fees and our NYSE listings business. Trade execution and clearing products include energy,
agricultural and metals, financial futures and options, cash equities, equity options, OTC and other;

• Our Fixed Income and Data Services segment includes pricing and reference data, analytics, indices, trade
execution and clearing within our ICE Bonds and CDS businesses, consolidated feeds and our ICE Global
Network businesses; and

• Our Mortgage Technology segment includes origination technology, closing solutions, data and analytics and
other mortgage technology businesses.

While revenues are recorded specifically in the segment in which they are earned or to which they relate, a significant
portion of our operating expenses are not solely related to a specific segment because the expenses serve functions that
are necessary for the operation of more than one segment. We directly allocate expenses when reasonably possible to do
so. Otherwise, we use a pro-rata revenue approach as the allocation method for the expenses that do not relate solely to
one segment and serve functions that are necessary for the operation of all segments. Our segments do not engage in
intersegment transactions.

Beginning in the first quarter of 2021, origination technology revenues include those related to our ICE Mortgage
Technology network (previously reported in closing solutions revenues) and closing solutions revenues now include
registration revenues related to MERSCORP Holdings, Inc., or MERS, (previously reported in other revenues). We believe
these changes more accurately reflect how we operate the business. Prior-year periods have been adjusted to reflect
these changes.

For details on trends in recent prior-year periods, refer to our 2020 and 2019 Annual Reports on Form 10-K.
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Exchanges Segment

The following presents selected statements of income data forff our Exchanges segment (dollars in millions):
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(1) The adjusted figures in the charts above are calculated by excluding items that are not reflective of our cash operations and core business
performance. As a result, these adjusted numbers are not calculated in accordance with U.S. GAAP. See “- Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below.
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Revenues:.......................................................................................
Energy futures and options ............................................ $ 1,236 $ 1,120 10 % $ 1,120 $ 992 13 %
Agricultural and metals futures and options ................ 228 245 (7) 245 251 (2)
Financial futures and options......................................... 394 357 10 357 332 8

Futures and options.................................................................. 1,858 1,722 8 1,722 1,575 9
Cash equities and equity options ........................................... 2,377 2,585 (8) 2,585 1,643 57
OTC and other ......................................................................... 326 296 10 296 233 27
Transaction and clearing, net ................................................ 4,561 4,603 (1) 4,603 3,451 33
Data and connectivity services................................................. 838 790 6 790 752 5
Listings ......................................................................................... 479 446 7 446 449 (1)

Revenues........................................................................................ 5,878 5,839 1 5,839 4,652 26
Transaction-based expenses(1) .......................................... 2,022 2,208 (8) 2,208 1,345 64
Revenues, less transaction-based expenses ...................... 3,856 3,631 6 3,631 3,307 10
Other operating expenses.................................................. 1,028 965 6 965 874 10
Depreciation and amortization .......................................... 244 261 (7) 261 265 (2)
Acquisition-related transaction and integration costs .... 61 16 287 16 1 n/a

Operating expenses ................................................................. 1,333 1,242 7 1,242 1,140 9
Operating income ..................................................................... $ 2,523 $ 2,389 6 % $ 2,389 $ 2,167 10 %

Year Ended
December 31,

Year Ended
December 31,

2021 2020 Change 2020 2019 Change

*Percentage changes in the table above deemed "n/a" are not meaningful.
(1)Transaction-based expenses are largely attributable to our cash equities and options business.

Exchanges Revenues

Our Exchanges segment includes transaction and clearing revenues from our futures and NYSE exchanges, related data
and connectivity services, and our listings business. Transaction and clearing revenues consist of fees collected from
derivatives, cash equities and equity options trading and derivatives clearing, and are reported on a net basis, except for
the NYSE transaction-based expenses discussed below. Rates per-contract, or RPC, are driven by the number of
contracts or securities traded and the fees charged per contract, net of certain rebates. Our per-contract transaction and
clearing revenues will depend upon many factors, including, but not limited to, market conditions, transaction and clearing
volume, product mix, pricing, applicable revenue sharing and market making agreements, and new product introductions.
Because transaction and clearing revenues are generally assessed on a per-contract basis, revenues and profitability
fluctuate with changes in contract volume and product mix. Our data and connectivity services revenues are recurring
subscription fees related to the various data and connectivity services that we provide which are directly attributable to our
exchange venues. Our listings revenues are also recurring subscription fees that we earn for the provision of NYSE
listings services for public companies and ETFs, and related corporate actions for listed companies.

In 2021 and 2020, 17% and 14%, respectively, of our Exchanges segment revenues, less transaction-based expenses,
were billed in pounds sterling or euros. Due to the fluctuations of the pound sterling and euro compared to the U.S. dollar,
our Exchanges segment revenues, less transaction-based expenses, were higher by $30 million in 2021 from 2020.

Our exchange transaction and clearing revenues are presented net of rebates. We recorded rebates of $1.0 billion and
$962 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively. We offer rebates in certain of our markets primarily to support market liquidity
and trading volume by providing qualified participants in those markets a discount to the applicable commission rate. Such
rebates are calculated based on volumes traded. The increase in rebates is primarily due to the launch of new products,
including ICE Murban crude oil futures and the Sterling Overnight Index Average,AA or SONIA.

• Energy Futures and Options: Total energy volume increased 1% and revenues increased 10% in 2021 from 2020.

– TotaTT l oil volume increased 3% in 2021 from 2020 driven by price volatility related to oil supply and demand
dynamics and macroeconomic uncertainty in late 2021.

– Our global natural gas futures and options volume decreased 4% in 2021 from 2020 as 2020 benefited from
elevated volatility related to COVID-19, partially offsetff by 2021 continued growth in our TTF and Asian JKM
gas complexes driven by the globalization of gas, coupled with heightened price volatility in 2021 related to
natural gas supply and demand dynamics in the U.K. and Europe.
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– Our environmentals and other futures and options volume increased 18% to record levels in 2021 from 2020
due to an increase in the price of carbon and continued demand for market-based mechanisms to price
climate risk and help enable greenhouse gas reduction goals.

• Agricultural and Metals Futures and Options: Total volume in our agricultural and metals futures and options
markets decreased 10% and revenues decreased 7% in 2021 from 2020. The overall decrease in agricultural
volumes was due to 2020 benefiting from elevated volatility related to COVID-19 and a sharp decline in oil prices,
partially offsetff by elevated volatility in late 2021 as a result of weather-related supply and demand dynamics impacting
our Coffeeff and Cotton markets as well as geopolitical events impacting our Cocoa markets.

– Sugar futures and options volumes decreased 21% in 2021 from 2020.

– Other agricultural and metal futures and options volumes were flat in 2021 as compared to 2020.

• Financial Futures and Options: Total volume increased 2% and revenues increased 10% in our financial futures and
options markets in 2021 from 2020.

– Interest rate futures and options volume and revenue increased 6% and 23% in 2021 from 2020, respectively,
driven by interest rate volatility from increased speculation of central bank activity due to post-pandemic
global economic re-opening and inflation concerns. Interest rate futures and options revenues were
$237 million and $193 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively.

– Other financial futures and options volume, which includes our MSCI®, FTSE® and NYSE FANG+ equity
index products, decreased 12% and revenue decreased 4% in 2021 from 2020. Other financial futures and
options volume decreased as 2020 benefited from elevated volatility across global equity markets driven by
the emergence of COVID-19. Other financial futures and options revenues were $157 million and $164 million
in 2021 and 2020, respectively.

• Cash Equities and Equity Options: Cash equities volume decreased 6% in 2021 from 2020 as 2020 benefited from
elevated volatility across global equity markets driven by the emergence of COVID-19. Cash equities revenues, net of
transaction-based expenses, were $246 million and $276 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively. Equity options
volume increased 40% in 2021 from 2020 driven by increased participation and higher market share. Equity options
revenues, net of transaction-based expenses, were $109 million and $101 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively.

• OTC and Other: OTC and other transactions include revenues from our OTC energy business and other trade
confirmation services, as well as interest income on certain clearing margin deposits, regulatory penalties and fines,
fees for use of our facilities, regulatory fees charged to member organizations of our U.S. securities exchanges,
designated market maker service fees, exchange membership fees and agricultural grading and certification fees. Our
OTC and other revenues increased 10% in 2021 from 2020. Following the October 2021 Bakkt transaction, Bakkt
revenues are no longer included within our OTC and other revenues.

• Data and Connectivity Services: Our data and connectivity services revenues increased 6% in 2021 from 2020. The
increase in revenue was driven by the strong retention rate of existing customers and increased purchases by existing
customers.

• Listings Revenues: Through NYSE, NYSE American and NYSE Arca, we generate listings revenue related to the
provision of listings services for public companies and ETFs, and related corporate actions for listed companies.
Listings revenues increased 7% in 2021 from 2020, driven by equity capital markets activity, including an increase in
demand for special purpose acquisition company, or SPACPP , listings.

Listings revenues in our securities markets arise from fees applicable to companies listed on our cash equities
exchanges– original listing fees and annual listing fees. Original listing fees consist of two components: initial listing
fees and fees related to corporate actions. Initial listing fees, subject to a minimum and maximum amount, are based
on the number of shares that a company initially lists. All listings fees are billed upfront and the identified performanceff
obligations are satisfied over time. Revenue related to the investor relations performanceff obligation is recognized
ratably over the period these services are provided, with the remaining revenue recognized ratably over time as
customers continue to list on our exchanges.

In addition, we earn corporate actions-related listing fees in connection with actions involving the issuance of new
shares, such as stock splits, rights issues and sales of additional securities, as well as mergers and acquisitions.
Listings fees related to other corporate actions are considered contract modifications of our listing contracts and are
recognized ratably over time as customers continue to list on our exchanges.
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In a record year for new issuance, NYSE raised $221 billion in IPOs and follow-on offeriff ngs from over 594
transactions, an increase of 20% from $185 billion raised in 2020.

Selected Operating Data

The following charts and tables present trading activity in our futures and options markets by commodity type based on
the total number of contracts traded, as well as futures and options rate per contract (in millions, except for percentages
and rate per contract amounts):
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Number of contracts traded (in millions):
Energy futures and options .............................................................. 782 773 1 % 773 669 15 %
Agricultural and metals futures and options .................................. 98 108 (10)% 108 111 (3)%
Financial futures and options .......................................................... 634 619 2 % 619 630 (2)%
Total ................................................................................................... 1,514 1,500 1 % 1,500 1,410 6 %

Year Ended
December 31,

Year Ended
December 31,

2021 2020 Change 2020 2019 Change
Average Daily Volume of contracts traded (in thousands):
Energy futures and options .............................................................. 3,103 3,054 2 % 3,054 2,655 15 %
Agricultural and metals futures and options .................................. 388 428 (9)% 428 442 (3)%
Financial futures and options .......................................................... 2,475 2,409 3 % 2,409 2,460 (2)%
Total ................................................................................................... 5,966 5,891 1 % 5,891 5,557 6 %

Year Ended
December 31,

Year Ended
December 31,

Rate per contract: 2021 2020 Change 2020 2019 Change
Energy futures and options............................................................... $ 1.58 $ 1.45 9 % $ 1.45 $ 1.48 (2)%
Agricultural and metals futures and options................................... $ 2.34 $ 2.27 3 % $ 2.27 $ 2.25 1 %
Financial futures and options ........................................................... $ 0.61 $ 0.57 7 % $ 0.57 $ 0.52 10 %

Year Ended
December 31,

Year Ended
December 31,
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Open interest is the aggregate number of contracts (long or short) that clearing members hold either for their own account
or on behalf of their clients. Open interest refers to the total number of contracts that are currently “open,” – in other
words, contracts that have been entered into but not yet liquidated by either an offsettff ing trade, exercise, expiration or
assignment. Open interest is also a measure of the future activity remaining to be closed out in terms of the number of
contracts that members and their clients continue to hold in the particular contract and by the number of contracts held for
each contract month listed by the exchange. The following charts and table present our year-end open interest for our
futures and options contracts (in thousands, except for percentages):
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Open interest — in thousands of contracts:
Energy futures and options ...................................... 40,317 40,073 1 % 40,073 37,433 7 %
Agricultural and metals futures and options ........... 3,763 3,608 4 % 3,608 3,836 (6)%
Financial futures and options .................................. 23,942 27,535 (13)% 27,535 29,369 (6)%
Total ........................................................................... 68,022 71,216 (4)% 71,216 70,638 1 %

As of December 31, As of December 31,
2021 2020 Change 2020 2019 Change

The following charts and tables present selected cash and equity options trading data. All trading volume below is
presented as average net daily trading volume, or ADV, aV nd is single counted:
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NYSE cash equities (shares in millions):q ( )
Total cash handled volume......................................... 2,317 2,466 (6)% 2,466 1,740 42 %
Total cash market share matched ............................. 19.9 % 22.1 % (2.3) pts 22.1 % 24.2 % (2.1) pts

NYSE equity options (contracts in thousands):q y p ( )
NYSE equity options volume...................................... 7,162 5,101 40 % 5,101 3,172 61 %
Total equity options volume ........................................ 37,170 27,685 34 % 27,685 17,542 58 %
NYSE share of total equity options ......................... 19.3 % 18.4 % 0.8 pts 18.4 % 18.1 % 0.3 pts

Revenue capture or rate per contract:p p
Cash equities rate per contract (per 100 shares) ... $0.042 $0.044 (5)% $0.044 $0.046 (4)%
Equity options rate per contract................................. $0.06 $0.08 (23)% $0.08 $0.12 (34)%

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 Change 2020 2019 Change

Handled volume represents the total number of shares of equity securities, ETFs and crossing session activity internally
matched on our exchanges or routed to and executed on an external market center. Matched volume represents the total
number of shares of equity securities, ETFs and crossing session activity executed on our exchanges.

Transaction-Based Expenses

Our equities and equity options markets pay fees to the SEC pursuant to Section 31 of the Exchange Act. Section 31 fees
are recorded on a gross basis as a component of transaction and clearing fee revenue. These Section 31 fees are
assessed to recover the government’s costs of supervising and regulating the securities markets and professionals and
are subject to change. We, in turn, collect corresponding activity assessment fees from member organizations clearing or
settling trades on the equities and options exchanges, and recognize these amounts in our transaction and clearing
revenues when invoiced. The activity assessment fees are designed to equal the Section 31 fees. As a result, activity
assessment fees and the corresponding Section 31 fees do not have an impact on our net income, although the timing of
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payment by us will vary from collections. Section 31 fees were $248 million and $622 million in 2021 and 2020,
respectively. The decrease in Section 31 fees was primarily related to a decline in rates, which were revised in February of
both years. The fees we collect are included in cash at the time of receipt and we remit the amounts to the SEC semi-
annually as required. The total amount is included in accrued liabilities and was $57 million as of December 31, 2021.

We make liquidity payments to cash and options trading customers, as well as routing charges made to other exchanges
which are included in transaction-based expenses. We incur routing charges when we do not have the best bid or offerff in
the market for a security that a customer is trying to buy or sell on one of our securities exchanges. In that case, we route
the customer’s order to the external market center that displays the best bid or offerff . The external market center charges
us a fee per share (denominated in tenths of a cent per share) for routing to its system. We record routing charges on a
gross basis as a component of transaction and clearing fee revenue. Cash liquidity payments, routing and clearing fees
were $1.8 billion and $1.6 billion in 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Operating Expenses, Operating Income and Operating Margin

The following chart summarizes our Exchanges segment's operating expenses, operating income and operating margin
(dollars in millions). See “- Consolidated Operating Expenses” below for a discussion of the significant changes in our
operating expenses.

Operating expenses .............................................................. $1,333 $1,242 7 % $1,242 $1,140 9 %
Adjusted operating expenses(1) .......................................... $1,201 $1,145 5 % $1,145 $1,041 10 %

Operating income ................................................................. $2,523 $2,389 6 % $2,389 $2,167 10 %
Adjusted operating income(1)............................................... $2,655 $2,486 7 % $2,486 $2,266 10 %

Operating margin .................................................................. 65 % 66 % (1 pt) 66 % 66 % —
Adjusted operating margin(1) ............................................... 69 % 68 % 1 pt 68 % 69 % (1 pt)

Exchanges Segment:
Year Ended
December 31,

Year Ended
December 31,

2021 2020 Change 2020 2019 Change

(1) The adjusted figures exclude items that are not reflective of our ongoing core operations and business perforr rmance. These adjusted numbers are not
calculated in accordance with GAAP. See “- Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below.
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Fixed Income and Data Services Segment

The following charts and table present our selected statements of income data forff our Fixed Income and Data Services
segment (dollars in millions):
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(1) The adjusted figures in the charts above are calculated by excluding items that are not reflective of our cash operations and core business
performance. As a result, these adjusted numbers are not calculated in accordance with U.S. GAAP. See “- Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below.
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Revenues:
Fixed income execution............................. $ 52 $ 70 (25)% $ 70 $ 83 (16)%
CDS clearing ............................................... 192 208 (8) 208 214 (2)
Fixed income data and analytics.............. 1,082 1,018 6 1,018 969 5

Fixed income and credit ...................................... 1,326 1,296 2 1,296 1,266 2
Other data and network services ....................... 557 514 8 514 490 5
Revenues.................................................................. 1,883 1,810 4 1,810 1,756 3
Other operating expenses................................... 1,012 967 5 967 939 3
Acquisition-related transaction and integration
costs ................................................................. 1 — 195 — — (10)

Depreciation and amortization............................ 341 351 (3) 351 378 (7)
Operating expenses ................................................. 1,354 1,318 3 1,318 1,317 —
Operating income ..................................................... $ 529 $ 492 7 % $ 492 $ 439 12 %

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 Change 2020 2019 Change

Our Fixed Income and Data Services segment represents fixed income and credit trading and clearing as well as
subscription-based, or recurring, revenues related to our fixed income data and analytics offeringsff as well as other multi-
asset class data and network services.

In both 2021 and 2020, 14% of our Fixed Income and Data Services segment revenues were billed in pounds sterling or
euros. As the pound sterling or euro exchange rate changes, the U.S. equivalent of revenues denominated in foreign
currencies changes accordingly. Due to the fluctuations of the pound sterling and euro compared to the U.S. dollar during
2021, our Fixed Income and Data Services revenues were higher by $14 million in 2021 than in 2020.

Fixed Income and Data Services Revenues

Our Fixed Income and Data Services revenues increased 4% in 2021 from 2020 primarily due to growth in our fixed
income data and analytics products and our other data and network services.

• Fixed Income Execution: Fixed income execution includes revenues from ICE Bonds. Execution fees are reported
net of rebates, which were nominal in 2021, 2020 and 2019. Our fixed income execution revenues decreased 25% in
2021 from 2020. The decrease in revenue was due to 2020 benefiting from price volatility related to COVID-19, as
well as decreased retail activity, particularly in municipal and corporate bonds, as a result of low interest rates.

• CDS Clearing: CDS clearing revenues decreased 8% in 2021 from 2020. The notional value of CDS cleared was
$17.0 trillion and $17.9 trillion in 2021 and 2020, respectively. Elevated volatility in 2020 related to COVID-19
benefited 2020 revenues, with volatility and cleared volumes generally returning to more normal levels late in 2021.

• Fixed Income Data and Analytics: Our fixed income data and analytics revenues increased 6% in 2021 from 2020.
The increase in revenue was due to strength in our index business and continued growth in our pricing and reference
data business driven by the strong retention rate of existing customers, the addition of new customers, and increased
purchases by existing customers.

• Other Data and Network Services: Our other data and network services revenues increased 8% in 2021 from 2020.
The increase in revenues was driven primarily by growth in our ICE Global Network offering,ff coupled with strength in
our consolidated feeds and desktop revenues.

Annual Subscription Value, or ASV, represents, at a point in time, the data services revenues, which includes Fixed
Income Data and Analytics as well as Other Data and Network Services, subscribed for the succeeding 12 months. ASV
does not include new sales, contract terminations or price changes that may occur during that 12-month period. However,
while it is an indicative forward-looking metric, it does not provide a precise growth forecastff of the next 12 months of data
services revenues.

As of December 31, 2021, ASV was $1.646 billion, which increased 4.9% compared to the ASV as of December 31, 2020.
ASV represents nearly 100% of total data services revenues for this segment. This does not adjust for year-over-year
foreign exchange fluctuations.
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Operating Expenses, Operating Income and Operating Margin

The folff lowing chart summarizes our Fixed Income and Data Services segment's operating expenses, operating income
and operating margin (dollars in millions). See “- Consolidated Operating Expenses” below for a discussion of the
significant changes in our operating expenses.

Operating expenses .............................................................. $1,354 $1,318 3 % $1,318 $1,317 — %
Adjusted operating expenses(1)........................................... $1,174 $1,119 5 % $1,119 $1,092 3 %

Operating income .................................................................. $ 529 $ 492 7 % $ 492 $ 439 12 %
Adjusted operating income(1) ............................................... $ 709 $ 691 3 % $ 691 $ 664 4 %

Operating margin .................................................................. 28 % 27 % 1 pt 27 % 25 % 2 pts
Adjusted operating margin(1)................................................ 38 % 38 % — 38 % 38 % —

Fixed Income and Data Services Segment:
Year Ended
December 31,

Year Ended
December 31,

2021 2020 Change 2020 2019 Change

(1) The adjusted figures exclude items that are not reflective of our ongoing core operations and business perforr rmance. These adjusted numbers are not
calculated in accordance with GAAP. See “- Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below.
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Mortgage Technology Segment

The following charts and table present our selected statements of income data forff our Mortgage Technology segment
(dollars in millions):
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(1) The adjusted figures in the charts above are calculated by excluding items that are not reflective of our cash operations and core business
performance. As a result, these adjusted numbers are not calculated in accordance with U.S. GAAP. See “- Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below.
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Revenues:
Origination technology ...................................................... 971 316 208 % 316 — n/a
Closing solutions ................................................................ 310 238 30 238 135 76
Data and analytics ............................................................. 73 22 226 22 — n/a
Other .................................................................................... 53 19 185 19 4 n/a
Revenues ............................................................................... 1,407 595 137 595 139 n/a
Other operating expenses ................................................ 546 215 154 215 52 n/a
Acquisition-related transaction and integration costs... 40 89 (56) 89 1 n/a
Depreciation and amortization ......................................... 424 139 205 139 19 n/a

Operating expenses .............................................................. 1,010 443 128 443 72 n/a
Operating income.................................................................. $ 397 $ 152 162 % $ 152 $ 67 124 %

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 Change 2020 2019 Change

*Percentage changes in the table above deemed "n/a" are not meaningful due to the acquisition of Ellie Mae in September 2020.

Mortgage Technology Revenues

Our mortgage technology revenues are derived from our comprehensive, end-to-end U.S. residential mortgage platform.
Our mortgage technology business enables greater workflow efficiff ency for customers focused on originating U.S.
residential mortgage loans. Mortgage technology revenues increased $812 million or 137% in 2021 from 2020. Revenues
from Ellie Mae following our September 2020 acquisition were $351 million in 2020.

• Origination technology: Our origination technology acts as a system of record for the mortgage transaction,
automating the gathering, reviewing, and verifyingff of mortgage-related informatff ion and enabling automated
enforcementff of rules and business practices designed to help ensure that each completed loan transaction is of high
quality and adheres to secondary market standards. These revenues are based on recurring Software as a Service,
or SaaS, subscription fees, with an additive transaction-based or Success-Based Pricing fee as lenders exceed the
number of loans closed that are included with their monthly base subscription.

In addition, the ICE Mortgage Technology network provides originators connectivity to the mortgage supply chain and
facilitates the secure exchange of informatff ion between our customers and a broad ecosystem of third-party service
providers, as well as lenders and investors that are critical to consummating the millions of loan transactions that
occur on our origination network each year. Revenue from the ICE Mortgage Technology network is largely
transaction-based.

• Closing solutions: Our closing solutions uniquely connect key participants, such as lenders, title and settlement
agents and individual county recorders, to digitize the traditionally manual and paper-based closing and recording
process. Our closing solutions also include revenues from the MERS database, a leading system for recording and
tracking changes in mortgage servicing rights and beneficial ownership interests in loans secured by U.S. residential
real estate. Closing solutions revenues increased in 2021 from 2020 as a result of an increase in residential home
sales, market share gains and increased demand and adoption of digital solutions. Revenues from closing solutions
are largely transaction-based.

• Data and Analytics: Revenues include those related to ICE Mortgage Technology’s Automation, Intelligence, Quality,
or AIQ, offering,ff which applies machine learning and artificial intelligence, or AI, to the entire loan origination process,
offeriff ng customers greater efficiff ency by streamlining data collection and validation through our automated document
recognition and data extraction capabilities. AIQ revenues can be both recurring and transaction-based in nature. In
addition, our data offerings include real-time industry and peer benchmarking tools, which provide originators a
granular view into the real-time trends of nearly half the U.S. residential mortgage market. We also provide a Data as
a Service, or DaaS, offering through private data clouds for lenders to access their own data and origination
informatff ion. Revenues related to our data products are largely subscription-based and recurring in nature.

• Other: Other revenues include professional services fees, as well as revenues from ancillary products. Other
revenues can be both recurring and transaction-based in nature.

The following chart summarizes our Mortgage Technology segment's operating expenses, operating income and
operating margin (dollars in millions). See “- Consolidated Operating Expenses” below for a discussion of the significant
changes in our operating expenses.
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Operating expenses .............................................................. $1,010 $ 443 128 % $ 443 $ 72 n/a
Adjusted operating expenses(1)........................................... $ 602 $ 231 160 % $ 231 $ 56 n/a

Operating income .................................................................. $ 397 $ 152 162 % $ 152 $ 67 124 %
Adjusted operating income(1) ............................................... $ 805 $ 364 122 % $ 364 $ 83 n/a

Operating margin .................................................................. 28 % 25 % 3 pts 25 % 48 % (23 pts)
Adjusted operating margin(1)................................................ 57 % 61 % (4 pts) 61 % 59 % 2 pts

Mortgage Technology Segment:
Year Ended
December 31,

Year Ended
December 31,

2021 2020 Change 2020 2019 Change

*Percentage changes in the table above deemed "n/a" are not meaningful due to the acquisition of Ellie Mae in September 2020.

(1) The adjusted figures exclude items that are not reflective of our ongoing core operations and business perforr rmance. These adjusted numbers are not
calculated in accordance with GAAP. See “- Non-GAAP Financial Measures”
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Consolidated Operating Expenses
The following presents our consolidated operating expenses (dollars in millions):
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2021 2020 Change 2020 2019 Change
Compensation and benefits ................................................. $ 1,462 $ 1,188 23 % $ 1,188 $ 1,042 14 %
Professional services ............................................................ 159 144 10 144 125 15
Acquisition-related transaction and integration costs ...... 102 105 (3) 105 2 n/a
Technology and communication .......................................... 666 549 21 549 469 17
Rent and occupancy ............................................................. 84 81 3 81 68 19
Selling, general and administrative ..................................... 215 185 16 185 161 15
Depreciation and amortization ............................................. 1,009 751 34 751 662 13
Total operating expenses ..................................................... $ 3,697 $ 3,003 23 % $ 3,003 $ 2,529 19 %

Year Ended
December 31,

Year Ended
December 31,

*Percentage changes in the table above deemed "n/a" are not meaningful.

The majority of our operating expenses do not vary directly with changes in our volume and revenues, except for
certain technology and communication expenses, including data acquisition costs, licensing and other fee-related
arrangements and a portion of our compensation expense that is tied directly to our data sales or overall financial
performance.ff

We expect our operating expenses to increase in absolute terms in future periods in connection with the growth of our
business, and to vary from year-to-year based on the type and level of our acquisitions, our integrations and other
investments.

In 2021 and 2020, 10% and 11%, respectively, of our operating expenses were incurred in pounds sterling or euros.
Due to fluctuations in the U.S. dollar compared to the pound sterling and euro, our consolidated operating expenses
were $22 million higher in 2021 than in 2020. See Item 7(A) “- Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market
Risk - Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk” below for additional informatff ion.

Compensation and Benefits Expenses

Compensation and benefits expense is our most significant operating expense and includes non-capitalized employee
wages, bonuses, non-cash or stock compensation, certain severance costs, benefits and employer taxes. The bonus
component of our compensation and benefits expense is based on both our financial performanceff and individual
employee performance.ff The performance-baseff d restricted stock compensation expense is also based on our financial
performance.ff Therefore,ff our compensation and benefits expense will vary year-to-year based on our financial
performanceff and fluctuations in our number of employees. The below chart summarizes the significant drivers of our
compensation and benefits expense results forff the periods presented (dollars in millions, except employee headcount).

Employee headcount ................................................................................................... 8,858 8,890 — %
Stock-based compensation expenses....................................................................... $ 155 $ 127 22 %

Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020 Change

Employee headcount decreased in 2021 from 2020 primarily due to the deconsolidation of Bakkt, which was partially
offsetff by increased hiring in 2021. Ellie Mae compensation and benefits expense was $174 million higher in 2021 than
in 2020 due to our September 2020 acquisition. Bakkt compensation and benefits expense was $16 million higher in
2021 than in 2020 due to increases in employee headcount prior to deconsolidating Bakkt. In addition, compensation
and benefits expense increased $67 million in 2021 from 2020 due to merit pay increases, above target performance-ff
based compensation and higher employee insurance costs than in 2020 due to the impact of COVID-19. The stock-
based compensation expenses in the table above relate to employee stock option and restricted stock awards.

Professional Services Expenses

Professional services expense includes fees forff consulting services received on strategic and technology initiatives,
temporary labor, as well as regulatory, legal and accounting fees, and may fluctuate as a result of changes in our use
of these services in our business.
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Professional services expenses increased in 2021 from 2020 primarily due to an increase of $26 million from Ellie Mae
which was partially offsetff by lower legal expenses for 2021.

Acquisition-Related Transaction and Integration Costs

In 2021, we incurred $59 million in acquisition-related transaction costs related to the deconsolidation of Bakkt, which
included $31 million non-cash compensation related to a market condition event triggered on the Bakkt equity incentive
awards in connection with the merger of Bakkt and VIH. Additionally, we incurred $39 million in integration costs related
to Ellie Mae.

We expect to continue to explore and pursue various potential acquisitions and other strategic opportunities to
strengthen our competitive position and support our growth. As a result, we may incur acquisition-related transaction
costs in future periods.

Technology and Communication Expenses

Technology support services consist of costs for running our wholly-owned data centers, hosting costs paid to third-
party data centers, and maintenance of our computer hardware and software required to support our technology and
cybersecurity. These costs are driven by system capacity, functionality and redundancy requirements. Communication
expenses consist of costs for network connections for our electronic platforms and telecommunications costs.

Technology and communications expense also includes fees paid for access to external market data, licensing and
other fee agreement expenses. Technology and communications expenses may be impacted by growth in electronic
contract volume, our capacity requirements, changes in the number of telecommunications hubs and connections with
customers to access our electronic platforms directly.

Technology and communications expenses increased by $117 million in 2021 from 2020, primarily due to the inclusion
of Ellie Mae expenses, which were $87 million higher in 2021 than in 2020. In addition, technology and
communications expenses increased by $24 million in 2021 from 2020 due to increased license fees and data
acquisition costs.

Rent and Occupancy Expenses

Rent and occupancy expense relates to leased and owned property and includes rent, maintenance, real estate taxes,
utilities and other related costs. We have significant operations located in the U.S., U.K., and India, with smaller officesff
located throughout the world.

Rent and occupancy expenses includes the expenses of Ellie Mae, which increased $6 million in 2021 from 2020.
These expenses were partially offsetff by a reduction in other occupancy expenses in 2021 and the early termination of
our NYSE Chicago officeff lease in 2020. See Item 2 “- Properties” above for additional informatff ion regarding our leased
and owned property.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses include marketing, advertising, public relations, insurance, bank service
charges, dues and subscriptions, travel and entertainment, non-income taxes and other general and administrative
costs.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased in 2021 from 2020, primarily due to the inclusion of $13 million
of Ellie Mae expenses and $12 million of Bakkt expenses related to the launch of Bakkt's digital wallet, Bakkt App. In
addition, marketing expenses increased $19 million in 2021 from 2020 primarily due to a higher number of NYSE initial
public offerings,ff or IPOs, which were partially offsetff by a charitable contribution in support of COVID-19 relief effortsff of
$10 million and an $8 million regulatory settlement accrual in 2020.

Depreciation and Amortization Expenses

Depreciation and amortization expense results from depreciation of long-lived assets such as buildings, leasehold
improvements, aircraft,ff hardware and networking equipment, software, furniture, fixtures and equipment over their
estimated useful lives. This expense includes amortization of intangible assets obtained in our acquisitions of
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businesses, as well as on various licensing agreements, over their estimated useful lives. Intangible assets subject to
amortization consist primarily of customer relationships, trading products with finite lives and technology. This expense
also includes amortization of internally-developed and purchased software over its estimated useful life.

We recorded amortization expenses on intangible assets acquired as part of our acquisitions, as well as on other
intangible assets, of $622 million and $388 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively. The increase in 2021 over 2020
was primarily due to an increase in the amortization of Ellie Mae intangible assets of $246 million.

We recorded depreciation expenses on our fixed assets of $387 million and $363 million in 2021 and 2020,
respectively. The increase in 2021 over 2020 was primarily due to an increase in the depreciation of Ellie Mae fixed
assets of $31 million, partially offsetff by a software impairment charge of $11 million in 2020 related to a portion of
customized software developed at Bakkt that was no longer useful.
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Consolidated Non-Operating Income (Expense)
Income and expenses incurred through activities outside of our core operations are considered non-operating. The
following tables present our non-operating income (expenses) (dollars in millions):

Other income (expense):
Interest income ..................................................................... $ 1 $ 10 (93)% $ 10 $ 35 (71)%
Interest expense ................................................................ (423) (357) 19 (357) (285) 25
Other income, net ............................................................. 2,671 80 n/a 80 58 38

Total other income (expense), net ........................................ $ 2,249 $ (267) n/a $ (267) $ (192) 39 %

Net income attributable to non-controlling interest ............ $ (11) $ (19) (44)% $ (19) $ (27) (27)%

Year Ended
December 31,

Year Ended
December 31,

2021 2020 Change 2020 2019 Change

( )( ) ( )( ) ( )( )

( )( ) ( )( ) ( )( ) ( )( ) ( )( ) ( )( )

Interest Income

Interest income decreased in 2021 from 2020 primarily due to a decrease in short-term interest rates on various
investments.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased in 2021 from 2020 primarily due to the issuance of senior notes in May 2020 to refinance
existing debt, the issuance of senior notes in August 2020 related to the Ellie Mae acquisition, and $4 million in
accelerated unamortized costs related to the early redemption in September 2021 of the floating rate notes due June
2023, partially offsetff by a $14 million extinguishment payment we incurred related to the June 2020 early redemption of
senior notes with an original maturity of December 1, 2020, or the December 2020 Senior Notes, and $5 million pre-
acquisition interest expense on debt issued for Ellie Mae acquisition. See “- Debt” below.

Other income (expense), net

During 2021, Bakkt completed its merger with VIH, which resulted in an initial 68% economic interest, and we recorded a
gain of $1.4 billion as other income upon our deconsolidation of Bakkt. Following the merger, we show our economic
interest share of estimated Bakkt profits/(losses) as equity earnings, which are also included in other income (expense),
net. We recorded other expense of ($92 million) related to our Bakkt investment for the post-merger period during 2021.

During 2021, Coinbase completed an IPO and we sold our investment in Coinbase for $1.2 billion, and recorded a gain of
$1.2 billion as other income.

During 2021, we recorded a gain of $7 million related to the settlement of an acquisition-related indemnification claim from
a prior acquisition as other income. In addition, we accrued approximately $16 million related to a legal settlement. In
2020, we recorded an accrual for potential legal settlements of $30 million as other income.

We own a 40% interest in the Options Clearing Corporation, or OCC, which we treat as an equity method investment.
OCC is regulated by the SEC and the CFTC. We recognized $51 million and $71 million of equity earnings as our share of
OCC's estimated profits during 2021 and 2020, respectively, which is included in other income. Refer to Note 4 to our
consolidated financial statements, included in this Annual Report for additional details on our OCC investment.

In connection with our equity investment in Euroclear, we recognized dividend income of $60 million in 2021 and $19
million in 2019, included in other income. As a result of a 2020 European regulation limiting dividend payments, we did not
receive a Euroclear dividend in 2020, but we received two dividend payments during 2021. In addition, in both September
2021 and in November 2020 we became aware of observable price changes in orderly transactions of similar Euroclear
investments by third parties. The transactions resulted in fair value adjustments of our Euroclear investment, and we
recorded gains of $34 million and $35 million in other income in 2021 and 2020, respectively, including the impacts of
foreign currency exchange.

We historically held a 9% ownership interest in BIDS, a registered broker-dealer and the operator of the BIDS Alternative
Trading System. In December 2020, we sold our investment in BIDS to Cboe and recorded a gain on the sale of
$20 million, included in other income.
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We incurred foreign currency transaction losses of $13 million and $5 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively. This was
primarily attributable to the fluctuations of the pound sterling and euro relative to the U.S. dollar. Foreign currency
transaction gains and losses are recorded in other income (expense), net, when the settlement of foreign currency assets,
liabilities and payables occur in non-functional currencies and there is an increase or decrease in the period-end foreign
currency exchange rates between periods. See Item 7A “- Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk -
Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk” included elsewhere in this Annual Report for more informatff ion on these items.

In connection with our adoption of Accounting Standards Update, or ASU, 2017-07, Compensationtt Retirementtt Benefits:ff
Improving the Presentatitt on of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirementtt Benefitff Cost, or ASU 2017-07,
we are recognizing the other components of net benefit cost of our defined benefit plans in the income statement as non-
operating income on a full retrospective basis. The combined net periodic expense of these plans was $3 million and $6
million in 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Non-controlling Interest

For consolidated subsidiaries in which our ownership is less than 100%, and for which we have control over the assets,
liabilities and management of the entity, the outside stockholders’ interests are shown as non-controlling interests. As of
December 31, 2021, our non-controlling interests include those related to the non-ICE limited partners' interest in our CDS
clearing subsidiaries and non-controlling interest in ICE Futures Abu Dhabi. Prior to completion of the Bakkt transaction on
October 15, 2021, our non-controlling interest also included the redeemable non-controlling interest of the non-ICE
partners in Bakkt, as discussed further below.

The non-ICE limited partners of our CDS clearing subsidiaries hold a 26.7% ownership interest as of December 31, 2021.
In addition, during 2020 we received a contribution from a group of minority investors for a non-controlling interest in ICE
Futures Abu Dhabi.

As of December 31, 2020, minority interests related to Bakkt were reflected as redeemable non-controlling interests in
temporary equity within our consolidated balance sheet. On October 15, 2021, Bakkt completed its merger with VIH and
as of December 31, 2021, we no longer hold redeemable non-controlling interest related to Bakkt. Refer to Note 3 to our
consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Consolidated Income Tax Provision
Consolidated income tax expense was $1.6 billion and $658 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively. The change in
consolidated income tax expense between years is primarily due to the tax impact of changes in our pre-tax income and
the changes in our effectff ive tax rate. The consolidated income tax expense for 2021 was elevated due to the tax expense
associated with the gains resulting from our Coinbase and Bakkt transactions.

Our effectff ive tax rate was 29% and 24% in 2021 and 2020, respectively. The effectiff ve tax rate for 2021 is higher than the
effectff ive tax rate for 2020 primarily due to the deferred income tax impacts from the U.K. tax law changes as well as the
Bakkt transaction. In June 2021, the U.K. enacted a corporate income tax rate increase from 19% to 25% effectiff ve April 1,
2023.

On March 27, 2020, the CARES Act was enacted and certain income tax related relief was provided under the CARES
Act. On March 11, 2021, the American Rescue Plan Act, or ARPA,PP was signed into law. The ARPAPP enacted certain
provisions that are relevant to corporate income tax. On November 15, 2021, the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act
was signed into law. These provisions did not have a material impact on our income tax provision for 2021 or 2020.

See Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements and related notes, which are included in this Annual Report, for
additional informatff ion on these tax items.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Below are charts that reflect our outstanding debt and capital allocation. The acquisition and integration costs in the chart
below include cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash received for divestitures, cash paid for equity and equity method
investments, cash paid for non-controlling interest and redeemable non-controlling interest, and acquisition-related
transaction and integration costs, in each year.
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We have financed our operations, growth and cash needs primarily through income from operations and borrowings under
our various debt facilities. Our principal capital requirements have been to fund capital expenditures, working capital,
strategic acquisitions and investments, stock repurchases, dividends and the development of our technology platforms.
We believe that our cash on hand and cash flows from operations will be suffiff cient to repay our outstanding debt, but we
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may also need to incur additional debt or issue additional equity securities in the future. See “- Future Capital
Requirements” below.

See “- Cash Flow” below for a discussion of our capital expenditures and capitalized software development costs.

Consolidated cash and cash equivalents were $607 million and $583 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively. We had $1.4 billion in short-term and long-term restricted cash and cash equivalents as of both
December 31, 2021 and 2020. We had $145.9 billion and $81.6 billion of cash and cash equivalent margin deposits and
guaranty funds as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

As of December 31, 2021, the amount of unrestricted cash held by our non-U.S. subsidiaries was $400 million. Due to
U.S. tax reform, the majority of our foreign earnings since January 1, 2018 have been subject to immediate U.S. income
taxation, and the existing non-U.S. unrestricted cash balance can be distributed to the U.S. in the future with no material
additional income tax consequences.

Our cash and cash equivalents and financial investments are managed as a global treasury portfolio of non-speculative
financial instruments that are readily convertible into cash, such as overnight deposits, term deposits, money market
funds, mutual funds for treasury investments, short duration fixed income investments and other money market
instruments, thus ensuring high liquidity of financial assets. We may invest a portion of our cash in excess of short-term
operating needs in investment-grade marketable debt securities, including government or government-sponsored
agencies and corporate debt securities. As of December 31, 2021, we held $13 million of unrestricted cash that was set
aside for legal, regulatory and surveillance operations at NYSE.

Cash Flow
The following table presents the major components of net changes in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash and
cash equivalents (in millions):

2021 2020 2019
Net cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities........................................................................................................................ $ 3,123 $ 2,881 $ 2,659
Investing activities ......................................................................................................................... (786) (10,361) (1,740)
Financing activities........................................................................................................................ 62,026 26,000 (424)
Effectff of exchange rate changes ............................................................................................. (6) 8 4
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, and cash
and cash equivalent margin deposits and guaranty funds ................................................. $ 64,357 $ 18,528 $ 499

Year Ended December 31,

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities primarily consists of net income adjusted for certain items, including depreciation
and amortization, deferred taxes, stock based compensation and the effectff s of changes in working capital.

The $242 million increase in net cash provided by operating activities in 2021 from 2020 was driven by an increase of
accounts receivable collections of $144 million, primarily due to a prior period COVID-19-related decision to allow
customers to defer payment of their 2020 listings invoices. In addition, operating cash increased due to a $2.0 billion
increase in net income, adjusted for depreciation and amortization, deferred taxes, the gain from the sale of our Coinbase
investment, net of taxes, of $892 million, and the gain from the deconsolidation of Bakkt, of $1.4 billion. These increases
were partially offsetff by a decrease in Section 31 fee collections of $219 million, primarily due to lower rates, which were
revised in February of each year. The remaining change is due to fluctuations in our working capital and the timing of
various payments such as transaction-related expenses and taxes payable on the sale of our Coinbase investment.

Investing Activities

Consolidated net cash used in investing activities in 2021 primarily relates to $5.1 billion purchases of invested margin
deposits, $179 million of capitalized expenditures, $273 million of software development costs, $117 million for the
purchase of an equity method investment and $66 million cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired, partially offsetff
by $3.7 billion of proceeds from the sale of invested margin deposits and $1.2 billion in proceeds from the sale of our
Coinbase investment. Consolidated net cash used in investing activities in 2020 relates to $9.4 billion cash paid for
acquisitions, primarily Ellie Mae, net of cash acquired, $3.4 billion purchases of invested margin deposits, $207 million of
capitalized expenditures and $203 million of software development costs, partially offsetff by $2.8 billion proceeds from the
sale of invested margin deposits.
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The capital expenditures primarily relate to hardware and software purchases to continue the development and expansion
of our electronic platforms, data services and clearing houses and leasehold improvements. The software development
expenditures primarily relate to the development and expansion of our electronic trading platforff ms, data services,
mortgage services and clearing houses.

Financing Activities

Consolidated net cash provided by financing activities in 2021 primarily relates to an increase in our cash and cash
equivalent margin deposits and guaranty fund balances of $65.7 billion, partially offsetff by $1.2 billion in repayments of
debt facilities, $1.4 billion in net repayments under our Commercial Paper Program, $250 million in repurchases of
common stock, $747 million in dividend payments to our stockholders and $70 million in cash payments related to
treasury shares received for restricted stock tax payments and stock options exercises.

Consolidated net cash provided by financing activities in 2020 primarily relates to an increase in our cash and cash
equivalent margin deposits and guaranty fund balances of $19.3 billion, $9.6 billion in net proceeds from the issuance of
the May 2020 Notes and the August 2020 Notes, borrowings under a term loan facility and $1.1 billion in net issuances
under our Commercial Paper Program. Cash provided by financing activities was partially offsetff by repayments of our
$1.25 billion December 2020 Senior Notes, and the early payoffff of the term loan mentioned above, $1.2 billion in
repurchases of common stock, $669 million in dividend payments to stockholders and $74 million in cash payments
related to treasury shares received for restricted stock tax payments and stock options exercises.

We have adjusted our historical presentation of opening and ending amounts of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted
cash and cash equivalents in our consolidated statements of cash flows to include cash and cash equivalent margin
deposits and guaranty funds. Changes in these balances are reflected as cash provided by/(used in) financing activities.

See Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements, included in this Annual Report.

Debt
As of December 31, 2021, we had $13.9 billion in outstanding debt, consisting of $12.9 billion of fixed rate senior notes,
$1.0 billion under our U.S. dollar commercial paper program, or the Commercial Paper Program and $10 million under
credit lines at our ICE India subsidiaries. Our fixed rate senior notes of $12.9 billion have a weighted average maturity of
15 years and a weighted average cost of 2.9% per annum. The commercial paper notes had original maturities ranging
from three to 73 days as of December 31, 2021, with a weighted average interest rate of 0.33% per annum, and a
weighted average remaining maturity of 26 days.

As of December 31, 2020, we had $16.5 billion in outstanding debt, consisting of $12.9 billion of fixed rate senior notes,
$1.2 billion of floating rate senior notes, $2.4 billion under the Commercial Paper Program and $6 million under credit lines
at our ICE India subsidiaries. Our fixed rate senior notes of $12.9 billion had a weighted average maturity of 16 years and
a weighted average cost of 3.0% per annum. The commercial paper notes had original maturities ranging from four to 266
days as of December 31, 2020, with a weighted average interest rate of 0.40% per annum, and a weighted average
remaining maturity of 82 days.

In September 2021, we used the proceeds from commercial paper issuances and cash on hand to fund the redemption of
$1.25 billion aggregate principal amount of senior floating rate notes due in June 2023, or the Floating Rate Notes. We
delivered a notice of redemption of the Floating Rate Notes to Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee, under
the indenture governing the Floating Rate Notes, which was delivered to the holders of the Floating Rate Notes on
September 17, 2021, and they were subsequently redeemed on September 27, 2021. In connection with this redemption,
we recorded $4 million in accelerated unamortized deferred loan costs, which are included in interest expense in our
consolidated statements of income for 2021.

We have a $3.8 billion senior unsecured revolving credit facility, or the Credit Facility, pursuant to a credit agreement with
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as primary administrative agent, issuing lender and swing-line lender, Bank of America, N.A., as
syndication agent, backup administrative agent and swing-line lender, and the lenders party thereto. As of December 31,
2021, of the $3.8 billion that is currently available for borrowing under the Credit Facility, $1.0 billion is required to back-
stop the amount outstanding under our Commercial Paper Program and $171 million is required to support certain broker-
dealer and other subsidiary commitments. The amount required to backstop the amounts outstanding under the
Commercial Paper Program will fluctuate as we increase or decrease our commercial paper borrowings. The remaining
$2.6 billion is available for working capital and general corporate purposes, including, but not limited to, acting as a
backstop to future increases in the amounts outstanding under the Commercial Paper Program. On October 15, 2021, we
agreed with the lenders to extend the maturity date of the Credit Facility to October 15, 2026, among other items.
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On August 21, 2020, we entered into a $750 million 18-month senior unsecured delayed draw term loan facility with a
maturity date of February 21, 2022. We borrowed in full under the facility on September 3, 2020 and the proceeds were
used to fund a portion of the purchase price for the Ellie Mae acquisition. We had the option to prepay the facility in whole
or in part at any time and paid offff the full balance of the loan on December 16, 2020. Interest on borrowings under this
term loan facility were based on the principal amount outstanding at LIBOR plus an applicable margin, which was equal to
1.125%.

On August 20, 2020, we issued $6.5 billion in aggregate principal amount of new senior notes, comprised of $1.25 billion
in aggregate principal amount of floating rate senior notes due in 2023, $1.0 billion in aggregate principal amount of 0.70%
senior notes due in 2023, $1.5 billion in aggregate principal amount of 1.85% senior notes due in 2032, $1.25 billion in
aggregate principal amount of 2.65% senior notes due in 2040, and $1.5 billion in aggregate principal amount of 3.00%
senior notes due in 2060. We used the net proceeds from the offeringff to fund a portion of the purchase price for the Ellie
Mae acquisition.

On May 26, 2020, we issued $2.5 billion in aggregate principal amount of new senior notes, comprised of $1.25 billion in
aggregate principal amount of 2.10% senior notes due in 2030 and $1.25 billion in aggregate principal amount of 3.00%
senior notes due in 2050. We used the net proceeds from the offeringff for general corporate purposes, including to fund
the redemption of our $1.25 billion aggregate principal amount of 2.75% senior notes due in December 2020 and to pay
down a portion of our commercial paper outstanding.

Our Commercial Paper Program enables us to borrow efficientff ly at reasonable short-term interest rates and provides us
with the flexibility to de-lever using our strong annual cash flows from operating activities whenever our leverage becomes
elevated as a result of investment or acquisition activities. We had net repayments of $1.4 billion under our Commercial
Paper Program during 2021. We used $1.2 billion of proceeds received from the sale of our Coinbase investment to pay
down the balance under our Commercial Paper Program.

Upon maturity of our commercial paper and to the extent old issuances are not repaid by cash on hand, we are exposed
to the rollover risk of not being able to issue new commercial paper. To mitigate this risk, we maintain the Credit Facility for
an aggregate amount which meets or exceeds the amount issued under our Commercial Paper Program at any time. If we
were not able to issue new commercial paper, we have the option of drawing on the backstop revolving facility. However,
electing to do so would result in higher interest expense.

For additional details of our debt instruments, refer to Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements, included in this
Annual Report.

Capital Return
In December 2019, our Board approved an aggregate of $2.4 billion for future repurchases of our common stock with no
fixed expiration date that became effectff ive January 1, 2020.

During 2021, we repurchased 1.8 million shares of our outstanding common stock at a cost of $250 million on the open
market. During 2020, we repurchased 13.6 million shares of our outstanding common stock at a cost of $1.2 billion,
including 10.4 million shares at a cost of $948 million under our Rule 10b5-1 trading plan and 3.2 million shares at a cost
of $299 million on the open market. Shares repurchased are held in treasury stock.

We discontinued stock repurchases and terminated our Rule 10b5-1 trading plan in August 2020 in connection with our
Ellie Mae acquisition and in November 2021, we resumed repurchases. The remaining balance of Board approved funds
for future repurchases as of December 31, 2021 was $903 million. In December 2021, our Board approved an aggregate
of $3.15 billion for future repurchases of our common stock with no fixed expiration date that became effectiff ve January 1,
2022. The $3.15 billion replaces the previous amount approved by the Board. In December 2021 we entered into a new
Rule 10b5-1 trading plan that will become effectiff ve in February 2022. We may discontinue stock repurchases at any time
and may amend or terminate a Rule 10b5-1 trading plan at any time. The approval of our Board for the stock repurchases
does not obligate us to acquire any particular amount of our common stock. In addition, our Board may increase or
decrease the amount available for repurchases from time to time.

From time to time, we enter into Rule 10b5-1 trading plans, as authorized by our Board, to govern some or all of the
repurchases of our shares of common stock. We expect funding for any stock repurchases to come from our operating
cash flow or borrowings under our Commercial Paper Program or our debt facilities. The timing and extent of future
repurchases that are not made pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 trading plan will be at our discretion and will depend upon many
conditions. In making a determination regarding any stock repurchases, management considers multiple factors, including
overall stock market conditions, our common stock price performance,ff the remaining amount authorized for repurchases
by our Board, the potential impact of a stock repurchase program on our corporate debt ratings, our expected free cash
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flow and working capital needs, our current and future planned strategic growth initiatives, and other potential uses of our
cash and capital resources.

During 2021, we paid cash dividends of $1.32 per share of our common stock in the aggregate, including quarterly
dividends of $0.33 per share, for an aggregate payout of $747 million, which includes the payment of dividend equivalents
on unvested employee restricted stock units. Refer to Note 12 to our consolidated financial statements included in this
Annual Report, for details on the amounts of our quarterly dividend payouts for the last three years.

Future Capital Requirements

Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including the rate of growth across our segments, strategic
plans and acquisitions, available sources for financing activities, required and discretionary technology and clearing
initiatives, regulatory requirements, the timing and introduction of new products and enhancements to existing products,
the geographic mix of our business and potential stock repurchases.

We currently expect to incur capital expenditures (including operational and real estate capital expenditures) and to incur
software development costs that are eligible for capitalization ranging in the aggregate between $490 million and
$520 million in 2022, which we believe will support the enhancement of our technology, business integration and the
continued growth of our businesses.

As of December 31, 2021, we had $903 million authorized for future repurchases of our common stock. Refer to Note 12
to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report for additional details on our stock repurchase
program.

Our Board has adopted a quarterly dividend policy providing that dividends will be approved quarterly by the Board or the
Audit Committee taking into account factors such as our evolving business model, prevailing business conditions, our
current and future planned strategic growth initiatives and our financial results and capital requirements, without a
predetermined net income payout ratio. For the first quarter of 2022, we announced a $0.38 per share dividend payable
on March 31, 2022 to stockholders of record as of March 17, 2022.

Other than the facilities for the ICE Clearing Houses, our Credit Facility and our Commercial Paper Program are currently
the only significant agreements or arrangements that we have for liquidity and capital resources with third parties. See
Notes 10 and 14 to our consolidated financial statements for further discussion. In the event of any strategic acquisitions,
mergers or investments, or if we are required to raise capital for any reason or desire to return capital to our stockholders,
we may incur additional debt, issue additional equity to raise necessary funds, repurchase additional shares of our
common stock or pay a dividend. However, we cannot provide assurance that such financing or transactions will be
available or successful, or that the terms of such financing or transactions will be favorable to us. See “-Risk Factors" and
Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements, included in this Annual Report.

Non-GAAP Measures
We use certain financial measures internally to evaluate our performanceff and make financial and operational decisions
that are presented in a manner that adjusts from their equivalent GAAPAA measures or that supplement the informatff ion
provided by our GAAPAA measures. We use these adjusted results because we believe they more clearly highlight trends in
our business that may not otherwise be apparent when relying solely on GAAPAA financial measures, since these measures
eliminate from our results specific financial items that have less bearing on our core operating performance.ff

We use these measures in communicating certain aspects of our results and performance,ff including in this Annual Report,
and believe that these measures, when viewed in conjunction with our GAAPAA results and the accompanying reconciliation,
can provide investors with greater transparency and a greater understanding of factors affectiff ng our financial condition
and results of operations than GAAPAA measures alone. In addition, we believe the presentation of these measures is useful
to investors for making period-to-period comparisons of results because the adjustments to GAAPAA are not reflective of our
core business performance.ff

These financial measures are not presented in accordance with, or as an alternative to, GAAPAA financial measures and
may be differeff nt from non-GAAP measures used by other companies. We encourage investors to review the GAAPAA
financial measures included in this Annual Report, including our consolidated financial statements, to aid in their analysis
and understanding of our performanceff and in making comparisons.

The table below outlines our adjusted operating expenses, adjusted operating income, adjusted operating margin,
adjusted net income attributable to ICE common stockholders and adjusted earnings per share, which are non-GAAP
measures that are calculated by making adjustments for items we view as not reflective of our cash operations and core
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business performance.ff These measures, including the adjustments and their related income tax effectff and other tax
adjustments (in millions, except for percentages and per share amounts), are as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,

Year Ended
December 31,

Year Ended
December 31,

Year Ended
December 31,

2021 2020 2019 2021 2020 2019 2021 2020 2019 2021 2020 2019
Total revenues, less transaction-based expenses ............. $3,856 $3,631 $3,307 $1,883 $1,810 $1,756 $1,407 $595 $139 $7,146 $6,036 $5,202
Operating expenses................................................................ 1,333 1,242 1,140 1,354 1,318 1,317 1,010 443 72 3,697 3,003 2,529
Less: Amortization of acquisition-related intangibles.......... 73 74 68 180 191 225 369 123 16 622 388 309
Less: Transaction and integration costs and acquisition-
related success fees ............................................................... 59 12 — — — — 39 89 — 98 101 —
Less: Impairment of developed software.............................. — 11 — — — — — — — — 11 —
Less: Impairment of exchange registration intangible
assets on ICE Futures Singapore.......................................... — — 31 — — — — — — — — 31
Less: Accrual relating to a regulatory settlement ................ — — — — 8 — — — — — 8 —
Adjusted operating expenses............................................... $1,201 $1,145 $1,041 $1,174 $1,119 $1,092 $602 $231 $ 56 $2,977 $2,495 $2,189
Operating income.................................................................... $2,523 $2,389 $2,167 $529 $492 $439 $397 $152 $ 67 $3,449 $3,033 $2,673
Adjusted operating income................................................... $2,655 $2,486 $2,266 $709 $691 $664 $805 $364 $ 83 $4,169 $3,541 $3,013
Operating margin .................................................................... 65 % 66 % 66 % 28 % 27 % 25 % 28 % 25 % 48 % 48 % 50 % 51 %
Adjusted operating margin ................................................... 69 % 68 % 69 % 38 % 38 % 38 % 57 % 61 % 59 % 58 % 59 % 58 %

Net income attributable to ICE common stockholders ...... $4,058 $2,089 $1,933
Add: Amortization of acquisition-related intangibles ........... 622 388 309
Add: Transaction and integration costs and acquisition-
related success fees ............................................................... 98 101 —
Less: Gain on value of Euroclear equity investment .......... (34) (35) —
Less: Gain on sale of Coinbase equity investment............. (1,227) — —
Less: Gain on deconsolidation of Bakkt .............................. (1,419) — —
Less: Gain on sale of BIDS equity investment .................... — (20) —
Less: Gain related to the settlement of an acquisition-
related indemnification claim .................................................. (7) — —

Add: Accelerated unamortized costs related to the early
payoff off f the June 2023 floating rate senior notes .............. 4 — —

Add: Extinguishment of December 2020 Senior Notes...... — 14 —

Add: Pre-acquisition interest expense on debt issued for
Ellie Mae acquisition ................................................................ — 5 —
Add: Impairment of developed software ............................... — 11 —
Add: Impairment of CAT pAA romissory notes........................... — 2 16
Add: Impairment of exchange registration intangible
assets on ICE Futures Singapore.......................................... — — 31
Add: Accrual relating to legal settlement .............................. 16 30 —
Add: Accrual relating to regulatory settlement ..................... — 8 —
Add/(Less): Net losses/(income) from unconsolidated
investees.................................................................................... 42 (71) (62)
Add/(Less): Income tax effectff for the above items ............. 574 (109) (80)
Add/(Less): Deferred tax adjustments on acquisition-
related intangibles .................................................................... 183 36 (8)
Add: Other tax adjustments .................................................... — — 3
Adjusted net income attributable to ICE common
stockholders .............................................................................. $2,910 $2,449 $2,142

Basic earnings per share attributable to ICE common
stockholders .............................................................................. $7.22 $3.79 $3.44
Diluted earnings per share attributable to ICE common
stockholders .............................................................................. $7.18 $3.77 $3.42

Adjusted basic earnings per share attributable to ICE
common stockholders.............................................................. $5.17 $4.44 $3.82
Adjusted diluted earnings per share attributable to ICE
common stockholders.............................................................. $5.15 $4.41 $3.79

Basic weighted average common shares outstanding....... 562 552 561
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding .... 565 555 565

Exchanges Segment

Fixed Income and
Data Services
Segment

Mortgage
Technology
Segment Consolidated

Amortization of acquisition-related intangibles are included in non-GAAP adjustments as excluding these non-cash
expenses provides greater clarity regarding our financial strength and stability of cash operating results.

Transaction and integration costs are included as part of our core business expenses, except for those that are directly
related to the announcement, closing, financing or termination of a transaction. However, we adjust for the acquisition-
related transaction and integration costs relating to acquisitions such as Ellie Mae given the magnitude of the $11.4 billion
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purchase price of the acquisition. We also adjust for the acquisition-related transaction costs related to the merger of
Bakkt and VIH due to the significance of the transaction. In 2020, we also included a $10 million adjustment for Bridge2
Solutions acquisition costs resulting from a Bakkt incentive award market condition estimation adjustment as an
acquisition-related success fee. This adjustment was directly related to the March 2020 capital call to fund the acquisition
of Bridge2 Solutions and we believe is therefore appropriate since we exclude costs directly related to the success of a
transaction.
In 2021, we recorded a $1.2 billion gain on the sale of our Coinbase equity investment and a $1.4 billion gain on the
deconsolidation of Bakkt. We do not consider these items to be part of our core business operations.

Effectff ive January 1, 2021, we exclude net income from our unconsolidated equity method investees for purposes of
calculating non-GAAP measures and have retroactively restated the prior-year periods for comparability purposes. For
2021, this adjustment includes our share of net income from OCC, BondLink, and Bakkt (from the period of the Bakkt
merger on October 15, 2021 through December 31, 2021). This is consistent with how we treat changes in the fair value
of our equity investments. We believe these adjustments provide greater clarity of our performanceff given that equity
investments are non-cash and not a part of our core operations.

In addition, we also include the following items as non-GAAP adjustments, as each of these are not considered a part of
our core business operations:

• 2021: The $34 million gain on the fair value adjustment of our Euroclear equity investment;
• 2021: The $7 million gain related to the settlement of an acquisition-related indemnification claim;
• 2021: Accrual of $16 million relating to a legal settlement;
• 2021: The acceleration of unamortized costs of $4 million related to the September 2021 early redemption of our

Floating Rate Notes;
• 2020: The $11 million impairment of software developed at Bakkt when it was our subsidiary since it relates to the

build-out of a fundamental software design vs. a recurring upgrade;
• 2020: Accrual of $30 million relating to a legal settlement;
• 2020: Accrual of $8 million relating to a regulatory settlement;
• 2020: The $35 million gain on the fair value adjustment of our Euroclear equity investment;
• 2020: The extinguishment payment of $14 million related to the June 2020 early redemption of the December

2020 Senior Notes which had an original maturity of December 1, 2020, as a result of our new senior notes
offeriff ng in May 2020. This included both a make-whole redemption payment and duplicative interest;

• 2020: The $20 million gain on the sale of our BIDS equity investment;
• 2020: Pre-acquisition interest expense of $5 million on the August 2020 debt issued to fund a portion of the

purchase price of our Ellie Mae acquisition;
• 2020: Promissory note impairment charges of $2 million on work performedff by the original plan processor on the

CATAA as non-GAAP adjustments (this was in addition to the 2019 accrual of $16 million for the same item). See
additional discussion on the CATAA in Item 1(A) "-Risk Factors" in this Annual Report;

• 2019: Impairment of exchange registration intangible assets of $31 million at ICE Futures Singapore. This non-
cash impairment was a result of the estimated fair value of an acquired intangible asset falling below its carrying
value. See Note 8 to our consolidated financial statements, included in this Annual Report.

The tax items in non-GAAP adjustments are either the tax impacts of the pre-tax non-GAAP adjustments or tax items as
described below that are not in the normal course of business and are not indicative of our core business performance.ff
The following tax-related items are included as non-GAAP adjustments:

• Deferred tax adjustments on acquisition-related intangibles, including the impact of U.K. and U.S. state tax law
changes and apportionment updates, as well as other foreign tax law changes which resulted in deferred tax
expense/(benefit) of $183 million, $36 million and ($8 million) in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The deferred
tax adjustments in 2021 relate primarily to the U.K. tax law changes enacted in June 2021, which increased the
U.K. corporate income tax rate from 19% to 25% effectiff ve April 1, 2023. The deferred tax adjustments in 2020
were due to the tax law changes enacted in July 2020, which increased the U.K. corporate income tax rate from
17% to 19% effectff ive April 1, 2020, as well as impacts of U.S. state apportionment charges.

• Other tax adjustments of $3 million in 2019 for audit settlement payments primarily related to pre-acquisition tax
matters in connection with our acquisition of NYSE in 2013.

For additional informatff ion on these items, refer to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report and
“- Recent Developments,” “- Consolidated Operating Expenses”, “- Consolidated Non-Operating Income (Expenses)” and
“-Consolidated Income Tax Provision” above.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As described in Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements, which are included elsewhere in this Annual Report,
certain clearing house collateral is reported off-baff lance sheet. We do not have any relationships with unconsolidated
entities or financial partnerships, oftenff referredff to as structured finance or special purpose entities.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments
We intend to fund our contractual obligations and commercial commitments from existing cash and cash flow from
operations. As of December 31, 2021, our primary cash requirements include the following contractual and other
obligations.

As of December 31, 2021, we had $13.9 billion in outstanding debt, including $1.5 billion of short-term debt. Our
outstanding debt consists of $12.9 billion of fixed rate senior notes, $1.0 billion under our U.S. dollar commercial paper
program, or the Commercial Paper Program and $10 million under credit lines at our ICE India subsidiaries.

Our operating leases primarily relate to our leased officeff space and data center facilities, and as of December 31, 2021,
we had fixed lease payment obligations of $350 million, with $82 million payable within one-year.

We have other purchase obligations to purchase various goods and services that we believe are enforceableff and legally
binding.

In addition, we have $150.4 billion in cash and cash equivalent margin deposits and guaranty funds, invested deposits,
delivery contracts payable and unsettled variation margin. Clearing members of our clearing houses are required to
deposit original margin and variation margin and to make deposits to a guaranty fund. The cash and cash equivalent
deposits made to these margin accounts and to the guaranty fund are recorded in the consolidated balance sheet as
current assets with corresponding current liabilities to the clearing members that deposited them. ICE NGX administers
the physical delivery of energy trading contracts. It has an equal and offsetff ting claim to and from its respective participants
on opposite sides of the physically-settled contract, each of which is reflected as a delivery contract receivable with an
offsetff ting delivery contract payable. See Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report
for additional informatff ion on our clearing houses and the margin deposits, guaranty funds, invested deposits, delivery
contracts payable and unsettled variation margin.

We also have unrecognized tax benefits, or UTBs. As of December 31, 2021, our cumulative UTBs were $229 million, and
accrued interest and penalties related to UTBs were $49 million. We are under examination by various tax authorities. We
are unable to make a reasonable estimate of the periods of cash settlement because it is not possible to reasonably
predict the amount of tax, interest and penalties, if any, that might be assessed by a tax authority or the timing of an
assessment or payment. It is also not possible to reasonably predict whether or not the applicable statutes of limitations
might expire without us being examined by any particular tax authority. See Note 13 to our consolidated financial
statements for additional informatff ion on our UTBs.

As of December 31, 2021, we, through NYSE, have net obligations of $103 million related to our pension and other benefit
programs. The date of payment under these net obligations cannot be determined. See Note 16 to our consolidated
financial statements for additional informatff ion on our pension and other benefit programs.

In addition, the future funding of the implementation and operation of the CATAA is ultimately expected to be provided by
both the SROs and broker-dealers. To date, however, funding has been provided solely by the SROs, and future funding
is expected to be repaid if industry member fees are approved by the SEC and subsequently collected by industry
members. See "- Non-GAAP Measures" above.

New and Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
Refer to Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report for informatff ion on the new and
recently adopted accounting pronouncements that are applicable to us.

Critical Accounting Policies
We have identified the policies below as critical to our business operations and the understanding of our results of
operations. The impact of, and any associated risks related to, these policies on our business operations is discussed
throughout “- Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” For a detailed
discussion on the application of these and other accounting policies, see Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements
included in this Annual Report.
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Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAPAA . The preparation of financial statements in
conformitff y with these accounting principles requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affectff the reported
amount of assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, at the date of our financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.

We base our estimates and judgments on our historical experience and other factors that we believe to be reasonable
under the circumstances when we make these estimates and judgments and re-evaluate them on a periodic basis. Based
on these factors, we make estimates and judgments about, among other things, the carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from market prices or other independent sources and about the recognition and
characterization of our revenues and expenses. The values and results based on these estimates and judgments could
differff significantly under differeff nt assumptions or conditions and could change materially in the future.

We believe that the following critical accounting policies, among others, affectff our more significant judgments and
estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements and could materially increase or decrease our
reported results, assets and liabilities.

Goodwill and Other Identifiable Intangible Assets

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed in connection with our acquisitions are recorded at their estimated fair values.
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of an acquired company over the fair value of its identifiable net
assets, including identified intangible assets. We recognize specifically identifiable intangibles, such as customer
relationships, trademarks, technology, trading products, data, exchange registrations, backlog, trade names and licenses
when a specific right or contract is acquired. Our determination of the fair value of the intangible assets and whether or not
these assets may be impaired following their acquisition requires us to apply significant judgments and make significant
estimates and assumptions regarding future cash flows. If we change our strategy or if market conditions shift,ff our
judgments and estimates may change, which may result in adjustments to recorded asset balances. Intangible assets with
finite useful lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives whereas goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives are not.

In performingff the allocation of the acquisitions' purchase price to assets and liabilities, we consider, among other factors,
the intended use of the acquired assets, analysis of past financial performance and estimates of future performanceff of the
acquired business. At the acquisition date, a preliminary allocation of the purchase price is recorded based upon a
preliminary valuation performedff with the assistance of a third-party valuation specialist. We continue to review and assess
our estimates, assumptions and valuation methodologies during the measurement period provided by GAAPAA ,P which ends
as soon as we receive the information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date or we learn
that more informatff ion is not obtainable, which usually does not exceed one year from the date of acquisition. Accordingly,
these estimates and assumptions are subject to change, which could have a material impact on our consolidated financial
statements. Estimation uncertainty may exist due to the sensitivity of the respective fair value to underlying assumptions
about the future performanceff of an acquired business in our discounted cash flow models. Significant assumptions
typically include revenue growth rates and expense synergies that form the basis of the forecasted results and the
discount rate.

Our goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets are evaluated for impairment annually in our fiscal fourth quarter
or more frequently if conditions exist that indicate that the value may be impaired. We test our goodwill for impairment at
the reporting unit level, and we have identified four reporting units, which were updated in 2020 to reflect our new segment
presentation. Our reporting units identified for our goodwill testing are the NYSE, Other Exchanges, Fixed Income and
Data Services, and Mortgage Technology reporting units. These impairment evaluations are performedff by comparing the
carrying value of the goodwill or other indefinite-lived intangibles to its estimated fair value.

In accordance with Accounting Standards Update 2017-04, Simplifii yingff the Test for Goodwill Impairment, or ASU-2017, for
both goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible impairment testing, we have the option to first performff a qualitative
assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit or indefinite-lived
intangible asset is less than its carrying amount. If the fair value of the goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible asset is less
than its carrying value, an impairment loss is recognized in earnings in an amount equal to the difference.ff Alternatively, we
may choose to bypass the qualitative option and performff quantitative testing to determine if the fair value is less than the
carrying value. For our goodwill impairment testing, we have elected to bypass the qualitative assessment and apply the
quantitative approach. For our testing of indefinite-lived intangible assets, we apply qualitative and quantitative
approaches.
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Application of the impairment test requires judgment, including the identification of reporting units, assignment of assets
and liabilities to reporting units, assignment of goodwill to reporting units, and determination of the fair value of each
reporting unit. We have historically determined the fair value of our reporting units based on various valuation techniques,
including discounted cash flow analysis and a multiple of earnings approach. In assessing whether goodwill and other
intangible assets are impaired, we must make estimates and assumptions regarding future cash flows, long-term growth
rates of our business, operating margins, discount rates, weighted average cost of capital and other factors to determine
the fair value of our assets. These estimates and assumptions require management’s judgment, and changes to these
estimates and assumptions, as a result of changing economic and competitive conditions, could materially affectff the
determination of fair value and/or impairment. During 2019, we recorded an impairment charge of $31 million on the
remaining value of exchange registration intangible assets on ICE Futures Singapore as a result of a decrease in fair
value determined during our annual impairment testing. We did not record any impairments in 2021 or 2020 as a result of
our goodwill or indefinite-lived impairment testing.

We are also required to evaluate other finite-lived intangible assets for impairment by first determining whether events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of these assets to be held and used may not be recoverable. If
impairment indicators are present, then an estimate of undiscounted future cash flows produced by these long-lived
assets is compared to the carrying value of those assets to determine if the asset is recoverable. If an asset is not
recoverable, the loss is measured as the differeff nce between fair value and carrying value of the impaired asset. Fair value
of these assets is based on various valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow analysis.

Income Taxes

We are subject to income taxes in the U.S., U.K. and other foreign jurisdictions where we operate. The determination of
our provision for income taxes and related accruals, deferred tax assets and liabilities requires the use of significant
judgment, estimates, and the interpretation and application of complex tax laws. We recognize a current tax liability or tax
asset for the estimated taxes payable or refundable on tax returns for the current year. We recognize deferred tax assets
and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differencesff between the financial statement carrying
amounts and the tax bases of our assets and liabilities. We establish valuation allowances if we believe that it is more
likely than not that some or all of our deferred tax assets will not be realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using current enacted tax rates in effectff for the years in which those temporary differencesff and carryforwards
are expected to reverse.

The FASB Staff has provided additional guidance to address the accounting for the effectsff of the provisions related to the
taxation of Global Intangible Low-TaxedTT Income noting that companies should make an accounting policy election to
recognize deferred taxes for temporary basis differencesff expected to reverse in future years or to include the tax expense
in the year it is incurred. We have made a policy election to recognize such taxes as current period expenses when
incurred.

We do not recognize a tax benefit unless we conclude that it is more likely than not that the benefit will be sustained on
audit by the taxing authority based solely on the technical merits of the associated tax position. If the recognition threshold
is met, we recognize a tax benefit measured at the largest amount of the tax benefit that, in our judgment, is greater than
50 percent likely to be realized. We recognize accrued interest and penalties related to uncertain income tax positions as
income tax expense in the consolidated statements of income.

We operate within multiple domestic and foreign taxing jurisdictions and are subject to audit in these jurisdictions by
domestic and foreign tax authorities. These audits include questions regarding our tax filing positions, including the timing
and amount of deductions taken and the allocation of income among various tax jurisdictions. We record accruals for the
estimated outcomes of these audits, and the accruals may change in the future due to new developments in each matter.
At any point in time, many tax years are subject to or in the process of being audited by various taxing authorities. To the
extent our estimates of settlements change or the final tax outcome of these matters is differentff from the amounts
recorded, such differencesff will impact the income tax provision in the period in which such determinations are made. Our
income tax expense includes changes in our estimated liability for exposures associated with our various tax filing
positions. Determining the income tax expense for these potential assessments requires management to make
assumptions that are subject to factors such as proposed assessments by tax authorities, changes in facts and
circumstances, issuance of new regulations, and resolution of tax audits.

We believe the judgments and estimates discussed above are reasonable. However, if actual results are not consistent
with our estimates or assumptions, we may be exposed to losses or gains that could be material.
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ITEM 7 (A). QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT
MARKET RISK
As a result of our operating and financing activities, we are exposed to market risks such as interest rate risk, foreign
currency exchange rate risk and credit risk. We have implemented policies and procedures designed to measure,
manage, monitor and report risk exposures, which are regularly reviewed by the appropriate management and
supervisory bodies.

Interest Rate Risk

We have exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relating to our cash and cash equivalents, short-term and
long-term restricted cash and cash equivalents, short-term and long-term investments and indebtedness. As of
December 31, 2021 and 2020, our cash and cash equivalents and short-term and long-term restricted cash and cash
equivalents were $2.0 billion for both periods, of which $276 million and $245 million, respectively, were denominated in
pounds sterling, euros or Canadian dollars, and the remaining amounts are denominated in U.S. dollars. We do not use
our investment portfolioff for trading or other speculative purposes. A hypothetical 50% decrease in short-term interest rates
would have an immaterial impact on our annual pre-tax earnings as of December 31, 2021, assuming no change in the
amount or composition of our cash and cash equivalents and short-term and long-term restricted cash and cash
equivalents.

As of December 31, 2021, we had $13.9 billion in outstanding debt, of which $12.9 billion relates to our fixed rate senior
notes. The remaining amount outstanding of $1.0 billion relates to $1.0 billion outstanding under our Commercial Paper
Program, which bears interest at fluctuating rates, and $10 million under lines of credit at our India subsidiaries. A
hypothetical 100 basis point increase in short-term interest rates relating to the amounts under our Commercial Paper
Program as of December 31, 2021 would decrease annual pre-tax earnings by $10 million, assuming no change in the
volume or composition of our outstanding indebtedness and no hedging activity. See Part II, Item 7, "Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Debt," and Note 10 to our consolidated
financial statements included in this Annual Report.

The interest rates on our Commercial Paper Program are currently evaluated based upon current maturities and market
conditions. The weighted average interest rate on our Commercial Paper Program decreased from 0.40% as of December
31, 2020 to 0.33% as of December 31, 2021. The effectff ive interest rate of commercial paper issuances will continue to
fluctuate based on the movement in short-term interest rates along with shiftsff in supply and demand within the
commercial paper market.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

As an international business, we are subject to foreign currency exchange rate risk. We may experience gains or losses
from foreign currency transactions in the future given that a significant part of our assets and liabilities are recorded in
pounds sterling, Canadian dollars or euros, and a significant portion of our revenues and expenses are recorded in
pounds sterling or euros. Certain assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of foreign subsidiaries are denominated in the
local functional currency of such subsidiaries. Our exposure to foreign denominated earnings in 2021 and 2020 is
presented by primary foreign currency in the following table (dollars in millions, except exchange rates):
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Average exchange rate to the U.S. dollar in the current year................. $ 1.3762 $ 1.1835 $ 1.2832 $ 1.1412

Average exchange rate to the U.S. dollar in the prior year ..................... $ 1.2832 $ 1.1412 $ 1.2769 $ 1.1195
Average exchange rate increase (decrease) ............................................ 7 % 4 % — % 2 %
Foreign denominated percentage of:
Revenues, less transaction-based expenses.......................................... 7 % 6 % 7 % 6 %
Operating expenses .................................................................................... 8 % 2 % 9 % 2 %
Operating income......................................................................................... 6 % 11 % 6 % 9 %
Impact of the currency fluctuations (1) on:
Revenues, less transaction-based expenses.......................................... $ 31 $ 13 $ 1 $ 6
Operating expenses .................................................................................... $ 19 $ 3 $ 1 $ 1
Operating income......................................................................................... $ 12 $ 10 $ — $ 5

Year Ended December 31,
2021

Year Ended December 31,
2020

Pound
Sterling Euro

Pound
Sterling Euro

(1) Represents the impact of currency fluctuation for the year compared to the same period in the prior year.

We have a significant part of our assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses recorded in pounds sterling or euros. In both
2021 and 2020, 13% of our consolidated revenues, less transaction-based expenses, were denominated in pounds
sterling or euros, and in 2021 and 2020, 10% and 11%, respectively, of our consolidated operating expenses were
denominated in pounds sterling or euros. As the pound sterling or euro exchange rate changes, the U.S. equivalent of
revenues and expenses denominated in foreign currencies changes accordingly.

Foreign currency transaction risk related to the settlement of foreign currency denominated assets, liabilities and payables
occurs through our operations, which are received in or paid in pounds sterling, Canadian dollars, or euros, due to the
increase or decrease in the foreign currency exchange rates between periods. We incurred foreign currency transaction
losses of $13 million and $5 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively inclusive of the impact of foreign currency hedging
transactions. The foreign currency transaction losses were primarily attributable to the fluctuations of the pound sterling
and euro relative to the U.S. dollar. A 10% adverse change in the underlying foreign currency exchange rates as of
December 31, 2021, assuming no change in the composition of the foreign currency denominated assets, liabilities and
payables and assuming no hedging activity, would result in a foreignff currency loss of $15 million.

We entered into foreignff currency hedging transactions during 2021 and 2020 as economic hedges to help mitigate a
portion of our foreign exchange risk exposure and may enter into additional hedging transactions in the future to help
mitigate our foreign exchange risk exposure. Although we may enter into additional hedging transactions in the future,
these hedging arrangements may not be effectff ive, particularly in the event of imprecise forecasts of the levels of our non-
U.S. denominated assets and liabilities.

We have foreign currency translation risk equal to our net investment in our foreign subsidiaries. The financial statements
of these subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars using a current rate of exchange, with gains or losses included in the
cumulative translation adjustment account, a component of equity. Our exposure to the net investment in foreign
currencies is presented by primary foreign currencies in the table below (in millions):

As of December 31, 2021
Position in

pounds sterling
Position in

Canadian dollars
Position in
euros

Assets ................................................................................................................... £ 722 C$ 2,245 € 220
of which goodwill represents ....................................................................... 566 398 92

Liabilities .............................................................................................................. 78 1,826 48
Net currency position ......................................................................................... £ 644 C$ 419 € 172
Net currency position, in $USD ........................................................................ $ 871 $ 331 $ 195
Negative impact on consolidated equity of a 10% decrease in foreign
currency exchange rates ................................................................................... $ 87 $ 33 $ 20

Foreign currency translation adjustments are included as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income/
(loss) within our balance sheet. See the table below for the portion of equity attributable to foreign currency translation
adjustments as well as the activity by year included within our statement of other comprehensive income. The impact of
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the forff eign currency exchange rate differeff nces in the table below were primarily driven by fluctuations of the pound
sterling as compared to the U.S. dollar which were 1.3524, 1.3665 and 1.3260 as of December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019,
respectively.

Net current period other comprehensive income/(loss) .................................................................................. 50
Balance, as of December 31, 2019 ................................................................................................................... (177)
Net current period other comprehensive income/(loss) .................................................................................. 43
Balance, as of December 31, 2020 ................................................................................................................... (134)
Net current period other comprehensive income/(loss) .................................................................................. (16)
Balance, as of December 31, 2021 ................................................................................................................... $ (150)

Changes in Accumulated
Other Comprehensive
Income/ (Loss) from
Foreign Currency

Translation Adjustments
(in millions)

Balance, as of January 1, 2019.......................................................................................................................... $ (227)

( )( )

The future impact on our business relating to the U.K. leaving the EU and the corresponding regulatory changes are
uncertain at this time, including future impacts on currency exchange rates.

Credit Risk

We are exposed to credit risk in our operations in the event of a counterparty default. We limit our exposure to credit risk
by rigorously selecting the counterparties with which we make our investments, monitoring them on an ongoing basis and
executing agreements to protect our interests.

Clearing House Cash Deposit Risks

The ICE Clearing Houses hold material amounts of clearing member margin deposits which are held or invested primarily
to provide security of capital while minimizing credit, market and liquidity risks. Refer to Note 14 to our consolidated
financial statements forff more informatff ion on the ICE Clearing Houses' cash and cash equivalent margin deposits and
guaranty funds, invested deposits, delivery contracts receivable and unsettled variation margin which were $150.4 billion
as of December 31, 2021. While we seek to achieve a reasonable rate of return which may generate interest income for
our clearing members, we are primarily concerned with preservation of capital and managing the risks associated with
these deposits. As the ICE Clearing Houses may pass on interest revenues (minus costs) to the clearing members, this
could include negative or reduced yield due to market conditions. The folff lowing is a summary of the risks associated with
these deposits and how these risks are mitigated:

• Credit Risk:When a clearing house has the ability to hold cash collateral at a central bank, the clearing house utilizes
its access to the central bank system to minimize credit risk exposures. Credit risk is managed by using exposure
limits depending on the credit profile of the counterparty as well as the nature and maturity of transactions. Our
investment objective is to invest in securities that preserve principal while maximizing yields, without significantly
increasing risk. We seek to substantially mitigate the credit risk associated with investments by placing them with
governments, well-capitalized financial institutions and other creditworthy counterparties.

An ongoing review is performedff to evaluate changes in the financial status of counterparties. In addition to the
intrinsic creditworthiness of counterparties, our policies require diversification of counterparties (banks, financial
institutions, bond issuers and funds) so as to avoid a concentration of risk.

• Liquidity Risk: Liquidity risk is the risk a clearing house may not be able to meet its payment obligations in the right
currency, in the right place and at the right time. To mitigate this risk, the clearing houses monitor liquidity
requirements closely and maintain funds and assets in a manner which minimizes the risk of loss or delay in the
access by the clearing house to such funds and assets. For example, holding funds with a central bank where
possible or making only short term investments such as overnight reverse repurchase agreements serves to reduce
liquidity risks.

• Interest Rate Risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that interest rates rise and cause the value of securities we hold or
invest in to decline. If we were required to sell securities prior to maturity, and interest rates had risen, the sale might
be made at a loss relative to the carrying value. Our clearing houses seek to manage this risk by making short term
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investments. For example, where possible and in accordance with regulatory requirements, the clearing houses invest
cash pursuant to overnight reverse repurchase agreements or term reverse repurchase agreements with short dated
maturities. In addition, the clearing house investment guidelines allow for direct purchases of high quality sovereign
debt (forff example, U.S. Treasury securities) and supranational debt instruments (Euro cash deposits only) with short
dated maturities.

• Security Issuer Risk: Security issuer risk is the risk that an issuer of a security defaults on the payment when the
security matures or debt is serviced. This risk is mitigated by limiting allowable investments under the reverse
repurchase agreements to high quality sovereign or government agency debt and limiting any direct investments to
high quality sovereign debt instruments.

• Investment Counterparty Risk: Investment counterparty risk is the risk that a reverse repurchase agreement
counterparty might become insolvent and, thus, fail to meet its obligations to our clearing houses. We mitigate this risk
by only engaging in transactions with high credit quality counterparties and by limiting the acceptable collateral to
securities of high quality issuers. When engaging in reverse repurchase agreements, our clearing houses take
delivery of the securities underlying the reverse repurchase arrangement in custody accounts under clearing house
control. Additionally, the securities purchased subject to reverse repurchase have a market value greater than the
reverse repurchase amount. The typical haircut for high quality sovereign debt is 2% of the reverse repurchase
amount which provides additional excess collateral. Thus, in the event that a reverse repurchase counterparty defaultff s
on its obligation to repurchase the underlying reverse repurchase securities, our clearing house will have possession
of a security with a value potentially greater than the counterparty’s obligation.

The ICE Clearing Houses may use third-party investment advisors who make investments subject to the guidelines
provided by each clearing house. Such advisors do not hold clearing member cash or cash equivalent deposits or the
underlying investments. Clearing house property is held in custody accounts under clearing house control with credit
worthy custodians. The ICE Clearing Houses employ (or may employ) multiple investment advisors and custodians to
ensure that in the event a single advisor or custodian is unable to fulfill its role, additional advisors or custodians are
available as alternatives.

• Cross-Currency Margin Deposit Risk: Each of the ICE Clearing Houses may permit posting of cross-currency
collateral to satisfyff margin requirements (for example, accepting margin deposits denominated in U.S. dollars to
secure a Euro margin obligation). The ICE Clearing Houses mitigate the risk of a currency value exposure by applying
a “haircut” to the currency posted as margin at a level viewed as sufficientff to provide financial protection during
periods of currency volatility. Cross-currency balances are marked-to-market on a daily basis. Should the currency
posted to satisfyff margin requirements decline in value, the clearing member is required to increase its margin deposit
on a same-day basis.

Impact of Inflation

We have not been adversely affecteff d by inflation as technological advances and competition have generally caused
prices for the hardware and software that we use for our electronic platforms to remain constant. In the event of inflation,
we believe that we will be able to pass on any price increases to our participants, as the prices that we charge are not
governed by long-term contracts.
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Our management is responsible forff the preparation and integrity of the consolidated financial statements appearing in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K. The financial statements were prepared in conformitff y with generally accepted accounting
principles appropriate in the circumstances and, accordingly, include certain amounts based on our best judgments and
estimates.

Our management is responsible forff establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as such
term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-a5(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”). Our internal
control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. Our internal control over financial reporting is supported by a
program of internal audits and appropriate reviews by management, written policies and guidelines, careful selection and
training of qualified personnel and a written Global Code of Business Conduct adopted by our Board of Directors,
applicable to all of our directors and all officers and all of our employees.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements and
even when determined to be effectff ive, can only provide reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement
preparation and presentation. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectff iveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies
or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiff veness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021. In
making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013 framework). Based on our
assessment, management believes that we maintained effectff ive internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2021.

Our independent auditors, Ernst & YoungYY LLP, a rP egistered public accounting firm, are appointed by the Audit Committee,
subject to ratification by our stockholders. Ernst & YoungYY LLP has audited and reported on our consolidated financial
statements and the effectiff veness of our internal control over financial reporting. The reports of our independent registered
public accounting firm are contained in this Annual Report.

/s/ Jeffreyff C. Sprecher /s/ A. Warren Gardiner
Jeffreyff C. Sprecher A. Warren Gardiner
Chairman of the Board and Chief Financial Offiff cer
Chief Executive Officerff

February 3, 2022 February 3, 2022
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. and Subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Intercontinental
Exchange, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effectiff ve internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the related
consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and redeemable non-controlling interest,
and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes, and our report
dated February 3, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effectiff ve internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effeff ctiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying “Report of
Management on Internal Control over Financial Reporting”. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB
and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and
the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
performff the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effectff ive internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectff iveness of internal control based on the assessed
risk, and performingff such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effectff on the
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectff iveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
February 3, 2022
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. and Subsidiaries
(the Company) as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive
income, changes in equity and redeemable non-controlling interest, and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial
statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, in conformitff y with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (2013 Framework), and our report dated February 3, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion
thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the
PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities
laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
performff the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performingff procedures that respond to
those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical accounting matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial
statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to
accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging,
subjective or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on
the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter
below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Accounting for Income Taxes

Descriptiontt of the Matter 0As00 discussed in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company operates in
the United States and multiple international tax jurisdictions and is thereforeff subject to
various tax treaty arrangements and where applicable, transfer pricing guidelines for
intercompany transactions. Consolidated income tax expense, including the liability for
unrecognized tax benefits, is an estimate based on management’s understanding and
interpretation of current enacted tax laws and tax rates of each tax jurisdiction. For the year-
ended December 31, 2021, the Company recognized consolidated income tax expense of
$1.629 billion, and as of December 31, 2021, the Company accrued liabilities of $229 million
for unrecognized tax benefits.
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Auditing the Company's accounting for consolidated income tax expense was complex
because management’s calculation of consolidated income tax expense involves application
and interpretation of complex tax laws. Further, the identification and measurement of
unrecognized tax benefits requires significant management judgment and estimation. Each
tax position may involve unique facts and circumstances to be evaluated, and there may be
uncertainties around initial recognition and de-recognition of tax positions, including
regulatory changes, litigation and examination activity.

How we Addressed the
Matter in Our Audit We tested the Company’s controls that address the risks of material misstatement relating to

the Company’s consolidated income tax expense. For example, we tested controls over
management’s calculation of the federal, state and foreign components of income tax
expense including management’s controls over the identification and ongoing review of its
unrecognized tax benefits.

To test consolidated income tax expense, we performedff audit procedures that included,
among others, recalculation of consolidated income tax expense and agreeing the data used
in the calculations to the Company’s underlying books and records. We involved our tax
professionals to evaluate the application of tax law to management’s calculation
methodologies and tax positions. We also evaluated assumptions the Company used to
develop its tax positions and related unrecognized tax benefit amounts by jurisdiction. For
example, we compared the estimated liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits to similar
positions in prior periods and assessed management’s consideration of current tax
controversy and litigation and trends in similar positions challenged by tax authorities. We
also evaluated the adequacy of the Company’s disclosures included in Note 13 in relation to
these tax matters.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2002.

Atlanta, Georgia
February 3, 2022
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Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In millions, except per share amounts)

As of December 31,
2021 2020

Assets:
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ................................................................................................................................. $ 607 $ 583
Short-term restricted cash and cash equivalents ............................................................................................... 1,035 1,000
Cash and cash equivalent margin deposits and guaranty funds ..................................................................... 145,936 81,628
Invested deposits, delivery contracts receivable and unsettled variation margin ......................................... 4,493 2,455
Customer accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $24 and $27, respectively...... 1,208 1,230
Prepaid expenses and other current assets .................................................................................................... 1,021 323

Total current assets .................................................................................................................................................... 154,300 87,219
Property and equipment, net .................................................................................................................................... 1,699 1,713
Other non-current assets:
Goodwill ................................................................................................................................................................. 21,123 21,291
Other intangible assets, net ................................................................................................................................ 13,736 14,408
Long-term restricted cash and cash equivalents................................................................................................ 398 408
Other non-current assets .................................................................................................................................... 2,246 1,161

Total other non-current assets .................................................................................................................................. 37,503 37,268
Total assets ................................................................................................................................................................. $ 193,502 $ 126,200

Liabilities and Equity:
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ........................................................................................................... $ 703 $ 639
Section 31 fees payable .......................................................................................................................................... 57 207
Accrued salaries and benefits ............................................................................................................................. 354 346
Deferred revenue...................................................................................................................................................... 194 158
Short-term debt ...................................................................................................................................................... 1,521 2,411
Margin deposits and guaranty funds ..................................................................................................................... 145,936 81,628
Invested deposits, delivery contracts payable and unsettled variation margin............................................... 4,493 2,455
Other current liabilities .......................................................................................................................................... 153 155

Total current liabilities ................................................................................................................................................ 153,411 87,999
Non-current liabilities:
Non-current deferred tax liability, net ................................................................................................................ 4,100 3,563
Long-term debt ..................................................................................................................................................... 12,397 14,126
Accrued employee benefits ................................................................................................................................ 200 206
Non-current operating lease liability ..................................................................................................................... 252 320
Other non-current liabilities ................................................................................................................................. 394 359

Total non-current liabilities ........................................................................................................................................ 17,343 18,574
Total liabilities .............................................................................................................................................................. 170,754 106,573
Commitments and contingencies
Redeemable non-controlling interest in consolidated subsidiaries .................................................................... — 93
Equity:
Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 100 shares authorized; none issued or outstanding ............................ — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 1,500 authorized; 631 and 561 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2021, respectively, and 629 and 561 shares issued and outstanding at December 31,
2020, respectively ............................................................................................................................................ 6 6

Treasury stock, at cost; 70 and 68 shares at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020,
respectively ....................................................................................................................................................... (5,520) (5,200)
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Additional paid-in capital ..................................................................................................................................... 14,069 13,845
Retained earnings ................................................................................................................................................ 14,350 11,039
Accumulated other comprehensive loss .............................................................................................................. (196) (192)

Total Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. stockholders’ equity .................................................................................. 22,709 19,498
Non-controlling interest in consolidated subsidiaries ..................................................................................... 39 36

Total equity .................................................................................................................................................................. 22,748 19,534
Total liabilities and equity .......................................................................................................................................... $ 193,502 $ 126,200

See accompanying notes.
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Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income

(In millions, except per share amounts)

2021 2020 2019
Revenues:

Exchanges........................................................................................................................................... $ 5,878 $ 5,839 $ 4,652
Fixed income and data services ................................................................................................... 1,883 1,810 1,756
Mortgage technology ...................................................................................................................... 1,407 595 139

Total revenues ....................................................................................................................................... 9,168 8,244 6,547
Transaction-based expenses: ................................................................................................................

Section 31 fees ................................................................................................................................ 248 622 379
Cash liquidity payments, routing and clearing ............................................................................ 1,774 1,586 966

Total revenues, less transaction-based expenses ........................................................................... 7,146 6,036 5,202
Operating expenses:

Compensation and benefits ........................................................................................................... 1,462 1,188 1,042
Professional services ..................................................................................................................... 159 144 125
Acquisition-related transaction and integration costs ................................................................ 102 105 2
Technology and communication ................................................................................................... 666 549 469
Rent and occupancy ....................................................................................................................... 84 81 68
Selling, general and administrative .............................................................................................. 215 185 161
Depreciation and amortization ...................................................................................................... 1,009 751 662

Total operating expenses ..................................................................................................................... 3,697 3,003 2,529
Operating income .................................................................................................................................. 3,449 3,033 2,673
Other income (expense):

Interest income ................................................................................................................................ 1 10 35
Interest expense .............................................................................................................................. (423) (357) (285)
Other income, net............................................................................................................................... 2,671 80 58

Other income (expense), net ............................................................................................................... 2,249 (267) (192)
Income before income tax expense ...................................................................................................... 5,698 2,766 2,481
Income tax expense................................................................................................................................. 1,629 658 521
Net income ............................................................................................................................................... $ 4,069 $ 2,108 $ 1,960
Net income attributable to non-controlling interest .......................................................................... (11) (19) (27)
Net income attributable to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. ....................................................... $ 4,058 $ 2,089 $ 1,933
Earnings per share attributable to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. common stockholders:

Basic..................................................................................................................................................... $ 7.22 $ 3.79 $ 3.44
Diluted .................................................................................................................................................. $ 7.18 $ 3.77 $ 3.42

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic..................................................................................................................................................... 562 552 561
Diluted .................................................................................................................................................. 565 555 565

Year Ended December 31,

See accompanying notes.
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Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(In millions)

2021 2020 2019
Net income ................................................................................................................................. $ 4,069 $ 2,108 $ 1,960
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax expense of $—, $— and $1 for
2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively .................................................................................... (16) 43 50

Change in equity method investment........................................................................................ 1 — (1)
Employee benefit plan net gains, net of tax expense of $4, $3 and $9 in 2021, 2020
and 2019, respectively ........................................................................................................ 11 8 23

Other comprehensive income (loss) ......................................................................................... (4) 51 72
Comprehensive income ........................................................................................................... $ 4,065 $ 2,159 $ 2,032
Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interest ........................................ (11) (19) (27)
Comprehensive income attributable to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. .......................... $ 4,054 $ 2,140 $ 2,005

Year Ended December 31,

See accompanying notes.
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Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity and Redeemable Non-Controlling Interest

(In millions)

Balance, as of January 1, 2019...................... 604 6 (35) (2,354) 11,547 8,317 (315) 30 17,231 71
Other comprehensive income ........................ — — — — — — 72 — 72 —
Exercise of common stock options ............. 1 — — — 23 — — — 23 —
Repurchases of common stock...................... — — (17) (1,460) — — — — (1,460) —
Payments relating to treasury shares............ — — (1) (65) — — — — (65) —
Stock-based compensation ......................... — — — — 143 — — — 143 11
Issuance under the employee stock
purchase plan .............................................. — — — — 29 — — — 29 —

Issuance of restricted stock ............................ 2 — — — — — — — — —
Distributions of profits ...................................... — — — — — — — (29) (29) —
Dividends paid to stockholders ...................... — — — — — (621) — — (621) —
Net income attributable to non-controlling
interest .......................................................... — — — — — (27) — 30 3 (4)

Net income ..................................................... — — — — — 1,960 — — 1,960 —
Balance, as of December 31, 2019 ............... 607 6 (53) (3,879) 11,742 9,629 (243) 31 17,286 78
Impact of adoption of ASU 2016-13, net of
tax .................................................................. — — — — — (10) — — (10) —

Other comprehensive income ........................ — — — — — — 51 — 51 —
Stock consideration issued for acquisition ... 18 — — — 1,895 — — — 1,895 —
Exercise of common stock options ............. 1 — — — 31 — — — 31 —
Repurchases of common stock...................... — — (14) (1,247) — — — — (1,247) —
Payments relating to treasury shares............ — — (1) (74) — — — — (74) —
Stock-based compensation ......................... — — — — 141 — — — 141 11
Issuance under the employee stock
purchase plan .............................................. 1 — — — 33 — — — 33 —

Warrants issued to minority interest holders — — — — 3 — — — 3 2
Issuance of restricted stock ............................ 2 — — — — — — — — —
Distributions of profits ...................................... — — — — — — — (31) (31) —
Dividends paid to stockholders ...................... — — — — — (669) — — (669) —
Redeemable non-controlling interest ............ — — — — — — — — — 10
Issuance of non-controlling interest............... — — — — — — — 9 9 —
Net income attributable to non-controlling
interest .......................................................... — — — — — (19) — 27 8 (8)

Net income ..................................................... — — — — — 2,108 — — 2,108 —
Balance, as of December 31, 2020 ............... 629 $ 6 (68) $ (5,200) $ 13,845 $ 11,039 $ (192) $ 36 $ 19,534 $ 93
Other comprehensive income ........................ — — — — — — (4) — (4) —
Exercise of common stock options ............. — — — — 17 — — — 17 —
Repurchases of common stock...................... — — (1) (250) — — — — (250) —
Payments relating to treasury shares............ — — (1) (70) — — — — (70) —
Stock-based compensation ......................... — — — — 168 — — — 168 27
Issuance under the employee stock
purchase plan .............................................. — — — — 42 — — — 42 —

Issuance of restricted stock ............................ 2 — — — — — — — — —
Distributions of profits ...................................... — — — — — — — (21) (21) —
Dividends paid to stockholders ...................... — — — — — (747) — — (747) —
Bakkt deconsolidation adjustment ................. — — — — (3) — — — (3) (107)
Net income attributable to non-controlling
interest .......................................................... — — — — — (11) — 24 13 (13)

Net income ..................................................... — — — — — 4,069 — — 4,069 —
Balance, as of December 31, 2021 ............... 631 $ 6 (70) $ (5,520) $ 14,069 $ 14,350 $ (196) $ 39 $ 22,748 $ —

Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. Stockholders' Equity Non-
Controlling
Interest in

Consolidated
Subsidiaries

Total
Equity

Redeemable
Non-

controlling
Interest

Common
Stock Treasury Srr tock Additional

Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)Shares Value Shares Value

( )( ) ( )( ) ( )( )

See accompanying notes.
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Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In millions)

2021 2020 2019
Operating activities:
Net income ................................................................................................................................. $ 4,069 $ 2,108 $ 1,960
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization ................................................................................................ 1,009 751 662
Stock-based compensation ..................................................................................................... 188 139 139
Deferred taxes ........................................................................................................................... 537 92 (33)
Gain on deconsolidation of Bakkt .............................................................................................. (1,419) — —
Gain on sale of Coinbase investment........................................................................................ (1,227) — —
Gain on equity investments......................................................................................................... (34) (55) —
Net losses/(income) from unconsolidated investees .............................................................. 42 (71) (62)
Other ............................................................................................................................................ 45 46 22
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Customer accounts receivable .......................................................................................... (5) (149) (30)
Other current and non-current assets .............................................................................. (100) (83) (17)
Section 31 fees payable ........................................................................................................ (150) 69 34
Deferred revenue.................................................................................................................... 34 2 (18)
Other current and non-current liabilities .......................................................................... 134 32 2

Total adjustments ...................................................................................................................... (946) 773 699
Net cash provided by operating activities ................................................................................. 3,123 2,881 2,659

Investing activities:
Capital expenditures ................................................................................................................. (179) (207) (153)
Capitalized software development costs ............................................................................... (273) (203) (152)
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired .................................................................. (66) (9,446) (352)
Return of capital from equity method investment .................................................................... — — 60
Purchase of equity method investment..................................................................................... (117) — —
Proceeds from the sale of Coinbase investment..................................................................... 1,237 — —
Proceeds from other investments, net ..................................................................................... 1 4 9
Purchases of invested margin deposits .................................................................................... (5,050) (3,371) (1,890)
Proceeds from sale of invested margin deposits..................................................................... 3,661 2,840 744
Other............................................................................................................................................... — 22 (6)
Net cash used in investing activities.......................................................................................... (786) (10,361) (1,740)

Financing activities:
Proceeds from debt facilities, net............................................................................................... — 9,606 10
Repayments of debt facilities...................................................................................................... (1,246) (2,004) —
Proceeds from/(redemption of) commercial paper, net .......................................................... (1,393) 1,094 360
Repurchases of common stock ............................................................................................... (250) (1,247) (1,460)
Dividends to stockholders ........................................................................................................... (747) (669) (621)
Change in cash and cash equivalent margin deposits and guaranty funds ....................... 65,697 19,256 1,329
Payments relating to treasury shares received for restricted stock tax payments and
stock option exercises.............................................................................................................. (70) (74) (65)

Other............................................................................................................................................... 35 38 23
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ................................................................. 62,026 26,000 (424)
Effectff of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash
equivalents, and cash and cash equivalent margin deposits and guaranty funds......... (6) 8 4

Net increase in cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, and
cash and cash equivalent margin deposits and guaranty funds ....................................... 64,357 18,528 499

Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents and cash and cash
equivalent margin deposits and guaranty funds at beginning of year.............................. 83,619 65,091 64,592

Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents and cash and cash
equivalent margin deposits and guaranty funds at end of year ........................................ $ 147,976 $ 83,619 $ 65,091

Supplemental cash flow disclosures:
Common stock issued for acquisition ....................................................................................... $ — $ 1,895 $ —
Cash paid for income taxes ........................................................................................................ $ 1,057 $ 642 $ 557
Cash paid for interest................................................................................................................... $ 406 $ 298 $ 280

Year Ended December 31,

See accompanying notes.
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Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Description of Business

Nature of Business and Organization

We are a provider of market infrastructure, data services and technology solutions to a broad range of customers
including financial institutions, corporations and government entities. These products, which span major asset classes
including futures, equities, fixed income and United States, or U.S., residential mortgages, provide our customers with
access to mission critical tools that are designed to increase asset class transparency and workflow efficiencyff .

• In our Exchanges segment, we operate regulated marketplaces for the listing, trading and clearing of a broad
array of derivatives contracts and financial securities.

• In our Fixed Income and Data Services segment, we provide fixed income pricing, reference data, indices,
analytics and execution services as well as global credit default swap, or CDS, clearing and multi-asset class data
delivery solutions.

• In our Mortgage Technology segment, we provide an end-to-end technology platform that offersff customers
comprehensive, digital workflow tools that aim to address the inefficienciesff that exist in the U.S. residential
mortgage market.

We operate marketplaces, technology and provide data services in the U.S., United Kingdom, or U.K., European Union, or
EU, Canada, Asia Pacific and the Middle East.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared by us in accordance with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles, or U.S. GAAPAA . These statements include the accounts of our wholly-owned and controlled
subsidiaries. For consolidated subsidiaries in which our ownership is less than 100% and for which we have control over
the assets and liabilities and the management of the entity, the outside stockholders’ interests are shown as non-
controlling interests.

All intercompany balances and transactions between us and our wholly-owned and controlled subsidiaries have been
eliminated in consolidation. The financial results of companies we acquire are included from the acquisition dates and the
results of companies we sold are included up to the disposition dates. The accounting policies used to prepare these
financial statements are the same as those used to prepare the consolidated financial statements in prior years except as
described in these footnotes or for the adoption of new standards as outlined below.

Use of Estimates

Preparing financial statements in conformitff y with U.S. GAAPAA requires us to make certain estimates and assumptions that
affectff the amounts reported in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying disclosures. Actual amounts could
differff from those estimates.

Comprehensive Income

Other comprehensive income includes foreign currency translation adjustments, comprehensive income from a change in
an equity method investment, and amortization of the differenceff in the projected benefit obligation and the accumulated
benefit obligation associated with benefit plan liabilities, net of tax.

Segment and Geographic Information

As of December 31, 2021, our business is conducted through three reportable business segments: our Exchanges
segment, our Fixed Income and Data Services segment, and our Mortgage Technology segment. This presentation is
reflective of how our chief operating decision maker reviews and operates our business. The majority of our identifiable
assets are located in the U.S and U.K. (Note 18).
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Cash and Cash Equivalents, Short-Term and Long-Term Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents, and Cash and
Cash Equivalent Margin Deposits and Guaranty Funds

Cash and Cash Equivalentstt

We consider all short-term, highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase to be
cash equivalents.

Short-Termrr and Long-Term Restricttt ed Cash and Cash Equivalentstt

We classifyff all cash and cash equivalents that are not available for immediate or general business use by us as restricted
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets (Note 6). This includes amounts set aside due to regulatory
requirements, earmarked for specific purposes, or restricted by specific agreements. We also invest a portion of funds in
excess of short-term operating needs in term deposits and investment-grade marketable debt securities, including
government or government-sponsored agencies and corporate debt securities. These are classified as cash equivalents,
are short-term in nature and carrying amount approximates fair value.

Cash and Cash Equivalent Margin Depositstt and Guarantyt Funds (Cash and Cash Equivalent Margin)

Original margin, variation margin and guaranty funds received by our clearing houses may be in the form of cash,
government obligations, certain agency debt, letters of credit or on rare occasions, gold (Note 14). We hold the cash
deposits at central banks, highly-rated financial institutions or at times secure the cash through reverse repurchase
agreements or direct investments, certain of which are not cash equivalents. See "Credit Risk and Significant Customers",
below. Although not included in short term restricted cash and cash equivalents, cash and cash equivalent margin
represent a form of restricted cash. The amount of cash and cash equivalent margin deposits on hand will fluctuate over
time as a result of, among other things, the extent of open positions held at any point in time by market participants in
contracts and the margin rates then in effectff for such contracts, as well as the extent to which we invest in non-cash and
cash equivalents.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Presentationtt

As of December 31, 2021, we revised our consolidated statements of cash flows to include changes in cash and cash
equivalent margin within cash flows from financing activities and changes in invested margin deposits within cash flows
from investing activities. This immaterial revision did not have an effectff on our previously reported consolidated balance
sheets, statements of income, statements of comprehensive income, or statements of changes in equity and redeemable
non-controlling interest or the related disclosures. Cash and cash equivalent margin amounts cannot be used to satisfyff
the Company's operating or other liabilities, as further discussed in Note 14. The following table summarizes the
immaterial revisions to our historical consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the years presented (in millions):
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As of December 31, 2020 As of December 31, 2019
As

Previously
Presented

yy
Adjustment

As
Adjusted

As
Previously
Presented

yy
Adjustment

As
Adjusted

Purchases of invested margin deposits (within
investing activities) ................................................... $ — $ (3,371) $ (3,371) $ — $ (1,890) $ (1,890)

Proceeds from sales of invested margin deposits
(within investing activities) ...................................... — 2,840 2,840 — 744 744

Net cash used in investing activities ......................... (9,830) (531) (10,361) (594) (1,146) (1,740)

Change in cash and cash equivalent margin
deposits
g

and guaranty funds
q

(within financing
g

activities)
pp

.................................................................... — 19,256 19,256 — 1,329 1,329

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 6,744 19,256 26,000 (1,753) 1,329 (424)
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash
equivalen
(

ts, restricted cash and cash
equivalen
q

ts, and cash and cash equivalent
margin
q

deposits and guaranty funds
qq
..................... (197) 18,725 18,528 316 183 499

Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash
equivalents, and cash and cash equivalent
margin deposits and guaranty funds at
beginning of year..................................................... 2,188 62,903 65,091 1,872 62,720 64,592

Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash
equivalents,

q
and cash and cash equivalent

margin
q

deposits and guaranty funds
qq
at end of

year............................................................................. $ 1,991 $ 81,628 $ 83,619 $ 2,188 $ 62,903 $ 65,091

A reconciliation of the components of cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, and cash and cash
equivalent margin deposits and guaranty funds as presented in the consolidated statements of cash flows to the balance
sheet is as follows (in millions):

As of
December 31,

2021

As of
December 31,

2020

As of
December 31,

2019

As of
December 31,

2018
Cash and cash equivalents............................................................... $ 607 $ 583 $ 841 $ 724
Short-term restricted cash and cash equivalents .......................... 1,035 1,000 943 818
Long-term restricted cash and cash equivalents........................... 398 408 404 330
Cash and cash equivalent margin deposits and guaranty funds 145,936 81,628 62,903 62,720
Total ...................................................................................................... $ 147,976 $ 83,619 $ 65,091 $ 64,592

Investments

We have made various investments in the equity securities of other companies. We also invest in mutual funds and fixed
income securities. We classify aff ll other investments that are not cash equivalents with original maturity dates of less than
one year as short-term investments and all investments that we intend to hold for more than one year as long-term
investments. Short-term and long-term investments are included in other current and other non-current assets,
respectively, in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Equity It nvestmentstt

Investments in equity securities, or equity investments, are carried at fair value, with changes in fair value, whether
realized or unrealized, recognized in net income. For those investments that we do not control and which do not have
readily determinable fair market values, such as those which are not publicly-listed companies, we have made a fair value
policy election under ASU No. 2016-01, Financial Instruments - Ott verall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognitiontt and Measurement
of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, or ASU 2016-01. The election requires us to only adjust the fair value of such
investments if and when there is an observable price change in an orderly transaction of a similar or identical investment,
with any change in fair value recognized in net income.

Equity Mt ethod Investmenttt stt

When we do not have a controlling financial interest in an entity but exercise significant influence over the entity’s
operating and financial policies, such investments are accounted for using the equity method and included in other non-
current assets. We recognize dividends when declared as a reduction in the carrying value of our equity method
investments. We evaluate our equity method investments forff impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that a decline in value has occurred that is other than temporary. If the investment is determined to have a decline
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in value deemed to be other than temporary it is written down to estimated fair value. We did not identify impairment
associated with our equity method investments as of December 31, 2021.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is recorded at cost, reduced by accumulated depreciation (Note 7). Depreciation and amortization
is computed using the straight-line method based on estimated useful lives of the assets, or in the case of leasehold
improvements, the shorter of the initial lease term or the estimated useful life of the improvement. We review the
remaining estimated useful lives at each balance sheet date and make adjustments whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the remaining useful lives have changed. Gains on disposals are included in other income and
losses on disposals are included in depreciation expense. Maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

On January 1, 2020, we adopted ASU 2016-13, Financial Instrumenttt stt - Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instrumenttt stt , or ASU 2016-13. Under ASU 2016-13, we estimate our allowance for doubtful accounts using an aging
method, disaggregated based on major revenue stream categories as well as other unique revenue stream factors. The
allowance for doubtful accounts is maintained at a level that we believe to be sufficientff to absorb probable losses over the
expected life in our accounts receivable portfolio. The allowance is based on several factors, including continuous
assessments of risk characteristics, specific customer events that may impact its ability to meet its financial obligations,
and other reasonable and supportable economic characteristics. Accounts receivable are written-offff against the allowance
for doubtful accounts when collection effortsff cease. See "Adoption of ASU 2016-13, Financial Instrumenttt stt - Measurement
of Credit Losses on Financial Instrumenttt stt ", below, for a reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of allowance
for doubtful accounts and other disclosures related to our adoption of ASU 2016-13.

Softwff are Development Costs

We capitalize costs related to software we develop or obtain for internal use. The costs capitalized include both internal
and external direct and incremental costs. General and administrative costs related to developing or obtaining such
software are expensed as incurred. Development costs incurred during the preliminary or maintenance project stages are
expensed as incurred. Costs incurred during the application development stage are capitalized and amortized using the
straight-line method over the useful life of the software, generally not exceeding three years (except for certain ICE Data
Services,rr ICE Mortgage Technology and NYSE platforms, which have seven-year useful lives). Amortization begins only
when the software becomes ready for its intended use.

Accrued Employee Benefits

We have a defined benefit pension plan and other postretirement benefit plans, or collectively the “benefit plans,” covering
certain of our U.S. operations. The benefit accrual for the pension plan is frozen. We recognize the funded status of the
benefit plans in our consolidated balance sheets, measure the fair value of plan assets and benefit obligations as of the
date of our fiscal year-end, and provide additional disclosures in the footnotes (Note 16).

Benefit plan costs and liabilities are dependent on assumptions used in calculating such amounts. These are provided by
a third-party specialist and include discount rates, health care cost trend rates, benefits earned, interest cost, expected
return on assets, mortality rates and other factors. Actual results that differff from the assumptions are accumulated and
amortized over future periods and, therefore,ff generally affectff recognized expense and the recorded obligation in future
periods. However, certain of these unrecognized amounts are recognized when triggering events occur, such as when a
settlement of pension obligations in excess of total interest and service costs occurs. While we believe that the
assumptions used are appropriate, differencesff in actual experience or changes in assumptions may affectff our pension
and other post-retirement obligations and future expense recognized.

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of our acquisitions over the fair value of identifiable net assets
acquired, including other identified intangible assets (Note 8). We recognize specifically-identifiable intangibles when a
specific right or contract is acquired with the assistance of third-party valuation specialists. Goodwill has been allocated to
our reporting units for purposes of impairment testing based on the portion of synergy, cost savings and other expected
future cash flows expected to benefit the reporting units at the time of the acquisition. Our reporting units were updated in
2020 to reflect our new segment presentation. The reporting units identified for our goodwill testing are the NYSE, Other
Exchanges, Fixed Income and Data Services, and Mortgage Technology reporting units. Goodwill impairment testing is
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performedff annually at the reporting unit level in the fiscal fourth quarter or more frequently if conditions exist that indicate
that it may be impaired, or if changes are made to the reporting units. In 2020, we performedff a goodwill impairment test
prior to and after the change in our reporting units.

We also evaluate indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually in our fiscal fourth quarter or more frequently if
conditions exist that indicate that an asset may be impaired.

For both goodwill and indefinite-lived impairment testing we have the option to first performff a qualitative assessment to
determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit or indefinite lived intangible asset is less
than its carrying amount. If the fair value of the goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible asset is less than its carrying value,
an impairment loss is recognized in earnings in an amount equal to the differeff nce. Alternatively, we may choose to bypass
the qualitative option and performff quantitative testing to determine if the fair value is less than carrying value. For our
goodwill impairment testing, we have elected to bypass the qualitative assessment and apply the quantitative approach.
For our testing of indefinite-lived intangible assets, we apply qualitative and quantitative approaches.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Finite-Lived Intangible Assets

We review our finite-lived intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be fully recoverable. When these indicators exist, we project undiscounted net future cash flows
over the remaining life of such assets. If the sum of the projected cash flows is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment would exist, measured based upon the differenceff between the carrying amount and the fair value of the
assets. Finite-lived intangible assets are generally amortized using the straight-line method or an accelerated method over
the lesser of their contractual or estimated useful lives.

Derivatives and Hedging Activity

Periodically, we may use derivative financial instruments to manage exposure to changes in currency exchange rates. All
derivatives are recorded at fair value. We generally do not designate these derivatives as hedges for accounting
purposes. Accordingly, changes in fair value are recognized in income.

We entered into foreign currency hedging transactions during 2021, 2020 and 2019 as economic hedges to help mitigate
a portion of our foreign exchange risk exposure. The gains and losses on these transactions were not material during
these years.

Intellectual Property

All costs related to internally developed patents and trademarks are expensed as incurred. All costs related to purchased
patents, trademarks and internet domain names are recorded as other intangible assets and are amortized using a
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. All costs related to licensed patents are capitalized and amortized
using a straight-line method over the term of the license.

Income Taxes
We recognize income taxes under the liability method. We recognize a current tax liability or tax asset for the estimated
taxes payable or refundable on tax returns for the current year. We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the
expected future tax consequences of temporary differencesff between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax
bases of assets and liabilities. We establish valuation allowances if we believe that it is more likely than not that some or
all of our deferred tax assets will not be realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using current enacted
tax rates in effect.ff We do not recognize a tax benefit unless we conclude that it is more likely than not that the benefit will
be sustained on audit by the taxing authority based solely on the technical merits of the associated tax position. If the
recognition threshold is met, we recognize a tax benefit measured at the largest amount of the tax benefit that, in our
judgment, is greater than 50 percent likely to be realized. We recognize accrued interest and penalties related to uncertain
tax positions as a component of income tax expense. We recognize the tax effectff s related to Global Intangible Low-TaxedTT
Income in the period it is incurred.

We are subject to tax in numerous domestic and foreign jurisdictions primarily based on our operations in these
jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in assessing the future tax consequences of events that have been
recognized in our financial statements or tax returns. Fluctuations in the actual outcome of these future tax consequences
could have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.
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We use a portfolio approach with respect to pension, postretirement benefits plan obligations and currency translation
matters when we determine the timing and extent to which stranded income tax effectsff from items that were previously
recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income are released.

Revenue Recognition

Our revenues primarily consist of revenues for transactions executed and/or cleared through our global electronic
derivatives trading and clearing exchanges and cash equities trading as well as revenues related to our fixed income, data
services, mortgage technology services and listings. We recognize revenue when we transfer promised goods or services
to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which we expect to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. We enter into contracts that can include various combinations of products and services, which are generally
capable of being distinct and accounted for as separate performanceff obligations. We also evaluate all contracts in order
to determine appropriate gross versus net revenue reporting.

Substantially all of our revenues are considered to be revenues from contracts with customers. The related accounts
receivable balances are recorded in our balance sheets as customer accounts receivable. We do not have obligations for
warranties, returns or refunds to customers, other than rebates, which are settled each period and thereforeff do not result
in variable consideration. We do not have significant revenue recognized from performanceff obligations that were satisfied
in prior periods, and we do not have any transaction price allocated to unsatisfied performanceff obligations other than in
our deferred revenue. Certain judgments and estimates are used in the identification and timing of satisfaction of
performanceff obligations and the related allocation of transaction price. We believe that these represent a faithful depiction
of the transfer of services to our customers.

Deferred revenue represents our contract liabilities related to our annual, original and other listings revenues, certain data
services, clearing services, mortgage technology services and other revenues. Deferred revenue is our only significant
contract asset or liability. See Note 9 for our discussion of deferred revenue balances, activity, and expected timing of
recognition.

We have elected not to provide disclosures about transaction price allocated to unsatisfied performanceff obligations if
contract durations are less than one year, or if we are not required to estimate the transaction price. For all of our
contracts with customers, except for listings and certain data, mortgage and clearing services, our performanceff
obligations are short term in nature and there is no significant variable consideration. In addition, we have elected the
practical expedient of excluding sales taxes from transaction prices. We have assessed the costs incurred to obtain or
fulfill a contract with a customer and determined them to be immaterial.

Activity Assessment Fees and Section 31 Fees

We pay the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, fees pursuant to Section 31 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 for transactions executed on our U.S. equities and options exchanges. These Section 31 fees are designed to
recover the costs to the government for supervising and regulating the securities markets and securities professionals. We
(or the Options Clearing Corporation, or OCC, on our behalf), in turn, collect activity assessment fees, which are included
in exchanges revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of income, from member organizations clearing or
settling trades on the U.S. equities and options exchanges and recognize these amounts as revenue when invoiced. Fees
received are included in cash at the time of receipt and, as required by law, the amount due to the SEC is remitted semi-
annually and recorded as an accrued liability until paid. The activity assessment fees are designed so that they are equal
to the Section 31 fees paid by us to the SEC. As a result, Section 31 fees do not have an impact on our net income.

Stock-Based Compensation

We currently sponsor stock option plans, restricted stock plans and our Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or ESPP,P to
provide additional and incentive-based compensation to our employees and directors (Note 11). Stock options and
restricted stock are granted at the discretion of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. We measure and
recognize compensation expense for share-based payment awards, including employee stock options, restricted stock
and shares purchased under the ESPP based on estimated fair values on the date of grant. The value of the portion of the
award that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as stock-based compensation expense over the requisite service
period.

We use the Black-Scholes pricing model to value stock option awards as well as shares purchased as part of our ESPP.
The values estimated by the model are affecteff d by the price of our stock as well as subjective variables that include
assumed interest rates, our expected dividend yield, our expected share price volatility over the term of the awards and
actual and projected employee stock option exercise behavior. Under our ESPP,P employees may purchase shares of our
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common stock at a price equal to 85% of the lesser of the fair market value of the stock on the first or the last trading day
of each offeriff ng period. We record compensation expenses related to the discount given to our participating employees.

Treasury Stock

We record treasury stock activities under the cost method whereby the cost of the acquired stock is recorded as treasury
stock (Note 12). In the event it occurs in the future, our accounting policy upon the formal retirement of treasury stock is to
deduct the par value from common stock and to reflect any excess of cost over par value as a deduction from additional
paid-in capital (to the extent created by previous issuances of the shares) and retained earnings.

Credit Risk and Significant Customers

Our clearing houses are exposed to credit risk as a result of maintaining clearing member cash deposits at various
financial institutions (Note 14). Cash deposit accounts are established at large, highly-rated financial institutions and
entered into so that they restrict the rights of offsetff or imposition of liens by the banks. We also limit our risk of loss by
holding the majority of the cash deposits in cash accounts at the Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago, high quality short-
term sovereign debt reverse repurchase agreements with several differentff counterparty banks or direct investments in
short-term high quality sovereign and supranational debt issues primarily with original maturities of less than three
months. While we seek to achieve a reasonable rate of return which may generate interest income for our clearing
members, we are primarily concerned with preservation of capital and managing the risks associated with these
deposits. As the clearing houses may pass on interest revenues, minus costs, to the members, this could include negative
or reduced yield due to market conditions.

When engaging in reverse repurchase agreements, our clearing houses take delivery of the underlying securities in
custody accounts under clearing house control. Additionally, the securities purchased have a market value greater than
the reverse repurchase amount. The typical haircut received for high quality sovereign debt is 2% of the reverse
repurchase amount. Thus, in the event that a reverse repurchase counterparty defaults on its obligation to repurchase the
underlying reverse repurchase securities, our clearing house will have possession of securities with a value potentially
greater than the reverse repurchase counterparty’s obligation to the clearing house.

ICE Clear Credit, a systemically important financial market utility as designated by the Financial Stability Oversight
Council, maintains a U.S. dollar account at the Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago as of December 31, 2021. ICE Clear
Europe maintains a euro-denominated account at the European Central Bank, or ECB, the central bank of the
Netherlands, as well as pounds sterling- and euro-denominated accounts at the Bank of England, or BOE, the central
bank of the U.K. These accounts provide the flexibility for ICE Clear Europe to place euro- and pounds sterling-
denominated cash margin securely at national banks, in particular during periods when liquidity in the euro and pounds
sterling repo markets may temporarily become contracted. Such accounts are intended to decrease ICE Clear Credit and
ICE Clear Europe’s custodial, liquidity and operational risk as compared to alternative custodial and investment
arrangements.

Our futures businesses have minimal credit risk as the majority of their transaction revenues are currently cleared through
our clearing houses. Our accounts receivable related to fixed income and data services revenues, cash trading, listing
revenues, technology revenues, CDS and bilateral OTC energy transaction revenues and mortgage technology services
subjects us to credit (collection) risk, as we do not require these customers to post collateral. We limit our risk of loss by
terminating a customer's ability to remain listed or receive data or terminating other services for entities with delinquent
accounts. The concentration of risk on accounts receivable is also mitigated by the large number of entities comprising our
customer base.

Our accounts receivable are stated at the billed amount. Excluding clearing members, there were no individual accounts
receivable balances greater than 10% of total consolidated accounts receivable as of December 31, 2021 or
December 31, 2020. No single customer accounted for more than 10% of total consolidated revenues, less transaction-
based expenses, during 2021, 2020 or 2019.

Leases

Operating lease right-of-use assets and liabilities are recorded at the lease commencement date based on the present
value of the lease payments to be made over the lease term using an estimated incremental borrowing rate. We expense
rent monthly on a straight-line basis, as a reduction to the right-of-use asset. Rent expense is included in rent and
occupancy expenses and technology and communication expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of
income (Notes 2 and 15). See "Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements," below, for the lease accounting standard
that we adopted on January 1, 2019 and its impact on our financial statements.
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Acquisition-Related Transaction and Integration Costs

We incur incremental costs relating to our completed and potential acquisitions and other strategic opportunities. This
includes fees for investment banking advisors, lawyers, accountants, tax advisors and public relations firms, as well as
costs associated with credit facilities and other external costs directly related to the proposed or closed transactions.

The acquisition-related transaction and integration costs incurred during 2021 are primarily related to our integration of
Ellie Mae and the Bakkt transaction (Note 3). The acquisition-related transaction and integration costs incurred during
2020 primarily relate to costs incurred for our acquisitions of Ellie Mae and Bridge2 Solutions. Acquisition-related
transaction and integration costs were nominal in 2019.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair value is the price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the
principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. Our financial instruments consist primarily of certain short-term and long-term assets and liabilities,
customer accounts receivable, margin deposits and guaranty funds, equity and equity method investments, and short-
term and long-term debt (Note 17).

The fair value of our financial instruments is measured based on a three-level hierarchy:
• Level 1 inputs— quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.
• Level 2 inputs — observable inputs other than Level 1 inputs such as quoted prices for similar assets and

liabilities in active markets or inputs other than quoted prices that are directly observable.
• Level 3 inputs — unobservable inputs supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair

value of the assets or liabilities.

Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments and Foreign Currency Transaction Gains and Losses

Our functional and reporting currency is the U.S. dollar. We have exposure to foreign currency translation gains and
losses arising from our net investment in certain U.K., continental European, Asian and Canadian subsidiaries. The
revenues, expenses and financial results of these subsidiaries are recorded in the functional currency of the countries that
these subsidiaries are located in, which are primarily pounds sterling and euros. The financial statements of these
subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars using a current rate of exchange, with gains or losses, net of tax as applicable,
included in the cumulative translation adjustment account, a component of equity. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the
portion of our equity attributable to accumulated other comprehensive loss from foreign currency translation adjustments
was $150 million and $134 million, respectively.

We have foreign currency transaction gains and losses related to the settlement of foreign currency denominated assets,
liabilities and payables that occur through our operations. These transaction gains and losses are due to the increase or
decrease in the foreign currency exchange rates between periods. Forward contracts on foreign currencies are entered
into to manage the foreign currency exchange rate risk. Gains and losses from foreign currency transactions are included
in other income (expense) in the accompanying consolidated statements of income and resulted in net losses of $13
million, $5 million and $5 million in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Earnings Per Common Share

Basic earnings per common share is calculated using the weighted average common shares outstanding during the year.
Common equivalent shares from stock options and restricted stock awards, using the treasury stock method, are included
in the diluted per share calculations unless the effectff of inclusion would be antidilutive (Note 19).
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Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

ASU No. 2016-13, Financialii Instruments -tt
Measurement of Creditrr Losses on Financial
Instrumenttt s,tt applies to all financial instruments
carried at amortized cost including held-to-
maturity debt securities and accounts
receivable. It requires financial assets carried at
amortized cost to be presented at the net
amount expected to be collected and requires
entities to record credit losses through an
allowance for credit losses on available-for-sale
debt securities.

We adopted on
January 1, 2020 on a
modified retrospective
basis.

We evaluated this guidance to
determine the impact on our
consolidated financial statements.
Based on our assessment, we
concluded the impact of adoption of
this guidance was not material. Further
disclosures and details on our adoption
are discussed below.

ASU 2017-04, Simplifii yingff the Test for Goodwill
Impairment,t removes the second step of the
goodwill impairment test, which requires a
hypothetical purchase price allocation if the fair
value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying
value. Goodwill impairment will now be
measured using the difference between the
carrying value and the fair value of the reporting
unit, and any loss recognized should not
exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to
that reporting unit.

We adopted on
January 1, 2020 on a
prospective basis.

We evaluated this guidance to
determine the impact on our
consolidated financial statements.
Based on our assessment, we
concluded the impact of adoption of
this guidance was not material. The fair
values of our reporting units have been
greater than their corresponding
carrying values in recent years.
Changes in future projections, market
conditions, and other factorsff may
cause a change in the excess of fair
value of our reporting units over their
corresponding carrying values.

ASU 2018-15, Customer's Accountingtt for
Implementatitt on Costs Itt ncurred in a Cloud
Computingtt Arrangement that is a Service
Contract,tt helps entities evaluate the accounting
for fees paid by a customer in a cloud
computing arrangement by providing guidance
for determining when an arrangement includes
a softwareff license and is solely a hosted
service. Customers will now apply the same
criteria for capitalizing implementation costs as
they would for a software license arrangement.
The guidance also prescribes the balance
sheet, income statement, and cash flow
classification of the capitalized implementation
costs and related amortization expense, and
requires additional quantitative and qualitative
disclosures.

We adopted on
January 1, 2020 and
apply the rules
prospectively to eligible
costs incurred on or
after the effectiff ve date.

We evaluated this guidance to
determine the impact on our
consolidated financial statements.
Based on our assessment, we
concluded the impact of adoption of
this guidance was not material.

ASU No. 2019-12, Simplifyill ngii the Accountingtt
for Income Taxes, eliminates certain exceptions
related to the approach for intraperiod tax
allocation, the methodology forff calculating
income taxes in an interim period and the
recognition of deferred tax liabilities forff outside
basis differences.ff It clarifies that single-member
limited liability companies, and other similar
disregarded entities that are not subject to
income tax, are not required to recognize an
allocation of consolidated income tax expense
in their separate financial statements. Further, it
simplifies the accounting for franchise taxes,
enacted changes in tax laws or rates and
transactions that result in a step-up in the tax
basis of goodwill.

Effeff ctive for fiscal
years beginning after
December 15, 2020
with early adoption
permitted. We elected
early adoption and
adopted on January 1,
2020.

We evaluated this guidance to
determine the impact on our
consolidated financial statements.
Based on our assessment, we
concluded the impact of adoption of
this guidance was not material.

Standard/Description

Effective Date and
Adoption

Considerations Effect on Financial Statements
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ASU No. 2016-02, Leases, requires entities to
recognize both assets and liabilities arising from
finance and operating leases, along with
additional qualitative and quantitative
disclosures.

Adopted on January 1,
2019.

Further disclosures and details on our
adoption are discussed below.

ASU 2018-07, Compensationtt –Stock
Compensationtt (Topic 718) - Improvements ttt o
Nonemployee Share-Based Payment
Accountingtt , or ASU 2018-07 aligns the
accounting for share-based payment awards
issued to employees and nonemployees. Under
this new guidance, the existing employee
guidance will now apply to nonemployee share-
based transactions.

Effectiveff for fiscal
years beginning after
December 15, 2018.
Adopted on January 1,
2019.

This guidance is applied to all new
awards granted after the date of
adoption, and adoption did not have a
material impact on our consolidated
financial statements or related
disclosures.

ASU 2018-14, Compensationtt -Retireii ment
Benefits-Defineii d Benefitff Plans — General
(Subtopic 715-20): Disclosure Framework-
Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for
Definedff Benefitff Plans, or ASU 2018-14 was
issued in August 2018 and removes certain
disclosures that are not considered cost
beneficial, clarifies certain required disclosures
and adds additional disclosures.

Effectiveff for fiscal
years beginning after
December 15, 2020
with early adoption
permitted. We elected
early adoption and
adopted on December
31, 2019. The
amendments in ASU
2018-14 are required
to be applied
retrospectively.

Upon adoption we eliminated certain
disclosure requirements related to our
defined benefit plans that were
previously disclosed in Note 16.
Certain other disclosure requirements
described in Subtopic 715-20 were not
applicable to us.

Standard/Description

Effective Date and
Adoption

Considerations Effect on Financial Statements

We do not currently expect that any pending accounting pronouncements will have a material impact on our financial
statements.

Adoption of ASU 2016-02, Leases

On January 1, 2019, we adopted Accounting Standards Update, or ASU, 2016-02, Leases, or ASU 2016-02. This standard
requires recognition of both assets and liabilities arising from finance and operating leases, along with additional
qualitative and quantitative disclosures. ASU 2016-02 requires lessees to recognize a right-of-use asset representing a
right to use the underlying asset over the lease term, and a corresponding lease liability on the balance sheet. Our
operating leases primarily relate to our leased officeff space and data center facilities, and we do not have any leases
classified as finance leases.

We adopted ASU 2016-02 using the modified retrospective transition method and did not restate prior periods. Using the
modified retrospective approach, we applied the provisions of ASU 2016-02 beginning in the period of adoption, and
elected the package of practical expedients available to us. There was no impact to the opening balance of retained
earnings as a result of a cumulative-effectff adjustment on the adoption date.

At lease inception, we review the service arrangement and components of a contract to identify if a lease or embedded
lease arrangement exists. An indicator of a contract containing a lease is when we have the right to control and use an
identified asset over a period of time in exchange for consideration. Operating lease right-of-use assets and liabilities are
recognized at the commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term, using our
estimated incremental borrowing rate. We utilize the short-term lease policy election to recognize leases with a term of 12
months or less as lease expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term and do not recognize these short-term leases
on our balance sheet. We have elected the practical expedient of not separating lease and non-lease components as our
lease arrangements are not highly dependent on other underlying assets. We have also made policy elections related to
capitalization thresholds and discount rates. We have elected to use a portfolio approach in consideration of our
incremental borrowing rate to our population of lease agreements. Our incremental borrowing rate is determined based on
indicative new issue pricing estimates reflecting our existing debt issuances and comparable industry debt issuances.
Certain lease agreements include options to extend, renew or terminate the lease agreement. Our lease agreements do
not contain any residual value guarantees. As of December 31, 2021, the weighted-average remaining lease term was 5.1
years and the weighted average discount rate was 3.1%. As of December 31, 2020, the weighted-average remaining
lease term was 5.8 years and the weighted average discount rate was 3.1%. Our lease agreements do not contain any
residual value guarantees.
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We recognize rent expense monthly on a straight-line basis for each respective operating lease, as a reduction to the
right-of-use asset. We recognized $61 million, $46 million and $41 million of rent expense for officeff space as rent and
occupancy expense in 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively, and $24 million, $22 million and $21 million of rent expense for
data center facilities as technology and communication expense in 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively, within our
consolidated income statement. We do not have any significant variable lease costs related to building and maintenance
costs, real estate taxes, or other charges.

Details of our lease asset and liability balances are as follows (in millions):

As of
December 31, 2021

As of
December 31, 2020

As of
January 1, 2019

Right-of-use lease assets............................................................ $ 278 $ 339 $ 287

Current operating lease liability .............................................. 72 69 53
Non-current operating lease liability ...................................... 252 320 281

Total operating lease liability....................................................... $ 324 $ 389 $ 334

As of December 31, 2021, we estimate that our operating lease liability will be recognized in the follff owing years (in
millions):

2022 .......................................................................................................................................................................................... $ 82
2023 .......................................................................................................................................................................................... 69
2024 .......................................................................................................................................................................................... 65
2025 .......................................................................................................................................................................................... 51
2026 .......................................................................................................................................................................................... 31

Thereafter ................................................................................................................................................................................. 52
Lease liability amounts repayable ............................................................................................................................................ $ 350
Interest costs ............................................................................................................................................................................... 26
Total operating lease liability ..................................................................................................................................................... $ 324

Supplemental cash flow informatff ion and non-cash activity related to our operating leases are as follows:

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liability ..... $ 91 $ 72
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease obligations................ $ 13 $ 117

Year Ended
December 31, 2021

Year Ended
December 31, 2020

Adoption of ASU 2016-13, Finaii ncial Instrumerr nts - Measuremenrr t of Creditdd Losses on Finaii ncial InsII truments

On January 1, 2020, we adopted ASU 2016-13. This standard requires the application of a current expected credit loss, or
CECL, impairment model to financial assets measured at amortized cost, including accounts receivable and certain off-ff
balance-sheet credit exposures. The standard also amends the impairment model for available-for-sale debt securities
requiring entities to record credit losses through an allowance account. The CECL model requires an entity to estimate its
lifetime expected credit loss and record an allowance that, when deducted from the amortized cost basis of the financial
asset, presents the net amount expected to be collected on the financial asset.

We adopted ASU 2016-13 using the modified retrospective approach through a cumulative-effectff adjustment to retained
earnings on January 1, 2020. ASU 2016-13 primarily impacted the calculation of our allowance for doubtful accounts on
accounts receivable utilizing the expected credit losses model. We do not currently hold available-for-sale debt securities,
off-baff lance-sheet credit exposures, or other material financial assets impacted by the standard, besides those mentioned
below.

We consider our material financial assets within scope, including our cash equivalents, short-term and long-term restricted
cash equivalents as well as our clearing members' cash equivalent and reverse repurchase receivables, and determined
that such assets have a de minimis risk of credit loss. We invest our cash and clearing members' cash by placing it in
highly-rated government securities, primarily U.S. Treasury securities and other sovereign debt with original maturities of
less than three months which we consider to be cash equivalents, or into reverse repurchase agreements, referred to as
reverse repos, with primarily overnight maturities. Reverse repos are valued daily and are subject to collateral
maintenance provisions whereby the counterparty must provide additional collateral if the value of the underlying
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securities lose value, in an amount sufficientff to maintain collateralization of at least 102%. Therefore,ff as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2021 we have not recorded a credit loss for these financial assets.

Based on the high turnover and collectability of our accounts receivable, the mitigated default and concentration risks due
to the high quality and large number of entities comprising our customer base, and the monthly billing process for the
majority of our revenue, we have not experienced a significant increase in the loss provision recognized upon adoption of
the CECL model.

We estimate our allowance for doubtful accounts using an aging method, disaggregated based on major revenue stream
categories as well as other unique revenue stream factors. At each measurement date we reassess whether our accounts
receivable pools continue to exhibit similar risk characteristics. We then determine if assets need to be isolated further as
part of their own specific line item reserve due to specific events, such as a customer’s inability to meet its financial
obligations (i.e. customer disputes, highly unresponsive customers, delinquency of the receivable, or other indicators of
credit deterioration of customers). Lastly, the CECL standard is forward-looking and requires us to factor reasonable and
supportable economic expectations into our allowance estimate for the asset's entire expected life, which is generally less
than one year.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of allowance forff doubtful accounts is as folff lows for the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Beginning balance of allowance for doubtful accounts...................................... $ 27 $ 8 $ 7
Impact of adoption of ASU 2016-13 ...................................................................... — 13 —
Bad debt expense .................................................................................................... 13 16 10
Charge-offsff ............................................................................................................... (16) (10) (9)
Ending balance of allowance for doubtful accounts ........................................... $ 24 $ 27 $ 8

The impact of our adoption of ASU 2016-13 was $10 million, net of tax. We recorded this impact as an adjustment to
retained earnings on January 1, 2020 as shown in our Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and Redeemable
Non-Controlling Interest. We have included in our allowance assessment the impact of and our responses to the
coronavirus, or COVID-19, pandemic. Our bad debt expense, which is included in selling, general and administive
expense in our statements of income, in the table above includes that assessment, the impact of which was not material
for the years ended December 31, 2021 or 2020. We will continue to review our accounts receivable and may incur future
charge-offsff as better estimates become available in future periods. Charge-offsff in the table above represent the write-offff
of uncollectible receivables, net of recoveries. These amounts also include the impact of foreign currency translation
adjustments.

3. Acquisitions and Divestitures

Acquisitions

Ellie Mae
Intermediate
Holdings I, Inc., and
its indirect wholly
owned subsidiary,
Ellie Mae, Inc.
(collectively, Ellie
Mae)

September 4,
2020

Mortgage
Technology

Ellie Mae is a cloud-based technology solution provider for
the mortgage finance industry, and expanded our ICE
Mortgage Technology portfolio. Through its digital lending
platform, Ellie Mae provides technology solutions to
participants in the mortgage supply chain, including over
3,000 customers and thousands of partners and investors
who participate on its open network. Originators rely on Ellie
Mae to securely manage the exchange of data across the
mortgage ecosystem to enable the origination of mortgages
while adhering to various local, state and federal compliance
requirements. See below for the Ellie Mae purchase price
allocation and supplemental pro forma financial informatff ion.

Company Acquisition Date
Primary
Segment Description
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Bridge2 Solutions February 21,
2020

Exchanges Bridge2 Solutions is a leading provider of loyalty solutions
for merchants and consumers. Bridge2 Solutions enables
some of the world’s leading brands to engage customers
and drive loyalty. It powers incentive and employee perk
programs for companies across a wide spectrum of
industries. As of October 31, 2021, following the Bakkt
transaction discussed below, we no longer consolidate
Bridge2 Solutions.

Simplifile, LC, or
Simplifile

June 12, 2019 Mortgage
Technology

Simplifile offersff an array of mortgage services, primarily
serving as an electronic liaison between lenders,
settlement agents and county recording offices,ff
streamlining the local recording of residential mortgage
transactions and is now part of ICE Mortgage TechnologTT y.
See below for the Simplifile purchase price allocation.

Company Acquisition Date
Primary
Segment Description

During 2021 and 2019, we acquired multiple companies which were not material to our operations.

Ellie Mae Acquisition

On September 4, 2020, we acquired Ellie Mae for aggregate consideration of $11.4 billion from private equity firm Thoma
Bravo. The purchase price consisted of $9.5 billion in cash, as adjusted for $335 million of cash and cash equivalents held
by Ellie Mae on the date of acquisition, and approximately $1.9 billion, or approximately 18.4 million shares of our
common stock, based on our stock price on the acquisition date. ICE funded the cash portion of the purchase price with
net proceeds from our offeriff ng of new senior notes in August 2020, together with the issuance of commercial paper and
borrowings under a new senior unsecured term loan facility (Note 10). We have evaluated the impact of this acquisition
and related disclosures under ASC 805- Business Combinations.tt

The purchase price has been allocated to the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets and liabilities based on the
respective estimated fair values on the date of acquisition, as determined with the assistance of a third-party valuation
specialist. The excess of purchase price over the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets has been recorded as
goodwill. Goodwill represents potential revenue synergies related to new product development, various expense
synergies and opportunities to enter new markets. The purchase price allocation is as follows (in millions):

Purchase Price
Allocation

Cash and cash equivalents............................................................................................................................................ $ 335
Property and equipment ................................................................................................................................................. 125
Goodwill............................................................................................................................................................................. 7,731
Identifiable intangibles ..................................................................................................................................................... 4,442
Other assets and liabilities, net ...................................................................................................................................... 48
Deferred tax liabilities on identifiable intangibles........................................................................................................ (1,253)
Total purchase price allocation ...................................................................................................................................... $ 11,428

In performing the purchase price allocation, we considered, among other factors, the intended future use of acquired
assets, analysis of historical financial performanceff and estimates of future performanceff of the Ellie Mae business.

The following table sets forth the components of the intangible assets associated with the acquisition as of December 31,
2021 (in millions, except years):

Acquisition-
Date

q
Fair
qq

Value
Accumulated
Amortization

Net Book
Value

Useful Life
(Years)

Customer relationships ............................................................. $ 3,136 $ (215) $ 2,921 10 to 20
Backlog........................................................................................ 300 (79) 221 5
Trademark/Tradenames ........................................................... 200 (14) 186 5 to 20
Developed Technology ............................................................. 739 (147) 592 7
In-process Research & Development .................................... 67 — 67 N/A
Total ............................................................................................ $ 4,442 $ (455) $ 3,987( )( )
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From the acquisition date through December 31, 2020, Ellie Mae revenues of $351 million, were included in our mortgage
technology revenues, and operating expenses of $250 million were recorded in our consolidated income statement.

The financial information in the table below summarizes the combined results of operations of ICE and Ellie Mae, on a pro
forma basis, as though the companies had been combined as of the beginning of the period presented. The unaudited pro
forma financial information is presented for informatff ional purposes only and is not indicative of the results of operations
that would have been achieved if the acquisition had taken place at the beginning of the period presented. Such
unaudited pro forma financial informatff ion is based on the historical financial statements of ICE and Ellie Mae. This
unaudited pro forma financial informatff ion is based on estimates and assumptions that have been made solely for
purposes of developing such unaudited pro forma information, including, without limitation, purchase accounting
adjustments, interest expense on debt issued to finance the purchase price, acquisition-related transaction costs, the
removal of historical Ellie Mae intangible asset amortization and the addition of intangible asset amortization related to this
acquisition. The unaudited pro forma financial informatff ion does not reflect any synergies or operating cost reductions that
have been and may be achieved from the combined operations. The unaudited pro forma financial informatff ion combines
the historical results forff us and Ellie Mae for 2020 in the following table (in millions, except per share amounts).

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019

Total revenues, less transaction-based expenses ......................................................................... $ 6,644 $ 5,832
Net income attributable to ICE........................................................................................................... $ 2,193 $ 1,732

Transaction-based expenses included within revenues, less transaction-based expenses in the table above, were not
impacted by pro forma adjustments and agree to the amounts presented historically in our consolidated income
statements as they relate solely to ICE and not to Ellie Mae.

Bakkt Transaction

On October 15, 2021, Bakkt Holdings, LLC, or Bakkt, completed its merger with VPC Impact Acquisition Holdings, or VIH,
a special purpose acquisition company sponsored by Victory Park Capital, or VPC. Bakkt is an integrated platform that
enables customers and consumers to transact in digital assets.

The business combination between Bakkt and VIH resulted in enterprise value of approximately $2.1 billion, including
approximately $479 million of cash on the combined company’s balance sheet, reflecting a contribution of up to
$123 million of cash held in VIH’s trust account, and a $325 million concurrent private investment in public equity, or PIPE,
of Class A common stock of the combined company and $31 million of cash held in Bakkt accounts. The PIPE was priced
at $10.00 per share and included a $47 million commitment from us. The newly combined company has been renamed
Bakkt Holdings, Inc. and is listed on the New York Stock Exchange, or NYSE.

As part of the transaction, Bakkt’s existing equity holders and management rolled 100% of their equity into the combined
company through a retained variable interest in Bakkt and are subject to a six-month lockup period. Certain shareholders
of VIH exercised their redemption rights, and at closing, Bakkt equity holders, including ICE, owned approximately 81% of
the combined company, VIH’s public shareholders owned approximately 5%, VPC owned 2%, and PIPE investors (a
group that also includes us) owned approximately 12% of the issued and outstanding equity of the combined company.

Following completion of the business combination, we initially held a 68% economic interest, which includes both our
variable interest and PIPE investment. As a result of limitations on ICE from the Bakkt voting agreement entered into in
connection with the transaction, we hold a minority voting interest in the combined company. Prior to the closing, Bakkt
revenues and operating expenses were reported within our consolidated revenues and operating expenses. Following the
closing, as a consequence of our inability to meet the power criterion through our variable interest and because of holding
a minority voting interest in the combined company, during the fourth quarter of 2021 we deconsolidated Bakkt upon loss
of control and prospectively treat it as an equity method investment within our financial statements. We recorded a pre-tax
gain on the transaction of $1.4 billion during the fourth quarter of 2021, which is included in other non-operating income
within our consolidated income statement. The pre-tax gain is a result of recording an equity method investment value of
$1.7 billion plus the removal of our redeemable non-controlling interest liability of $107 million, partially offsetff by the
deconsolidation of Bakkt net assets of $295 million and our additional PIPE contribution of $47 million.

The merger of Bakkt and VIH triggered a market condition event on the Bakkt equity incentive awards. As a result, during
2021, we incurred a $31 million non-cash compensation expense related to these awards which we recorded as an
acquisition-related cost prior to deconsolidating Bakkt (Note 11).
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Additional Bridge2 Solutions Acquisition Considerations

To fund the acquisition of Bridge2 Solutions, and prior to the Bakkt merger with VIH discussed above, Bakkt completed a
capital call for $300 million in funding by ICE and the minority investors. This acquisition-related capital call triggered a
market condition of certain Bakkt equity incentive awards, and as a result, we incurred a $10 million non-cash
compensation expense in 2020 related to these awards which was recorded as an acquisition-related cost (Note 11).

Acquisition Purchase Prices and Allocation

The following summarizes our purchase price allocation for Bridge2 Solutions and Simplifile to the respective net tangible
and identifiable intangible assets and liabilities based on their respective estimated fair values on the date of acquisition.
For each acquisition, the excess of the purchase price over the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets has been
recorded as goodwill. Cash consideration was gross of $12 million cash held by Simplifile on the date of its acquisition.
For these acquisitions, revenues and expenses were not material to the periods presented.

Customer relationship intangibles .................................................................. $ 54 12 $ 104 20
Developed technology intangibles..................................................................... 12 7 7 7
Trade name intangibles ....................................................................................... — 1 2 5

Total identifiable intangible assets ............................................................ $ 66 $ 113
Goodwill .............................................................................................................. 217 218
Other working capital adjustments .................................................................... (22) 7

Total purchase price cash consideration ............................................... $ 261 $ 338

Acquisition Purchase Price Allocation
(dollars in millions)

Bridge2 Solutions
Useful Life
(Years) Simplifile

Useful Life
(Years)

Non-Controlling Interest

During 2020, we received a contribution from a group of minority investors for a non-controlling interest in ICE Futures
Abu Dhabi.

Minority investors hold a net profit sharing interest in our CDS clearing subsidiaries of 26.7% ownership interest as of
December 31, 2021.

In December 2018, Bakkt was capitalized with $183 million in initial funding with ICE as the majority owner, along with a
group of other minority investors, and in March 2020, an additional $300 million in funding occurred with ICE maintaining
its majority ownership. We held a call option over these interests subject to certain terms. Similarly, the non-ICE partners
in Bakkt held a put option to require us to repurchase their interests subject to certain terms. These minority interests were
reflected as redeemable non-controlling interests in temporary equity within our consolidated balance sheet. Following the
October 2021 Bakkt merger discussed above, we no longer consolidate Bakkt and therefore do not record a redeemable
non-controlling interest in Bakkt as of December 31, 2021.

4. Investments

Equity Investments Subject to ASU 2016-01

Our equity investments, including our investment in Euroclear plc, or Euroclear, among others, are subject to valuation
under ASU 2016-01, Financialii Instrumenttt s-tt Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognitiontt and Measurement of Financialii Assetstt
and Financial Liabilities, or ASU 2016-01. See Note 17 forff a discussion of our determination of fair value of our financial
instruments.

Investment in Cii oinbase

On December 1, 2014, we acquired preferred stock of Coinbase Global, Inc., or Coinbase, which operates a
cryptocurrency exchange platform, for $10 million, representing a 1.4% ownership share on a fully-diluted, as-converted
basis. On April 14, 2021, Coinbase completed an initial public offeriff ng, or IPO. On April 15, 2021, we completed the sale
of our investment in Coinbase for $1.24 billion and recorded a gain of $1.23 billion, or $892 million net of tax, as other
income in our consolidated statement of income.
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Investment in Euroclear

We own a 9.8% stake in Euroclear as of December 31, 2021 that we originally purchased for $631 million, and we
participate on the Euroclear Board of Directors. Euroclear is a provider of post-trade services, including settlement, central
securities depositories and related services for cross-border transactions across asset classes. We classifyff our
investment in Euroclear as an equity investment.

In September 2021, we became aware of an observable price change in orderly transactions of similar Euroclear
investments by a third party. The transactions resulted in a fair value adjustment of our Euroclear investment, and we
recorded a gain of $34 million in other income, which includes the impact of foreign currency translation. Following the
adjustment and as of December 31, 2021, the adjusted fair value of our Euroclear investment is $701 million. We are not
aware of the occurrence of any observable price changes in orderly transactions of similar Euroclear investments since
September 2021.

On October 18, 2021, we announced that we had reached an agreement to sell our entire 9.8% stake in Euroclear for
€709 million. The sale is subject to customary closing conditions and regulatory approval. As a result of our expectation to
sell our Euroclear investment, we include this investment in other current assets as of December 31, 2021.

Additionally, we recognized dividend income of $60 million and $19 million in 2021 and 2019, respectively, from Euroclear,
included in other income. As a result of a 2020 European regulation limiting dividend payments, we did not receive a
Euroclear dividend in 2020, but we received two dividend payments during 2021.

Equity Method Investments

We recognized ($42 million), $71 million and $62 million as other income/(expense) during 2021, 2020 and 2019,
respectively, related to our equity method investments in OCC, BondLink, Inc., or BondLink and Bakkt, discussed below.
BondLink and Bakkt became our equity method investments during 2021, and prior to that, as of December 31, 2020,
OCC was our only equity method investment. Our equity method investments are included in other non-current assets in
the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Under the equity method of accounting, each reporting period we adjust
the carrying value of our equity method investments on our balance sheet by recognizing our pro-rata share of the
earnings or losses of each investment, with a corresponding adjustment in our statement of income to other income, after
eliminating any intra-entity income or expenses. In addition, if and when our equity method investments issue cash
dividends to us, we deduct the amount of these dividends from the carrying amount of that investment.

Investment in OCC

We own a 40% interest in OCC through a direct investment by the NYSE and which is regulated by the SEC and the
Commodity Futures Trading Commission, or CFTC, that we treat as an equity method investment. OCC serves as a
clearing house for securities options, security futures, commodity futures and options on futures traded on various
independent exchanges. OCC clears securities options traded on NYSE Arca and NYSE Amex Options, along with other
non-affilff iated exchanges, and is regulated by the SEC as a registered clearing agency and by the CFTC as a derivatives
clearing organization.

We recognized $51 million, $71 million and $62 million during 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively, of equity earnings as
our share of the OCC's estimated profits, which is included in other income.

Investment in BondLink, Inc.

On May 12, 2021, we made a 35.0% strategic investment in BondLink, a financial technology company that provides
cloud-based debt management software solutions to governments financing infrastructure in the municipal bond market.
The Series B investment is designed to accelerate BondLink’s growth and product development, including by providing a
variety of our market-leading data sets to municipalities as they prepare to issue bonds. We treat BondLink as an equity
method investment which is included in other non-current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet, and
we record equity earnings of our share of BondLink's estimated profits, which we include in other income.

Investment in Bakkt

Following Bakkt's October 15, 2021 merger with VIH, we initially held a 68% economic interest and we show our share of
Bakkt's profits and losses in other income (Note 3). For the three months ended December 31, 2021, we recorded
estimated equity losses of ($92 million) related to our investment in Bakkt, and as of December 31, 2021 our carrying
value of our Bakkt investment is $1.6 billion.
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5. Revenue Recognition

Our primary revenue contract classifications are described below. These categories best represent those with similar
economic characteristics of the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of our revenues and cash flows.

Exchanges Revenues

• Futures and Options: Revenues in our futures and options trading businesses primarily represent fees charged
for the performance obligations of derivatives trading and clearing. In our derivatives markets, we earn transaction
and clearing revenues from both counterparties to each contract that is traded and/or cleared.

Our transaction and clearing revenues are primarily included in our Exchanges segment with the exception of our
CDS transaction and clearing revenues which are discussed below and are included in our Fixed Income and Data
Services segment. Derivatives trading and clearing fees contain two performance obligations: (1) trade execution/
clearing novation and (2) risk management of open interest. While we allocate the transaction price between these
two performance obligations, since they generally are satisfied almost simultaneously, there is no significant
deferral of revenue. Our Exchanges segment futures and options transaction and clearing revenues are reported
net of rebates. Rebates were $982 million, $933 million and $843 million in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Transaction and clearing fees can be variable based on trade volume discounts used in the determination of
rebates, however virtually all volume discounts are calculated and recorded on a monthly basis. Transaction and
clearing fees, as well as any volume discounts rebated to our customers, are calculated and billed monthly in
accordance with our published fee schedules.

• Cash Equities and Equity Options: Revenues in our equity and equity options markets represent trade execution
fees. Cash trading and equity options contain one performanceff obligation related to each transaction which occurs
instantaneously, and the revenue is recorded at the point in time of the transaction. We make liquidity payments to
certain customers, as well as charge routing fees related to orders in our markets which are routed to other
markets for execution and recognize those payments as a cost of revenue. In addition, we pay NYSE regulatory
oversight fees to the SEC and collect equal amounts from our customers. These are also considered a cost of
revenue, and both of these NYSE-related fees are included in transaction-based expenses. For one of our equity
option exchanges, revenues are reported net of rebates. Rebates for that exchange were $51 million, $29 million
and $12 million in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

• Listings: Our listings revenues include original and annual listings fees, and other corporate action fees. Each
distinct listing fee is allocated to multiple performanceff obligations including original and incremental listing and
investor relations services, as well as a customer’s material right to renew the option to list on our exchanges. In
performingff this allocation, the standalone selling price of the listing services is based on the original and annual
listing fees and the standalone selling price of the investor relations services is based on its market value. All
listings fees are billed upfront and the identified performanceff obligations are satisfied over time. Revenue related to
the investor relations performanceff obligation is recognized ratably over the period these services are provided,
with the remaining revenue recognized ratably over time as customers continue to list on our exchanges. Listings
fees related to other corporate actions are considered contract modifications of our listing contracts and are
recognized ratably over time as customers continue to list on our exchanges.

• Data and Connectivity Servirr ces: Our data and connectivity services revenues are related to the various data and
connectivity services that we provide which are directly attributable to our exchange venues. Exchange data
services include, among other offeriff ngs, proprietary real-time and historical pricing data, as well as order book and
transaction informatff ion related to our global futures markets and the NYSE exchanges. In addition, we receive a
share of revenue from the National Market System, or NMS, Plan. Separately, we also provide connectivity
services directly related to our futures, cash equity and options exchanges and clearing houses. Data and
connectivity services revenues are primarily subscription-based, billed monthly, quarterly or annually in advance
and recognized ratably over time as our performanceff obligations of data delivery are met consistently throughout
the period. Considering that these contracts primarily consist of single performanceff obligations with fixed prices,
there is no variable consideration and no need to allocate the transaction price.

• OTC and Other: Our OTC revenues are generated in our bilateral energy markets where we offerff electronic
trading on contracts based on physically settled natural gas, power and refined oil contracts. Other revenues
primarily include interest income on certain clearing margin deposits, regulatory penalties and fines, fees for use of
our facilities, regulatory fees charged to member organizations of our U.S. securities exchanges, designated
market maker service fees, exchange membership fees and agricultural grading and certification fees. Generally,
fees for OTC and other revenues contain one performanceff obligation. Because these contracts primarily consist of

108



single performanceff obligations with fixed prices, there is no variable consideration and no need to allocate the
transaction price. Services for OTC and other revenues are primarily satisfied at a point in time. Therefore,ff there is
no need to allocate the fee and no deferral results as we have no further obligation to the customer at that time.

In certain of our revenue share arrangements with third parties we control the delivered contract; in these arrangements
we are acting as a principal and the revenue is recorded gross.

Fixed Income and Data Services Revenues

• Fixed Income Execution: Execution fees are reported net of rebates, and can be variable based on trade volume
discounts used in the determination of rebates, however virtually all volume discounts are calculated and recorded
on a monthly basis. Execution fees and rebates are calculated and billed monthly in accordance with our published
fee schedules. Fixed income execution rebates were nominal in 2021, 2020 and 2019. In addition, we earn fixed
income transaction fees on the trade execution of agency trades, commissions and net markups and markdowns
on riskless principal trades. Fixed income execution fees contain one performanceff obligation related to each
transaction which occurs instantaneously, and the revenue is recorded at the point in time. Fixed income revenues
also include interest income on certain clearing margin deposits related to our CDS clearing business which are
satisfied at a point in time and consists of a single performanceff obligations.

• CDS Clearing: CDS clearing revenues are reported net of rebates. Rebates were nominal in 2021 and 2020 and
were $5 million in 2019. We provide clearing services to the global CDS market and the timing and nature of our
CDS transaction and clearing revenue is similar in nature to the Exchanges Segment transaction and clearing
revenues discussed above. The CDS derivatives trading and clearing fees contain two performance obligations: (1)
trade execution/clearing novation and (2) risk management of open interest. While we allocate the transaction price
between these two performanceff obligations, since they generally are satisfied almost simultaneously, there is no
significant deferral of revenue.

• Fixed Income Data and Analytics, and Other Data and Network Services: Fixed income data and analytics
services revenues are recurring in nature and include evaluated pricing and reference data and analytics including
sovereign, corporate and municipal bonds, mortgage and asset-backed securities, as well as leveraged loans.
Other data and network services include those related to the ICE Global Network and our consolidated feeds
business, as well as desktops and other multi-asset class analytics.

The nature and timing of each contract type for the data services above are similar in nature. Data services
revenues are primarily subscription-based, billed monthly, quarterly or annually in advance and recognized ratably
over time as our performanceff obligations of data delivery are met consistently throughout the period. Considering
that these contracts primarily consist of single performanceff obligations with fixed prices, there is no variable
consideration and no need to allocate the transaction price. In certain of our data contracts, where third parties are
involved, we either arrange for the third party to transfer the services to our customers, or we transfer third-party
data to our customers; in these arrangements we are acting as an agent and revenue is recorded net.

Mortgage Technology Revenues

• Origination Technology: Our origination technology acts as a system of record for the mortgage origination,
automating the gathering, reviewing, and verifyingff of mortgage-related informatff ion and enabling automated
enforcementff of rules and business practices designed to help ensure that each completed loan transaction is of
high quality and adheres to secondary market standards. These revenues are based on recurring Softwareff as a
Service, or SaaS, subscription fees, with an additive Success-Based Pricing fee as lenders exceed the number of
loans closed that are included with their monthly base subscription.

In addition, the ICE Mortgage Technology network provides originators connectivity to the mortgage supply chain
and facilitates the secure exchange of informatff ion between our customers and a broad ecosystem of third-party
service providers, as well as lenders and investors that are critical to consummating the millions of loan
transactions that occur on our origination network each year. Revenue from the ICE Mortgage Technology network
is largely transaction-based.

Performance obligations consist of a series of distinct services and support services. Mortgage subscription
customers simultaneously receive and consume benefits from our performanceff and revenues are recognized over
time as our performanceff obligations are met consistently throughout the period. Contracts generally range from
one year to five years. Success-based contracts are subject to monthly billing calculations whereby customers are
obligated to pay the greater of a contractual base fee or variable closed loan fee based on the number of closed
loan transactions processed by the customer in the specific month. Under success-based contracts, monthly base
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fees are recognized ratably over the contract terms as subscription performanceff obligations are satisfied and
closed loan fees in excess of base fees are considered variable consideration.

For the majority of contracts that include variable consideration, such fees are recognized in the month in which
they are earned because the terms of the variable payments relate specifically to the outcome from transferring the
distinct time increment (one month) of service and because such amounts reflect the fees to which we expect to be
entitled for providing access to the Encompass platform for that period, consistent with the allocation objective of
Topic 606. For certain contracts where the allocation objective would not be met by allocating variable
consideration in this way, total variable consideration to be received is estimated at contract inception and
recognized ratably over the contract term considering historical trends, industry data, and contract specific factors
to determine an expected amount to which we expect to be entitled. The amount of variable consideration included
in the transaction price is constrained to ensure that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the amount of variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
When agreements involve multiple distinct performance obligations, we allocate arrangement consideration to all
performanceff obligations at the inception of an arrangement based on the relative standalone selling prices of each
performanceff obligation.

• Closing Solutions: Our closing solutions connect key participants such as lenders, title and settlement agents and
individual county recorders together to digitize the closing and recording process. For these services, we act as
agent and revenues are recorded net. Revenues for these services primarily contain one performanceff obligation
related to each transaction which occurs instantaneously, and the revenues are primarily recorded at the point in
time of the transaction. Closing solutions also includes revenues from our Mortgage Electronic Registrations
Systems, Inc., or MERS database, which provides a system of record for recording and tracking changes and
servicing rights and beneficial ownership interests in loans secured by U.S. residential real estate. MERS
implemented a revised pricing structure effectff ive July 1, 2021. As a result, MERS database revenues contain
multiple performanceff obligations related to each new loan registration and future transfers, and the revenues are
primarily recorded at the point in time of each transaction. Closing solutions revenues may include a fixed-feef
subscription component recognized ratably over the contract term, as this method best depicts our pattern of
performance.ff

• Data and Analytics: Revenues include those related to ICE Mortgage Technology’s Automation, Intelligence,
Quality, or AIQ, offeringff which applies machine learning and artificial intelligence to the entire loan origination
process, offeringff customers greater efficiencyff by streamlining data collection and validation through our automated
document recognition and data extraction capabilities. AIQ revenues can be both recurring and transaction-based
in nature. In addition, our data offeringsff include real-time industry and peer benchmarking tools, which provide
originators a granular view into the real-time trends of nearly half the U.S. residential mortgage market. We also
provide a Data as a Service, or DaaS, offeringff through private data clouds for lenders to access their own data and
origination informatff ion. Revenues related to our data products are largely subscription-based and recurring in
nature and recognized ratably over time as this method best depicts our pattern of perforff mance. Our performanceff
obligations of data delivery are met consistently throughout the period.

• Other: Other revenues include professional services fees, as well as revenues from ancillary products. Other
revenues are transaction-based and primarily contain one performanceff obligation which occurs instantaneously,
therefore revenues are recorded at the point in time of the transaction.
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The folff lowing table depicts the disaggregation of our revenue according to business line and segment (in millions).
Amounts here have been aggregated as they folff low consistent revenue recognition patterns, and are consistent with the
segment information in Note 18:

Exchanges
Segment

Fixed Income and
Data Services
Segment

Mortgage
Technology
Segment

Total
Consolidated

Year ended December 31, 2021
Exchanges.................................................................... $ 5,878 $ — $ — $ 5,878
Fixed income and data services ............................... — 1,883 — 1,883
Mortgage technology .................................................. — — 1,407 1,407
Total revenues.............................................................. 5,878 1,883 1,407 9,168
Transaction-based expenses .................................... 2,022 — — 2,022
Total revenues, less transaction-based expenses . $ 3,856 $ 1,883 $ 1,407 $ 7,146

Timing of Revenue Recognition
Services transferred at a point in time ..................... $ 2,166 $ 216 $ 820 $ 3,202
Services transferred over time .................................. 1,690 1,667 587 3,944
Total revenues, less transaction-based expenses . $ 3,856 $ 1,883 $ 1,407 $ 7,146

Exchanges
Segment

Fixed Income and
Data Services
Segment

Mortgage
Technology
Segment

Total
Consolidated

Year ended December 31, 2020
Exchanges.................................................................... $ 5,839 $ — $ — $ 5,839
Fixed income and data services ............................... — 1,810 — 1,810
Mortgage technology .................................................. — — 595 595
Total revenues.............................................................. 5,839 1,810 595 8,244
Transaction-based expenses .................................... 2,208 — — 2,208
Total revenues, less transaction-based expenses . $ 3,631 $ 1,810 $ 595 $ 6,036

Timing of Revenue Recognition
Services transferred at a point in time ..................... $ 2,045 $ 249 $ 439 $ 2,733
Services transferred over time .................................. 1,586 1,561 156 3,303
Total revenues, less transaction-based expenses . $ 3,631 $ 1,810 $ 595 $ 6,036

Exchanges
Segment

Fixed Income and
Data Services
Segment

Mortgage
Technology
Segment

Total
Consolidated

Year ended December 31, 2019
Exchanges.................................................................... $ 4,652 $ — $ — $ 4,652
Fixed income and data services ............................... — 1,756 — 1,756
Mortgage technology .................................................. — — 139 139
Total revenues.............................................................. 4,652 1,756 139 6,547
Transaction-based expenses .................................... 1,345 — — 1,345
Total revenues, less transaction-based expenses . $ 3,307 $ 1,756 $ 139 $ 5,202

Timing of Revenue Recognition
Services transferred at a point in time ..................... $ 1,784 $ 270 $ 133 $ 2,187
Services transferred over time .................................. 1,523 1,486 6 3,015
Total revenues, less transaction-based expenses . $ 3,307 $ 1,756 $ 139 $ 5,202

The Exchanges segment revenues above include $838 million, $790 million, and $752 million in 2021, 2020 and 2019,
respectively, of data services revenues. Fixed Income and Data Services segment revenues above include $1.6 billion,
$1.5 billion, and $1.5 billion in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively, of data services revenues. Our data services revenues
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are transferred over time, and a majority of those revenues are performedff over a short period of time of one month or less
and relate to subscription-based data services billed monthly, quarterly or annually in advance. These revenues are
recognized ratably over time as our data delivery performanceff obligations are met consistently throughout the period.

The Exchanges segment revenues above include $479 million, $446 million, and $449 million in 2021, 2020 and 2019,
respectively, forff services transferred over time related to listings, as well as $260 million, $241 million, and $221 million in
2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively, forff services transferred over time related to risk management of open interest
performanceff obligations. In addition, the Exchanges segment revenues include $113 million, $109 million, and
$101 million in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively, forff services transferred over time related to regulatory fees, trading
permits, and software licenses.

The Fixed Income and Data Services segment revenues above include $28 million, $29 million, and $26 million in 2021,
2020 and 2019, respectively, forff services transferred over time related to risk management of open interest performance
obligations. A majority of these performanceff obligations are performedff over a short period of time of one month or less.

The Mortgage Technology segment revenues transferred over time in the table above primarily relate to our origination
technology revenue whereby performanceff obligations consist of a series of distinct services and are recognized over the
contract terms as subscription performanceff obligations are satisfied, and to a lesser extent, professional services
revenues.

6. Short-Term and Long-Term Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents

Our total restricted cash and cash equivalents, including short-term and long-term portions, consisted of the following (in
millions):

Restricted cash and cash equivalents:
Short-term restricted cash and cash equivalents:
ICE Futures Europe...................................................................................................... $ 100 $ 100
ICE Clear Europe.......................................................................................................... 550 495
CFTC Regulated Entities ............................................................................................. 289 278
Other Regulated Entities.............................................................................................. 76 92
Other .............................................................................................................................. 20 35

Total short-term restricted cash and cash equivalents................................................. 1,035 1,000
Long-term restricted cash and cash equivalents:
ICE Clearing House Portion of the Guaranty Fund Contribution ......................... 398 408

Total long-term restricted cash and cash equivalents .................................................. 398 408
Total restricted cash and cash equivalents ...................................................................... $ 1,433 $ 1,408

As of December 31,
2021 2020

Short-Term Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents

Our short-term restricted cash and cash equivalents in the table above consist of the followingff :

• ICE Futures Europe: ICE Futures Europe operates as a U.K. Recognized Investment Exchange, and is required
by the U.K. Financial Conduct Authority to maintain financial resources sufficientff to properly performff its relevant
functions equivalent to a minimum of six months of operating costs, subjectb to certain deductions.

• ICE Clear Europe: ICE Clear Europe operates as a U.K. Recognized Clearing House. As such, ICE Clear Europe
is required by the BOE and the European Market Infrastructure Regulation, or EMIR, to restrict as cash, cash
equivalents or investments in an amount to reflect an estimate of the capital required to wind down or restructure
the activities of the clearing house, cover operational, legal and business risks and to reserve capital to meet
credit, counterparty and market risks not covered by the members' margin and guaranty funds. The increase in
the regulatory capital restricted cash at ICE Clear Europe as of December 31, 2021 was due to the growth of our
clearing businesses, a related increase in costs and the consequential additional regulatory capital buffersff
required by the BOE. ICE Clear Europe, in addition to being regulated by the BOE, is also regulated by the CFTC
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as a U.S. Derivatives Clearing Organization, or DCO. The regulatory capital available to ICE Clear Europe, as
described above, exceeds the CFTC requirements.

• CFTC Regulated Entities: Our CFTC regulated U.S. Designated Contract Market, or DCM, ICE Futures U.S., our
CFTC regulated U.S. DCOs, ICE Clear U.S. and ICE Clear Credit, our CFTC regulated U.S. Swap Data
Repository, or SDR, ICE Trade Vault, LLC, and our U.S. Swap Execution Facility, or SEF, ICE Swap Trade, are
required to maintain financial resources including cash, in an amount that would cover certain operating costs for
a one-year period, subject to certain deductions, to satisfy at least six months of such operating costs at all times.
For our U.S. DCOs, ICE Clear U.S. and ICE Clear Credit, these amounts include voluntarily-held additional
reserves consistent with the EMIR requirements to cover operational, legal and business risks and to reserve
capital to meet credit, counterparty and market risks not covered by the member margin and guaranty funds. In
addition, ICE NGX is registered by the CFTC as a Foreign Board of Trade and a DCO and the CFTC requires ICE
NGX to maintain financial resources including cash, in an amount that would cover certain operating costs for a
one-year period. ICE NGX is regulated by both the CFTC and the Alberta Securities Commission.

• Other Regulated Entities: Restricted cash on our various regulated entities and exchanges includes ICE
Benchmark Administration, ICE Clear Netherlands, ICE Trade Vault U.K., ICE Endex, ICE Futures Singapore and
ICE Futures Abu Dhabi. It also includes the clearing member requirements of ICE Securities Executions &
Clearing, LLC and restricted cash related to Bakkt Trust Company, LLC until our deconsolidation of Bakkt in
October 2021.

• Other: Primarily related to escrow for recent acquisitions.

Long-Term Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents

Our long-term restricted cash and cash equivalents in the table above consist of the following:

• ICE Clearing House Portion of the Guaranty Fund Contribution: Our clearing houses, other than ICE NGX,
require each clearing member to make deposits to a fund known as the guaranty fund. Of our total contribution to
ICE Clear U.S., $15 million was solely applicable to any losses associated with a default in Bitcoin contracts and
other digital asset contracts that ICE Clear U.S. may clear in the future. In February 2021, we decreased our
contribution to ICE Clear U.S.'s guaranty fund applicable to any losses associated with a default in Bitcoin
contracts and other digital asset contracts by $20 million from $35 million as of December 31, 2020. In March
2021, we increased our contribution to ICE Clear Europe's guaranty fund by $10 million in connection with the
launch of ICE Futures Abu Dhabi Limited. In addition, we have a $15 million first-loss amount related to ICE NGX
insurance and included in our contribution to its guaranty fund. See Note 14 forff additional informatff ion on the
guaranty funds and our contributions of cash to our clearing houses guaranty funds.

7. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following (in millions):

Software and internally developed software ........................................................... $ 1,407 $ 1,223 3 to 7
Computer and network equipment ........................................................................... 792 803 3 to 5
Land .............................................................................................................................. 156 146 N/A
Buildings and building improvements ...................................................................... 342 322 15 to 40
Right-of-use lease assets ............................................................................................. 278 339 1 to 20
Leasehold improvements ........................................................................................... 322 314 4 to 15
Equipment, aircraft and officeff furniture ................................................................... 335 317 4 to 12
Total property and equipment 3,632 3,464
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization ................................................. (1,933) (1,751)
Property and equipment, net ..................................................................................... $ 1,699 $ 1,713

As of December 31, Depreciation
Period
(Years)2021 2020

Beginning January 1, 2019, in connection with our adoption of ASU 2016-02 (Note 2), we recognize right-of-use assets
representing our rights to use assets over an underlying lease term as rent expense.

In 2021, 2020 and 2019, amortization of software and internally developed software was $213 million, $190 million and
$175 million, respectively, and depreciation of all other property and equipment was $174 million, $173 million and $145
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million, respectively. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, unamortized software and internally developed software was
$361 million and $329 million, respectively. During 2020, we recorded an impairment charge of $11 million related to
capitalized software developed at Bakkt that was no longer useful. The valuation was performedff by a third-party valuation
expert and the impairment is included in depreciation expense.

8. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The following is a summary of the activity in our goodwill balance (in millions):

Goodwill balance at January 1, 2020 ............................................................................................................................................ $ 13,342
Acquisitions ............................................................................................................................................................................ 7,926
Foreign currency translation ............................................................................................................................................... 19
Other activity, net ..................................................................................................................................................................... 4

Goodwill balance at December 31, 2020 ........................................................................................................................................ $ 21,291
Acquisitions............................................................................................................................................................................... 50
Divestitures ............................................................................................................................................................................... (233)
Foreign currency translation ............................................................................................................................................... (7)
Other activity, net ..................................................................................................................................................................... 22

Goodwill balance at December 31, 2021 ....................................................................................................................................... $ 21,123

The following is a summary of the activity in our other intangible assets balance (in millions):

Other intangible assets balance at January 1, 2020 ..................................................................................................................... $ 10,258
Acquisitions............................................................................................................................................................................... 4,519
Foreign currency translation................................................................................................................................................... 19
Amortization of other intangible assets ................................................................................................................................ (388)

Other intangible assets balance at December 31, 2020............................................................................................................... $ 14,408
Acquisitions............................................................................................................................................................................... 26
Divestitures ............................................................................................................................................................................... (58)
Foreign currency translation................................................................................................................................................... (6)
Amortization of other intangible assets ................................................................................................................................ (622)
Other activity, net ..................................................................................................................................................................... (12)

Other intangible assets balance at December 31, 2021............................................................................................................... $ 13,736

We completed our divestiture of Bakkt in 2021 and our acquisitions of Bridge2 Solutions and Ellie Mae during 2020 (Note
3).

Foreign currency translation adjustments result from a portion of our goodwill and other intangible assets being held at our
U.K., EU and Canadian subsidiaries, whose functional currencies are not the U.S. dollar. The changes in other activity,
net, in the tables above primarily relate to adjustments to the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets made
within one year of acquisitions, with a corresponding adjustment to goodwill. We have performedff an analysis of
impairment indicators and did not recognize any impairment losses on goodwill or other intangible assets in 2021 or 2020.
In 2019, we recorded an impairment charge of $31 million on the remaining value of exchange registration intangible
assets on ICE Futures Singapore as a result of a decrease in fair value determined during our annual impairment testing.
ICE Futures Singapore is part of our Exchanges segment.

Other intangible assets and the related accumulated amortization consisted of the following (in millions):

Finite-lived intangible assets:
Customer relationships ...................................................................................................... $ 7,958 $ 8,011 3 to 25
Technology ........................................................................................................................... 1,379 1,318 2.5 to 11
Trading products with finite lives.......................................................................................... 237 237 20
Data/databases....................................................................................................................... 150 150 4 to 10
Market data provider relationships ...................................................................................... 11 11 20

As of December 31, Useful Life
)2 (Years
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Non-compete agreements ................................................................................................. 42 42 1 to 5
Other ..................................................................................................................................... 253 236 1 to 5

Total finite-lived intangible assets ............................................................................................. 10,030 10,005
Less accumulated amortization ........................................................................................ (2,814) (2,188)

Total finite-lived intangible assets, net ................................................................................... 7,216 7,817
Indefinite-lived intangible assets:

Exchange registrations, licenses and contracts with indefinite lives ............................. 6,232 6,236
Trade names and trademarks with indefinite lives............................................................ 280 280
In-process research and development ............................................................................... — 67
Other ..................................................................................................................................... 8 8

Total indefinite-lived intangible assets ................................................................................... 6,520 6,591
Total other intangible assets, net ............................................................................................. $ 13,736 $ 14,408

As of December 31, Useful Life
)2 (Years

In 2021, 2020 and 2019, amortization of other intangible assets was $622 million, $388 million and $311 million,
respectively. Collectively, the remaining weighted average useful lives of the finite-lived intangible assets is 15.1 years as
of December 31, 2021. We expect future amortization expense from the finite-lived intangible assets as of December 31,
2021 to be as follows (in millions):

2022..................................................................................................................................................................................................... $ 611
2023..................................................................................................................................................................................................... 601
2024..................................................................................................................................................................................................... 581
2025..................................................................................................................................................................................................... 558
2026..................................................................................................................................................................................................... 510

Thereafter ............................................................................................................................................................................................... 4,355
$ 7,216

9. Deferred Revenue

Our contract liabilities, or deferred revenue, represent consideration received that is yet to be recognized as revenue.
Total deferred revenue was $284 million as of December 31, 2021, including $194 million in current deferred revenue and
$90 million in other non-current liabilities. Total deferred revenue was $259 million as of December 31, 2020, including
$158 million in current deferred revenue and $101 million in other non-current liabilities. See Note 5 forff a description of
our annual listing, original listing, other listings, data services and mortgage technology services revenues and the
revenue recognition policy for each of these revenue streams. The changes in our deferred revenue during 2021 and
2020 are as follows (in millions):

Annual
Listing
Revenue

Original
Listing
Revenues

Other
Listing
Revenues

Data
Services
and Other
Revenues

Mortgage
Technology Total

Deferred revenue balance at January 1, 2020 ......... $ — $ 19 $ 94 $ 86 $ 2 $ 201
Additions ............................................................... 386 12 40 444 73 955
Amortization ......................................................... (386) (18) (42) (435) (16) (897)

Deferred revenue balance at December 31, 2020... — 13 92 95 59 259
Additions ............................................................... 403 39 44 451 83 1,020
Amortization ......................................................... (403) (33) (43) (453) (63) (995)

Deferred revenue balance at December 31, 2021... $ — $ 19 $ 93 $ 93 $ 79 $ 284

The increase in our deferred revenue balance in 2020 in our Mortgage Technology segment relates to our September
2020 acquisition of Ellie Mae. The Mortgage Technology deferred revenue balance as of December 31, 2021 primarily
relates to origination technology subscription services for which the performance obligations have not yet been provided
as of the balance sheet date but for which billings or payments have been received in advance. Performance obligations
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for origination technology revenue consist of a series of distinct services and are recognized over the contract terms as
subscription performanceff obligations are satisfied. Contracts generally range from one year to five years.

Included in the amortization recognized in 2021, $152 million related to the deferred revenue balance as of January 1,
2021. Included in the amortization in 2020, $123 million related to the deferred revenue balance as of January 1, 2020. As
of December 31, 2021, we estimate that our deferred revenue will be recognized in the following years (in millions):

2022 ......................................................................... $ 16 $ 29 $ 84 $ 65 $ 194
2023 ......................................................................... 3 25 3 9 40
2024 ......................................................................... — 18 3 4 25
2025 ......................................................................... — 13 1 1 15
2026 ......................................................................... — 7 1 — 8
Thereafter ............................................................ — 1 1 — 2
Total ...................................................................... $ 19 $ 93 $ 93 $ 79 $ 284

Original
Listing
Revenues

Other
Listing
Revenues

Data
Services
and Other
Revenues

Mortgage
Technology Total

10. Debt

Our total debt, including short-term and long-term debt, consisted of the following (in millions):

2021 2020
Debt:

Short-term debt:

Commercial Paper ............................................................................................................................................. $ 1,012 $ 2,405
2022 Senior Notes (2.35% senior unsecured notes due September 15, 2022)....................................... 499 —
Other short-term debt ........................................................................................................................................ 10 6

Total short-term debt .......................................................................................................................................... 1,521 2,411
Long-term debt:

2022 Senior Notes (2.35% senior unsecured notes due September 15, 2022)....................................... — 498
2023 Senior Notes (floating rate senior unsecured notes due June 15, 2023)........................................ — 1,244
2023 Senior Notes (0.70% senior unsecured notes due June 15, 2023) ................................................. 997 995
2023 Senior Notes (3.45% senior unsecured notes due September 21, 2023)....................................... 399 398
2023 Senior Notes (4.00% senior unsecured notes due October 15, 2023) .......................................... 797 796
2025 Senior Notes (3.75% senior unsecured notes due December 1, 2025).......................................... 1,246 1,245
2027 Senior Notes (3.10% senior unsecured notes due September 15, 2027)....................................... 497 496
2028 Senior Notes (3.75% senior unsecured notes due September 21, 2028)....................................... 594 593
2030 Senior Notes (2.10% senior unsecured notes due June 15, 2030) ................................................. 1,234 1,232
2032 Senior Notes (1.85% senior unsecured notes due September 15, 2032)....................................... 1,483 1,481
2040 Senior Notes (2.65% senior unsecured notes due September 15, 2040)....................................... 1,230 1,229
2048 Senior Notes (4.25% senior unsecured notes due September 21, 2048)....................................... 1,230 1,230
2050 Senior Notes (3.00% senior unsecured notes due June 15, 2050) ................................................. 1,220 1,219
2060 Senior Notes (3.00% senior unsecured notes due September 15, 2060)....................................... 1,470 1,470

Total long-term debt .............................................................................................................................................. 12,397 14,126
Total debt ................................................................................................................................................................ $ 13,918 $ 16,537

As of December 31,

Credit Facilities

• Credit Facility: We have a $3.8 billion senior unsecured revolving credit facility, or the Credit Facility, with future
capacity to increase our borrowings under the Credit Facility by an additional $625 million, subject to the consent
of the lenders funding the increase and certain other conditions. On October 15, 2021, we agreed with the lenders
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to extend the maturity date of the Credit Facility from August 21, 2025 to October 15, 2026, among other items.
We incurred new debt issuance costs of $4 million and $9 million during 2021 and 2020, respectively, relating to
the Credit Facility and these costs are represented in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as other non-
current assets and will be amortized over the remaining life of the Credit Facility. No amounts were outstanding
under the Credit Facility as of December 31, 2021.

As of December 31, 2021, of the $3.8 billion that is currently available for borrowing under the Credit Facility, $1.0
billion is required to back-stop the amount outstanding under our U.S. dollar commercial paper program, or the
Commercial Paper Program, and $171 million is required to support certain broker-dealer and other subsidiary
commitments. The amount required to back-stop the amounts outstanding under the Commercial Paper Program
will fluctuate as we increase or decrease our commercial paper borrowings. The remaining $2.6 billion is available
for working capital and general corporate purposes including, but not limited to, acting as a back-stop to future
increases in the amounts outstanding under the Commercial Paper Program.

We also pay an annual commitment fee for unutilized amounts payable in arrears at a rate that ranges from
0.08% to 0.20% determined based on our current long-term debt rating. As of December 31, 2021, the applicable
rate for commitments to October 2026 was 0.13%. Amounts borrowed under the facility may be prepaid at any
time without premium or penalty.

The Credit Facility also contains customary representations and warranties, covenants and events of default,
including a leverage ratio, limitations on liens on our assets, indebtedness of non-obligor subsidiaries, the sale of
all or substantially all of our assets, and other matters.

• Term Loan: On August 21, 2020, we entered into a $750 million 18-month senior unsecured delayed draw term
loan facility with a maturity date of February 21, 2022. We borrowed in full under the facility on September 3,
2020, and the proceeds were used to fund a portion of the purchase price for the Ellie Mae acquisition. We had
the option to prepay the facility in whole or in part at any time, and paid offff the full balance of the loan on
December 16, 2020. Interest on borrowings under this term loan facility were based on the principal amount
outstanding at the London Interbank Offeredff Rate, or LIBOR, plus an applicable margin, which was equal to
1.125%. We incurred new debt issuance costs of $3 million during 2020 relating to this term loan and these costs
were fully amortized when the term loan was repaid on December 16, 2020.

• Other: Our India subsidiaries maintain $20 million of credit lines for their general corporate purposes. As of
December 31, 2021, they had borrowed $10 million, which is reflected as "other short-term debt" in the table
above.

Commercial Paper Program

Our Commercial Paper Program is currently backed by the borrowing capacity available under the Credit Facility, as
described above. The effectff ive interest rate of commercial paper issuances does not materially differff from short-term
interest rates, which fluctuate due to market conditions and as a result may impact our interest expense.

We had net repayments of $1.4 billion under the Commercial Paper Program during 2021. We used $1.2 billion of
proceeds received from the sale of our Coinbase investment to pay down the commercial paper balance. We had net
issuances of $1.1 billion under the Commercial Paper Program during 2020, the proceeds of which were primarily used to
fund a portion of the purchase price for the Ellie Mae acquisition. We had net issuances of $360 million under the
Commercial Paper Program during 2019 the proceeds of which were used to fund the acquisition of Simplifile and for
general corporate purposes. We repaid a portion of the amounts outstanding under the program during 2021, 2020 and
2019 with cash flows from operations.

Commercial paper notes of $1.0 billion with original maturities ranging from three to 73 days were outstanding as of
December 31, 2021, with a weighted average interest rate of 0.33% per annum, and a weighted average remaining
maturity of 26 days. Commercial paper notes of $2.4 billion with original maturities ranging from four to 266 days were
outstanding as of December 31, 2020 with a weighted average interest rate of 0.40% per annum, and a weighted average
remaining maturity of 82 days.

Fixed Rate Senior Notes

• Senior Notes Issued in August 2020: On August 20, 2020, we issued $6.5 billion in aggregate principal amount
of new senior notes, comprised of $1.25 billion in aggregate principal amount of floating rate senior notes due in
2023, or the Floating Rate Notes, $1.0 billion in aggregate principal amount of 0.70% senior notes due in 2023,
$1.5 billion in aggregate principal amount of 1.85% senior notes due in 2032, $1.25 billion in aggregate principal
amount of 2.65% senior notes due in 2040, and $1.5 billion in aggregate principal amount of 3.00% senior notes
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due in 2060 (collectively, the August 2020 Notes). We used the net proceeds to fund a portion of the purchase
price for the Ellie Mae acquisition.

We incurred debt issuance costs of $53 million relating to the issuance of the August 2020 Notes and these costs
are presented in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as a deduction from the carrying amount of the
related debt liability and will be amortized over the remaining term of each series of the August 2020 Notes.

In September 2021, we used the proceeds from commercial paper issuances and cash on hand to fund the
redemption of $1.25 billion of the Floating Rate Notes and recorded $4 million of accelerated unamortized
deferred loan costs, included in interest expense in our consolidated statements of income for 2021.

• Senior Notes Issued in May 2020: On May 26, 2020, we issued $2.5 billion in aggregate principal amount of
new senior notes comprised of $1.25 billion in aggregate principal amount of 2.10% senior notes due in 2030 and
$1.25 billion in aggregate principal amount of 3.00% senior notes due in 2050 (collectively, the May 2020 Notes).

We used the net proceeds of the May 2020 Notes for general corporate purposes, including to fund the
redemption of our $1.25 billion aggregate principal amount of 2.75% senior notes due December 2020, or the
2020 Senior Notes, which were redeemed in accordance with their terms on June 25, 2020, and to pay down a
portion of our commercial paper outstanding. In connection with our issuance of the May 2020 Notes and our
early redemption of the 2020 Senior Notes, we recorded an extinguishment payment of $14 million that includes
both a make-whole redemption payment and duplicative interest. These costs are included in interest expense in
our consolidated statements of income in 2020.

We incurred debt issuance costs of $23 million relating to the issuance of the May 2020 Notes and these costs
are presented in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as a deduction from the carrying amount of the
related debt liability and will be amortized over the remaining term of each note series.

• Senior Notes Issued in August 2018: In August 2018, we issued $2.25 billion in new aggregate unsecured
fixed-rate senior notes, including $400 million, 3.45% notes due in 2023, $600 million, 3.75% notes due in 2028,
and $1.25 billion, 4.25% notes due in 2048. We used the proceeds for general corporate purposes, including to
fund the redemption of the $600 million, 2.50% Senior Notes due October 2018 and to refinance all of our
issuances under our Commercial Paper Program that resulted from acquisitions and investments in 2018. We
incurred debt issuance costs of $21 million relating to these notes that we recorded as a deduction from the
carrying amount of the debt and which is being amortized over the respective note lives.

• Senior Notes Issued in August 2017: In August 2017, we issued $1.0 billion in aggregate senior unsecured
fixed-rate notes, including $500 million, 2.35% notes due in 2022 and $500 million, 3.10% notes due in 2027. We
used the majority of the proceeds of the offeringff to fund the redemption of $850 million, 2.00% senior unsecured
fixed-rate NYSE Notes prior to the October 2017 maturity date. We incurred debt issuance costs of $8 million
relating to these notes that we recorded as a deduction from the carrying amount of the debt and which is being
amortized over the respective note lives.

• Senior Notes Issued in November 2015: In November 2015, we issued $2.5 billion in aggregate senior
unsecured fixed-rate notes, including the 2020 Senior Notes, and $1.25 billion, 3.75% notes due 2025. We used
the proceeds, together with $1.6 billion of borrowings under our Commercial Paper Program, to finance the cash
portion of the purchase price of Interactive Data. The 2020 Senior Notes were paid offff in June 2020 with net
proceeds from the offeringff of the May 2020 Notes.

• Senior Notes Issued in October 2013: In October 2013, we issued $800 million, 4.00% senior unsecured fixed-
rate notes due 2023. We used the net proceeds to finance a portion of the purchase price of the acquisition of
NYSE.

All of our Senior Notes contain affirmatff ive and negative covenants, including, but not limited to, certain redemption rights,
limitations on liens and indebtedness and limitations on certain mergers, sales, dispositions and lease-back transactions.
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Debt Repayment Schedule

As of December 31, 2021, the outstanding debt repayment schedule is as follows (in millions):

............................................................................................................................................................................................... $ 1,521
2023 ............................................................................................................................................................................................... 2,200
2024 ............................................................................................................................................................................................... —
2025 ............................................................................................................................................................................................... 1,250
2026 ............................................................................................................................................................................................... —

Thereafter.......................................................................................................................................................................................... 9,100
Principal amounts repayable........................................................................................................................................................... 14,071
Debt issuance costs ........................................................................................................................................................................ (86)
Unamortized balance discounts on bonds, net ............................................................................................................................ (67)
Total debt outstanding ...................................................................................................................................................................... $ 13,918

11. Share-Based Compensation

The non-cash compensation expenses recognized in our consolidated statements of income for stock options, restricted
stock and under our employee stock purchase plan were $188 million, $139 million and $139 million in 2021, 2020 and
2019, respectively, net of $13 million, $12 million and $14 million, respectively, that was capitalized as software
development costs. As of December 31, 2021, we had 31.6 million shares in total under various equity plans available forff
future issuance as stock option and restricted stock awards. This includes the expense related to the Bakkt Incentive
Units, described below.

Stock Option Plans

Stock options are granted with an exercise price equal to the fair value of our common stock on the grant date. We may
grant, under provisions of the plans, both incentive stock options and nonqualified stock options. The options generally
vest over three or four years and may generally be exercised up to ten years after the date of grant, but generally expire
either 14 or 60 days after termination of employment. The shares of common stock issued under our stock option plans
are made available from authorized and unissued common stock or treasury shares.

The fair value is based on our closing stock price on the date of grant as well as certain other assumptions. Compensation
expense arising from option grants is recognized ratably over the vesting period based on the grant date fair value, net of
estimated forfeitures.

The following is a summary of our stock option activity:

Outstanding at January 1, 2019 ........................................................................................ 3,610 $ 46.44
Granted ........................................................................................................................... 493 76.16
Exercised ........................................................................................................................ (598) 38.96
Forfeited .......................................................................................................................... (4) 77.58

Outstanding at December 31, 2019.................................................................................. 3,501 51.87
Granted ........................................................................................................................... 413 92.63
Exercised ........................................................................................................................ (723) 42.88
Forfeited .......................................................................................................................... (44) 75.81

Outstanding at December 31, 2020.................................................................................. 3,147 58.96
Granted ............................................................................................................................ 310 114.19
Exercised ......................................................................................................................... (493) 34.80
Forfeited ............................................................................................................................. — —

Outstanding at December 31, 2021...................................................................................... 2,964 68.77

Number of Options
(in thousands)

Weighted Average
Exercise Price per

Option

Details of stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2021 are as follows:
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Vested or expected to vest ....................... 2,964 $ 68.77 5.8 $ 202
Exercisable .................................................. 2,228 $ 59.03 5.0 $ 173

Number of Options
(in thousands)

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Life
(Years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

(In millions)

Details of stock options exercised during 2021, 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

Options exercised: 2021 2020 2019
Total intrinsic value of options exercised (in millions) ........................................................... $ 41 $ 38 $ 26

Year Ended December 31,

As of December 31,
Options outstanding: 2021 2020 2019
Number of options exercisable (in millions)............................................................................. 2.2 2.3 2.4
Weighted-average exercise price ............................................................................................. $ 59.03 $ 50.07 $ 44.35

As of December 31, 2021, there were $8 million in total unrecognized compensation costs related to stock options, which
are expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.3 years as the stock options vest.

We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value our stock option awards. During 2021, 2020 and 2019, we used
the assumptions in the table below to compute the value:

Assumptions: 2021 2020 2019
Risk-free interest rate ............................................................................................................. 0.64% 1.46% 2.49%
Expected life in years .............................................................................................................. 5.7 5.8 5.9
Expected volatility .................................................................................................................... 24% 20% 20%
Expected dividend yield .......................................................................................................... 1.16% 1.30% 1.44%
Estimated weighted-average fair value of options granted per share ............................ $ 22.70 $ 16.65 $ 15.45

Year Ended December 31,

The risk-free interest rate is based on the zero-coupon U.S. Treasury yield curve in effectff at the date of grant. The
expected life is derived from historical and anticipated future exercise patterns. Expected volatility is based on historical
volatility data of our stock.

Restricted Stock Plans

Restricted shares are used as an incentive to attract and retain qualified employees and to align our and our stockholders'
interests by linking actual performanceff to both short and long-term stockholder return. We issue awards that may contain
a combination of time, performanceff and/or market conditions. The grant date fair value of each award is based on the
closing stock price of our stock at the date of grant.

Granted but unvested shares are generally forfeiff ted upon termination of employment, whereby compensation costs
previously recognized for unvested shares are reversed. Until the shares vest and are issued, participants have no voting
or dividend rights and the shares may not be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged or otherwise encumbered. Unvested
restricted stock earns dividend equivalents which are paid in cash on the vesting date.

The grant date fair value of time-based restricted stock units is recognized as expense ratably over the vesting period,
which is typically three or four years, net of forfeitures. Our equity plans include a change in control provision that may
accelerate vesting on both the time-based and performance-baseff d restricted shares if the awards are not assumed by an
acquirer in the case of a change in control.

For awards with performanceff conditions, we recognize compensation costs, net of forfeitures, using an accelerated
attribution method over the vesting period. Compensation costs are recognized only if it is probable that the performanceff
condition will be satisfied. If we initially determine that it is not probable of being satisfied and later determine that it is, or
vice versa, a cumulative catch-up adjustment is retroactively recorded in the period of change based on the new estimate.
We recognize the remaining compensation costs over the remaining vesting period.

For awards with a market condition, fair value is estimated based on a simulation of various outcomes and includes inputs
such as our stock price on the grant date, the valuation of historical awards with market conditions, the probability that the
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market condition will affectff the number of shares granted (as the market condition only affectff s shares granted in excess of
certain financial performanceff targets), and our expectation of achieving the financial performance targets.

In February 2021, we reserved a maximum of 0.7 million restricted shares for potential issuance as performance-baseff d
restricted shares to certain of our employees. The number of shares ultimately granted under this award is based on our
actual financial performanceff as compared to financial performanceff targets set by our Board and the Compensation
Committee for the year ending December 31, 2021, and is also subject to a market condition reduction based on how our
2021 total stockholder return, or TSR, compared to that of the S&P 500 Index. In 2021, a TSR share reduction was
required to reflect that the S&P 500 Index TSR outperformedff ours. Based on our actual 2021 financial performanceff as
compared to the 2021 financial performanceff level thresholds, and as adjusted for the TSR haircut, 0.5 million restricted
shares were awarded, which resulted in $58 million in compensation expenses that will be expensed over the three-year
accelerated vesting period, including $32 million expensed during 2021.

The following is a summary of nonvested restricted shares under all plans discussed above:

Nonvested at January 1, 2019 ............................................................................................ 4,470 $60.56
Granted............................................................................................................................. 1,758 75.75
Vested ............................................................................................................................... (2,269) 57.92
Forfeited ........................................................................................................................... (231) 67.66

Nonvested at December 31, 2019 ..................................................................................... 3,728 68.87
Granted............................................................................................................................. 1,697 91.83
Vested ............................................................................................................................... (2,035) 65.21
Forfeited ........................................................................................................................... (154) 79.24

Nonvested at December 31, 2020 ..................................................................................... 3,236 82.73
Granted ............................................................................................................................. 1,679 115.28
Vested ................................................................................................................................ (1,619) 78.07
Forfeited ............................................................................................................................ (169) 101.47
Nonvested at December 31, 2021 ..................................................................................... 3,127 101.62

Number of
Restricted
Stock Shares
(in thousands)

Weighted Average
Grant-Date Fair
Value per Share

2021 2020 2019
Time-based restricted stock units granted
(in thousands) (1) ..................................................................................................................... 1,196 910 997

Total fair value of restricted stock vested under all restricted stock plans
(in millions)............................................................................................................................... $ 184 $ 194 $ 173

Year Ended December 31,

(1) The remaining shares granted are performance-based.

Performance-based restricted shares have been presented in the table above to reflect the actual shares issued based on
the achievement of past performanceff targets, also considering the impact of any market conditions. Non-vested
performance-baseff d restricted shares granted are presented in the table above at the target number of restricted shares
that would vest if the performanceff targets are met. As of December 31, 2021, there were $161 million in total
unrecognized compensation costs related to time-based and performance-baseff d restricted stock. These costs are
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.5 years as the restricted stock vests.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

We offerff our employees participation in our ESPP, uP nder which we have reserved and may sell up to 25 million shares of
our common stock to employees. The ESPP grants participating employees the right to acquire our stock in increments of
1% of eligible pay, with a maximum contribution of 25% of eligible pay, subject to applicable annual Internal Revenue
Service, or IRS, limitations. Under our ESPP, pP articipating employees are limited to $25,000 of common stock annually,
and a maximum of 1,250 shares of common stock each offeringff period. There are two offeringff periods each year, from
January 1st (or the first trading day thereafter)ff through June 30th (or the last trading day prior to such date) and from July
1st (or the first trading day thereafter)ff through December 31st (or the last trading day prior to such date). The purchase
price per share of common stock is 85% of the lesser of the fair market value of the stock on the first or the last trading
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day of each offeriff ng period. We recorded compensation expenses of $11 million, $8 million and $7 million during 2021,
2020 and 2019, respectively, related to the discount given to our participating employees.

Bakkt Incentive Units

Prior to the Bakkt merger with VIH (Note 3), we sponsored the Bakkt Equity Incentive Plan under which Bakkt issued
various Bakkt preferred, common and phantom, or participation, equity unit awards. These awards were made to certain
employees and board members of Bakkt. The units were unvested at the issuance date, were subject to the vesting terms
in the award agreements and upon vesting were converted into Bakkt equity or cash.

During 2020, a $300 million capital call related to the acquisition of Bridge2 Solutions triggered a market condition of
certain of these Bakkt equity incentive awards. The market condition was based on numerous possible Bakkt transaction
or event scenarios established on the original date of grant, each of which have a fixed fair market value. Over the life of
these awards, we were required to estimate the most likely outcome and reflect the cumulative financial statement impact
of any changes between outcomes. As a result, during 2020, we incurred a $10 million non-cash compensation expense
related to these awards that was recorded as an acquisition-related cost.

During 2021, the merger of Bakkt and VIH triggered a market condition of these Bakkt equity incentive awards. As a
result, during 2021, we incurred $31 million of non-cash compensation expense related to these awards which we
recorded as an acquisition-related cost prior to deconsolidating Bakkt.

12. Equity

Treasury Stock

During each of 2021, 2020 and 2019, we received 1.0 million shares of common stock from employees to satisfyff tax
withholdings we made on their behalf for restricted stock and stock option exercises. We recorded the receipt of the
shares as treasury stock.

Stock Repurchase Program

We periodically review whether to repurchase our stock. In making a determination regarding the timing and extent of any
stock repurchases, we consider multiple factors that may include: overall stock market conditions, our common stock price
performance,ff the remaining amount authorized for repurchases by our Board, the potential impact of a stock repurchase
program on our debt ratings, our expected free cash flow and working capital needs, our current and future planned
strategic growth initiatives, and other potential uses of our cash and capital resources.

Repurchases may be made from time to time on the open market, through established trading plans, in privately-
negotiated transactions or otherwise, in accordance with all applicable securities laws, rules and regulations. We may
begin or discontinue stock repurchases at any time and may amend or terminate a Rule 10b5-1 trading plan at any time or
enter into additional plans. We discontinued stock repurchases and terminated our Rule 10b5-1 trading plan in August
2020 in connection with the Ellie Mae acquisition. In November 2021, we resumed stock repurchases.

In December 2021, our Board approved an aggregate of $3.15 billion for future repurchases of our common stock with no
fixed expiration date that became effectff ive January 1, 2022. The $3.15 billion replaces the previous amount approved by
the Board. In December 2021 we entered into a new Rule 10b5-1 trading plan that will become effectiff ve in February 2022.

During 2021, 2020 and 2019, we repurchased 1.8 million shares, 13.6 million shares and 17.4 million shares, respectively,
of our outstanding common stock at a cost of $250 million, $1.2 billion and $1.5 billion, respectively, excluding shares
withheld upon vesting of equity awards. The shares repurchased are held in treasury stock.

As of December 31, 2021, the remaining balance of Board approved funds for future repurchase was $903 million. The
approval of our Board for stock repurchases does not obligate us to acquire any particular amount of our common stock.
In addition, our Board may increase or decrease the amount available for repurchases from time to time.
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The table below sets forth the information with respect to purchases made by or on behalf of ICE or any “affiff liated
purchaser” (as defined in Rule 10b-18(a)(3) under the Exchange Act) of our common stock during the periods presented
as follows:

Fourth quarter.................................... 1,834 $ 136.31 $ 250 1,834 $ 903
Third quarter ...................................... — $ — — — $ —
Second quarter.................................. — $ — — — $ —
First quarter ....................................... — $ — — — $ —
Total common stock repurchases(1) .. 1,834 $ 136.31 $ 250

2020
Fourth quarter.................................... — $ — $ — 13,603 $ 1,153
Third quarter ...................................... 1,576 $ 93.88 148 13,603 $ 1,153
Second quarter.................................. 4,384 $ 91.24 400 12,027 $ 1,301
First quarter ....................................... 7,643 $ 91.50 699 7,643 $ 1,701
Total common stock repurchases(2) .. 13,603 $ 91.69 $ 1,247

2019
Fourth quarter.................................... 3,661 $ 92.86 $ 340 17,432 $ 540
Third quarter ...................................... 3,730 $ 91.16 340 13,771 $ 880
Second quarter.................................. 4,170 $ 81.53 340 10,041 $ 1,220
First quarter ....................................... 5,871 $ 74.95 440 5,871 $ 1,560
Total common stock repurchases(3) .. 17,432 $ 83.75 $ 1,460

Shares
Repurchased
(in thousands)

Average
Repurchase

Price Per Share

Amount of
Repurchases
(in millions)

Total cumulative
year-to-date shares
purchased as part

of publicly
announced plans or

programs
(in thousands)

Approximate dollar
value of shares that

may yet be
purchased under the
plans or programs as of
the end of the quarter

(in millions)

(1)All 1.8 million shares were purchased on the open market at a cost of $250 million.
(2)Includes 3.2 million shares purchased on the open market at a cost of $299 million and 10.4 million shares purchased under our Rule
10b5-1 trading plan at a cost of $948 million.
(3) Includes 1.3 million shares purchased on the open market at a cost of $100 million and 16.1 million shares purchased under our Rule
10b5-1 trading plan at a cost of $1.4 billion.

Dividends

Our Board has adopted a quarterly dividend declaration policy providing that the declaration of any dividends will be
determined quarterly by the Board or the Audit Committee, taking into account such factors as our evolving business
model, prevailing business conditions, our financial results and capital requirements, and other considerations which our
Board deems relevant, without a predetermined annual net income payout ratio. We declared and paid cash dividends per
share during the periods presented as follows:
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Fourth quarter........................................................................................................................................ $ 0.33 $ 186
Third quarter .......................................................................................................................................... 0.33 187
Second quarter...................................................................................................................................... 0.33 187
First quarter............................................................................................................................................ 0.33 187

Total cash dividends declared and paid ............................................................................................... $ 1.32 $ 747

2020
Fourth quarter........................................................................................................................................ $ 0.30 $ 169
Third quarter .......................................................................................................................................... 0.30 170
Second quarter...................................................................................................................................... 0.30 164
First quarter............................................................................................................................................ 0.30 166

Total cash dividends declared and paid ............................................................................................... $ 1.20 $ 669

2019
Fourth quarter........................................................................................................................................ $ 0.275 $ 154
Third quarter .......................................................................................................................................... 0.275 155
Second quarter...................................................................................................................................... 0.275 155
First quarter............................................................................................................................................ 0.275 157

Total cash dividends declared and paid ............................................................................................... $ 1.10 $ 621

Dividends Per
Share

Amount
(in millions)

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The following tables present changes in the accumulated balances for each component of other comprehensive income
(loss) (in millions):

Balance, as of January 1, 2019 ............................. $ (227) $ 2 $ (90) $ (315)
Other comprehensive income (loss) ...................... 51 (1) 32 82
Income tax benefit (expense)................................. (1) — (9) (10)
Net current period other comprehensive income
(loss) ........................................................................... 50 (1) 23 72
Balance, as of December 31, 2019....................... (177) 1 (67) (243)
Other comprehensive income (loss) ...................... 43 — 11 54
Income tax benefit (expense) ................................. — — (3) (3)
Net current period other comprehensive income
(loss) ........................................................................... 43 — 8 51
Balance, as of December 31, 2020....................... (134) 1 (59) (192)
Other comprehensive income (loss) ...................... (16) 1 15 —
Income tax benefit (expense) ................................. — — (4) (4)
Net current period other comprehensive income
(loss) ........................................................................... (16) 1 11 (4)
Balance, as of December 31, 2021....................... $ (150) $ 2 $ (48) $ (196)

Changes in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) by Component

Foreign currency
translation
adjustments

Comprehensive
income from
equity method
investment

Employee benefit
plans

adjustments Total

( )( ) ( )( ) ( )( )

( )( ) ( )( ) ( )( )

( )( ) ( )( ) ( )( )
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13. Income Taxes

Income beforeff income taxes and the income tax provision consisted of the following (in millions), and our consolidated
income tax provision for 2021 was elevated due to the income tax expense associated with the gains we recognized from
the Coinbase and Bakkt transactions.

Income before income taxes
Domestic ............................................................................................................................... $ 4,179 $ 1,449 $ 1,333
Foreign .................................................................................................................................. 1,519 1,317 1,148

Total .............................................................................................................................................. $ 5,698 $ 2,766 $ 2,481

Income tax provisionp
Current tax expense:

Federal .................................................................................................................................. $ 533 $ 166 $ 189
State ...................................................................................................................................... 267 136 124
Foreign .................................................................................................................................. 292 264 241

Total .............................................................................................................................................. $ 1,092 $ 566 $ 554

Deferred tax expense (benefit):
Federal .................................................................................................................................. $ 258 $ 73 $ (21)
State ...................................................................................................................................... 92 (42) (4)
Foreign .................................................................................................................................. 187 61 (8)

$ 537 $ 92 $ (33)
Total income tax expense ........................................................................................................... $ 1,629 $ 658 $ 521

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

A reconciliation of the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate to our effective income tax rate is as follows:

Statutory federal income tax rate ........................................................................................... 21 % 21 % 21 %
State and local income taxes, net of federal benefit ........................................................... 4 3 4
Foreign tax rate differentialff ...................................................................................................... — (1) (1)
Current year tax benefit from foreign derived intangible income.......................................... (1) (1) (1)
Deferred tax from foreign tax law change and Bakkt transaction......................................... 4 2 —
Unrecognized tax benefits .......................................................................................................... 1 1 —
State apportionment changes .................................................................................................... — (1) —
Other ........................................................................................................................................... — — (2)
Total provision for income taxes ............................................................................................. 29 % 24 % 21 %

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Our effectff ive tax rates were 29%, 24% and 21% in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The effectiff ve tax rate in 2021 is
higher than in 2020 primarily due to the deferred income tax impacts from the U.K. tax law changes as well as the Bakkt
transaction. In June 2021, the U.K. enacted a corporate income tax rate increase from 19% to 25% effectiff ve April 1, 2023.

The effectiff ve tax rate in 2020 was higher than in 2019 primarily due to U.K. tax law changes enacted in July 2020, which
increased the corporate income tax rate from 17% to 19% effectff ive April 1, 2020. This U.K. deferred tax impact was
partially offsetff by favorable state apportionment changes as a result of our acquisition of Ellie Mae, as well as favorable
changes in certain international tax provisions as part of the TCJA in 2020.

On November 15, 2021, the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act was signed into law. On March 11, 2021, the American
Rescue Plan Act, or ARPA,PP was signed into law. The ARPA ePP nacted certain provisions that are relevant to corporate
income tax. On March 27, 2020, the CARES Act was enacted and certain income tax related relief was provided under the
CARES Act. These provisions did not have a material impact on our income tax provision for 2021, 2020 or 2019.
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Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effectff s of temporary differeff nces between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities forff financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. As a result of the U.K. corporate
income tax rate change from 19% to 25% enacted in June 2021, and from 17% to 19% enacted in 2020, we revalued the
U.K. deferred tax assets and liabilities accordingly. Certain unrecognized tax benefits associated with our acquisition of
Ellie Mae are presented as a reduction to related deferred tax assets. During the fourth quarter of 2021, we
deconsolidated Bakkt and treat it as an equity investment within our consolidated financial statements resulting in a pre-
tax gain of $1.4 billion (Note 3). The deferred tax liability with respect to the equity investment in Bakkt is $424 million as
of December 31, 2021 and is reflected in the following table, which summarizes the significant components of our deferred
tax liabilities and assets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 (in millions):

tax assets:

Deferred and stock-based compensation .................................................................................................... $ 76 $ 82
Liability reserve ................................................................................................................................................ 59 49
Tax credits ............................................................................................................................................................ 12 14
Loss carryforward ............................................................................................................................................ 115 115
Deferred revenue ................................................................................................................................................ 23 26
Lease liability ....................................................................................................................................................... 77 93
Other .................................................................................................................................................................. 20 33
Total ................................................................................................................................................................... 382 412
Valuation allowance ......................................................................................................................................... (99) (95)

Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance ...................................................................................... $ 283 $ 317
Deferred tax liabilities:

Property and equipment ................................................................................................................................. $ (172) $ (153)
Acquired intangibles ........................................................................................................................................ (3,660) (3,606)
Right of use asset ............................................................................................................................................... (58) (75)
Equity investment................................................................................................................................................ (493) (46)

Total deferred tax liabilities ................................................................................................................................... $ (4,383) $ (3,880)
Net deferred tax liabilities ..................................................................................................................................... $ (4,100) $ (3,563)
Reported as:

Net non-current deferred tax liabilities ............................................................................................................... $ (4,100) $ (3,563)

As of December 31,
2021 2020

( )( ) ( )( )

( )( ) ( )( )

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of deferred income tax valuation allowance is as follows (in millions):

2021 2020 2019
Beginning balance of deferred income tax valuation allowance........................................... $ 95 $ 119 $ 119
Charges against goodwill............................................................................................................ — 2 1
Increases/(Decreases) ................................................................................................................ 4 (26) (1)
Ending balance of deferred income tax valuation allowance ................................................ $ 99 $ 95 $ 119

Year Ended December 31,

We recognize valuation allowances on deferred tax assets if, based on the weight of the evidence, we believe that it is
more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. We recorded a valuation allowance for
deferred tax assets of $99 million and $95 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Decreases in 2020
primarily relate to certain tax attributes that expired during the year and increased future taxable capital gains. Increases
charged against goodwill primarily relate to deferred tax assets arising on acquisitions.

The majority of our undistributed earnings of our non-U.S. subsidiaries are subject to the Global Intangible Low-TaxedTT
Income provisions under the TCJA and, as such, are subject to immediate U.S. income taxation and can be distributed to
the U.S. with no material additional income tax consequences in the future. Consequently, these earnings are not
considered to be indefinitely reinvested and the related tax impact is included in our income tax provision for 2021, 2020
and 2019.
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However, our non-U.S. subsidiaries’ cumulative undistributed earnings as of December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 that are
not subject to the Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income provisions are considered to be indefinitely reinvested. Accordingly,
no provision for U.S. federal and state income taxes has been made in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements. Further, a determination of the unrecognized deferred tax liability is not practicable. An estimate of these
indefinitely reinvested undistributed earnings as of December 31, 2021, based on post-income tax earnings under U.S.
GAAPAA , iPP s $5.8 billion.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, we have gross U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards of $120 million and $125
million, respectively, and gross state and local net operating loss carryforwards of $137 million and $241 million,
respectively. The net decrease of federal, state and local net operating loss carryforwards are primarily due to losses
utilized in the current year. The net operating loss carryforwards are available to offsetff future taxable income until they
expire, with amounts beginning in 2026. In addition, as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, we have gross foreign net
operating loss carryforwards of $293 million and $276 million, respectively. The majority of gross foreign net operating
losses are not expected to be realizable in future periods and have related valuation allowances.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in millions):

Beginning balance of unrecognized tax benefits ................................................................. 188 103 $ 98
Additions/(reductions) related to acquisitions ....................................................................... (1) 58 —
Additions based on tax positions taken in current year ...................................................... 41 21 17
Additions based on tax positions taken in prior years ......................................................... 3 14 9
Reductions based on tax positions taken in prior years ..................................................... (2) — (1)
Reductions resulting from statute of limitation lapses ......................................................... — (5) (13)
Reductions related to settlements with taxing authorities .................................................. — (3) (7)
Ending balance of unrecognized tax benefits ....................................................................... $ 229 $ 188 $ 103

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the balance of unrecognized tax benefits which would, if recognized, affectff our
effectff ive tax rate was $194 million and $109 million, respectively. It is reasonably possible, as a result of settlements of
ongoing audits or statute of limitations expirations, that unrecognized tax benefits could increase as much as $35 million
and decrease as much as $36 million within the next 12 months. Of the $229 million in unrecognized tax benefits as of
December 31, 2021, $193 million is recorded within other non-current liabilities and $36 million is recorded within other
current liabilities.

We recognize interest and penalties accrued on income tax uncertainties as a component of income tax expense. In 2021,
2020 and 2019, we recognized $10 million, $6 million and $5 million, respectively, of income tax expense for interest and
penalties. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, accrued interest and penalties were $49 million and $39 million,
respectively. Of the $49 million in accrued interest and penalties as of December 31, 2021, $20 million is recorded within
other non-current liabilities and $29 million is recorded within other current liabilities in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheet.

We or one of our subsidiaries files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state and foreign
jurisdictions. The following table summarizes open tax years by major jurisdiction:

Jurisdiction Open Tax Years
U.S. Federal.......................................................................................................................................... 2017 - 2021
U.S. States ............................................................................................................................................ 2009 - 2021
U.K. ........................................................................................................................................................ 2019 - 2021

Although the outcome of tax audits is always uncertain, we believe that adequate amounts of tax, including interest and
penalties, have been provided for any adjustments expected to result from open tax years.

14. Clearing Operations

We operate six clearing houses, each of which acts as a central counterparty that becomes the buyer to every seller and
the seller to every buyer for its clearing members or participants, or Members. Through this central counterparty function,
the clearing houses provide financial security forff each transaction for the duration of the position by limiting counterparty
credit risk.
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Our clearing houses are responsible forff providing clearing services to each of our futures exchanges, and in some cases
to third-party execution venues, and are as follows, referredff to herein collectively as "the ICE Clearing Houses":

Clearing House Products Cleared Exchange where Executed Location

ICE Clear Europe Energy, agricultural, interest rates and equity
index futures and options contracts and OTC

European CDS instruments

ICE Futures Europe, ICE Futures
U.S., ICE Endex, ICE Futures Abu
Dhabi and third-party venues

U.K.

ICE Clear U.S.
Agricultural, metals, and foreign exchange, or FX
index futures and options contracts, equity
futures contracts and digital assets futures

contracts

ICE Futures U.S. U.S.

ICE Clear Credit OTC North American, European, Asian-Pacific
and Emerging Market CDS instruments

Creditex and third-party venues U.S.

ICE Clear Netherlands Derivatives on equities and equity indices traded
on regulated markets

ICE Endex The
Netherlands

ICE Clear Singapore Energy, metals and financial futures products and
digital assets futures contracts

ICE Futures Singapore Singapore

ICE NGX Physical North American natural gas, electricity
and oil futures

ICE NGX Canada

Original and Variation Margin

Each of the ICE Clearing Houses generally requires all Members to deposit collateral in cash or certain pledged assets.
The collateral deposits are known as “original margin.” In addition, the ICE Clearing Houses may make intraday original
margin calls in circumstances where market conditions require additional protection. The daily profits and losses to and
from the ICE Clearing Houses due to the marking-to-market of open contracts is known as “variation margin.” With the
exception of ICE NGX’s physical natural gas and physical power products discussed separately below, the ICE Clearing
Houses mark all outstanding contracts to market, and therefore pay and collect variation margin, at least once daily.

The amounts that Members are required to maintain are determined by proprietary risk models established by each ICE
Clearing House and reviewed by the relevant regulators, independent model validators, risk committees and the boards of
directors of the respective ICE Clearing House. The amounts required may fluctuate over time. Each of the ICE Clearing
Houses is a separate legal entity and is not subject to the liabilities of the others, or the obligations of Members of the
other ICE Clearing Houses.

Should a particular Member fail to deposit its original margin or fail to make a variation margin payment, when and as
required, the relevant ICE Clearing House may liquidate or hedge the defaulting Member's open positions and use their
original margin and guaranty fund deposits to pay any amount owed. In the event that the defaulting Member's deposits
are not suffiff cient to pay the amount owed in full, the ICE Clearing Houses will first use their respective contributions to the
guaranty fund, often referred to as Skin In The Game, or SITG, to pay any remaining amount owed. In the event that the
SITG is not sufficientff , the ICE Clearing Houses may utilize the respective guaranty fund deposits, or collect limited
additional funds from their respective non-defaultff ing Members on a pro-rata basis, to pay any remaining amount owed.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the ICE Clearing Houses had received or had been pledged $239.9 billion and
$154.1 billion, respectively, in cash and non-cash collateral in original margin and guaranty fund deposits to cover price
movements of underlying contracts for both periods.

Guaranty Funds and ICE Contribution

As described above, mechanisms have been created, called guaranty funds, to provide partial protection in the event of a
Member default. With the exception of ICE NGX, each of the ICE Clearing Houses requires that each Member make
deposits into a guaranty fund.

In addition, we have contributed our own capital that could be used if a defaulting Member’s original margin and guaranty
fund deposits are insufficientff . Such amounts are recorded as long-term restricted cash and cash equivalents in our
balance sheets and are as follows (in millions):
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ICE Clear Europe $247 $237 $75 $75
ICE Clear U.S. 83 103 25 25
ICE Clear Credit 50 50 50 50

ICE Clear Netherlands 2 2 N/A N/A
ICE Clear Singapore 1 1 N/A N/A

ICE NGX 15 15 100 100
Total $398 $408 $250 $250

ICE Portion of Guaranty Fund
Contribution Default insurance

As of December 31, As of December 31,
Clearing House 2021 2020 2021 2020

Of our total contribution to ICE Clear U.S. above, as of December 31, 2021, $15 million is solely applicable to any losses
associated with a default in Bitcoin contracts and other digital assets that ICE Clear U.S. may clear in the future. In
February 2021, we decreased our contribution to ICE Clear U.S.'s guaranty fund applicable to any losses associated with
a default in Bitcoin contracts and other digital asset contracts by $20 million from $35 million as of December 31, 2020. In
March 2021, we increased our contribution to ICE Clear Europe's guaranty fund by $10 million in connection with the
launch of ICE Futures Abu Dhabi Limited.

We also maintain default insurance as an additional layer of clearing member default protection which is reflected in the
table below. The default insurance was added in September 2019 and has a three-year term for the following clearing
houses in the following amounts: ICE Clear Europe - $75 million; ICE Clear U.S. - $25 million; and ICE Clear Credit - $50
million. The default insurance layer resides after and in addition to the ICE Clear Europe, ICE Clear U.S. and ICE Clear
Credit SITG contributions and beforeff the guaranty fund contributions of the non-defaulting Members.

Similar to SITG, the default insurance layer is not intended to replace or reduce the position risk-based amount of the
guaranty fund. As a result, the default insurance layer is not a factor that is included in the calculation of the Members’
guaranty fund contribution requirement. Instead, it serves as an additional, distinct, and separate default resource that
should serve to further protect the non-defaultf ing Members’ guaranty fund contributions from being mutualized in the
event of a default.

As of December 31, 2021, ICE NGX maintains a guaranty fund utilizing a $115 million letter of credit and a default
insurance policy, discussed below.

Cash and Invested Deposits

We have recorded cash and invested margin deposits and amounts due in our balance sheets as current assets with
corresponding current liabilities to the Members. As of December 31, 2021, our cash and invested margin deposits were
as follows (in millions):

ICE Clear Europe (1)
ICE Clear
Credit

ICE Clear
U.S. ICE NGX

Other ICE
Clearing
Houses Total

Original margin ....................................................... $ 94,010 $ 39,372 $ 6,963 $ — $ 27 $140,372
Unsettled variation margin, net ............................... — — — 226 — 226
Guaranty fund ......................................................... 4,175 3,952 597 — 4 8,728
Delivery contracts receivable/payable, net............ — — — 1,103 — 1,103
Total .......................................................................... $ 98,185 $ 43,324 $ 7,560 $ 1,329 $ 31 $150,429

As of December 31, 2020, our cash and invested margin deposits, were as follows (in millions):

Original margin ....................................................... $ 33,726 $ 34,922 $ 7,288 $ — $ 12 $ 75,948
Unsettled variation margin, net ............................... — — — 99 — 99
Guaranty fund ......................................................... 4,374 2,574 502 — 5 7,455
Delivery contracts receivable/payable, net............ — — — 581 — 581
Total .......................................................................... $ 38,100 $ 37,496 $ 7,790 $ 680 $ 17 $ 84,083

ICE Clear Europe (2)
ICE Clear
Credit

ICE Clear
U.S. ICE NGX

Other ICE
Clearing
Houses Total

(1) $92.0 billion and $6.2 billion is related to futures/options and CDS, respectively.
(2) $31.8 billion and $6.3 billion is related to futures/options and CDS, respectively.
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Our cash and invested margin and guaranty fund deposits are maintained in accounts with national banks and highly-
rated financial institutions or secured through direct investments, primarily in U.S. Treasury and other highly-rated foreign
government securities, or reverse repurchase agreements with primarily overnight maturities. We primarily use Level 1
inputs when evaluating the fair value of the non-cash equivalent direct investments, as highly-rated government securities
are quoted in active markets. The carrying value of these deposits are deemed to approximate fair value.

To provide a tool to address the liquidity needs of our clearing houses and manage the liquidation of margin and guaranty
fund deposits held in the form of cash and high quality sovereign debt, ICE Clear Europe, ICE Clear Credit and ICE Clear
U.S. have entered into Committed Repurchase Agreement Facilities, or Committed Repo. Additionally, ICE Clear Credit
and ICE Clear Netherlands have entered into Committed FX Facilities to support these liquidity needs. As of
December 31, 2021 the following facilities were in place:

• ICE Clear Europe: $1.0 billion in Committed Repo to finance U.S. dollar, euro and pound sterling deposits.

• ICE Clear Credit: $300 million in Committed Repo (U.S. dollar based) to finance U.S. dollar denominated
sovereign debt and euro deposits, €250 million in Committed Repo (euro based) to finance euro and U.S. dollar
denominated sovereign debt deposits, and €1.9 billion in Committed FX Facilities to finance euro payment
obligations.

• ICE Clear U.S.: $250 million in Committed Repo to finance U.S. dollar denominated sovereign debt deposits.

• ICE Clear Netherlands: €10 million in Committed FX Facilities to finance euro payment obligations.

Details of our deposits are as follows (in millions):

ICE Clear Europe National bank account (1) $ 55,959 $ 10,887
ICE Clear Europe Reverse repo 25,518 23,696

ICE Clear Europe Sovereign debt 9,324 1,726
ICE Clear Europe Demand deposits 4,220 16

ICE Clear Credit National bank account 37,282 30,275
ICE Clear Credit Reverse repo 3,639 4,520
ICE Clear Credit Demand deposits 2,403 2,701
ICE Clear U.S. Reverse repo 6,485 5,690
ICE Clear U.S. Sovereign debt 1,075 2,100
Other ICE Clearing
Houses Demand deposits 31 17

Total cash and cash equivalent margin deposits and guaranty funds............ $ 145,936 $ 81,628

Invested Deposits, Delivery Contracts Receivable and Unsettled Variation Margin

Clearing House Investment Type
As of

December 31, 2021
As of

December 31, 2020

ICE NGX Unsettled variation margin and delivery
contracts receivable/payable $ 1,329 $ 680

ICE Clear Europe Invested deposits - sovereign debt 3,164 1,775
Total invested deposits, delivery contracts receivable and unsettled
variation margin....................................................................................................... $ 4,493 $ 2,455

Cash and Cash Equivalent Margin Deposits and Guaranty Funds

Clearing House Investment Type
As of

December 31, 2021
As of

December 31, 2020

(1) As of December 31, 2021, ICE Clear Europe held €47.2 billion ($53.7 billion based on the euro/U.S. dollar exchange rate of 1.1372 as of
December 31, 2021) at European Central Bank, or ECB, £1.7 billion ($2.3 billion based on the pound sterling/U.S. dollar exchange rate of 1.3524 as of
December 31, 2021) at the Bank of England, or BOE and €10 million ($11 million based on the above exchange rate) at the BOE. As of December 31,
2020, ICE Clear Europe held €6.3 billion ($7.7 billion based on the euro/U.S. dollar exchange rate of 1.2216 as of December 31, 2020) at De
Nederlandsche Bank, or DNB, £2.3 billion ($3.1 billion based on the pound sterling/U.S. dollar exchange rate of 1.3665 as of December 31, 2020) at the
BOE and €10 million ($12 million based on the above exchange rate) at the BOE.
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Other Deposits

Non-cash original margin and guaranty fund deposits are not reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
as the risks and rewards of these assets remain with the clearing members unless the clearing houses have sold or re-
pledged the assets or in the event of a clearing member default, where the clearing member is no longer entitled to
redeem the assets. Any income, gain or loss accrues to the clearing members.

In addition to the cash and invested deposits above, the ICE Clearing Houses have also received other assets from
Members, which include government obligations, and may include other non-cash collateral such as letters of credit at ICE
NGX, or gold on rare occasions at ICE Clear Europe, to mitigate credit risk. For certain deposits, we may impose discount
or “haircut” rates to ensure adequate collateral if market values fluctuate. The value-related risks and rewards of these
assets remain with the Members. Any gain or loss accrues to the Member. The ICE Clearing Houses do not, in the
ordinary course, rehypothecate or re-pledge these assets. These pledged assets are not reflected in our balance sheets,
and are as follows (in millions):

As of December 31, 2021

ICE Clear
Europe

ICE Clear
Credit

ICE Clear
U.S. ICE NGX Total

Original margin:

Government securities at face value .............................................. $ 58,156 $ 8,425 $ 17,211 $ — $ 83,792
Letters of credit ..................................................................................... — — — 3,566 3,566
ICE NGX cash deposits....................................................................... — — — 987 987

Total ............................................................................................................ $ 58,156 $ 8,425 $ 17,211 $ 4,553 $ 88,345
Guaranty fund:
Government securities at face value ................................................. $ 740 $ 152 $ 273 $ — $ 1,165

Original margin:

Government securities at face value .............................................. $ 36,295 $ 9,523 $ 20,216 $ — $ 66,034
Letters of credit...................................................................................... — — — 2,329 2,329
ICE NGX cash deposits ....................................................................... — — — 405 405

Total............................................................................................................. $ 36,295 $ 9,523 $ 20,216 $ 2,734 $ 68,768
Guaranty fund:
Government securities at face value ................................................. $ 508 $ 515 $ 250 $ — $ 1,273

As of December 31, 2020

ICE Clear
Europe

ICE Clear
Credit

ICE Clear
U.S. ICE NGX Total

ICE NGX

ICE NGX owns a clearing house which administers the physical delivery of energy trading contracts. ICE NGX is the
central counterparty to Members on opposite sides of its physically-settled contracts, and the balance related to delivered
but unpaid contracts is recorded as a delivery contract net receivable, with an offsettff ing delivery contract net payable in
our balance sheets. Unsettled variation margin equal to the fair value of open contracts is recorded as of each balance
sheet date. There is no impact on our consolidated statements of income as an equal amount is recognized as both an
asset and a liability. ICE NGX marks all outstanding contracts to market daily, but only collects variation margin when a
Member's open position falls outside a specified percentage of its pledged collateral. Due to the highly liquid nature and
the short period of time to maturity, the fair values of our delivery contract net payable and net receivable are determined
to approximate carrying value.

ICE NGX requires Members to maintain cash or letters of credit to serve as collateral in the event of default. The cash is
maintained in a segregated bank account, held in trust and remains the property of the Member, therefore,ff it is not
included in our balance sheets. ICE NGX maintains a $250 million daylight liquidity facility with a third-party Canadian
chartered bank which is available in the event of physical settlement shortfalls, subject to certain conditions.

As of December 31, 2021, ICE NGX maintains a guaranty fund of $115 million funded by a $100 million letter of credit
issued by a major Canadian chartered bank and backed by default insurance underwritten by Export Development
Canada, a Crown corporation operated at arm’s length from the Canadian government, plus $15 million held as restricted
cash to fund the first loss amount the ICE NGX is responsible forff under the default insurance policy. In the event of a
participant default where the Member’s collateral is depleted, the shortfall would be covered by a draw down on the letter
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of credit following which ICE NGX would file a claim under the default insurance to recover additional losses up to $100
million beyond the $15 million first-loss amount that ICE NGX is responsible for under the default insurance policy.

Clearing House Exposure

The net notional value of unsettled contracts was $3.0 trillion as of December 31, 2021. Each ICE Clearing House bears
financial counterparty credit risk and provides a central counterparty guarantee, or performanceff guarantee, to its
Members. To reduce their exposure, the ICE Clearing Houses have a risk management program with both initial and
ongoing membership standards. Excluding the effectsff of original and variation margin, guaranty fund and collateral
requirements and default insurance, the ICE Clearing Houses’ maximum estimated exposure for this guarantee is $218.9
billion as of December 31, 2021, which represents the maximum estimated value by the ICE Clearing Houses of a
hypothetical one-day movement in pricing of the underlying unsettled contracts. This value was determined using
proprietary risk management software that simulates gains and losses based on historical market prices, volatility and
other factors present at that point in time for those particular unsettled contracts. Future actual market price volatility could
result in the exposure being significantly differeff nt than this amount.

We also performedff calculations to determine the fair value of our counterparty performanceff guarantee taking into
consideration factors such as daily settlement of contracts, margining and collateral requirements, other elements of our
risk management program, historical evidence of default payments, and estimated probability of potential default payouts
by the ICE Clearing Houses. Based on these analyses, the estimated counterparty performanceff guarantee liability was
determined to be nominal and no liability was recorded as of December 31, 2021 or 2020. The ICE Clearing Houses have
never experienced an incident of a clearing member default which has required the use of the guaranty funds of non-
defaulting clearing members or the assets of the ICE Clearing Houses.

15. Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

We have lease agreements for officeff space, equipment facilities and certain computer equipment for varying periods that
expire at various dates through 2029. All of our leases are classified as operating leases. For details of our lease assets,
lease liabilities and rent expense see Note 2.

Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of our business, from time to time we are subject to legal proceedings, lawsuits, government
investigations and other claims with respect to a variety of matters. In addition, we are subject to periodic reviews,
inspections, examinations and investigations by regulators in the U.S. and other jurisdictions, any of which may result in
claims, legal proceedings, assessments, fines, penalties, restrictions on our business or other sanctions. We record
estimated expenses and reserves for legal or regulatory matters or other claims when these matters present loss
contingencies that are probable and the related amount is reasonably estimable. Any such accruals may be adjusted as
circumstances change. Assessments of losses are inherently subjective and involve unpredictable factors. While the
outcome of legal and regulatory matters is inherently difficuff lt to predict and/or the range of loss often cannot be
reasonably estimable, we do not believe that the liabilities, if any, which may ultimately result from the resolution of the
various legal and regulatory matters that arise in the ordinary course of our business, including the matters described
below, are likely to have a material adverse effectff on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations, or liquidity.
It is possible, however, that future results of operations for any particular quarterly or annual period could be materially
and adversely affectff ed by any developments relating to these legal and regulatory matters.

Cityt of Providencerr Litigattt iontty g

In 2014, New York Stock Exchange LLC and NYSE Arca, Inc., two of our subsidiaries, were among more than 40 financial
institutions and U.S.-based equity exchanges named as defendants in four purported class action lawsuits filed in the U.S.
District Court for the Southern District of New York, or the Southern District, by the City of Providence, Rhode Island, and
other plaintiffs.ff In a subsequent consolidated amended complaint filed against only the exchange defendants (which
include exchanges owned and operated by Nasdaq and Cboe), the plaintiffsff asserted claims on behalf of a class of “all
public investors” who bought or sold stock from April 18, 2009 to the present on the named exchanges.

In 2015, the district court granted a motion to dismiss filed by the exchange defendants and dismissed the complaint with
prejudice. The court held that the plaintiffsff had failed to suffiff ciently state a claim under Sections 10(b) and 6(b) of the
Exchange Act, and additionally that some of the claims were barred by the doctrine of self-regulatff ory organization
immunity. The plaintiffsff appealed, and in 2017 the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit, or the Second Circuit,
issued a decision vacating the dismissal and remanding the case to the district court for further proceedings. The Second
Circuit held that the claims against the exchanges were not barred by the doctrine of self-regulatff ory organization immunity
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because (in the view of the Second Circuit) the exchanges were not carrying out regulatory functions while operating their
markets and engaging in the challenged conduct at issue, and that the plaintiffsff had adequately pleaded claims against
the defendants under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act. The Second Circuit directed that, on remand, the district court
should address and rule upon various other defenses raised by the exchanges in their motion to dismiss (which the district
court did not address in its prior opinion and order).

In 2019, the district court denied a new motion to dismiss filed by the defendants, and the exchanges filed answers to the
complaint, denying the principal allegations of the plaintiffs,ff denying liability in the matter, and asserting various affiff rmative
defenses. During 2021, the parties conducted discovery, relating largely to class certification issues; the plaintiffsff filed a
motion for class certification; and the defendants filed motions for summary judgment on the basis of preclusion and lack
of standing. The parties are awaiting decisions from the court.

LIBOR Litigattt ionttg

In 2019, three virtually identical purported class action complaints were filed in the Southern District against ICE and
several of its subsidiaries, including ICE Benchmark Administration Limited, or IBA, collectively referred to as the ICE
Defendants, as well as 18 multinational banks and various of their respective subsidiaries and affiliatff es, or the Panel Bank
Defendants, by, respectively, Putnam Bank, a savings bank based in Putnam, Connecticut; two municipal pension funds
affiliatff ed with the City of Livonia, Michigan; and four retirement and benefit funds affiliatff ed with the Hawaii Sheet Metal
Workers Union. IBA is the administrator for various regulated benchmarks, including the ICE LIBOR benchmark that is
calculated daily based upon the submissions from a reference panel (which includes the Panel Bank Defendants).

The plaintiffsff sought to litigate on behalf of a purported class of all U.S.-based persons or entities who transacted with a
Panel Bank Defendant by receiving a payment on an interest rate indexed to a one-month or three-month USD LIBOR-
benchmarked rate during the period from February 1, 2014 to the present. The plaintiffsff alleged that the ICE Defendants
and the Panel Bank Defendants engaged in a conspiracy to set the LIBOR benchmark at artificially low levels, with an
alleged purpose and effectff of depressing payments by the Panel Bank Defendants to members of the purported class.

Subsequent to the filing of the individual complaints, the various plaintiffsff referenced above filed a consolidated amended
complaint against the ICE Defendants and the Panel Bank Defendants. As with the individual complaints, the consolidated
amended complaint asserted a claim for violations of the Sherman and Clayton Antitrust Acts and sought unspecified
treble damages and other relief. The ICE Defendants and the Panel Bank Defendants filed motions to dismiss the
consolidated amended complaint.

On March 26, 2020, the court issued a decision and order granting the ICE Defendants and the Panel Bank Defendants'
motions to dismiss for failure to state a claim. Among other things, the court found that the amended complaint “…is made
up of almost entirely conclusory allegations and is essentially devoid of any evidence, direct or circumstantial, to support
the conclusion that Defendantff s colluded with one another.”

The plaintiffsff appealed the decision to the Second Circuit. While briefing of the appeal was ongoing, each of the named
plaintiffsff withdrew from the case. DYJ Holdings, LLC, a New Jersey-based holding company, was permitted, over the
objection of the defendants, to intervene for the purpose of serving as named plaintiffff and representative of the purported
class. On November 29, 2021, the Second Circuit heard oral argument on the merits of the underlying appeal, and the
parties are awaiting a decision.

ICE Datat Pricingrr & Reference Datatt Matterg

Our subsidiary ICE Data Pricing & Reference Data, LLC, or PRD, is a registered investment advisor in the business of,
among other things, providing clients with evaluated pricing and other informatff ion for fixed-income securities. PRD
formerly had a business practice of passing through third-party price quotes, or broker quotes, in certain fixed income
securities as-is to its clients when PRD did not believe it had the capability to model an evaluated price for such securities.
Broker quoted securities were less than 2% of the securities PRD priced. A list of securities that were broker quoted, as
distinguished from evaluated, was made available to PRD’s clients every day. PRD first notified its clients on December
16, 2019 that it would cease providing broker quotes and did so as of October 1, 2020.

On December 9, 2020, following an SEC investigation of PRD’s legacy business practices with respect to broker quotes,
the SEC announced a settlement in which PRD, without admitting or denying the findings therein, agreed to pay an
$8 million civil monetary penalty, together with certain non-monetary provisions. For further details about the settlement
and underlying matter under investigation, please refer to Order Instituting Administrative and Cease-and-Desist
Proceedings, Pursuant to Sections 203(e) and 203(k) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, Making Findings, and
Imposing Remedial Sanctions and a Cease-and-Desist Order, Administrative Proceeding File No. 3-20164 (In the Matter
of ICE Data Pricing & Reference Data, LLC).

Separately, PRD’s legacy business practices with respect to broker quotes received from a now-bankrupt entity named
Live Well Financial, Inc., or Live Well, are relevant to potential civil claims against PRD. In August 2019, the SEC and the
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United States Department of Justice, respectively, filed civil and criminal charges against Live Well and certain of its
executives, alleging that Live Well fraudulently provided over-stated “broker quotes” to a then-unnamed “industry-leading
price service” (which was PRD). Certain of Live Well’s financial institution creditors and its bankruptcy trustee have
asserted to PRD that they believe they have putative claims against PRD related to Live Well’s actions. As of December
31, 2021, PRD has resolved the potential claims of the trustee and all but one of the financial institution creditors. PRD
continues to deny any wrongdoing, and to the extent any unresolved assertions relating to broker quotes PRD received
from Live Well become litigated matters, we plan to vigorously defend any such litigation.

SPANPP Trademarkrr Disputep

CME Group, Inc., or CME, filed suit against two of ICE’s clearing houses (ICE Clear U.S. and ICE Clear Europe Limited)
in 2018 in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Illinois, alleging infringement of CME’s trademark for SPAN,PP
which is a name generally used to refer to a type of initial margining approach that assesses risk for a variety of financial
instruments on a portfolio-wide basis, as well as breach of contract and counterfeiting. The ICE clearing entities and CME
were parties to 10-year license agreements that expired in 2017, pursuant to which the clearing entities paid CME a
collective total of $50,001 over such 10-year period for the right to use the SPANPP trademark.

In 2020, CME informedff ICE and the court that it was not seeking compensatory damages based on the license fees but
rather that it would seek at trial the disgorgement of profits of the ICE clearing entities over the approximate one-year
period during which the mark was referenced following expiration of the formal agreements. A bench trial was held during
September 2020, and, on August 17, 2021, the trial court issued findings of fact and conclusions of law, in which, among
other things, the court found in favor of ICE on CME’s counterfeiting and breach of contract claims; held that ICE had a
valid implied license defense for significant periods of time of the alleged infringement; and, excluding the periods to which
the implied license applied, awarded CME a judgment for infringement of approximately $16 million. In October 2021, this
matter was resolved.

Tax Audits

We are engaged in ongoing discussions and audits with taxing authorities on various tax matters, the resolutions of which
are uncertain. Currently, there are matters that may lead to assessments involving us or one of our subsidiaries, some of
which may not be resolved for several years. Based on currently available information, we believe we have adequately
provided for any assessments that could result from those proceedings where it is more likely than not that we will be
assessed. We continuously review our positions as these matters progress.

16. Pension and Other Benefit Programs

Defined Benefit Pension Plan

We have a pension plan covering employees in certain of our U.S. operations whose benefit accrual has been frozen.
Retirement benefits are derived from a formula,ff which is based on length of service and compensation.

We did not make any contributions to our pension plan during 2021, 2020 or 2019. The plan’s target allocation is 5%
equity securities and 95% fixed income securities. The fixed income allocation includes corporate bonds of companies
from diversified industries and U.S. government bonds. Our long-term objective is to keep the plan at or near full funding,
while minimizing the risk inherent in pension plans. As a result, we don't anticipate that there will be a strong need for
contributions in future years, and the pension plan will not be required to pay the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation
variable rate premiums. We do not expect to make contributions to the pension plan in 2022. We will continue to monitor
the plan’s funded status, and we will consider modifyingff the plan’s investment policy based on the actuarial and funding
characteristics of the retirement plan, the demographic profile of plan participants, and our business objectives.

The fair values of our plan assets as of December 31, 2021, by asset category, are as follows (in millions):

Cash............................................................................................. $ 7 $ — $ — $ 7
Equity securities:
U.S. large-cap .......................................................................... — 26 — 26
U.S. small-cap .......................................................................... — 6 — 6
International .............................................................................. — 15 — 15

Fair Value Measurements

Asset Category

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for
Identical Assets

(Level 1)

Significant
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3) Total
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Fixed income securities ............................................................ 137 720 6 863
Total............................................................................................. $ 144 $ 767 $ 6 $ 917

Fair Value Measurements

Asset Category

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for
Identical Assets

(Level 1)

Significant
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3) Total

The above table excludes trades pending settlement with a net benefit of $3 million as of December 31, 2021. These
trades settled in January 2022.

The fair values of our plan assets as of December 31, 2020, by asset category, are as follows (in millions):

Fair Value Measurements

Asset Category

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for
Identical Assets

(Level 1)

Significant
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3) Total

Cash............................................................................................ $ 14 $ — $ — $ 14
Equity securities:
U.S. large-cap ......................................................................... — 29 — 29
U.S. small-cap ......................................................................... — 8 — 8
International ............................................................................. — 15 — 15
Fixed income securities ........................................................... 143 784 6 933
Total............................................................................................ $ 157 $ 836 $ 6 $ 999

The above table excludes trades pending settlement with a net obligation of $24 million as of December 31, 2020. These
trades settled in January 2021.

The measurement dates forff the pension plan are December 31, 2021 and 2020. The following table provides a summary
of the changes in the pension plan’s benefit obligations and the fair value of assets measured using the valuation
techniques described in Note 17, as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 and a statement of funded status of the pension
plan as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 (in millions):

Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year ................................................................................................................. $ 914 $ 861
Interest cost .............................................................................................................................................................. 14 22
Actuarial (gain) loss................................................................................................................................................. (35) 78
Benefits paid............................................................................................................................................................. (47) (47)
Benefit obligation at year end ................................................................................................................................ $ 846 $ 914
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year .................................................................................................... $ 975 $ 894
Actual return on plan assets .................................................................................................................................. (8) 128
Benefits paid............................................................................................................................................................. (47) (47)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year ............................................................................................................... $ 920 $ 975
Funded status........................................................................................................................................................... $ 74 $ 61
Accumulated benefit obligation ............................................................................................................................. $ 846 $ 914
Amounts recognized in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets:
Accrued pension plan asset................................................................................................................................... $ 74 $ 61

As of December 31,
2021 2020

The following shows the components of the pension plan expense for 2021, 2020 and 2019 (in millions):
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Interest cost............................................................................................................................................. $ 14 $ 22 $ 28
Estimated return on plan assets .......................................................................................................... (19) (25) (31)
Amortization of loss................................................................................................................................ 6 5 3
Aggregate pension expense................................................................................................................. $ 1 $ 2 $ —

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

We use a market-related value of plan assets when determining the estimated return on plan assets. Gains/losses on plan
assets are amortized over a fouff r-year period and accumulate in other comprehensive income. We recognize deferred
gains and losses in future net income based on a “corridor” approach, where the corridor is equal to 10% of the greater of
the benefit obligation or the market-related value of plan assets at the beginning of the year.

The following shows the projecto ed payments forff the pension plan based on actuarial assumptions (in millions):

2022.......................................................................................................................................................................................................... $ 49
2023.......................................................................................................................................................................................................... 50
2024.......................................................................................................................................................................................................... 49
2025.......................................................................................................................................................................................................... 50
2026.......................................................................................................................................................................................................... 49
Next 5 years ............................................................................................................................................................................................ 238

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan

We have a U.S. nonqualified supplemental executive retirement plan, or SERP, wP hich provides supplemental retirement
benefits for certain employees. The future benefit accrual of the SERP plan is frozen. To provide for the future payments of
these benefits, we have purchased insurance on the lives of certain of the participants through company-owned policies.
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the cash surrender value of such policies was $61 million and $60 million,
respectively, and is included in other non-current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. We also
acquired a SERP through both the ICE NGX and CHX acquisitions. The following table provides a summary of the
changes in the SERP benefit obligations (in millions):

Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year ............................................................................................................ $ 38 $ 41
Interest cost ......................................................................................................................................................... 1 1
Actuarial (gain) loss............................................................................................................................................ (1) 1
Benefits paid........................................................................................................................................................ (5) (5)
Benefit obligation at year end ........................................................................................................................... $ 33 $ 38
Funded status...................................................................................................................................................... $ (33) $ (38)
Amounts recognized in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets:
Other current liabilities ....................................................................................................................................... $ (4) $ (5)
Accrued employee benefits............................................................................................................................... (29) (33)

As of December 31,
2021 2020

SERP plan expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of income was $1 million each year in 2021, 2020 and
2019 and primarily consisted of interest cost. The following table shows the projected payments forff the SERP plan based
on the actuarial assumptions (in millions):

Projected SERP Plan Payments
2022 ....................................................................................................................................................................................................... $ 4
2023 ....................................................................................................................................................................................................... 4
2024 ....................................................................................................................................................................................................... 3
2025 ....................................................................................................................................................................................................... 3
2026 ....................................................................................................................................................................................................... 3
Next 5 years.......................................................................................................................................................................................... 10
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Pension and SERP Plans Assumptions

The weighted-average assumptions used to develop the actuarial present value of the projected benefit obligation and net
periodic pension/SERP costs in 2021, 2020 and 2019 are set forth below:

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Weighted-average discount rate forf determining benefit obligations (pension/SERP plans) 2.6% / 2.1 2% .2% / 1.6% 3.0% / 2.7%

Weighted-average discount rate forf determining interest costs (pension/SERP plans)......... 1.6% / 1.1% 2.6% / 2.3% 3.7% / 3.5%

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets (pension/SERP plans) ................................ 2.3% / N/A 3.1% / N/A 3.9% / N/A

Rate of compensation increase ....................................................................................................... N/A N/A N/A

The assumed discount rate reflects the market rates for high-quality corporate bonds currently available. The discount rate
was determined by considering the average of pension yield curves constructed on a large population of high quality
corporate bonds. The resulting discount rates reflect the matching of plan liability cash flows to yield curves. To develop
the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption, we considered the historical returns and the future
expectations for returns for each asset class as well as the target asset allocation of the pension portfolio.

The determination of the interest cost component utilizes a full yield curve approach by applying the specific spot rates
along the yield curve used in the determination of the benefit obligation to each year’s discounted cash flow.

Post-retirement Benefit Plans

Our defined benefit plans provide certain health care and life insurance benefits for certain eligible retired NYSE U.S.
employees. These post-retirement benefit plans, which may be modified in accordance with their terms, are fully frozen.
The net periodic post-retirement benefit costs were $2 million each in 2021, 2020 and 2019. The defined benefit plans are
unfunded and we currently do not expect to fund the post-retirement benefit plans. The weighted-average discount rate for
determining the benefit obligation as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 is 2.6% and 2.1%, respectively. The weighted-
average discount rate for determining the interest cost as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 is 1.6% and 2.6%, respectively.
The following table shows the actuarial determined benefit obligation, interest costs, employee contributions, actuarial
(gain) loss, benefits paid during the periods and the accrued employee benefits (in millions):

As of December 31,
2021 2020

Benefit obligation at the end of year ............................................................................................................................ $ 145 $ 153
Interest cost ..................................................................................................................................................................... 42
Actuarial (gain) loss........................................................................................................................................................ (2) 17
Employee contributions ................................................................................................................................................. 22
Benefits paid.................................................................................................................................................................... (11) (12)
Amounts recognized in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets:
Other current liabilities ................................................................................................................................................... $ (8) $ (8)
Accrued employee benefits........................................................................................................................................... (136) (145)

The following table shows the payments projected for our post-retirement benefit plans (net of expected Medicare subsidy
receipts of $9 million in aggregate over the next ten fiscal years) based on actuarial assumptions (in millions):

Projected Post-Retirement Benefit by Year: Projected Payment
2022....................................................................................................................................................................................... $ 8
2023....................................................................................................................................................................................... 8
2024....................................................................................................................................................................................... 8
2025....................................................................................................................................................................................... 8
2026....................................................................................................................................................................................... 8
Next 5 years ......................................................................................................................................................................... 41

For measurement purposes, we assumed a 5.7% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health care
benefits in 2021 which will decrease on a graduated basis to 4.5% in the year 2038 and thereafterff .
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The accumulated other comprehensive loss, after tax, as of December 31, 2021, consisted of the following amounts that
have not yet been recognized in net periodic benefit cost (in millions):

Pension
Plans SERP Plans

Post-retirement
Benefit Plans Total

Unrecognized net actuarial losses (gains), after tax.................. $ 56 $ 6 $ (14) $ 48( )( )

Other Benefit Plans and Defined Contribution Plans

Our U.S. employees are eligible to participate in 401(k) and profit sharing plans and our non-U.S. employees are eligible
to participate in defined contribution pension plans. Total contributions under the 401(k), profit sharing and defined
contribution pension plans were $63 million, $52 million and $42 million in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. No
discretionary or profit sharing contributions were made during 2021, 2020 or 2019.

17. Fair Value Measurements

Financial assets and liabilities recorded or disclosed at fair value in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020 are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the
asset or liability’s fairff value measurement.

Our mutual funds are equity and fixed income mutual funds held for the purpose of providing future payments forff the
supplemental executive savings plan and SERP. These mutual funds are classified as equity investments and measured
at fair value using Level 1 inputs with adjustments recorded in net income (Note 16).

Excluding our equity investments without a readily determinable fair value, all other financial instruments are determined
to approximate carrying value due to the short period of time to their maturities.

We did not use Level 3 inputs to determine the fair value of assets or liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis
as of December 31, 2021 or 2020.

We measure certain assets, such as intangible assets, at fair value on a non-recurring basis. These assets are recognized
at fair value if they are deemed to be impaired. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, except for the 2020 impairment of
software developed at Bakkt that is no longer useful (Note 7), none of our intangible assets were required to be recorded
at fair value since no other impairments were recorded.

We measure certain equity investments at fair value on a non-recurring basis using our policy election under ASU No.
2016-01 (Note 2). During 2021, we evaluated these investments and concluded that certain fair value adjustments were
required under this election based on recent transactions related to our investment in Euroclear (Note 4).

See Note 14 for the fair value considerations related to our margin deposits, guaranty funds and delivery contracts
receivable.

The table below displays the fair value of our debt as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020. The fair values of
our fixed rate notes were estimated using quoted market prices for these instruments. The fair value of our commercial
paper includes a discount and other short-term debt approximates par value since the interest rates on this short-term
debt approximate market rates as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020.

Debt:
Commercial Paper..................................................... $ 1,012 $ 1,012 $ 2,405 $ 2,408
2.35% Senior Notes due September 15, 2022 .. 499 506 498 516
Other short-term debt.............................................. 10 10 6 6
Floating rate Senior Notes due June 15, 2023 ... — — 1,244 1,254
0.70% Senior Notes due June 15, 2023 .............. 997 1,000 995 1,008
3.45% Senior Notes due September 21, 2023 ... 399 416 398 431
4.00% Senior Notes due October 15, 2023......... 797 844 796 878
3.75% Senior Notes due December 1, 2025 ..... 1,246 1,351 1,245 1,420

As of December 31, 2021 As of December 31, 2020
(in millions) (in millions)

Carrying
Amount Fair value

Carrying
Amount Fair value
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3.10% Senior Notes due September 15, 2027 ... 497 533 496 560
3.75% Senior Notes due September 21, 2028 .. 594 664 593 702
2.10% Senior Notes due June 15, 2030 .............. 1,234 1,242 1,232 1,308
1.85% Senior Notes due September 15, 2032 ... 1,483 1,440 1,481 1,513
2.65% Senior Notes due September 15, 2040 ... 1,230 1,217 1,229 1,286
4.25% Senior Notes due September 21, 2048 ... 1,230 1,563 1,230 1,590
3.00% Senior Notes due June 15, 2050 .............. 1,220 1,266 1,219 1,326
3.00% Senior Notes due September 15, 2060 ... 1,470 1,487 1,470 1,570

Total debt .................................................................... $ 13,918 $ 14,551 $ 16,537 $ 17,776

As of December 31, 2021 As of December 31, 2020
(in millions) (in millions)

Carrying
Amount Fair value

Carrying
Amount Fair value

18. Segment Reporting
Beginning in the first quarter of 2021, origination technology revenues include those related to our ICE Mortgage
Technology network (previously reported in closing solutions revenues) and closing solutions revenues now include
registration revenues related to MERS (previously reported in other revenues). We believe these changes more
accurately reflect how we operate the business. The prior-year periods have been adjusted to reflect this change.

Our business is conducted through three reportable business segments, comprised of the following:

• Our Exchanges segment includes our global futures platforms forff trade execution and clearing, NYSE trading and
listings and various data services related to those platforff ms;

• Our Fixed Income and Data Services segment includes our fixed income and data analytics offerings,ff including
pricing and reference data, indices, analytics, fixed income execution, or ICE Bonds, CDS clearing, our
consolidated feeds, ICE Global Network businesses, other multi-asset class data and network services; and

• Our Mortgage Technology segment provides mortgage technology solutions for the U.S. residential mortgage
market from application through closing and the secondary market.

While revenues are recorded specifically in the segment in which they are earned or to which they relate, a significant
portion of our operating expenses are not solely related to a specific segment because the expenses serve functions that
are necessary for the operation of more than one segment. We directly allocate expenses when reasonably possible to do
so. Otherwise, we use a pro-rata revenue approach as the allocation method for the expenses that do not relate solely to
one segment and serve functions that are necessary for the operation of all segments.

Our chief operating decision maker does not review total assets or statements of income below operating income by
segments; therefore, such informatff ion is not presented below. Our three segments do not engage in intersegment
transactions.
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Financial data forff our business segments is as folff lows in 2021, 2020 and 2019 (in millions):

Revenues:
Energy futures and options ................................................. $ 1,236 $ — $ — $ 1,236
Agricultural and metals futures and options ..................... 228 — — 228
Financial futures and options .............................................. 394 — — 394
Cash equities and equity options ....................................... 2,377 — — 2,377
OTC and other ...................................................................... 326 — — 326
Data and connectivity services ........................................... 838 — — 838
Listings.................................................................................... 479 — — 479
Fixed income execution ....................................................... — 52 — 52
CDS clearing.......................................................................... — 192 — 192
Fixed income data and analytics ........................................ — 1,082 — 1,082
Other data and network services........................................ — 557 — 557
Origination technology ......................................................... — — 971 971
Closing solutions ................................................................... — — 310 310
Data and analytics ................................................................ — — 73 73
Other ....................................................................................... — — 53 53

Revenues ................................................................................... 5,878 1,883 1,407 9,168
Transaction-based expenses .................................................. 2,022 — — 2,022
Revenues, less transaction-based expenses....................... 3,856 1,883 1,407 7,146
Operating expenses ................................................................. 1,333 1,354 1,010 3,697
Operating income...................................................................... $ 2,523 $ 529 $ 397 $ 3,449

Year Ended December 31, 2021

Exchanges

Fixed Income
and Data
Services

Mortgage
Technology Consolidated

Revenues:
Energy futures and options ................................................. $ 1,120 $ — $ — $ 1,120
Agricultural and metals futures and options ..................... 245 — — 245
Financial futures and options .............................................. 357 — — 357
Cash equities and equity options ....................................... 2,585 — — 2,585
OTC and other....................................................................... 296 — — 296
Data and connectivity services ........................................... 790 — — 790
Listings.................................................................................... 446 — — 446
Fixed income execution ....................................................... — 70 — 70
CDS clearing.......................................................................... — 208 — 208
Fixed income data and analytics ........................................ — 1,018 — 1,018
Other data and network services........................................ — 514 — 514
Origination technology ......................................................... — — 316 316
Closing solutions ................................................................... — — 238 238
Data and analytics ................................................................ — — 22 22
Other ....................................................................................... — — 19 19

Revenues ................................................................................... 5,839 1,810 595 8,244
Transaction-based expenses .................................................. 2,208 — — 2,208
Revenues, less transaction-based expenses....................... 3,631 1,810 595 6,036
Operating expenses ................................................................. 1,242 1,318 443 3,003
Operating income...................................................................... $ 2,389 $ 492 $ 152 $ 3,033

Year Ended December 31, 2020

Exchanges

Fixed Income
and Data
Services

Mortgage
Technology Consolidated
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Revenues:
Energy futures and options ................................................. $ 992 $ — $ — $ 992
Agricultural and metals futures and options ..................... 251 — — 251
Financial futures and options .............................................. 332 — — 332
Cash equities and equity options ....................................... 1,643 — — 1,643
OTC and other ...................................................................... 233 — — 233
Data and connectivity services ........................................... 752 — — 752
Listings.................................................................................... 449 — — 449
Fixed income execution ....................................................... — 83 — 83
CDS clearing.......................................................................... — 214 — 214
Fixed income data and analytics ........................................ — 969 — 969
Other data and network services........................................ — 490 — 490
Origination technology ......................................................... — — — —
Closing solutions ................................................................... — — 135 135
Data and analytics ................................................................ — — — —
Other ....................................................................................... — — 4 4

Revenues ................................................................................... 4,652 1,756 139 6,547
Transaction-based expenses .................................................. 1,345 — — 1,345
Revenues, less transaction-based expenses....................... 3,307 1,756 139 5,202
Operating expenses ................................................................. 1,140 1,317 72 2,529
Operating income...................................................................... $ 2,167 $ 439 $ 67 $ 2,673

Year Ended December 31, 2019

Exchanges

Fixed Income
and Data
Services

Mortgage
Technology Consolidated

Revenue from one member of our Exchanges segment comprised $443 million or 11% of our Exchanges revenue, less
transaction based expenses during 2021. No customers or clearing members accounted for more than 10% of our
segment revenues or consolidated revenues, less transaction-based expenses, in 2020. Revenue from one clearing
member of the Exchanges segment comprised $368 million, or 11% of our Exchanges revenues less transaction-based
expenses in 2019. Clearing members are primarily intermediaries and represent a broad range of principal trading firms. If
a clearing member ceased its operations, we believe that the trading firms would continue to conduct transactions and
would clear those transactions through another clearing member firm. No additional customers or clearing members
accounted for more than 10% of our segment revenues or consolidated revenues in 2021 or 2019.

Geographical Information

The following represents our revenues, less transaction-based expenses, net assets and net property and equipment
based on the geographic location (in millions):

Revenues, less transaction-based expenses:

Year ended December 31, 2021 ....................................................................... $ 4,832 $ 2,314 $ 7,146
Year ended December 31, 2020 ....................................................................... $ 3,933 $ 2,103 $ 6,036
Year ended December 31, 2019 ....................................................................... $ 3,290 $ 1,912 $ 5,202

Net assets:

As of December 31, 2021 .................................................................................. $ 14,628 $ 8,120 $ 22,748
As of December 31, 2020 .................................................................................. $ 11,351 $ 8,183 $ 19,534

Property and equipment, net:

As of December 31, 2021 .................................................................................. $ 1,494 $ 205 $ 1,699
As of December 31, 2020 .................................................................................. $ 1,506 $ 207 $ 1,713

United States
Foreign
Countries Total

The forff eign countries category above primarily relates to the U.K. and to a lesser extent, EU, Israel, Canada and
Singapore.
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19. Earnings Per Common Share

The following is a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted earnings per common share
computations in 2021, 2020 and 2019 (in millions, except per share amounts):

Basic:
Net income attributable to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc................................................ $ 4,058 $ 2,089 $ 1,933
Weighted average common shares outstanding ................................................................ 562 552 561
Basic earnings per common share........................................................................................ $ 7.22 $ 3.79 $ 3.44

Diluted:
Weighted average common shares outstanding ................................................................ 562 552 561
Effectff of dilutive securities - stock options and restricted stock ....................................... 3 3 4
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding.................................................... 565 555 565
Diluted earnings per common share..................................................................................... $ 7.18 $ 3.77 $ 3.42

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Basic earnings per common share is calculated using the weighted average common shares outstanding during the
periods. Changes in the weighted average common shares outstanding between years was primarily due to the stock
issued in 2020 for the Ellie Mae acquisition, and by stock repurchases.

Common equivalent shares from stock options and restricted stock awards, calculated using the treasury stock method,
are included in the diluted per share calculations unless the effectff of their inclusion would be antidilutive. During 2021,
2020 and 2019 281,000, 372,000 and 454,000 outstanding stock options, respectively, were not included in the
computation of diluted earnings per common share because to do so would have had an antidilutive effect.ff In addition, we
excluded warrants and preferred and common incentive units under the Bakkt Equity Incentive Plan in 2020 and 2019
because they were also antidilutive. None of these warrants and preferred/common units are outstanding as of December
31, 2021 due to the deconsolidation of Bakkt. As of both December 31, 2021 and 2020, there were 50,000 and 89,000,
respectively, of restricted stock units that were vested but have not been issued that are included in the computation of
diluted earnings per share. Certain figures in the table above may not recalculate due to rounding.

20. Subsequent Events

We have evaluated subsequent events and determined that no events or transactions met the definition of a subsequent
event for purposes of recognition or disclosure in the accompanying financial statements.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9 (A). CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
(a) Evaluationtt of Disclosure Controlstt and Procedures. As of the end of the period covered by this report, an

evaluation was carried out by our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officeff r and Chief Financial
Officeff r, of the effeff ctiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934). Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officerff and Chief Financial Officerff concluded that
these disclosure controls and procedures were effectff ive as of the end of the period covered by this report.

(b) Management’s Annual Report on Internal Controltt over Financial Reportingtt and the Attestationtt Report of the
Independent Registeredii Public Accountingtt Firm. Management’s report on its assessment of the effeff ctiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021 and the attestation report of Ernst & Young LLP on our
internal control over financial reporting are set forth in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report.

(c) Changes in Internal Controlstt over Financial Reporting.tt There were no changes in our internal controls over
financial reporting that occurred during our most recent fiscal quarter that have materially affecteff d, or are reasonably likely
to materially affectff , our internal controls over financial reporting. As a result, no corrective actions were taken.

ITEM 9 (B). OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.

ITEM 9 (C). DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT
PREVENT INSPECTIONS

Not applicable.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
Informatff ion relating to our Board of Directors set forth under the caption “Proposal 1 — Election of Directors — Nominees
for Election as Directors at the 2022 Annual Meeting” in our Proxy Statement for our 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
(“2022 Proxy Statement”) is incorporated herein by reference. Information relating to our executive officersff is, pursuant to
General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K, set forth below under the caption “Executive Officers.”ff Information regarding
compliance by our directors and executive officeff rs and owners of more than ten percent of our Common Stock with the
reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act (Item 405 of Regulation S-K), set forth under the caption
“Delinquent 16(a) Reports” in the 2022 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference. Information relating to our
financial expert serving on our Audit Committee (Item 407(d)(5) of Regulation S-K), our Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee (Item 407(c)(3) of Regulation S-K), and our Audit Committee (Item 407(d)(4) of Regulation S-K) is
set forth under the caption “Meetings and Committees of the Board of Directors” in our 2022 Proxy Statement and is
incorporated herein by reference.

Executive Officers

Set forth below, in accordance with General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K, is informatff ion regarding our executive officers:ff

Jeffreyff C. Sprecher 66 Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officeff r
A. Warren Gardiner 41 Chief Financial Offiff cer
Benjamin R. Jackson 49 President

Name Ageg Title
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David S. Goone 61 Chief Strategy Offiff cer
Lynn C. Martin 45 President, NYSE Group and Chair, ICE Fixed Income & Data Services
Andrew J. Surdykowski 51 General Counsel
Mark P. Wassersug 52 Chief Operating Officeff r

Name Ageg Title

Jeffrey C. Sprecher. Mr. Sprecher has been a director and our Chief Executive Offiff cer since our inception and has
served as Chairman of our Board of Directors since November 2002. As our Chief Executive Officeff r, he is responsible for
our strategic direction, operational and financial performance.ff Mr. Sprecher acquired Continental Power Exchange, or
CPEX, our predecessor company, in 1997. Prior to acquiring CPEX, Mr. Sprecher held a number of positions, including
President, over a fourteen-year period with Western Power Group, Inc., a developer, owner and operator of large central-
station power plants. While with Western Power, he was responsible for a number of significant financings. Mr. Sprecher
holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Chemical Engineering from the University of Wisconsin and a Master of Business
Administration from Pepperdine University.

A. Warren Gardiner. Mr. Gardiner has served as Chief Financial Officerff since May 2021. He is responsible for all
aspects of ICE’s finance and accounting functions, treasury, tax, audit and controls and investor relations. Mr. Gardiner
served as VP,P Investor Relations from July 2017 to May 2021. Prior to joining us, Mr. Gardiner served in various positions
at Evercore ISI, including Director, Equity Research from February 2016 through May 2017 and Vice President, Equity
Research from April 2013 through February 2016. Prior to that, he was an equity research analyst at Barclays. Mr.
Gardiner is a CFAFF Charterholder and holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Managerial Economics from Union College.

Benjamin R. Jackson. Mr. Jackson has served as President since November 2017. Mr. Jackson is responsible for ICE's
global technology, informatff ion security and operations and is responsible for coordinating global futures and OTC trading
businesses. Additionally, he leads the integration planning and execution of our acquisitions and joint ventures and serves
as the Chair of ICE Mortgage Technology. Mr. Jackson previously served as Chief Commercial Officeff r, and prior to that
President and Chief Operating Officeff r of ICE Futures U.S. Mr. Jackson joined us in July 2011 from SunGard, a leading
software and technology provider to commodity market participants. At SunGard, he led the company’s energy and
commodities business segment as Senior Executive Vice President. Prior to that, Mr. Jackson served as President of
SunGard’s Kiodex commodity risk management platform. Mr. Jackson earned a Bachelor of Science degree in economics
from John Carroll University with supporting studies at the London School of Economics and Political Science.

David S. Goone. Mr. Goone has served as Chief Strategy Officeff r since March 2001. He is responsible for all aspects of
our product line, including futures products and capabilities for ICE’s electronic platform. Mr. Goone is a Director of ICE
Mortgage Services, the governing Board of MERSCORP Holdings, Inc. Mr. Goone also represents us on industry boards
including the Options Clearing Corporation, National Futures Association and the Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation.
Prior to joining us, Mr. Goone served as the Managing Director and Head of Product Development and Sales at the
Chicago Mercantile Exchange where he worked for nine years. From 1989 through 1992, Mr. Goone was Vice President
at Indosuez Carr Futures, where he developed institutional and corporate business. Prior to joining Indosuez, Mr. Goone
worked at Chase Manhattan Bank, where he developed and managed their exchange-traded foreign currency options
operation at the Chicago Mercantile Exchange. Mr. Goone holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Accountancy from the
University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign.

Lynn C. Martin. Ms. Martin has served as President of NYSE Group, a wholly-owned subsidiary of ICE, since January
2022. NYSE Group includes the New York Stock Exchange, the world’s largest stock market and premier venue for capital
raising, as well as four fully electronic equity markets and two options exchanges. Ms. Martin is also Chair of Fixed
Income & Data Services at ICE, which includes ICE Bonds execution venues, securities pricing and analytics, reference
data, indices, desktop solutions, consolidated feeds and connectivity services that cover all major asset classes. Ms.
Martin previously served as President of Fixed Income & Data Services from October 2020 to January 2022, President of
ICE Data Servicesr from September 2019 to October 2020 and as President and Chief Operating Officeff r of ICE Data
Services from July 2015 to September 2019. Additionally, Ms. Martin served as Chief Operating Officeff r of ICE Clear U.S.,
Inc. and served in a number of leadership roles, including as Chief Executive Officeff r of NYSE Liffeff U.S. and Chief
Executive Officeff r of New York Portfolioff Clearing. Prior to joining NYSE Euronext in 2001, Ms. Martin worked at IBM in
their Global Services organization. Ms. Martin holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Computer Science from Manhattan
College and a Master of Arts in Statistics from Columbia University. Ms. Martin serves on the Manhattan College Board of
Trustees as well as the Advisory Board of the School of Science.

Andrew J. Surdykowski. Mr. Surdykowski has served as General Counsel since October 2018. He is responsible for
overseeing our legal affaiff rs globally, including public company compliance, corporate governance matters and serving as
our key legal advisor. Previously Mr. Surdykowski was SVP, Associate General Counsel and Assistant Corporate
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Secretary. Prior to joining us in 2005, Mr. Surdykowski was a corporate attorney at McKenna, Long & Aldridge LLP,P a
national law firm now known as Dentons. At McKenna, Long & Aldridge, he practiced in the corporate law group and
represented a broad array of clients in matters dealing with securities, mergers and acquisitions, corporate governance,
finance and private equity. Mr. Surdykowski holds a Juris Doctor degree from the Georgia State University College of Law,
and a Bachelor of Science degree in Management from the Georgia Institute of Technology.

Mark P. Wassersug. Mr. Wassersug has served as Chief Operating Offiff cer since November 2017. Mr. Wassersug is
responsible for the day-to-day operations and support of the global infrastructure, data centers, networks and corporate
Informatff ion Technology systems that support ICE and its subsidiaries including the NYSE, ICE's global derivatives trading
and clearing businesses, and multiple data analytics, reporting and delivery platforms. Mr. Wassersug is also responsible
for the customer service teams and oversees all disaster recovery and business continuity planning and operations.
Previously, Mr. Wassersug served as SVP of Operations. Prior to joining us in 2001, Mr. Wassersug worked as a strategic
planning and technology consultant in Internet infrastructure and ecommerce for Exodus Communication. Mr. Wassersug
earned a Bachelor of Science degree in Civil Engineering from Lehigh University and completed a Master of Business
Administration at the Goizueta Business School at Emory University.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Global Code of Business Conduct that applies to all of our employees, officersff and directors. Our
Global Code of Business Conduct meets the requirements of a “code of ethics” as defined by Item 406 of Regulation S-K,
and applies to our Chief Executive Officeff r and Chief Financial Officerff (who is the principal financial offiff cer), as well as all
other employees, as indicated above. Our Global Code of Business Conduct also meets the requirements of a code of
ethics and business conduct under the New York Stock Exchange listing standards. Our Global Code of Business
Conduct is available on our website at www.intercontinenttt alexchangt e.com under the heading “Investors & Media”
“Governance” then "Governance Overview." We intend to disclose promptly on our website any substantive amendments
to our Global Code of Business Conduct. We will also provide a copy of the Global Code of Business Conduct to
stockholders at no charge upon written request.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Informatff ion relating to executive compensation set forth under the captions “Compensation Discussion & Analysis,”
“Executive Compensation,” “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation,” “Non-Employee Director
Compensation,” and “Compensation Committee Report” in our 2022 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
Informatff ion regarding ownership of our common stock by certain persons as set forth under the caption “Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in our 2022 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by
reference. In addition, information in tabular form relating to securities authorized for issuance under our equity
compensation plans is set forth under the caption “Equity Compensation Plan Informatff ion” in this Annual Report and
“Share-Based Compensation” and “Pension and Other Benefit Programs” as described in Notes 11 and 16 to our
consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND
DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Informatff ion regarding certain relationships and transactions between our company and certain of our affiliatff es as set forth
under the caption “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” in our 2022 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by
reference. In addition, information regarding our directors’ independence (Item 407(a) of Regulation S-K) as set forth
under the caption “Item 1 — Election of Directors — Nominees for Election as Directors at the 2022 Annual Meeting” in
our 2022 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
Informatff ion regarding principal accountant fees and services of our independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst &
Young LLP,P is set forth under the caption “Information About Our Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fees
and Services” in our 2022 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) Documentstt Filedii as Part of thisii Report.

(1) Financial Statementstt

Our consolidated financial statements and the related reports of management and our independent registered
public accounting firm which are required to be filed as part of this Report are included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. These consolidated financial statements are as follows:

• Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.

• Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

• Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and
2019.

• Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity and Redeemable Non-Controlling Interest for the years
ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

• Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

• Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules

Schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable or the required informatff ion is included in
the consolidated financial statements or notes, thereto.

(3) ExhibitEE stt

See (b) below.

(b) ExhibitEE stt

The exhibits listed below under “Index to Exhibits” are filed with or incorporated by reference in this Report. Where such
filing is made by incorporation by reference to a previously filed registration statement or report, such registration
statement or report is identified in parentheses. We will furnish any exhibit upon request to Investor Relations, 5660 New
Northside Drive, Atlanta, Georgia 30328.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

Not applicable.

INDEX TO EXHIBITS
The following exhibits are filed with this Report. We will furnish any exhibit upon request to Intercontinental Exchange,
Inc., Investor Relations, 5660 New Northside Drive, Third Floor, Atlanta, Georgia 30328.
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Exhibit
Number Description of Document

2.1 — Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 6, 2020, by and among Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.,
Ellie Mae Intermediate Holdings I, Inc. and Ellie Mae Parent, LP.* (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1
to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 7, 2020, File
No. 001-36198).

3.1 — Fifth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. effective
October 30, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 31, 2019, File No. 001-36198).

3.2 — Eighth Amended and Restated Bylaws of Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. effective May 25, 2017
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on May 26, 2017, File No. 001-36198).

4.1 — Indenture dated as of October 8, 2013 among Intercontinental Exchange, Inc., as issuer,
IntercontinentalExchange Inc. and Baseball Merger Sub, LLC, as guarantors, and Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Intercontinental Exchange,
Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 8, 2013, File No. 333-187402).

4.2 — First Supplemental Indenture dated as of October 8, 2013 among Intercontinental Exchange, Inc., as
issuer, Intercontinental Exchange Holdings, Inc. and Baseball Merger Sub, LLC, as guarantors, and Wells
Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Intercontinental
Exchange, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 8, 2013, File No. 333-187402).

4.3 — Form of 4.00% Senior Notes due 2023 (included as an exhibit to the First Supplemental Indenture dated as
of October 8, 2013) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 8, 2013, File No. 333-187402).

4.4 — Indenture dated as of November 24, 2015 among Intercontinental Exchange, Inc., as issuer, NYSE
Holdings LLC, as guarantor, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on November 24, 2015, File No. 001-36198).

4.5 — First Supplemental Indenture dated as of November 24, 2015 among Intercontinental Exchange, Inc., as
issuer, NYSE Holdings LLC, as guarantor, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on November 24, 2015, File No. 001-36198).

4.6 — Form of 2.75% Senior Notes due 2020 (included as an exhibit to the First Supplemental Indenture dated as
of November 24, 2015) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 24, 2015, File No. 001-36198).

4.7 — Form of 3.75% Senior Notes due 2025 (included as an exhibit to the First Supplemental Indenture dated as
of November 24, 2015) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 24, 2015, File No. 001-36198).

4.8 — Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of August 17, 2017 among Intercontinental Exchange, Inc., as
issuer, NYSE Holdings LLC, as guarantor, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on August 17, 2017, File No. 001-36198).

4.9 — Form of 2.350% Senior Notes due 2022 (included as an exhibit to the Second Supplemental Indenture
dated as of August 17, 2017) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 17, 2017, File No. 001-36198).

4.10 — Form of 3.100% Senior Notes due 2027 (included as an exhibit to the Second Supplemental Indenture
dated as of August 17, 2017) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 17, 2017, File No. 001-36198).

4.11 — Indenture dated as of August 13, 2018 between Intercontinental Exchange, Inc., as issuer, and Wells Fargo
Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Intercontinental
Exchange, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 13, 2018, File No. 001-36198).

4.12 — First Supplemental Indenture dated as of August 13, 2018 between Intercontinental Exchange, Inc., as
issuer, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to
Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 13, 2018, File
No. 001-36198).

4.13 — Form of 3.450% Senior Notes due 2023 (included as an exhibit to the First Supplemental Indenture dated
as of August 13, 2018) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 13, 2018, File No. 001-36198).

4.14 — Form of 3.750% Senior Notes due 2028 (included as an exhibit to the First Supplemental Indenture dated
as of August 13, 2018) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 13, 2018, File No. 001-36198).
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4.15 — Form of 4.250% Senior Notes due 2048 (included as an exhibit to the First Supplemental Indenture dated
as of August 13, 2018) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 13, 2018, File No. 001-36198).

4.16 — Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of May 26, 2020 between Intercontinental Exchange, Inc., as
issuer, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to
Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 26, 2020, File No.
001-36198).

4.17 — Form of 2.100% Senior Notes due 2030 (included as an exhibit to the First Supplemental Indenture dated
as of May 26, 2020) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 26, 2020, File No. 001-36198).

4.18 — Form of 3.000% Senior Notes due 2050 (included as an exhibit to the First Supplemental Indenture dated
as of May 26, 2020) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 26, 2020, File No. 001-36198).

4.19 — Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of August 20, 2020 between Intercontinental Exchange, Inc., as
issuer, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 20, 2020, File
No. 001-36198).

4.20 — Form of 0.700% Senior Notes due 2023 (included as an exhibit to the Third Supplemental Indenture dated
as of August 20, 2020) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 20, 2020, File No. 001-36198).

4.21 — Form of 1.850% Senior Notes due 2032 (included as an exhibit to the Third Supplemental Indenture dated
as of August 20, 2020) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 20, 2020, File No. 001-36198).

4.22 — Form of 2.650% Senior Notes due 2040 (included as an exhibit to the Third Supplemental Indenture dated
as of August 20, 2020) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 20, 2020, File No. 001-36198).

4.23 — Form of 3.000% Senior Notes due 2060 (included as an exhibit to the Third Supplemental Indenture dated
as of August 20, 2020) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 20, 2020, File No. 001-36198).

4.24 — Registration Rights Agreement, dated September 4, 2020, by and between Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.
and Ellie Mae Parent, LP. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 4, 2020, File No. 001-36198).

4.25 Description of ICE’s Securities Registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act.
1 — Employment Agreement dated February 24, 2012 between Intercontinental Exchange Holdings, Inc. and

Jeffrey C. Sprecher (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Intercontinental Exchange Holdings, Inc.’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 24, 2012, File No. 001-32671).

10.2 — Employment Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2021, between Intercontinental Exchange Holdings, Inc. and
Warren Gardiner (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.'s Amendment
No. 1 to Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 20, 2021, File No. 001-36198).

10.3 — Employment Agreement dated February 24, 2012 between Intercontinental Exchange Holdings, Inc. and
David S. Goone (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Intercontinental Exchange Holdings, Inc.’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 24, 2012, File No. 001-32671).

10.4 — Employment Agreement dated February 24, 2012 between Intercontinental Exchange Holdings, Inc. and
Scott A. Hill (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Intercontinental Exchange Holdings, Inc.’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 24, 2012, File No. 001-32671).

10.5 — Employment Agreement dated August 1, 2016 between Intercontinental Exchange Holdings, Inc. and
Benjamin Jackson (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.'s Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 7, 2018, File No. 001-36198).

10.6 — Employment Agreement dated as of February 1, 2021 between ICE Data, LP, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. and Lynn Martin (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to
Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on April 29, 2021, File
No. 001-36198).

10.7 — Form of Employment Agreement between Intercontinental Exchange Holdings, Inc. and the other U.S.
officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Intercontinental Exchange Holdings, Inc.’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 24, 2012, File No. 001-32671).

10.8 — Transition and Separation Agreement, dated as of March 2, 2021, between Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.
and Scott A. Hill (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 2, 2021, File No. 001-36198).
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10.9 — Intercontinental Exchange Holdings, Inc. 2003 Restricted Stock Deferral Plan for Outside Directors, as
amended effective December 31, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to Intercontinental
Exchange Holdings, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 11, 2009, File No.
001-32671).

10.10 — Intercontinental Exchange Holdings, Inc. Executive Bonus Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to Intercontinental Exchange Holdings, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on
August 5, 2009, File No. 001-32671).

10.11 — Intercontinental Exchange Holdings, Inc. 2009 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to Intercontinental Exchange Holdings, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC
on August 5, 2009, File No. 001-32671).

10.12 — Intercontinental Exchange Holdings, Inc. 2013 Omnibus Employee Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Intercontinental Exchange Holdings, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-8,
filed with the SEC on May 24, 2013, File No. 333-188815).

10.13 — Intercontinental Exchange Holdings, Inc. 2013 Omnibus Non-Employee Director Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Intercontinental Exchange Holdings, Inc.’s Registration
Statement on Form S-8, filed with the SEC on May 24, 2013, File No. 333-188815).

10.14 — Amendment No. 1 to the Intercontinental Exchange Holdings, Inc. 2013 Omnibus Non-Employee Director
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 3, 2017, File No. 001-36198).

10.15 — Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. 2017 Omnibus Employee Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Form S-8 filed with the SEC on May 22, 2017, File No.
333-218619).

16 — Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. 2018 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
4.3 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, filed with the SEC on May 21,
2018, File No. 333-225065).

10.17 — Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (EBITDA and TSR) used with respect
to grants of performance-based restricted stock units by the Company under the Intercontinental Exchange,
Inc. 2017 Omnibus Employee Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to Intercontinental
Exchange, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 7, 2018, File No. 001-36198).

10.18 — Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Relative 3-Year TSR) used with
respect to grants of performance-based restricted stock units by the Company under the Intercontinental
Exchange, Inc. 2017 Omnibus Employee Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to
Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 7, 2018, File
No. 001-36198).

10.19 — Contribution and Asset Transfer Agreement, dated as of May 11, 2000, by and between
IntercontinentalExchange, LLC, Continental Power Exchange, Inc., and Jeffrey C. Sprecher (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to Intercontinental Exchange Holdings, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form
S-1 filed with the SEC on October 25, 2005, File No. 333-123500).

20 — First Amendment to Contribution and Asset Transfer Agreement, dated as of May 17, 2000, by and among
IntercontinentalExchange, LLC, Continental Power Exchange, Inc., and Jeffrey C. Sprecher (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to Intercontinental Exchange Holdings, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form
S-1 filed with the SEC on October 25, 2005, File No. 333-123500).

10.21 — Second Amendment to Contribution and Asset Transfer Agreement, dated as of October 24, 2005, by and
among Intercontinental Exchange Holdings, Inc., Continental Power Exchange, Inc., and Jeffrey C.
Sprecher (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to Intercontinental Exchange Holdings, Inc.’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on October 25, 2005, File No. 333-123500).

10.22 — Aircraft Time Sharing Agreement dated as of March 4, 2021 between Intercontinental Exchange Holdings,
Inc. and Jeffrey C. Sprecher (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.'s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on April 29, 2021, File No. 001-36198).

23 — Aircraft Time Sharing Agreement dated as of February 2, 2022 between Intercontinental Exchange
Holdings, Inc. and Warren Gardiner.

10.24 Aircraft Time Sharing Agreement dated as of March 4, 2021 between Intercontinental Exchange Holdings,
Inc. and David S. Goone (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.'s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on April 29, 2021, File No. 001-36198).

10.25 — Aircraft Time Sharing Agreement dated as of February 6, 2019 between Intercontinental Exchange
Holdings, Inc. and Scott A. Hill (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 to Intercontinental Exchange,
Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 7, 2019, File No. 001-36198).

10.26 — Aircraft Time Sharing Agreement dated as of March 4, 2021 between Intercontinental Exchange Holdings,
Inc. and Benjamin R. Jackson (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to Intercontinental Exchange,
Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on April 29, 2021, File No. 001-36198).
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10.27 — Aircraft Time Sharing Agreement dated as of March 4, 2021 between Intercontinental Exchange Holdings,
Inc. and Lynn Martin (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.'s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on April 29, 2021, File No. 001-36198).

10.28 — Form of Agreement Relating to Noncompetition and Other Covenants signed by each of the non-employee
directors and by Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 17, 2016, File No.
001-36198).

10.29 — Credit Agreement dated as of April 3, 2014 among Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. and ICE Europe Parent
Limited, as borrowers, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent, issuing lender and
swingline lender, Bank of America, N.A., as syndication agent, and each of the lenders party thereto for an
aggregate $3.0 billion five-year senior unsecured revolving credit facility (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 7,
2014).

30 — First Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of May 15, 2015 amending Credit Agreement originally
dated April 3, 2014 among Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. (formerly known as IntercontinentalExchange
Group, Inc.) and ICE Europe Parent Limited, as borrowers, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as
administrative agent, issuing lender and swingline lender, Bank of America N.A., as syndication agent, and
each of the lenders party thereto for an aggregate $3.0 billion five-year senior unsecured revolving credit
facility (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 19, 2015, File No. 001-36198).

10.31 — Second Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of November 9, 2015 among Intercontinental Exchange,
Inc. and ICE Europe Parent Limited, as borrowers, the lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association, as administrative agent, amending that certain Credit Agreement, dated April 3, 2014
(as amended by the First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2015) among
Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. and ICE Europe Parent Limited, as borrowers, the lenders party thereto and
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 13, 2015,
File No. 001-36198).

10.32 — Third Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of November 13, 2015 among Intercontinental Exchange,
Inc. and ICE Europe Parent Limited, as borrowers, the lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association, as administrative agent, amending that certain Credit Agreement, dated as of April 3,
2014 (as amended by the First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2015 and the Second
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of November 9, 2015) among Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.
and ICE Europe Parent Limited, as borrowers, the lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, as administrative agent, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Intercontinental
Exchange, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 13, 2015, File No.
001-36198).

10.33 — The Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 18, 2017 among Intercontinental
Exchange, Inc. as borrower, NYSE Holdings LLC as guarantor, the lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo
Bank, National Association, as administrative agent, amending that certain Credit Agreement, dated as of
April 3, 2014 among Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. and ICE Europe Parent Limited, as borrowers, the
lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent (as amended by
the First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2015, the Second Amendment to Credit
Agreement, dated as of November 9, 2015, and the Third Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of
November 13, 2015) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 21, 2017, File No. 001-36198).

10.34 — The Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 18, 2017 among Intercontinental Exchange,
Inc. as borrower, NYSE Holdings LLC as guarantor, the lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association, as administrative agent, amending that certain Credit Agreement, dated as of April 3,
2014 among Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. and ICE Europe Parent Limited, as borrowers, the lenders
party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent (as amended by the First
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2015, the Second Amendment to Credit Agreement,
dated as of November 9, 2015, the Third Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of November 13, 2015
and the Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 18, 2017) (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.2 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
August 21, 2017, File No. 001-36198).

10.35 — The Sixth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 9, 2018 among Intercontinental Exchange,
Inc. as borrower, the lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative
agent, amending that certain Credit Agreement, dated as of April 3, 2014 among Intercontinental Exchange,
Inc., as borrower, the lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative
agent (as amended by the First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2015, the Second
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of November 9, 2015, the Third Amendment to Credit
Agreement, dated as of November 13, 2015, the Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of
August 18, 2017, and the Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 18, 2017)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on August 9, 2018, File No. 001-36198).
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10.36 — The Seventh Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 14, 2020 among Intercontinental
Exchange, Inc. as borrower, the lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as
administrative agent, amending that certain Credit Agreement, dated as of April 3, 2014 among
Intercontinental Exchange, Inc., as borrower, the lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, as administrative agent (as amended by the First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of
May 15, 2015, the Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of November 9, 2015, the Third
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of November 13, 2015, the Fourth Amendment to Credit
Agreement, dated as of August 18, 2017, the Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 18,
2017 and the Sixth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 9, 2018) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on August 18, 2020, File No. 001-36198).

10.37 — The Eighth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 21, 2020 among Intercontinental
Exchange, Inc. as borrower, the lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as
administrative agent, amending that certain Credit Agreement, dated as of April 3, 2014 among
Intercontinental Exchange, Inc., as borrower, the lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, as administrative agent (as amended by the First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of
May 15, 2015, the Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of November 9, 2015, the Third
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of November 13, 2015, the Fourth Amendment to Credit
Agreement, dated as of August 18, 2017, the Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 18,
2017, the Sixth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 9, 2018 and the Seventh Amendment
to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 14, 2020) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 25, 2020, File
No. 001-36198).

10.38 — The Ninth Amendment, dated as of March 8, 2021, by and among Intercontinental Exchange, Inc., as
borrower, the lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent,
amending that certain Credit Agreement, dated as of April 3, 2014, by and among Intercontinental
Exchange, Inc., as borrower, the lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as
administrative agent (as amended by the First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2015,
the Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of November 9, 2015, the Third Amendment to
Credit Agreement, dated as of November 13, 2015, the Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as
of August 18, 2017, the Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 18, 2017, the Sixth
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 9, 2018, the Seventh Amendment to Credit
Agreement, dated as of August 14, 2020 and the Eighth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of
August 21, 2020) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.'s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on April 29, 2021, File No. 001-36198).

10.39 — The Tenth Amendment, dated as of October 15, 2021, by and among Intercontinental Exchange, Inc., as
borrower, the lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent,
amending that certain Credit Agreement, dated as of April 3, 2014, by and among Intercontinental
Exchange, Inc., as borrower, the lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as
administrative agent (as amended by the First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2015,
the Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of November 9, 2015, the Third Amendment to
Credit Agreement, dated as of November 13, 2015, the Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as
of August 18, 2017, the Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 18, 2017, the Sixth
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 9, 2018, the Seventh Amendment to Credit
Agreement, dated as of August 14, 2020, the Eighth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of August
21, 2021, and the Ninth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of March 8, 2021) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on October 18, 2021, File No. 001-36198).

21.1 — Subsidiaries of Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.
23.1 — Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
24.1 — Power of Attorney (included with signature page hereto).
1 — Rule 13a -14(a)/15d -14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer.
2 — Rule 13a -14(a)/15d -14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer.

32.1 — Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officer.
32.2 — Section 1350 Certification of Chief Financial Officer.

— The following materials from Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2021 formatted in Inline XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the
Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Income, (iii) the Consolidated Statements
of Changes in Equity and Redeemable Non-Controlling Interest, (iv) the Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income, (v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and (vi) Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements, tagged as blocks of text.
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104 — The cover page from Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2021, formatted in Inline XBRL.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.
(Registrant)

Date: February 3, 2022 By: /s/ Jeffreyff C. Sprecher
Jeffreyff C. Sprecher
Chief Executive Officeff r

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints
Jeffreyff C. Sprecher and A. Warren Gardiner, and each of them his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-factff and agents, with
full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all
capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report in 2021 and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and
other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-
fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and performff each and every act and thing requisite or
necessary to be done, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifyingff and
confirming all that said attorneys-in-factff and agents or any of them, or their or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do
or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated as of the date indicated.

/s/ Jeffreyff C. Sprecher Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officeff r

(principal executive officff er)

February 3, 2022
Jeffreyff C. Sprecher

/s/ A. Warren Gardiner Chief Financial Offiff cer
(principal financial officeff r)

February 3, 2022
A. Warren Gardiner

/s/ James W. Namkung Chief Accounting Officeff r and
Corporate Controller

(principal accounting officeff r)

February 3, 2022
James W. Namkung

/s/ Sharon Y. Bowen Director February 3, 2022
Sharon Y. Bowen

/s/ Shantella E. Cooper Director February 3, 2022
Shantella E. Cooper

/s/ Charles R. Crisp Director February 3, 2022
Charles R. Crisp

/s/ Duriya M. Farooqui Director February 3, 2022
Duriya M. Farooqui

Signaturesg Title Date
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/s/ Lord Hague of Richmond Director February 3, 2022
The Rt. Hon. the Lord Hague of Richmond

/s/ Mark F. Mulhern Director February 3, 2022

Mark F. Mulhern

/s/ Thomas E. Noonan Director February 3, 2022
Thomas E. Noonan

/s/ Frederic V. Salerno Director February 3, 2022
Frederic V. Salerno

/s/ Caroline L. Silver Director February 3, 2022
Caroline L. Silver

/s/ Judith A. Sprieser Director February 3, 2022
Judith A. Sprieser

/s/ Vincent Tese Director February 3, 2022
Vincent Tese
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About ICE

Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. (NYSE: ICE) is a Fortune 500 company that designs, builds and operates digital networks to connect people 

to opportunity. We provide financial technology and data services across major asset classes that offer our customers access to mission-

critical workflow tools that increase transparency and operational efficiencies. We operate exchanges, including the New York Stock Exchange, 

and clearing houses that help people invest, raise capital and manage risk across multiple asset classes. Our comprehensive fixed income 

data services and execution capabilities provide information, analytics and platforms that help our customers capitalize on opportunities and 

operate more efficiently. At ICE Mortgage Technology, we are transforming and digitizing the U.S. residential mortgage process, from consumer 

engagement through loan registration. Together, we transform, streamline and automate industries to connect our customers to opportunity.

Trademarks of ICE and/or its affiliates include Intercontinental Exchange, ICE, ICE block design, NYSE and New York Stock Exchange. Information regarding additional trademarks and intellectual property rights of Intercontinental Exchange, 

Inc. and/or its affiliates is located at ice.com/terms-of-use. Key Information Documents for certain products covered by the EU Packaged Retail and Insurance-based Investment Products Regulation can be accessed on the relevant exchange 

website under the heading “Key Information Documents (KIDS).”

Safe Harbor Statement under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 -- Statements in this Annual Report regarding ICE’s business that are not historical facts are “forward-looking statements” that involve risks and uncertainties. For a 

discussion of additional risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual results to differ from those contained in the forward-looking statements, see ICE’s Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) filings, including, but not limited to, the risk 

factors in ICE’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, as filed with the SEC on February 3, 2022.

We caution you not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which such statement is made, and we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking 

statement or statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which such statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of an unanticipated event. New factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for management to 

predict all factors that may affect our business and prospects. Further, management cannot assess the impact of each factor on the business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially 

from those contained in any forward-looking statement.

Elizabeth King

Kevin McClear

Brookly McLaughlin
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Automating the industry

We’re digitizing the entire mortgage 

process to reduce costs and increase 

efficiencies every step of the way.

Transforming what’s possible

We were the first to digitize exchanges, 

and continue to lead the way on price 

transparency, capital raising, ESG 

indexing, risk mitigation and more.

Streamlining the system
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Jeffrey Sprecher
Founder, Chair & CEO, 

Intercontinental Exchange

ICE Board of Directors 

* Not standing for re-election at the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

** Added to the Board in March 2022.
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Journey Forward Strategies, LLC

Mark Mulhern
Former Executive Vice President

and CFO, 

Highwoods Properties, Inc. 

Judith Sprieser
Founder and Former CEO, 

Transora, Inc.

Charles Crisp*
Former President and CEO, 

Coral Energy

Thomas Noonan
Former Chairman and CEO, 

Internet Security Systems and JouleX

Vincent Tese*
Former Chairman, 

FCB Financial Holdings, Inc.

Duriya Farooqui
Former President

of Supply Chain Innovation, 

Georgia-Pacific 

Frederic Salerno*
Former Vice Chairman, 

Verizon Communications 

Former CFO, 

Bell Atlantic

Marti Tirinnanzi**
Founder and President, 

Financial Standards, Inc.



Transfer agent

Computershare Trust Company, N.A. is the company’s sole 

transfer agent and registrar. Inquiries about shareholder 

accounts or address changes should be directed to:

Computershare

PO Box 505000

Louisville, KY 40233

Overnight deliveries

Computershare

462 South 4th Street, Suite 1600

Louisville, KY 40202

Telephone (toll free): +1 888.404.6332

Outside the U.S.: +1 312.360.5176

Hours: Mon-Fri 8:00am to 8:00pm ET

Web: www-us.computershare.com/Investor/Contact

Independent registered public accounting firm 

Ernst & Young LLP

55 Ivan Allen Jr. Boulevard, Suite 1000

Atlanta, GA 30308

Financial reports

Copies of the Intercontinental Exchange 2021 Annual Report 

on Form 10-K are filed with the SEC and are available online at: 

www.ir.theice.com

Annual meeting

The 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders will be held virtually 

on Friday, May 13, 2022 at 8:30am ET. For more information, 

and to register for the event, please visit our website at: 

www.ir.theice.com 

Stock listing and certification

ICE common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange 

(NYSE) under the ticker symbol “ICE”. Our CEO and CFO 

Certifications required under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002 were filed as exhibits to our Annual Report 

on Form 10-K. We also have submitted an unqualified annual 

CEO certification to the NYSE with respect to our compliance 

with the NYSE corporate governance listing standards.



Visit: ice.com

Investor contact: investors@ice.com

Copyright © 2022 Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.

Atlanta
5660 New Northside Drive  

Atlanta, GA 30328

New York
11 Wall Street

New York, NY 10005

Corporate headquarters


	TABLE OF CONTENTS
	PART I
	1. Business
	1(A). Risk Factors
	1(B). Unresolved Staff Comments
	2. Properties
	3. Legal Proceedings
	4. Mine Safety Disclosure

	PART II
	5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of EquitySecurities
	6. [Reserved]
	7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
	7(A). Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
	8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
	9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
	9(A). Controls and Procedures
	9(B). Other Information
	9(C). Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

	PART III
	10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
	11. Executive Compensation
	12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
	13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
	14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

	PART IV
	15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
	16. Form 10-K Summary

	INDEX TO EXHIBITS
	SIGNATURES



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.3
  /CompressObjects /Off
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams true
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings false
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Preserve
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 100
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.00000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages false
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 100
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.00000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages false
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 150
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 2.00000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (RRD Low Resolution \(Letter Page Size\))
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice




